Masayuki Tadokoro

The International Politics of Migration

Interstate Relations and the Peoples Who Cross Borders





The International Politics of Migration

Masayuki Tadokoro

The International Politics of Migration

Interstate Relations and the Peoples Who Cross Borders



Masayuki Tadokoro International University of Japan Minamiuonuma, Niigata, Japan



ISBN 978-981-96-0421-0 ISBN 978-981-96-0422-7 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-96-0422-7

This work was supported by Kreab K.K.

Translation from the Japanese language edition: "Ekkyo no kokusai seiji: Kokkyo wo koreru hitobito to kokkakan kankei" by Masayuki Tadokoro, © Masayuki Tadokoro 2018. Published by YUHIKAKU PUBLISHING CO., LTD. All Rights Reserved.

© Kreab K.K. 2025. This book is an open access publication.

Open Access This book is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this book or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this book are included in the book's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the book's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

This work is subject to copyright. All commercial rights are reserved by the author(s), whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Regarding these commercial rights a non-exclusive license has been granted to the publisher.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

If disposing of this product, please recycle the paper.

Contents

1	In	ternati	ional Politics of Migration—The Issues and Basic Facts	1
	1		e Who Cross Borders, States, and the International Order	2
		1.1	Borders, States, and Nationality	2
		1.2	Movement of People and States	4
		1.3	Movement of People and Interstate Relations	5
	2	Curre	nt Status of International Population Movement	7
		2.1	Who Are Migrants?	7
		2.2	Migration Flows	8
	3	Conce	ept and Structure of This Book	13
		3.1	Current State of Migration Research	13
		3.2	Migration Research in Japan	14
		3.3	Migration in the World Today	15
		3.4	Structure of This Book	16
2	Po	olicy of	Population Movement and Foreign Relations	21
	1		s of Policy Discord	23
	2		Regulations and International Politics	25
		2.1	Historical Development of the Freedom of Exit	25
		2.2	Establishing the Right to Exit	25
		2.3	Freedom of Movement as a Human Right	27
		2.4	Competing Systems and Exit Regulations—The German	
			Experience	28
		2.5	Normalization of Political Exile—North and South Korea	31
		2.6	The Irony of Human Rights Diplomacy—The Jewish	
			Emigration Issue	34
		2.7	America, Israel, and the Soviet Union	35
		2.8	Competition for Highly Skilled Professionals	38
		2.9	The Cases of America and Canada	39
		2.10	Some European Cases	41
		2.11	Highly Skilled Labor Sending Countries	42
		2.12	Regulating Brain Drain	44

		2.13	From Brain Drain to Brain Circulation	45
	3	Entry	Regulations and International Politics	46
		3.1	Population Transfers and Regulating Entry	46
		3.2	Cuba's Strategic Population Dumping Policy	48
		3.3	Escalating from Strategic Engineered Migration	53
		3.4	Third Indo-Pakistani War (of 1971)—An Escalated	
			Refugee Crisis	54
		3.5	Controlling the Import of Migrant Labor	56
		3.6	International Regime for Migrant Laborers	57
		3.7	Absence of an International Migrant Regime	58
		3.8	Marketing One's Own Workers—The Philippines' Case	59
		3.9	Bracero Program—A US-Mexican Attempt at Migration	
			Control	61
		3.10	Political Landscape of Labor Migration	67
	4	Sumr	mary	68
3	Tł	ne Lim	its of Policy—Irregular Population Movement	75
Č	1		ular Migration	77
	-	1.1	Current State of Irregular Migration	77
		1.2	Post-Cold War Migration Policy	78
		1.3	Border Control—The US and European Examples	80
		1.4	The Difficulty of Border Control	82
		1.5	External Extension of Border Controls	83
		1.6	Limits to Outsourcing—The Example of Spain	
			and Morocco	84
		1.7	Internal Restrictions	87
		1.8	Deportation	89
		1.9	Legalization	90
		1.10	Sisyphean Dilemma	92
	2	Refug	gees	93
		2.1	Who Are Refugees?	93
		2.2	Dissolution of Empire and Refugees	93
		2.3	Enlarging the Concept of Refugee	94
		2.4	Refugee Convention	95
		2.5	Magnitude of the Refugee Issue	96
		2.6	Recognition and Protection	98
		2.7	People with Unrecognized Status	100
		2.8	Externalizing Refugee Processing	101
		2.9	Refugees Staying in Developing Countries	103
		2.10	Options Available to Refugees	106
		2.11	A Comprehensive Approach and Internally Displaced	
			Persons	108
	3	Sumr	mary	110

Contents	S

4	T	he State and Its Membership	115
	1	The State Under the Old Order and Its Members	117
		1.1 The State Under the Old Order	117
		1.2 Religious Communities and the State	118
		1.3 Passports Before the Nineteenth Century	119
		1.4 Indelible Allegiance	120
		1.5 How Aliens Become State Members	120
	2	Popular Revolutions and State Membership	121
		2.1 America	122
		2.2 France	125
	3	Increased Mobility and Mutual Adjustment of Membership	127
		3.1 A Time of Open Borders	127
		3.2 Developments in the German Confederation	128
		3.3 International Issues Concerning Overlapping Personal	
		Jurisdictions—The British Nationality System	130
		3.4 The US System of Nationality	132
		3.5 US-UK Conflict Over Irish Migrants	132
		3.6 Gaining the Freedom of Expatriation	133
		3.7 Reconciling Personal Movement and Personal	
		Jurisdiction	135
	4	The Nation-State	136
		4.1 Tightening of UK Immigration Regulations	137
		4.2 Tightening of US Immigration Regulations	138
		4.3 Development of the French System	139
		4.4 Development of the German System	140
		4.5 Differences of the French and German Systems	142
	5	Summary	144
5	In	clusion and Reproduction of Members	149
	1	Accepting a Foreign Labor Force	151
		1.1 Migrant Workers in Postwar Western Europe	151
		1.2 Broken Incentives to Return Home	152
	2	Guaranteeing the Rights of Permanent Resident Aliens	153
		2.1 Denizen—Institutionalized Permanent Resident Aliens	153
		2.2 Suffrage Status	154
		2.3 The Dilemma of Liberal States	159
	3	Naturalization and Dual Nationality	160
		3.1 Jus Sanguinis or Jus Soli	160
		3.2 Post-Cold War Baltic States	161
		3.3 Naturalization Requirements	163
		3.4 What Are the Core Values of a State?	164
		3.5 Dual Nationality	166
		3.6 Rise in Countries Allowing Dual Nationality	167
	4	Societal Integration	170
		4.1 Assimilation/Isolation	170

		4.2	The Development of Multiculturalism	171
		4.3	Disappointment with Multiculturalism	172
		4.4	Foundering Societal Integration	174
	5	Sumn	nary	175
6	0	vorcooc	s Compatriots and the State	183
U	1	Who	Are the Diasporas?	185
	1	1.1	Who Are the Diasporas?	185
		1.2	Victim Diaspora	186
		1.2	Labor Diaspora	188
		1.5	Imperial Diaspora	188
		1.5	Trade Diaspora	190
		1.6	Deterritorialized Diaspora	190
	2		pora Engagement	192
	2	2.1	Institutions of Engagement Policy	192
		2.1	Objectives of Engagement	193
		2.2	Methods of Engagement	198
	3		nal Origin for the Diaspora	200
	5	3.1	Sense of Belonging	200
		3.2	Utility of the Diaspora	200
	4		pora and Interstate Relations	205
	1	4.1	Influence on the Country of Residence	205
		4.2	Influence on the Country of Origin	205
		4.3	Political Relations Between the Countries of Residence	200
		4.5	and of Origin	208
		4.4	Loose Relations Between a State and Its Members	210
		4.5	Abandoned People	211
		4.6	Ideal Type of an Order of Territorial Sovereign States	212
		4.7	Deviation from the Order of Territorial Sovereign States	213
		4.8	Jurisdictional Overlap	214
	5		nary	217
7			ional Population Movement: What It Means for Japan	225
	1		is the Agenda for Japan?	226
		1.1	Migrant Flows and International Politics	226
		1.2	Migrant Stock and International Politics	227
	2	-	and Population Inflows and Outflows	229
		2.1	Movement of People in Japanese History	229
		2.2	Policy of National Seclusion (sakoku)	230
		2.3	Meiji Japan—As a Migrant-Sending Country	231
		2.4	Enlargement of Japan's Territory	234
		2.5	Dissolution of the Empire of Japan	236
		2.6	Postwar Overseas Emigration	237
		2.7	Debate Over Accepting Immigrants	237
		2.8	The Existence of a "Side Door"	242
	3	The I	nternational Politics of Population Flows and Japan	244

Contents

	3.1	Japan-US Friction Over Japanese Immigrants	244
	3.2	Japan as a Migrant-Receiving Country	245
	3.3	Population Flow Involving Japan—Strategic Use	
		of Population Movement, Limits of National Border	
		Control Capabilities	248
	3.4	How to Deal with Large-Scale Refugee Flows	251
4	The	Diaspora and Japan—From <i>Nihon</i> to <i>Japan</i>	252
	4.1	Conditions for Being a "Nihonjin"	253
	4.2	How to Promote Societal Integration	254
	4.3	International Political Implications	256
Adde	ndum	for the English Language Edition	263
Biblio	grapł	ıy	271

About the Author

Masayuki Tadokoro is a specially appointed professor of international relations at the International University of Japan and a professor emeritus of Keiō University in Tokyo. Born in Osaka in 1956, he received his doctorate in law from Kyoto University. He was a professor at the National Defense Academy and Keiō University before assuming his current post in 2022. He also attended the London School of Economics. In 1988–1989, he stayed in Washington D.C. as a fellow of the American Council of Learned Societies, and in 1991 he taught for a semester as a fulbright scholar in Residence at the University of Pittsburgh. His primary field of expertise is international political economy, but he works also on Japanese foreign and security policy. His publications in English include *After Dollar?* in *International Relations of the Asia-Pacific, Vol. 10, No. 3* (2010) and "Why did Japan fail to become the 'Britain' of Asia" in David Wolff et al. (eds.) *The Russo-Japanese War in Global Perspective* (Brill, 2007). He also edited, with David Welch and Yoshihide Soeya, *Japan as a 'Normal Country'?: A Nation in Search of Its Place in the World* (Toronto University Press, 2011).

Chapter 1 International Politics of Migration—The Issues and Basic Facts



Contents

1	Peop	le Who Cross Borders, States, and the International Order	2
		Borders, States, and Nationality	
	1.2	Movement of People and States	4
	1.3	Movement of People and Interstate Relations	5
2	Curr	ent Status of International Population Movement	7
		Who Are Migrants?	
	2.2	Migration Flows	8
3	Cond	cept and Structure of This Book	13
		Current State of Migration Research	
	3.2	Migration Research in Japan	14
	3.3	Migration in the World Today	15
	3.4	Structure of This Book	16
No	tes		18

Abstract In this opening chapter, the author discusses the nature of states and nationality, and whether, in an age of globalization and cyberspace, it is even meaningful any longer to talk about national borders. It is noted that the movement of people is a phenomenon as old as human history itself, and that in comparison, the system of sovereign states that mutually recognize each other's defined territorial sovereignty has a much shorter history. The author provides an overview of migration flows, whilst enumerating the various reasons people have for migrating from one region to another, and the historical tragedies and triumphs often involved. He notes that immigration, though high on the political agenda in Western societies, is not a central political issue in Japan at the moment, but challenges the view that Japan is an unusually xenophobic country or, conversely, that it has remarkably maintained its cultural homogeneity. This chapter also lays out the structure of the whole volume.

1 People Who Cross Borders, States, and the International Order

1.1 Borders, States, and Nationality

"To found a nation derives from private rather than public sensibilities."¹ This bold statement is how Fukuzawa Yukichi starts his essay *Yasegaman no Setsu* ("The Spirit of Manly Defiance"), said to have been written in 1891. People the world over are born on this earth, they farm, manufacture, and trade, and they strive to live out the one life they have to the fullest extent possible; on this point, there are no differences among them. The fact that they purposely divide themselves up with borders to create various countries is, from the perspective of all of humanity, certainly not a public matter; it is merely the pursuit of private benefit by individual groups. How strange, then, that protecting the system of borders and states is praised as a virtue. That is the gist of Fukuzawa's opening.

Altogether natural, in contrast, is the movement of people who, when exposed to danger, suffering from starvation, and facing an uncertain future in a country that by happenstance is where they were born, attempt to create a new fate for themselves and their families by crossing borders; there is nothing strange about it. And yet, time and again we see throughout the world scenes of people seeking to escape from starvation, persecution, and the chaos of war who are prevented from doing so by borders. When we witness the reality of the idea that "national borders are the boundaries of life," we cannot all help but feel the absurdity of the system of national borders, nationality, and the states that underpin it all.

And yet, crossing a border has technologically become vastly easier to do today, in the twenty-first century. In the Meiji era (1868–1912) when Fukuzawa lived, it was extremely costly to move long distances by railroad, steamboat, or airplane, and so there was a feeling that it was something reserved for a certain group of wealthy individuals. It has now become increasingly commonplace. In addition, the eye-popping advances in information technology (IT), as represented by the Internet and the mobile phone, have enabled people to experience the world beyond their border on a daily basis. Even for those who, by a simple stroke of ill fortune, were born in a dangerous, impoverished country, the world beyond the border is not wholly unknown to them, with its rich consumer lifestyles, magnificent urban spaces, and the lives of their own circle of friends who have already moved there; it is something that they are able to experience virtually in cyber space.

And so, in a world where goods, money, and information actively traverse borders, a phenomenon called globalization, have borders become increasingly meaningless? In the world of goods, transnational supply chains have sprung up within the same corporation. Consequently, intracompany trade now occupies a considerable share of exports and imports, and organic production systems that transcend borders are becoming a reality. Globalization's progress in the world of money is even more remarkable. Now information stored inside a computer, money can move on a large scale instantaneously across borders in response to slight interest rate differentials.

There is probably not much I could add on the statelessness of cyberspace. The claim has been repeatedly made for quite some time that the advance of such economic interdependence will render the state and sovereignty meaningless.

Yet Fukuzawa's contention that founding a nation was an act associated with private interests does not mean that he thought the state was not worth protecting. Far from it! A short while later in the same essay, he goes on to argue:

How then should people react to the imminent collapse of their country, to a situation in which people know that there is no chance of victory over enemies at the door? Should people overcome many hardships and exert themselves until their powers are exhausted, but at the point of defeat, negotiate peace and surrender? Or should they accept death as the public way citizens have of fulfilling the duty to serve their country?"²

This nationalist manner may strike many Japanese today as odd, especially coming from Fukuzawa, a rationalist through and through, who in his autobiography called the feudal system "my father's mortal enemy" for limiting people's potential to their status at birth. Perhaps Fukuzawa's argument is obsolete, a condition of the time in which he wrote his essay, the age of imperialism of the late nineteenth century.

If we presume the institution of the state had become obsolete, however, the steady and continuous growth in their number as we enter the twentieth century is inexplicable. There were 40 member states when the League of Nations was established after World War I. When the United Nations was established after World War I. When the United Nations was established after World War II, the number of founding members had grown to 51 states. Subsequently, a series of colonies primarily in Africa and Asia became independent from their colonizing metropolitan state; after the Cold War, many new states, mainly in the former Soviet Union, seceded and gained their independence. Consequently, as of 2018, there were 196 states that were UN members, quadruple the number in the span of 100 years. Moreover, around 10 countries could be added to that, "unrecognized states" that are de facto independent but have not been officially recognized by the international community. Numerous wars of national liberation were waged, and countless lives lost, in the process of secession and independence. It bespeaks the enormous sacrifice these people paid, not for the sake of the community of man, but for the political independence of a group to which they believed they belonged.

The assertion that the advance of globalization has rendered borders meaningless is rather unpersuasive. When we wait in long lines to answer the questions of surly, and at times unpleasant, immigration officials at airports overseas; when we are made to wait endlessly at a window counter of a foreign consulate having just paid a tidy sum for an entry visa to that country; or when we have to fill out onerous paperwork at a bank just to send a bit of money overseas—in each instance we are taught the lesson that borders exist. Indeed, since 1989 when solidarity and fraternity were highly celebrated after the Berlin Wall was torn down, border walls globally have become longer and sturdier, a trend that has grown even stronger after instability in Syria and other countries in the Middle East precipitated large outflows of refugees. As Fig. 1 shows, since the Cold War actual physical border barriers have been reinforced throughout the world. Setting aside the discussion of whether this is good or bad, arguably it evinces how seriously people feel about borders and states.



Fig. 1 National boundary walls and fences worldwide (2016). *Source* https://www.economist.com/ blogs/graphicdetail/2016/01/daily-chart-5

1.2 Movement of People and States

The movement of people has grown easier, larger, and more frequent. But if territorial sovereign states separated by borders remain the fundamental system that supports the world order, then what sort of problems does such movement pose to modern states? Perhaps I must hasten to add that the movement of people across borders should not be thought of as a uniquely modern phenomenon, nor that it always creates problems. The ancestors of modern man can all be traced back to Africa. In this sense, we all moved from there.³

Ever since history has been written down, it has recorded the occurrences of large-scale population movements. The mass migrations of Germanic tribes put the Roman empire under great strain, and as a result gave rise to major historic changes: the breakup of the Western Roman Empire and the development of the medieval order. Successive Chinese empires repeatedly came under pressure from attacks by northern nomads, yet because those people who came to China from the north largely became culturally Sinicized, China has maintained a surprising historical continuity up to today.

After the period commonly referred to as the Age of Discovery, which began in the sixteenth century, Europe spread out globally, with large numbers of its people emigrating to many parts of the world, and it came to hold political sway over each region. In particular, many Europeans left for the North and South American continents, but many people were also forcibly moved there from the African continent as slaves. The indigenous peoples who lived in these areas were marginalized by the new inhabitants, and their civilizations were destroyed. Surprisingly little known are the stories of hardships endured by the indigenous peoples in places such as Hawaii and Tahiti, which many people envision as tropical paradises.⁴

The movement of people, a phenomenon as old as human history, has many stories to tell us: of the adventures of pioneers staking their fate in new lands; of the hardships of people forced by poverty and violence to move, leaving their beloved homelands behind; and of the apocalyptic catastrophe that befell people whose civilization and way of life were destroyed by a large number of immigrants.

Compared to this phenomenon of the movement of people, the system of sovereign states, mutually recognizing each other's defined territorial sovereignty, has a much shorter history. The modern system of sovereign states came into being in Europe in the seventeenth century, at the earliest. It was much later, in the nineteenth century, that nationalism became the prevailing thought, holding that a nation-state should be made up of a single nation of people who share a common identity. The influential rise of democracy, which holds that all members of the state should be political actors, is a more recent phenomenon. As the ideal form the state should take changed, the relationship between the state and its members also changed, and with that, the meaning held by people who cross borders changed accordingly.

In modern democracies, the ultimate actors of the state are its members, who enjoy equal rights to political participation. Furthermore, the modern state plays a very large economic role, providing the social security services and income redistribution functions on which its people heavily rely. The role played by the nation, both politically and economically, cannot happen without a shared sense of "we" among its members. The fact the minority accepts the results of a vote and follows the will of the majority may derive from an awareness that they all share a common destiny. Income transfers to the poor become possible only when the wealthy share a sense of being fellow members of a society who help one another. This is precisely why the issue of where to set the scope of "us" and "our fellow members" necessarily becomes important politically and economically, and is a condition of modern times. No matter how open it is said to be, a state cannot accept new immigrants without limit or condition because it expects a long-term commitment, accompanied by feelings of trust, from its members, especially members of democratic nation-states; it is not a members-only club where members can freely enter and exit.

1.3 Movement of People and Interstate Relations

What sort of relation should the state have with people seeking to immigrate across its borders? As is widely known, this has become a major political issue in Western countries for the reasons mentioned earlier. However, the problem does not end there, inevitably becoming an issue of state-to-state relations, i.e., a matter of international politics. This is because people crossing borders to enter one country necessarily must have left another country, and that sending country, too, has an interest of some type in the people who leave. So then, when the interests of the sending and receiving countries do not correspond, the possibility arises of a conflict developing between the two states.

Moreover, once large numbers of people are actively moving across borders, states become involved with their own members beyond their borders as well as the nonmembers within their borders. This leads to a mismatch between the state's territorial and personal jurisdictions. The order composed of sovereign states is established on the fact that each sovereign state holds exclusive jurisdiction over its own territory and does not interfere in what happens in the territory of other states. This has enabled countries with vastly different customs, beliefs, and political systems to coexist as long as they mutually recognize the extent of their exclusive jurisdiction, i.e., territory. If people do not move and remain within the country, then the state's territorial and personal jurisdictions match and no problems arise. But as people start to move more actively, it gives rise to overlapping jurisdictions as one state's members settle in other states' territories and other states' members come to live within that state's territory. This situation may complicate the maintenance of the international order, a fundamental arrangement that is based on states coexisting peacefully through the mutual recognition of each other's jurisdictions.

If there is an overlap of personal jurisdictions of states, and several of them simultaneously demand the allegiance of a single individual or set about to protect that person, it may lead to an interstate conflict, just as in the case of overlapping territorial rights. Conversely, abandoned people who do not enjoy any country's protection emerge when, stuck between states, they are no longer subject to the jurisdiction of any country. The state cannot remain indifferent to the distinction between members and non-members when, as previously mentioned, a strong relationship is required between the state and its members, and when members participate politically in, and receive economic services from, the state. Furthermore, when interstate relations become strained, states will mobilize their members and seek to procure various resources. Were that to happen, the states would have to become even more sensitive to who are members (from whom allegiance can be expected) and who are nonmembers (with ties to foreign powers and who may even pose a threat). This has the potential to develop into a complex international political issue, especially now when migrant-sending countries are increasingly engaging with their countrymen overseas.

This book examines the implications of the movement of people across national borders for the state and for international politics. From the standpoint of international politics, the focus of the examination is the international political meaning of the transnational phenomenon, the movement of people. This is an interest that extends from the study of international political economy, which questions the significance for international politics of the transnational phenomena, international trade and international finance. It is important to acknowledge, however, that there is a crucial difference between the flow of people, the flow of goods, and the flow of money: people are not objects passively reacting to prices like things (commodities) or money (currency). They are subjects who shape and influence their environment, seeking not only to master it but also to change it. Furthermore, while products traded in the market need a price, they can lack a nationality. It is just not possible, however, for a person to be completely unknown, as though existing in a vacuum without ties to any other people. Moreover, such people's sense of belonging is not fixed in advance; it is dynamic, being remade constantly under the influence of various conditions.

Therefore, what ultimately decides the scope of state membership is not official arrangements such as nationality, but the intersubjectivity established between the people who migrate, those who accept them, and those who remain behind. The mysterious societal dynamics generated by these human beings is what makes this issue a complex and deeply interesting subject for consideration.

2 Current Status of International Population Movement

2.1 Who Are Migrants?

What is the scale of the migrant issue, which has long been a major political issue in the United States and Europe? The proponents who argue for the expulsion of migrants tend to exaggerate the scale, whereas the advocates of a tolerant policy toward migrants and refugees tend to emphasize that the scale of migrants is being exaggerated. Contrarily, those who expect migrant flows will prompt changes in the state attach great importance to migrants. The starting point for making a rational argument, no matter which viewpoint you take, would be to verify all the facts.

According to UN statistics, the total stock of migrants worldwide as of 2015 was 244 million people, approximately 3.4% of the world's total population.⁵ That figure stood at 173 million in 2000 and 222 million in 2010, steadily increasing over the past 15 years. But looking at it as a share of world population, it has hardly changed at all.⁶

However, the question now becomes, what is the definition of a migrant? The UN statistics are an aggregation of the population statistics of its member states, which means that the definitions and precision of each country's data varies. Some of the developing country members have no data. In the UN statistics, in principle, "an international migrant is a person who is living in a country other than his or her country of birth,"⁷ but when country data on the foreign-born is unavailable, it substitutes the data on foreign citizens (whose citizenship/nationality differs from their country of residence). The question then becomes, what does "residence" mean? The UN Statistics Division defines "long-term migrants" as "persons who move to a country other than that of their usual residence for a period of at least one year"; ("short-term migrants" at least three months). The World Bank statistics shown below are based on this approach.

According to these definitions, then, people working overseas or studying abroad for over a year, even if they plan to return home, are counted as migrants. If we examine the case of Japan, this means that trainees in the Technical Intern Training Program⁸ who can stay up to five years as well as foreign students attending Japanese language schools in Japan for a period over one year would be considered migrants. By contrast, people born in Japan but who have foreign nationality, for instance second- and third-generation ethnic Korean residents of Japan, are not supposed to be considered migrants.

Just as there may be some people who, even after living in their current country of residence for generations, perceive themselves as migrants and not as citizens of that country, there are also those people born abroad who assimilate into their current country of residence and have no emotional ties with their country of birth, even though they hold the nationality of both countries. The discrepancy between the self-perceptions of such people and the statistical classifications is unavoidable. People's self-perceptions change under a variety of conditions, of course. Some people who believed they had assimilated are awoken to the fact that they are an immigrant when they are alienated by the society and state of their country of residence, and become an outsider, a foreigner. There are even cases of people who involuntarily wind up as migrants, not because they moved, but because the national border did. Herein lies the reason that the phenomenon of migration should be distinguished from finance and trade—it is people who migrate, not money or goods, and they are agents with a soul.

2.2 Migration Flows

When looking at migration flows (i.e., the cross-border flow of people in a given period), we find that the routes do not spread out homogeneously around the globe; instead, relatively clear patterns emerge (see Fig. 2). Among the countries receiving migrants, the US is far and away the top host country, followed by the Gulf states and European countries. Yet the picture is completely different when looking at it as a share of population. The proportion of Gulf states with small populations to begin with, like Qatar and the United Arab Emirates (UAE), is overwhelmingly high, and city-states such as Monaco, Andorra, and Singapore, as well as other small countries in Europe appear in the list. Just as these small-scale states find it impossible to be self-sufficient materially, it is natural that they are unable to meet all of their need for people domestically in terms of education, marriage, employment, etc.

From the other side, looking at the absolute numbers for emigration countries, it probably is not surprising that there are many middle-income countries with large populations, such as India, Mexico, and China (see Fig. 3). That Russa is in the number three slot may be unexpected, but it is a phenomenon deriving from the movement of borders, not people, when the end of the Cold War led to the breakup of the Soviet Union. Looking at countries sending out migrants as a share of population, we see that there are many outflows from countries with small populations.



Fig. 2 Top 30 countries receiving migrants (2013). Source World Bank Group, Migration and Remittances Factbook 2016, 3rd ed., World Bank Publications, 2016, 1–2

In addition, there are very large-scale population outflows from island states, such as the Caribbean countries.

In the movement of people, unlike that of goods and capital, once a certain route is established, there is a strong tendency for that route to expand; globally, several large migrant "corridors" have come into being (see Fig. 4). The largest of these bilateral corridors, by a wide margin, is between Mexico and the US, with the number of Mexican migrants in the US reaching 13 million. One can understand how bringing this movement under control has become a major political issue for the US. While the large number of people moving between countries that are geographically close and have a long history of relations is striking, two examples that fall outside that framework are the large-scale movements of people from China and India to the US.



Number of emigrants, millions

Fig. 3 Top 30 countries sending out migrants (2013). *Source* World Bank Group, *Migration and Remittances Factbook 2016*, 3rd ed., World Bank Publications, 2016, 3–4

There are 2.4 million people from China and 2.1 million people from India residing in the US. In any case, the meaning of this human penetration occurring among the major players in global geopolitics is something that should be further examined in the future.

As can be naturally predicted from these flows, there is a large level of remittances from these migrants in host countries to the countries from which they came, a total amount that has already surpassed that of official development assistance (ODA), and is even comparable to that of direct investment (see Fig. 5). Given that the total value of India's exports in 2014 was around \$460 billion, the fact that its overseas remittances topped \$70 billion takes on a greater significance. Or again, the gross

Mexico-US							13.0
Russian Federation-Ukraine		3.5					i
Bangladesh-India		3.2					
Ukraine-Russian Federation	2	.9					
Kazakhstan-Russian Federation	2.5	5					
China-US	2.4						
Russian Federation-Kazakhstan	2.4						
Afghanistan – Pakistan	2.3	ł					
Afghanistan – Iran	2.3						
China-Hong Kong SAR, China	2.3	-					
India-UAE	2.3	i.					
West Bank and Gaza-Jordan	2.1						
India-US	2.1	-					
India-Saudi Arabia	2.0						
Philippines-US	2.0						
Myanmar – Thailand	1.9						
Puerto Rico-US	1.7						
Pakistan-Saudi Arabia	1.5						
Bangladesh-Saudi Arabia	1.5						
Indonesia-Saudi Arabia	1.5	-					
Turkey-Germany	1.5	i.					
Algeria-France	1.5						
Burkina Faso-Côte d'Ivoire	1.5	-					
India-Pakistan	1.4	i.					
Vietnam-US	1.4						
El Salvador-US	1.4						
Pakistan-UAE	1.3						
Egypt-Saudi Arabia	1.3						
UK – Australia	1.3						
Cuba-US	1.2	i.					
	2	4 0	6	8	10	12	14
						(mi	llons

Stock of migrants, millions

Fig. 4 Top migration corridors (2013). *Source* World Bank Group, *Migration and Remittances Factbook 2016*, 3rd ed., World Bank Publications, 2016, 5

domestic product (GDP) of the Philippines for 2014 was around \$280 billion, so the nearly \$30 billion in remittances from abroad are large enough to influence the whole domestic economy. No wonder the countries sending out migrants have an interest in this source of funds.

This section has explained in general terms the current state of international population movements. What emerges from this overview is that the scale of the global flow of people reflects, as one can easily imagine, the pressure to migrate for those people attempting to move from the poor South to the rich North in search of a better life. Yet people are more than a labor force: they are beings of flesh and blood with families and a cultural background. Moving residences carries large risks, and requires some initial investment, so it is telling that people from middle-income countries have higher mobility than those from the poorest countries. Furthermore,



Fig. 5 Remittance flows (2014). Source World Bank Group, Migration and Remittances Factbook 2016, 3rd ed., World Bank Publications, 2016, 12,14

when we consider that some migrant corridors are being reproduced, there is a large part of the movement of people that cannot be explained by wage differentials alone.

I must stress that there are various motives for people moving. Many irregular migrants are not reflected in the population statistics cited above. Aside from economic motivations, refugees fleeing from political persecution, conflict, natural disasters, literally for their very lives, have reached a level where they have become a political issue that goes beyond the humanitarian issue. On the other end of the spectrum, there has been an increase in the movement of sports players, business executives, entertainers, and other highly skilled workers with marketable talents in the global labor market. Then there are the fortunate few who cross borders in search of a better lifestyle. Just as there are people freely traversing borders in pursuit of their own career and lifestyle, there are also those people who move just in order to survive. And then, there are the overwhelming majority of people who have no choice but to accept the homeland they have been given, regardless of their will, as a part of themselves and to share their fate with it.

3 Concept and Structure of This Book

3.1 Current State of Migration Research

Migration has long been one of the most important political issues in Europe and the US, and the trend arguably has accelerated especially after the Cold War. Characteristic of Western discussions is the very strong sociological interest in migration as it relates to citizenship, identity, and even gender, and, in contrast, the waning interest as it relates to interstate relations and foreign policy, the traditional themes of international politics. Indeed, the interstate geopolitical conflict and tense relations enveloping the countries in the Western world has receded to a large extent after the Cold War. What has displaced the traditional geopolitical issues to become the most urgent issues in international politics are the "non-traditional" issues of terrorism, refugees, and the related policies for stabilization and peacebuilding. Furthermore, the problem with population movements toward the West is that the impoverished, fragile states on the periphery generally are failed states. In the European case, partly due to a strong regional organization, the European Union, the dominant discourse in this field is an intellectual attitude that is critical of the traditional perspective emphasizing interstate relations and is oriented toward a post-national world.

Thus, this prompted many normative discussions about protecting refugees and asylum seekers from a humanitarian and human rights standpoint. The issue has also been discussed from the perspective of peacekeeping and economic development theory, because conflict and underdevelopment have been posited as being behind the emergence of refugees. Economists are actively researching the issue, since the receiving countries naturally have a great interest in the sort of economic effects that accepting these migrants produces. In addition, what kind of societal implications migration has on both the sending and receiving countries has become an important subject of research for sociologists. The search for multicultural social cohesion, in particular, poses serious societal and cultural challenges for many rich host countries. Furthermore, as Islamic terrorism began to attract attention, an interest was taken in the societal integration of Muslim residents in Western countries as one aspect of non-traditional security issues.

In the past, scholars of international politics in Japan had traditionally not shown a keen interest in this issue. The reason is perhaps that in international politics, discussions are predicated on a state's exclusive jurisdiction, or sovereignty, and so the jurisdictional scope of that sovereignty has been conceptualized in terms of territory. Moreover, as the state transformed into the nation-state, and its territory became more than merely the lands ruled by a dynasty, taking on a semi-sacred existence as the homeland of a people sharing an identity in some sense, its inviolability further increased. As a consequence of the strengthened bonds between the state and the people under its jurisdiction, that people would traverse and reside across states' territorial jurisdictions was deemed an exceptional phenomenon by international political scholars, whose core interest was conflict and cooperation between states.

A major reason why it is difficult to grasp this issue in a comprehensive way is probably because the realities of international population movement are so diverse and require a multifaceted examination. For many people, the most familiar way to cross a border is to travel abroad. The majority of international travelers are people who go abroad for some kind of work reason, and there may also be tourists who are intent on enjoying an extraordinary experience as well as students with the purpose of studying abroad.

People crossing borders for settlement purposes are immediately associated with those who cross for work in search of riches, and today these international population movements for work have become a common sight. In addition, there a quite a few refugees fleeing from domestic societal and economic chaos and asylum seekers crossing borders to escape political and religious persecution.

In reality, it is often not easy to clearly distinguish between the two. But in the former case, whether to grant them entry depends on the country's discretion. In the latter case, in contrast, the principle of non-refoulement (prohibition to repatriate) has been established in the international community and providing them protection is an obligation under international law,⁹ and therefore it is crucial to distinguish between voluntary migration based on economic motives and involuntary international population movements to escape persecution.

At the same time, there is now a growing presence of cosmopolitan professionals who frequently fly business class around the world, effortlessly crossing borders in pursuit of prosperous careers. Often forgotten are the people who migrate from rich countries to poorer countries in search of a different lifestyle or through marriage. It is hard to discuss the significance of the cross-border movements of such people in the same way as irregular migrants and refugees, as they are too distant from each other.

3.2 Migration Research in Japan

In Japan, there is quite a low level of recognition of migration as an actual political issue, but in terms of research, a great many studies have been published already; this book has learned much from them. Many of them, however, appear to adhere to

the Western framework of discussion that is the dominant intellectual influence in the world today. The discourse on Japanese exceptionalism, thus, is also powerful, attributing the attitude of the Japanese government which has not adopted a policy of accepting unskilled immigrant labor on a large-scale to the idiosyncrasies of Japanese society, described by its backward, closed, and exclusionary nature.

Yet it is not as though Japan is immune to the conditions prompting cross-border population movements. At the same time, Japan's international environment and historical context differ from those of Europe and America. First, Japan had been a country sending out emigrants until the 1960s. Its acceptance of immigrants only became a realistic topic beginning roughly in the 1980s, and subsequently, as Japan's economy stagnated, the pressure of migrant inflows eased. Second, as Japan has no land borders, it is plausible that its border control is relatively effective. Although it may well be exaggerated, it is relatively true. Third, the reality is that the international environment in East Asia surrounding Japan is quite far from a European-like security community, but it does not mean that Japan is surrounded by failed states that are effectively unable to control their borders. If anything, the economic growth rates of China and South Korea have been much higher than Japan's in the post-Cold War era, so in that sense one might say that the pressure of population inflows on Japan's borders has been relatively light.

3.3 Migration in the World Today

In contrast, European countries have promoted broad-based integration rooted in high and noble liberal principles since the end of the Cold War. Although the word "liberal" is used with a variety of meanings, it can generally be thought of as an attitude that values progress and individual freedoms over tradition and belonging to a community. It traditionally placed emphasis on liberation from state and religious oppression, and in economic terms it advocated a free market economy. Yet, in modern times, it expects the state to play an active role in protecting the religious and cultural rights of minorities and supporting the economically weak. Therefore, the liberal position is that even toward migrants the state should be tolerant and inclusive, without questioning their race, religion, customs, or any matters of the inner self, and should protect their cultural identity. The EU has formed a unified market, liberalizing not only the movement of goods and capital, but also the movement of people between member states. Societally, they have worked to protect the rights of minorities through human rights guarantees and multiculturalism policies. It is an unmistakable fact that this has enabled the EU countries to build closer and more stable relations with each other than ever before. However, the quite apparent reality is that the EU's liberal project has faced a wide-ranging backlash in the 2010s and since. Anti-immigrant forces, on the whole, are gaining strength across EU countries.

In the UK, the backlash against immigrants coming up from Eastern and Southern Europe was one of the reasons why the "Brexit" camp gained the majority of votes to leave the EU in the 2016 referendum. Furthermore, an effective solution has yet

to be found to the difficult problem of societal integration of some Muslims, due to the continuing influx of people from the unstable Middle East. Especially sparked by the Arab Spring that began in Tunisia in 2010, hopes that liberal democracies would emerge in place of authoritarian states in the Middle East were brutally disappointed. State failure and growing extremism have led to rising numbers of refugees and irregular migrants, which reached critical levels in 2015 and beyond.

History records that, even in the US, proud of its founding as a nation developed by freedom-seeking immigrants, anti-immigration movements have often increased against the backdrop of racial tensions. Among these, immigration from Mexico has been a long-standing issue. The fact that Donald J. Trump, who repeatedly made controversial statements during the 2016 US presidential race and who vowed to build a huge wall on the US-Mexico border and have Mexico pay for it, was elected against most expectations indicates that international population movement is a very complex political challenge.

With the sudden spike in such anti-immigrant dynamics in the West, the supposed bastion of liberal ideals, we have begun hearing the arguments of Japanese exceptionalism, running counter to the existing assessments, such as "Japan should not accept immigrants after all" or "Japan is great because it does not accept immigrants." However, people moving across borders reflects global trends, and it is illusory to think it possible, even if it were desirable, for Japan to be an exception to these trends.

I am an international political scientist, by no means an expert on the issue of immigration. Although many experts have already done research on this topic, I wrote this book out of an exceptional interest in traditional politics. I wanted to examine what kind of problems people crossing borders pose to the international order that is based on states' coexisting through the mutual recognition of territorial sovereignty. My interest is also an extension of my specialty, international political economics, which has examined what the movement of goods and capital across borders means for international politics.

3.4 Structure of This Book

This book is structured as follows. The topic of people crossing borders is considered from a flow perspective in the following two chapters. A state first encounters such people when they attempt to cross the state's borders. A state unable to control entry and exit at its borders cannot survive. Thus, every state monitors and carefully controls the flow of people crossing its borders using various means. When the sender and host countries disagree over what flow of people is desirable, it may develop into a political conflict between the countries involved. This point can be easily understood by analogy with international relations regarding the flow of goods and capital, that is, international trade and international finance.

Unlike goods and capital, however, people are actors, each with their own will, seeking to carve out their own destiny. Their actions to cross borders often contravene the will of the state, yet the state's ability to control them is limited. Chapter 3

examines the irregular flows of people that are beyond the control of the state, in other words, irregular migrants and refugees.

Although an international system for the protection of refugees exists, the response to people who crossed borders in an irregular manner is primarily the responsibility and authority of the host country. A country cannot rely solely on its own border controls to control such irregular population movements; it must depend to a considerable extent on the cooperation of the sending and transit countries from and through which these people came. That being the case, the countries involved engage in various political negotiations and bargaining. This chapter will examine the political relations between such states.

Chapters 4–6 examine the international politics related to the people who have crossed borders, i.e., the stock of migrants. One of the insights gained from the examination in Chaps. 2 and 3 is that there are limits to a state's ability to control people crossing its borders, and therefore borders are not watertight systems, but are more porous than is generally thought. If, to some extent, people enter a country regardless of the will of the state, what kind of relationship will be built between them and the state?

In preparation, Chap. 4 first examines what it means to be a member of a state. It discusses how states have conceptualized and institutionalized membership, and how state membership has developed into an international political issue. The relationship between states and their members has changed significantly, along with changes in state regimes. For this reason, the chapter provides an overview of the development of the nationality systems of the major European countries that are considered the models of modern nation-states. Additionally, the chapter provides a historical overview of the US nationality system, which is said to have been established based on a contract between immigrants. Each state decides its own (national) system of nationality, but since the nationality system determines who belongs to which state—i.e., it is a system that determines the personal jurisdiction of the state—it has international implications. In fact, inconsistencies among nationality systems have sometimes generated political friction between states. Such logical possibilities are illustrated based on historical examples.

For a state to continue to exist, it faces the challenge of integrating new entrants into its current members and reproducing the nation. A state's relationship with the people who have newly come to live in its territory develops through several stages. Chapter 5 examines the issues of naturalization and dual nationality, systems by which a state grants formal membership to non-members. Furthermore, a nation has a cultural dimension that goes beyond the formal institutions of nationality. This chapter also touches on the issues of societal and cultural integration, which have become very politically controversial in the Western world today.

A state's integration of its new residents often fails, however. People's sense of identity often becomes de-territorialized, and may be driven by long-distance nationalism, in which bonds with compatriots in the far-off country of origin are emphasized over ties with neighbors in the country of current residence. Meanwhile, the countries of origin of these migrants may make efforts at diaspora engagement, attempting to leverage this kind of de-territorialized sense of belonging. Chapter 6

analyzes such diaspora engagement. The purposes of diaspora vary, from the purely cultural to the economic, such as attracting investment. The chapter notes that the diaspora could become a security issue between the country of current residence and the country of origin, depending on their bilateral political relationship.

I wrote this book, originally in Japanese, with the Japanese reader in mind. Immigration, high on the political agenda in Western societies, is not a central political issue in Japan at the moment. Given this fact, it is unfortunate that there is a notion so deeply rooted at home and abroad of a Japanese exceptionalism, which purports that Japan is an unusually xenophobic country or, conversely, that it has remarkably maintained its cultural homogeneity. Such an argument is intellectually lazy, reminiscent of the revisionist view of Japan popular in the West in the late 1980s, which claimed that Japan was an economic threat with an abnormal culture. In reality, there are already a considerable number of immigrants living in Japan, and for better or worse, it is unlikely that this number will decrease in the future. In order to clarify this point for Japanese readers, I provided an overview of the current situation of immigrants in Japan in Chap. 7.

In Japan, much has been written on immigration, but the literature is dominated by micro-sociological concerns that focus on the protection of immigrants' human rights and on their domestic societal integration, whereas there is very little mention of the potential for immigration to develop into an interstate political issue. It is not the intent of this book to discuss policy. But I hope that by gleaning the appropriate lessons from the experiences of other countries regarding immigration that are examined herein, Japan's discussion of immigration policy will be unfettered from the barrenness of Japanese exceptionalism to become more intellectually sophisticated and constructive.

Notes

- Fukuzawa, Yukichi. Sakamoto, Takao (ed). 2002. "Yasegaman no setsu (The spirit of manly defiance)" from "Teichō kōron (An essay on 1877)" in *Fukuzawa yukichi chosakushū*. 009 (Collected Writing of Fukuzawa Yukichi, Vol. 9). Tokyo: Keiō University Press, 10. [English translation from Fukuzawa, Yukichi. Steele, M. William (trans). 2002. ("Yasegaman no setsu: On Fighting to the Bitter End." Asian Cultural Studies Special Issue (International Christian University), No. 11, 141. https://doi.org/10.34577/00000217].
- 2. Ibid., 12. [English version, 142.].
- On this point, see Wade, Nicholas. Yasuda, Yoshinori and Numajiri, Yukiko (trans). 2007. Gomannenmae: kono toki jinrui no sodaina tabi ga hajimatta. Tokyo: East Press. [Translation of Wade, Nicholas. 2006. Before the Dawn: Recovering the Lost History of our Ancestors. New York: Penguin Books.
- 4. On the history of Hawaii, see, for example, Saruya, Kaname. 2003. Hawai ocho saigo no joo (The last queen of the Hawai'ian kingdom). Tokyo: Bunshun Shinsho; Yaguchi, Yūjin. 2002. Hawai no rekishi to bunka ichi higeki to hokori no mozaiku no naka de (The history and culture of Hawai'i: a mosaic of tragedy and pride). Tokyo: Chūko Shinsho. An interesting book that follows in the footsteps of Captain Cook, who conducted large-scale research expeditions in the Pacific Ocean in the eighteenth century, and that touches on the current state of those regions, is Horwitz, Tony. Yamamoto, Mitsunobu (trans). 2003. Aoi chizu: kyaputen Kukku o oikakete (The

blue map: chasing Captain Cook) Vol. 1 and Vol. 2. Tokyo: Basilico [Translation of Horwitz, Tony. 2002. *Blue Latitudes: Boldly Going Where Captain Cook has Gone Before*. New York: Picador.].

- World Bank. 2016. *Migration and Remittances Factbook 2016*, 3rd ed. Washington, DC: World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0319-2 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2017. International Migration Report 2017: Highlights (ST/ESA/SER. A/404), 4. https://www.un. org/en/development/desa/population/migration/publications/migrationreport/docs/Migration Report2017_Highlights.pdf (accessed March 11, 2024).
- Textbox: "International migrant stock by age, sex and origin: Definitions and data availability." *Ibid.*, 3.
- There are not supposed to be any unskilled labor migrants. For background on this program, see Japan International Trainee & Skilled Worker Cooperation Organization. "What is the Technical Intern Training Program?" https://www.jitco.or.jp/en/regulation/index.html (accessed February 20, 2024).
- 9. Article 33 (1) of the 1951 Refugee Convention provides that: "No Contracting State shall expel or return ("refouler") a refugee in any manner whatsoever to the frontiers of territories where his life or freedom would be threatened on account of his race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion." https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechan isms/instruments/convention-relating-status-refugees#article-33 (accessed March 11, 2024).

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this chapter or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Chapter 2 Policy of Population Movement and Foreign Relations



Contents

1	Types	of Policy Discord	23
2	Exit F	Regulations and International Politics	25
	2.1	Historical Development of the Freedom of Exit	25
	2.2	Establishing the Right to Exit	25
	2.3	Freedom of Movement as a Human Right	27
	2.4	Competing Systems and Exit Regulations—The German Experience	28
	2.5	Normalization of Political Exile—North and South Korea	31
	2.6	The Irony of Human Rights Diplomacy—The Jewish Emigration Issue	34
	2.7	America, Israel, and the Soviet Union	35
	2.8	Competition for Highly Skilled Professionals	38
	2.9	The Cases of America and Canada	39
	2.10	Some European Cases	41
	2.11	Highly Skilled Labor Sending Countries	42
	2.12	Regulating Brain Drain	44
	2.13	From Brain Drain to Brain Circulation	45
3	Entry	Regulations and International Politics	46
	3.1	Population Transfers and Regulating Entry	46
	3.2	Cuba's Strategic Population Dumping Policy	48
	3.3	Escalating from Strategic Engineered Migration	53
	3.4	Third Indo-Pakistani War (of 1971)—An Escalated Refugee Crisis	54
	3.5	Controlling the Import of Migrant Labor	56
	3.6	International Regime for Migrant Laborers	57
	3.7	Absence of an International Migrant Regime	58
	3.8	Marketing One's Own Workers—The Philippines' Case	
	3.9	Bracero Program—A US-Mexican Attempt at Migration Control	61
	3.10	Political Landscape of Labor Migration	67
4	Sumn	nary	
Nc	tes	·····	69

Abstract How to control the movement of people across borders has become an increasingly important political issue. This chapter inquires into the means by which migrant-sending and migrant-receiving states can maintain harmonious relations and avoid the conflict often resulting from differing national policies. It looks at various kinds of policy discord, freedom of movement as a human right, differing exit and entry regulations, and regimes for migrant laborers, as well as the phenomenon of the "brain drain" from one nation to another. Among specific cases analyzed are

political exile involving North and South Korea, the issue of Jewish emigration, Cuba's population dumping policy, the refugee crisis from the Third Indo-Pakistani War of 1971, and the Bracero program, a US-Mexican attempt at migration control.

Whether or not to allow foreigners to enter its territory is usually considered to constitute part of a country's sovereignty. As to the treatment of refugees and political asylum seekers, there are certain international norms. Furthermore, the treatment of visitors is often regulated by bilateral treaties. Apart from these cases, where the movement of people is concerned, however, there is no international regime comparable to the Charter of the World Trade Organization (WTO), which globally regulates cross-border transactions of goods. Whether or not to permit entry is, in principle, a matter left to the discretion of the receiving country.

If borders were completely opened without controls and cross-border migration were liberalized, the political and cultural identity of many regions around the world would surely be unsustainable. In fact, the indigenous communities of the New World, which were considered by modern European nations to lack the qualifications of civilized nations, were unable to effectively control the influx of settlers. As a result, their civilizations were gravely impacted by settlers who migrated from Europe on a massive scale. Cases such as these, where large-scale population inflows from the outside cause the destruction of indigenous societies, are rather commonplace when you look back into time, regardless of the extent to which they are recorded in history. Japanese history is no exception. One such example is the fate of the Ainu, an indigenous people who lived in Hokkaido before its inclusion as part of the territory of "Japan" in the modern era. Given this, it would be perfectly reasonable for a relatively sparsely populated community to believe that its identity was threatened by an influx of people from the outside. The political and cultural identity of Myanmar, Eastern Siberia, southern Europe, and the southern United States would undergo a complete change of character if they were to experience large-scale immigration from their heavily populated neighbors or an unrestricted cross-border influx of people from politically unstable neighboring regions. In other words, one security issue for a state is to manage population inflow in a way that is compatible with what it regards as its vital interests.

That statement does not at all mean to suggest, however, that population movements are always effectively controlled by the state. The reality is quite the opposite, and in recent years restrictions on international population movements have been tightened in many regions. How to control the movement of people across borders has become an increasingly important political issue.

International population movements are already a reality in most parts of the world, but as long as states seek to take responsibility for governing their own territories, it is difficult to imagine them not exercising any border control. States' immigration policy interests will not always be mutually compatible, so long as each state has some kind of policies for immigration and for immigration control, and so long as it is largely left up to each state's discretion what sort of immigration regulations

to implement. When the interests of two states conflict, and their wills clash, it may develop into a political problem.

How can people who cross borders trigger conflict between states? Conversely, under what conditions can migrant sending and receiving states maintain harmonious relations? The purpose of this chapter is to consider this line of inquiry.

1 Types of Policy Discord

A standard cause of interstate friction and conflict is the simultaneous pursuit of incompatible goals by multiple states. The most typical case is a dispute over territory, where multiple countries claim exclusive jurisdiction, or territorial rights, over the same location. Various other incompatible goals are possible, such as two countries simultaneously trying to increase exports and decrease imports, or two countries simultaneously attempting to devalue their currencies. With respect to population movement, there is a possibility that different states will pursue incompatible policy goals as long as the cross-border movement of people is managed at the liberal discretion of individual states.

To be sure, states can avoid such policy discord by reaching some kind of international agreement in advance. Global international practices and norms have been established to a certain extent regarding refugees and political asylum seekers, which arguably has given rise to a sort of regime. In addition, there are also multilateral agreements that recognize the freedom of movement over a wide area, the European Union's (EU) Schengen Agreement being the typical example.

Furthermore, two states often conclude international agreements to ensure the orderly flow of people. The most familiar of these is the bilateral visa agreement. Today, many countries have entered into visa agreements in which they mutually agree on entry conditions in advance or provide visa exemptions reciprocally based on specific criteria.

There are also many cases where governments have agreed on the number and conditions of guest workers who may enter the country for temporary work purposes. Starting in the 1950s, Germany entered into agreements to introduce guest worker systems with countries such as Italy, Spain, Portugal, Greece, Yugoslavia, and Turkey.¹ In order to resolve its labor shortage during World War II, the US signed an agreement with the Mexican government to bring in workers from Mexico, guaranteeing them certain working conditions. As will be examined in greater detail later (starting on page 37), this Bracero Program continued until 1964, during which time more than 4 million Mexicans crossed the border into the US.²

Conversely, states may also reach agreements to limit the number of immigrants. Japan and the US signed a "Gentlemen's Agreement" in 1908 to restrict Japanese immigration to the US (the contents of the informal arrangement were kept secret and not made public until 1939). In 1906, Japanese immigrant schoolchildren in San Francisco public schools were forced to transfer to the Oriental school established exclusively for those of Asian descent. To amicably resolve the incident, under this

agreement, Japan effectively stopped issuing passports to all laborers seeking to go to the US mainland. At the same time, the agreement stipulated that Hawaii would be exempted from these restrictions and that the US government would not unilaterally exclude Japanese immigrants.³ Initially, the US had approached Japan on a bilateral treaty reciprocally limiting labor migration, but inasmuch as US emigration to Japan was non-existent at that time, the gentlemen's agreement was the result of Japanese insistence on voluntary measures to avoid the appearance of being discriminated against. Though there was no explicit link, the implication was that the US would acquiesce to Japan's sphere of influence on the Asian continent in exchange for maintaining the gentlemen's agreement.

However, a universal international migration regime that coordinates states' policies regarding the cross-border movement of people remains underdeveloped. This issue is largely determined by the discretion of the parties concerned, rather than by international rules. Individual states unilaterally promote or restrict the movement of people across their borders, depending on how they interpret the significance of people exiting or entering their country. This leads to policy discord, which often gives rise to political friction. Table 1 shows the types of harmony and discord in policies regarding population migration. Section 2 will focus on friction over exit regulations, and Sect. 3 will focus on friction over entry regulations, with a look at the international politics that unfold in each.

		Migrant-receiving country				
		Welcome	Restrict			
Migrant-sending country	Promote	Harmony (e.g., North America and European migrant-sending countries until the late nineteenth century)	 Frictions over exit regulations Economic migrant restrictions Strategic engineered migration policies 			
	Restrict	 Frictions over entry regulations Political asylees Competition to acquire highly skilled professionals 	Harmony (e.g., Japan had a policy of national seculsion (<i>sakoku</i>) and China had bans on maritime trade (<i>haijin</i>).)			

Table 1 Schema of international conflict over migration flows

Source Created by author

2 Exit Regulations and International Politics

2.1 Historical Development of the Freedom of Exit

To start with, there are states that restrict their citizens from leaving the country, and others that wish to take in those people. For today's democracies to deny their citizens the rights to exit the country or renounce their nationality would be an exception.⁴ This is because the idea that freedom of movement constitutes a part of human rights has become a general norm.⁵ The Universal Declaration of Human Rights states in Article 15, Paragraph 1 that "everyone has the right to a nationality," and further states in Paragraph 2 that "No one shall be arbitrarily deprived of his nationality nor denied the right to change his nationality." The Constitution of Japan stipulates in Article 22 that "Freedom of all persons to move to a foreign country and to divest themselves of their nationality shall be inviolate."

However, historically this was not a given. Under the feudal system, even domestic movement was severely restricted for a long time. Serfs were not free to leave the land; even if they had been, the practical barriers to movement were high since a labor market for making a living off the land had not been developed. Agricultural production accounted for the lion's share of the pre-modern economy. The largest source of employment apart from agriculture was domestic work for the nobility, but such domestic laborers could not move freely without their employers' permission. In other words, inasmuch as labor was not traded freely in the absence of an integrated national labor market, with the exception of peddlers and traveling entertainers, ordinary people who left their areas of residence often became impoverished, jobless refugees. In an era when providing relief to the poor was left up to local communities, an influx of poor people meant a heavy burden on local communities. In this sense as well, domestic population movements had to be strictly controlled.

2.2 Establishing the Right to Exit

In Europe, leaving a country became recognized as a right only after the French Revolution. Due in part to the fact that capitalism, as it was developing at the time, required free market transactions of labor through contracts, freedom of movement came to be regarded as an important part of human rights. Influenced by the French Revolution, Prussia carried out liberal reforms such as freeing its serfs in the early nineteenth century, but until the 1840s leaving Prussia required official permission from the authorities, even for foreigners.⁶ Russia issued the Emancipation Manifesto in 1861, granting serfs certain rights, but it tightened restrictions on departing the country, in place of measures that noble landowners had imposed. The preponderance of Russians had to wait until the end of the nineteenth century to be able to obtain passports and leave the country; accordingly, 2.3 million Russians, mainly of Jewish and Polish descent, left the country as emigrees between 1881 and 1910.⁷

In the US, slavery was finally abolished after the Civil War, well after serfs had been emancipated in Russia. However, a system was introduced requiring blacks to carry proof of employment, effectively restricting their movement. Freedom of movement for blacks was not the norm until the latter half of the nineteenth century; even after they had been emancipated they still had various restrictions imposed on their movement.⁸

The prevailing mercantilist view held that population was one resource of national power; under the feudal system, the inhabitants of a territory controlled by a lord had been the labor force associated with that territory. There was a long period when the emigration of craftsmen, engineers, and other people with skills deemed useful by the state, who in today's terms would be highly skilled workers, was strictly regulated. For instance, under the *Ancien Régime* in France, the prevailing view was that the outflow of migrants would lead to a decline in the country's population and the loss of valuable technology, such that Jean-Baptiste Colbert, Louis XIV's Controller-General of Finances, decided to impose the death penalty on those who illegally left the country. The United Kingdom also placed strict restrictions on the emigration of seamen and artisans until the 1820s.⁹

In many cases, feudal lords and kings welcomed exiled merchants and workers. The Magna Carta of 1215 states that the king protected the right of foreign merchants to freely travel into and from England "save in time of war." As part of Russia's modernization project in the eighteenth century, both Peter the Great and Catherine the Great enthusiastically accepted colonists from Germany.¹⁰ England had traditionally been eager to accept Protestants from the continent. Protestants in France were persecuted as a result of Louis XIV's repeal in 1685 of the Edict of Nantes, which had been issued almost 100 years earlier to promote sectarian reconciliation in France. Consequently, England actively took in 40,000–50,000 Huguenots who had left France. Because the Huguenots had superior skills, Charles II of England encouraged them to naturalize. They were welcomed and accepted:

The children of immigrants should be admitted to British schools without discrimination; they should be encouraged to engage in commerce and trade; their personal belongings should not be subject to customs duties. They should be received with the utmost care, such as dispatching a British immigration official to their port of departure and issuing them a passport to enter Britain free of charge.¹¹

In addition to political and religious reasons for protecting asylum seekers from France, a Catholic state with which England had a long rivalry, the British economic view that population is the strength of the nation was also at play.¹² Protestants from France in fact played an important role in British industry. Also, French Protestant soldiers who came to England were to hold important positions in the British army, such as John Ligonier, who became commander-in-chief of the forces in 1757.

Around the same time, roughly the same number of people were leaving England for France. They were the Jacobites, mainly Catholics swearing allegiance to King James II who was exiled during the Glorious Revolution (1688–89) in England. Following James II, who had his court on the outskirts of Paris, they often plotted to retake power in England with French support. The Jacobites produced many French soldiers. Afterwards, they produced two marshals of France and 18 generals in the French army, and held a near monopoly of command in the French colonies. In other words, Protestants from France and Catholics from England faced each other on the battlefield as émigré soldiers for generations.¹³

2.3 Freedom of Movement as a Human Right

Freedom of exit came to be understood as constituting a human right in Western European countries after the popular revolutions. Furthermore, freedom of movement increased substantially as the international environment became more stable. For liberal states, the problem became their relationship with non-liberal states. In continental Europe in the mid-nineteenth century, liberal revolutions were suppressed on occasion, and activists defeated at home often went into exile. The countries that accepted such political asylum seekers tended to have strained relations with the governments of their countries of origin. However, in Europe, royal families and aristocrats who had fled abroad as a result of religious conflicts and dynastic struggles were given asylum and were sometimes used for political purposes. Of course, granting asylum to those who seek it is a state's right derived from its sovereignty, but there is lively debate as to whether it should be established as customary international law.¹⁴ It has been a fairly well-established custom since pre-modern times. In the case of Europe, there may also have been strong class, religious, and kinship ties that transcended the national framework. In addition, there may have been practical reasons as well: in times of intense internal strife, regimes may have found affording defeated anti-government forces a relatively easy "exit" more convenient than resigning them to a fight to the death.

The story suddenly takes on a political overtone, of course, if such exiles were to systematically plot to overthrow the regime of their home country while abroad. Indeed, crackdowns on the political movements of the German, Polish, Italian, and Russian exile communities in Paris and London in the nineteenth century oftentimes became a diplomatic issue.¹⁵

Once the freedom of exit is established, receiving countries, more than sending countries, will have to play a greater role in managing international population flows. Anti-immigrant movements did, in fact, intensify beginning in the late nineteenth century in the US, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, which had traditionally accepted immigrants on a large scale. Arguably one contributing factor was the wider recognition of the freedom of exit.

However, restrictions on movement were stringently enforced once again in the twentieth century, especially in communist countries. The Soviet Union enforced the collectivization of its agricultural sector and the allocation of resources from rural to urban areas for the purpose of rapid industrialization. To control the resultant pressure on the population to move to urban areas, it introduced a passport system to manage movement within the country. In addition, it required a separate passport and exit visa to move abroad. Freedom of movement was severely restricted.¹⁶
That freedom of exit was not guaranteed in the countries of the USSR-led Eastern bloc was a fact used politically by the US-led Western bloc during the Cold War as being emblematic of the repression in those societies. In fact, allowing their citizens merely to have unrestricted contacts with foreigners within their countries, let alone to travel freely abroad, would lead to the widespread knowledge of Western lifestyles and ideas domestically, which the Communist countries recognized would lead to a crisis for their regimes. Especially those countries whose very legitimacy was shaky took blatantly repressive measures to prevent their citizens from leaving the country. To be sure, members of the supposedly open Western camp did not generally recognize freedom of entry into their own countries. At the height the Cold War, however, both East and West treasured political exiles from the adversary as the perfect political grist to symbolize the oppressive rule of the opposing camp. It is typified by the Cold War era events concerning population movement that unfolded across the borders between Western and Eastern Europe. The basic idea was to encourage defectors to leave the enemy camp and welcome them into one's own country, for the political value the defectors were deemed to have, symbolizing the political legitimacy of one's own camp.

2.4 Competing Systems and Exit Regulations—The German Experience

The border between East and West Germany, particularly the wall installed between East and West Berlin, was the front line of the conflict between exit restrictions and entry incentive policy.

The product of Germany's division after World War II, East Germany is often compared to other Eastern European countries, such as Czechoslovakia, Poland, and Hungary, that were forcibly established by the Soviet Union regardless of the will of the local people. But it had a major weakness in its legitimacy: the country to the west of the border was not only freer and more prosperous, but was also inhabited by people with exactly the same linguistic and cultural traditions. Therefore, people who were dissatisfied with the East German government had the option of making a new life for themselves by exiting the country rather than protesting against it. There were anti-establishment groups in East Germany, as there were in other Eastern European countries, but after the Berlin riots of 1953 there were no large-scale antiregime demonstrations that shook the system comparable to the Hungarian Uprising of 1956 or the Prague Spring of 1968; the country remained the relatively wealthy and stable honor student of the Eastern bloc. One of the reasons for this may have been that people had the option of leaving the country to relieve their grievances in addition to protesting against the government.

In fact, since Germany was first divided into East and West, more than 100,000 people a year, and in some years more than 300,000 people, continued to move to West Germany, mainly via Berlin, where movement was free (see Table 2). The

cumulative total from 1949 to 1961 exceeded 2.5 million—a number corresponding to about 13% of East Germany's population at the time. East German authorities initially tolerated this to some extent; it served as a convenient safety valve to exclude "class enemies" such as landlords, the self-employed, and other bourgeois (capitalist) elements. However, as the young generation of doctors and engineers continued to leave the country without cease, it came to be seen as a threat to the survival of the regime. The infamous Berlin Wall, built between East and West Berlin in 1961, was erected by the East German authorities in response to these new conditions.¹⁷

There is no need to elaborate here that the Berlin problem was one of the major focal points of the Cold War. What I would like to emphasize here is that the population outflow through West Berlin was a matter of life and death for East Germany, whereas for West Germany it was not only about the protection and humanity of its fellow Germans, but also related to the possibility of German reunification in the future. The plainly repressive restrictions on exit from East Germany, such as the construction of the wall, did drastically reduce the number of people leaving East Germany. Still, more than 10,000 people left annually. This number included not only people who risked their lives to flee over the wall to the West, but also dissident intellectuals and artists who had been expelled by the East German authorities, such as the social satirist Karl Wolf Biermann.

This method of expelling people (*abschieben*) would have contributed to the system and peaceful coexistence based on the division of East and West. However, it was a major blow to East Germany, as described below.

The most creative, most critical or simply most adventurous people moved, often at the risk of their lives, across the German-German border and thereby contributed to the consolidation of stagnation and mediocrity [in the East]. Only when groups of dissidents started to advocate change in the GDR instead of simply leaving it, did the leaders of the country, who had long been aware of the damaging impact of the exodus on the economy, understand that it did contribute to political stability, with the result that they now resorted to Abschiebung as a sedative. In this way they also revealed that the mediocrity of the country matched their own to a fault.¹⁸

There were also political reasons why the authorities permitted some of people who left East Germany to leave the country in exchange for a ransom from West Germany. In the 1980s, the average ransom paid per person in this transaction reached 40,000 marks and was said to have become a valuable source of foreign currency for East Germany at the time.¹⁹

This peaceful coexistence between East and West Germany came to a dramatic end. Over 45,000 people left East Germany, both legally and illegally, in the first half of 1989 alone, according to a secret report by the Stasi (the East German secret police) released in July 1989. Of these, 37% were people in their prime working age (between 25 and 40 years old), and 44% were trained engineers. The exodus of skilled engineers, doctors, and dentists was a big problem: "Newspapers in the West often printed stories of villages where all their dentists disappeared, having escaped abroad; of craftsmen fleeing to the West during summer vacation; or of bakeries that could no longer bake bread."²⁰ In November 1989, a large number of East German citizens passed through Hungary, which had already opened its borders to the West,

Year	Refugees	Authorized migrants	Including ransomed political prisoners	Total
1949	129,245			129,245
1950	197,788			197,788
1951	165,648			165,648
1952	182,393			182,393
1953	331,396			331,396
1954	184,198			184,198
1955	252,870			252,87
1956	279,189			279,189
1957	261,622			261,622
1958	204,092			204,092
1959	143,917			143,917
1960	199,188			199,188
1961	207,026			207,026
1962	16,741	4,624		21,365
1963	12,967	29,665	8	42,632
1964	11,864	30,012	880	41,876
1965	11,886	17,666	1,160	29,552
1966	8,456	15,675	400	24,131
1967	6,385	13,188	550	19,573
1968	4,902	11,134	700	16,036
1969	5,273	11,702	850	16,975
1970	5,047	12,472	900	17,519
1971	5,843	11,565	1,400	17,408
1972	5,537	11,627	730	17,164
1973	6,522	8,667	630	15,189
1974	5,324	7,928	1,100	13,252
1975	6,011	10,274	1,150	16,285
1976	5,110	10,058	1,490	15,168
1977	4,037	8,041	1,470	12,078
1978	3,846	8,271	1,480	12,117
1979	3,512	9,003	900	12,515
1980	3,988	8,775	1,010	12,763
1981	4,340	11,093	1,584	15,433
1982	4,095	9,113	1,491	13,208
1983	3,614	7,729	1,105	11,343
1984	3,651	37,323	2,236	40,974

 Table 2 Migrants and refugees from East Germany to West Germany

(continued)

Year	Refugees	Authorized migrants	Including ransomed political prisoners	Total
1985	3,484	21,428	2,676	24,912
1986	4,660	21,518	1,536	26,178
1987	6,252	12,706	1,247	18,958
1988	9,718	27,939	1,083	37,657
1989				343,854

Table 2 (continued)

Source Albert O. Hirschman. 1993. "Exist Voice. and the Fate of German Democratic Republic: An Essay in Conceptual History." *World Politics*, Vol. 45 No. 2, 179

Note East Germany includes East Berlin; West Germany includes West Berlin

crossed the border with Austria, and fled to the West. The conservative leadership in East Germany was forced to change. The new leadership, with Hans Modrow as prime minister, tried to bring the situation under control by easing foreign travel restrictions, but amidst the chaos, large crowds demanding complete liberalization rushed to the gates separating East and West Berlin. The border guards lacked the will to use force to suppress the crowds; once the gates were opened, tens of thousands of East German citizens poured into West Berlin. A few days later, citizens began tearing down the Berlin Wall. Less than a year later, East and West Germany were reunified, and the East German government was completely abolished. What brought about the collapse of East Germany was not external pressure, but the mass defection of its people who had abandoned their country.²¹

2.5 Normalization of Political Exile—North and South Korea

Cases like East Germany, where a population outflow literally determined the survival of a nation, are rare. No matter how repressive a country's system is, choosing to express one's dissatisfaction by leaving the country involves various risks and costs. The choice between leaving one's homeland or staying to resist is often a difficult one, both morally and psychologically. Indeed, even as East Germany was coming apart, the crowds of protesters gathering in Leipzig could be heard chanting things like "We will stay here" and "We are the people."²² In Germany's case, however, it is thought that large-scale pressure to leave the country arose because many Germans believed that Germany should essentially be a single homeland.

There are arguably similar characteristics in the population movement in the current situation of the divided Korean Peninsula. Although it achieved independence from Japanese colonial rule, the Korean Peninsula was incorporated into the global East–West Cold War structure after World War II and was thereby divided in two: the Republic of Korea (ROK, South Korea) and the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DPRK, North Korea). For a long time, given that the governments of both

sides did not recognize the other's very existence, both considered it treason for their own nationals to leave the country for the adversary's; conversely, they adopted a policy of welcoming an influx of their adversary's citizens as patriots. Furthermore, not only was there a severe ideological confrontation between the DPRK and ROK governments, but a fierce and heated battle was waged for four years starting in 1950. Ever since the Armistice Agreement was signed, the border between the two Koreas has remained a literal military front line, with hordes of troops from both armies facing off against each other day and night, making it virtually impossible for refugees to cross the 38th parallel.

In terms of the inter-Korean legitimacy contest, it was not until the 1970s that South Korea gained a decisive advantage over North Korea, which had traditionally been more economically advantaged. Furthermore, it was only after democratization in 1987 that the ROK began to surpass the DPRK in terms of political freedom. In other words, because two authoritarian regimes confronted each other over a highly impenetrable, hard border during the Cold War period, the number of defectors from the North to the South was very limited, mainly male political elites and military personnel.

Inter-Korean competition thus tended to happen in third countries, going on actively even in Japan, where many ethnic Koreans lived. For instance, under a repatriation program promoted by the General Association of Korean Residents in Japan (Chongryon), Korean residents in Japan who wished were sent to North Korea via the Japanese and North Korean Red Crosses; the project began in 1959 and continued intermittently, and in the end had sent more than 90,000 Koreans and their Japanese families to North Korea. Naturally, the ROK and the Korean Resident's Union in Japan (Mindan) strongly opposed this. The ROK's Syngman Rhee administration organized a task force to stop the repatriations to the North, drawing on Koreans in Japan who had volunteered to go to South Korea to defend the country during the Korean War. There was a failed attempt at terrorism made in December 1959 against the Japanese Red Cross center in Niigata, a port city facing the Korean Peninsula, from which the returnees departed.²³

The situation changed dramatically in the late 1990s, when an economic slump in North Korea became more serious and developed into a food crisis. Consequently, there was a growing number of young people with relatively low levels of education, and a rapid increase in the proportion of women, among the defectors to South Korea (Table 3). Since 2002, more than half have been female; by 2013, the ratio had topped 70%. Moreover, beginning in the twenty-first century, more North Korean defectors are contacting family members they left behind in the DPRK or China and bringing them for family reunification. A growing number of North Korean defectors desire to migrate from South Korea to Europe and the US in recent years. In contrast, some defectors, disillusioned with life in South Korea, return home to North Korea.²⁴ These facts suggest a change in the nature of these people, from something political to something more akin to refugees.

Most North Korean defectors cross the border into Chinese territory and wait for an opportunity to move on to their next destination while they evade detection by the Chinese authorities with the support of ethnic Koreans in China. According to one

				0		,		
~ 1998	~ 2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
831	565	510	474	626	424	515	573	608
116	478	632	811	1,272	960	1,513	1,981	2,195
947	1,043	1,142	1,285	1,898	1,384	2,028	2,554	2,803
2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017
662	591	795	404	369	305	251	302	188
2,252	1,811	1,911	1,098	1,145	1,092	1,024	1,116	939
2,914	2,402	2,706	1,502	1,514	1,397	1,275	1,418	1,127
		·	·					
2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	Total		
168	202	72	40	35	32	9,542		
969	845	157	23	32	164	24,536		
1,137	1,047	229	63	67	196	34,078		
	~ 1998 831 116 947 2009 662 2,252 2,914 2018 168 969	~ 1998 ~ 2001 831 565 116 478 947 1,043 2009 2010 662 591 2,252 1,811 2,914 2,402 2018 2019 168 202 969 845	~ 1998 ~ 2001 2002 831 565 510 116 478 632 947 1,043 1,142 2009 2010 2011 662 591 795 2,252 1,811 1,911 2,914 2,402 2,706	~ 1998 ~ 2001 2002 2003 831 565 510 474 116 478 632 811 947 1,043 1,142 1,285 2009 2010 2011 2012 662 591 795 404 2,252 1,811 1,911 1,098 2,914 2,402 2,706 1,502 U 2018 2019 2020 2021 168 202 72 40 969 845 157 23	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	831 565 510 474 626 424 515 573 116 478 632 811 1,272 960 1,513 1,981 947 1,043 1,142 1,285 1,898 1,384 2,028 2,554 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 662 591 795 404 369 305 251 302 2,252 1,811 1,911 1,098 1,145 1,092 1,024 1,116 2,914 2,402 2,706 1,502 1,514 1,397 1,275 1,418 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total 168 202 72 40 35 32 9,542 969 845 157 23 32 164 24,536

 Table 3
 Number of North Korean Defectors Entering South Korea (persons)

Source https://www.unikorea.go.kr/eng_unikorea/relations/statistics/defectors/ (accessed March 23, 2024)

survey, 64% of respondents want to head to South Korea, followed by the US as the next most popular destination with 19%, and those who answered they want to remain in China at 14%.²⁵ Chinese authorities, seeking to avoid provoking the DPRK, often adopt a tolerant posture, tacitly allowing these people to leave the country for third countries. On occasion, they round up these defectors and deport them to the DPRK. As a result, there have been incidents in which North Korean defectors, with the support of South Korean non-governmental organizations (NGOs), rushed en masse into foreign diplomatic compounds in China to seek protection. (These include the North Korean defectors who rushed through the gates of the Japanese Consulate General in Shenyang in 2002, and a similar incident that occurred at a Japanese school in Beijing in 2004.) Each time this happens, it inevitably further complicates relations between these diplomatic missions' home countries, China, and the DPRK. Pyongyang does not comment on defectors actively, but it cannot simply ignore when a more notable incident occurs. It has lambasted Seoul for "premeditated kidnapping, abduction, and terrorism by South Korea against the people of North Korea," necessarily destabilizing North-South relations.

For these North Korean defectors arriving in South Korea, the ROK government runs a settlement support program. They first undergo questioning by the intelligence and security agencies and other security measures. Then the government takes steps to welcome them as fellow Koreans and help them to become established in South Korean society. They are provided courses teaching them the basic common sense any ROK citizen would have. In addition, they are provided employment, housing, and settlement support, as well as a certain amount of financial assistance.²⁶

The ROK's policy goals arguably shifted focus, from regime change in the DPRK to stabilizing inter-Korean relations, since both Koreas simultaneously joined the United Nations in 1991 and the Kim Dae-jung administration later started its "Sunshine Policy." To be sure, unifying the peninsula is recognized as the long-cherished desire of the Korean people, but given the extremely impoverished state of the North Korean economy, the cost of Korean reunification will be incomparably greater than Germany's was. Furthermore, inasmuch as fundamental systemic change, like that which took place in the Soviet Union with the arrival of Mikhail S. Gorbachev, has not happened in China, geopolitical conflict over the state of the Korean Peninsula has yet to be resolved. Therefore, a sudden mass population outflow, such as that in East Germany, would be interpreted as a major crisis for South Korea and its surrounding international environment, rather than an opportunity for regime change.²⁷ This is obviously not something Beijing wants to happen either, for a large-scale, disorderly population outflow from North Korea, if it were to occur, would severely impact China, with its large number of ethnic Koreans residing within its borders. This means that none of the governments of neighboring countries, including Seoul, actively promote a large-scale population exodus from North Korea. If a large-scale population outflow were to take place, quite dissimilar to the case of East and West Germany, it would more likely be seen as a security crisis than as an opportunity for peaceful reunification.

2.6 The Irony of Human Rights Diplomacy—The Jewish Emigration Issue

Up to this point, we have looked at cases where legitimacy contests between divided states sparked emigration that created diplomatic issues. Let us next consider a case in which freedom of exit became an international political issue. The most famous example of this is the departure of Jews living in the Soviet Union which became an issue between the US and the Soviet Union in the early 1970s.

The state of Israel was founded in 1948, the culmination of the Zionist movement since the late nineteenth century that sought to reestablish a Jewish homeland. At first, Israel thus founded was inhabited by a large number of Arab residents; today, Israelis of Arab descent still make up a quarter of Israel's population, enjoy citizenship rights, and a few have even been elected to the Knesset. Israel, a Zionist state, established the Law of Return in 1950, which provides that every Jew has the right to immigrate to Israel. It has in fact sought to strengthen the Jewish homeland by vigorously accepting Jewish settlers from all over the world. The largest group among them are the Ashkenazi Jews (Ashkenazim) who immigrated from Europe, from which Jews had long been expelled; both in terms of numbers and political and economic influence, they far outstrip the Sephardic Jews (Sephardim), who came from the Iberian Peninsula and the non-European world.

Many Jews resided in the territory of the Soviet Union (Russia), and theirs is a history of repeated persecution. Approximately 300,000 Jews are estimated to have lived within Soviet territory during the 1950s, making it the second-largest Jewish population in the world at the time. Even after the end of the violence of Stalinism, they continued to suffer from religious and cultural oppression, their synagogues were closed and speaking Yiddish was prohibited.

As it was, the Soviet Union had quickly recognized Israel in 1948, initially welcoming anti-British Zionism as an anti-imperialist force. This stance changed, becoming anti-Israel, with Soviet support of the Arab side in the Arab–Israeli War of 1967. As a result, the oppression of Jews in the Soviet Union only became more severe. Jewish organizations in Europe and the US began campaigning actively for the better treatment of Jews in the Soviet Union, and influential Western intellectuals also began to raise this issue with some frequency.

The Israeli government's consistent support efforts are said to have been behind these Jewish lobby groups. The government of Israel established the Lishkat Hakesher (the Liaison Bureau), a secret unit code-named Nativ (path), within the prime minister's office in 1952. Using regular diplomatic organizations to handle official relations with the Soviet Union, it used this secret unit to build a network with the many Jewish compatriots in Soviet territory, attempting to assist their emigration to Israel.²⁸ At the same time, it organized Jewish communities around the world, mobilized progressive intellectuals and influential politicians, and supported a movement to raise international interest in the treatment of Jews in the Soviet Union as a human rights issue. This activity was particularly successful in the US, where interest in the issue grew.²⁹

2.7 America, Israel, and the Soviet Union

The US has had the largest Jewish population in the world, long surpassing Israel on into the twenty-first century. A reason why the US has consistently provided Israel with firm support is because Jewish Americans in the country have had strong political influence. Jewish emigration became a major political issue at the time the US began its policy of détente toward the Soviet Union in the early 1970s. In a move to restore America's foreign standing weakened by the Vietnam War, the Richard M. Nixon administration of the time set out to dramatically improve relations with China while it simultaneously promoted détente with the Soviet Union. The US gave the Soviet Union economic benefits, such as lifting the ban on grain exports and providing export credits, and in return it sought to secure cooperation from the Soviet Union in other areas.

This conciliatory policy toward the Soviet Union, however, was met with condemnation from the Jewish lobby. After human rights groups, anti-Soviet hardliners, and even trade protectionists joined in, the pressure grew to link trade to the issue of Jewish emigration. Although Nixon and his national security advisor, Henry A. Kissinger, had resisted this, fearing that obvious pressure on the Soviet Union would ruin their détente policy, the Congress, in an effort led by Senator Henry M. Jackson, passed an amendment to the Trade Act of 1974, the Jackson-Vanik Amendment (sponsored in the House by Representative Charles A. Vanik). A section of the Act stipulates that the granting of most-favored-nation treatment and provision of export credits or investment guarantees would be prohibited to nonmarket economy countries (i.e., Communist countries) that deny its citizens the right to emigrate, or effectively infringe on that right by imposing a tax or by other means. However, a country can be exempted from these restrictions provided the US president makes a determination and reports to Congress that the country in question does not deprive its nationals of the opportunity to emigrate and does not impose more than a nominal tax on emigration.

Although written in general terms, this section of law linked trade opportunities with the US together with freedom of exit for Jews from the Soviet Union. The passage of this Act signified a major victory, both for American Jewish groups, whose country showed remorse for having silently stood by as Nazi persecution of the Jews began in the 1930s, and for Senator Jackson, who was able to demonstrate US commitment to human rights.

For the Soviet Union, the Jewish emigration issue itself may not have been all that serious. Indeed, at a time when a trade agreement with the US was increasingly likely and the momentum for détente was strong, the steady rise in the number of Jews leaving the Soviet Union was probably due in part to efforts by the US (Table 4). That is, Moscow in effect made some concessions. In contrast, Jackson, in the course of negotiating with the administration, hinted that he was willing to compromise, and that it would be permissible to exempt the Soviet Union from application of the statute provided Moscow gave assurances that approximately 60,000 Jews would be allowed to emigrate a year, a number Kissinger thought would not be out of the realm of possibility.³⁰

The Soviet Union was reluctant to bow to American pressure and provide explicit assurances regarding the treatment of its own citizens. It made clear its opposition by abrogating its 1972 trade agreement with the US.

As a result, the number of Jews leaving the Soviet Union, which had hitherto been rising, fell sharply in 1975. The extent to which American policy was effective in encouraging Jewish emigration is debatable. It is clear, however, that this provision alone did not liberalize Jewish departures from the country to any great degree. In the end, it was not until the appearance of Gorbachev and the end of the Cold War that Jews were freely allowed to leave the Soviet Union.

The irony is that many of the Jews who somehow left the Soviet Union chose to go to America rather than Israel (known as "dropouts"). Israel, which had severed diplomatic relations with the Soviet Union in the wake of the third Arab–Israeli War, was unable to transport Jewish emigrants from the Soviet Union on direct flights to Israel. Many were supposed to make their way overland to Vienna, where they were to board planes the Israeli authorities had prepared for them. At one point, however, more than 80% of Jews who left the USSR applied for asylum in the hopes of emigrating to the US or other Western countries.

. ~

	Emigrants from the Soviet Union	Immigrants to Israel	Dropouts	Percentage of Dropouts
1967	1,162	1,162		0.0
1968	231	231		0.0
1969	3,033	3,033		0.0
1970	999	999		9.0
1971	12,897	12,839	58	0.4
1972	31,903	31,652	251	0.7
1973	34,733	33,277	1,456	3.6
1974	20,767	16,888	3,879	18.7
1975	13,363	8,435	4,928	36.9
1976	14,254	7,250	7,004	49.1
1977	16,833	8,350	8,483	50.4
1978	28,956	12,090	16,866	58.2
1979	51,331	17,278	34,053	66.3
1980	21,648	7,570	14,078	65.0
1981	9,448	1,762	7,687	81.4
1982	2,692	731	1,961	72.8
1983	1,314	861	453	34.5
1984	896	340	556	34.5
1985	1,140	318	792	69.5
1986	904	201	703	77.8
1987	8,155	2,072	6,083	74.6
1988	18,961	2,173	16,788	88.5
1989	71,005	12,117	58,888	82.9
1990	228,400	183,400	45,000	19.7
1991	187,500	147,520	39,980	21.3
1992	122,398	64,648	57,750	47.2
1993	101,887	66,145	-	-
1994	100,830	68,079	_	-

Table 4 Number of Jews who left the Soviet Union

Source Lazin, Fred A. 2005. The Struggle for Soviet Jewry in American Politics: Israel versus the American Jewish Establishment. Lexington Books, 310

Though irked, the Israeli government did not make a formal protest to the US or request that Washington refuse to accept Jewish refugees, as it did not want to harm its US relations. Zionism's principled position was that Israel was the homeland of Jews around the world. Also, in contrast to Jews who came from the Arab world to settle in Israel in the 1950s and 1960s, Soviet Jews at that time had a high level of

education and skills, and so their presence was felt to be essential for the future of Israel.³¹ On the other hand, American Jewish organizations, which enthusiastically supported the Jackson-Vanik Amendment and assisted with the admission of Jews, took a position supporting Jewish emigration from the Soviet Union on the basis that refugees had the "freedom of choice" to choose where they would go. Consequently, they came into conflict with the Israeli government.

Conflict between the two parties did not surface during 1980s era of the renewed Cold War, when Jewish emigration once again was restricted stringently. At the end of that decade, however, with the Cold War ending and Jewish emigration largely eased, that hundreds of thousands of Jews would apply for asylum in the US every year became a real possibility. Once again, the governments of Israel and the US, and American Jewish organizations faced a dilemma. Tensions ran high between the Israeli government and Jewish groups within the US, which had previously lobbied Washington on the issue of Jewish emigration together.

The Israeli government wanted Jews to come to its country, but not at the expense of relations with the US government. The US administration truly did not want to accept an unusually large number of Jews, since the total number of refugees it could accept was limited, as determined each year in consultation with Congress. That would be hard to admit publicly, however, after all the pressure it had applied to the Soviet Union under the pretext of human rights, and the issue was expected to be pursued in Congress. Although Jewish organizations in the US followed the principle of "freedom of choice," in reality their capacity to support new Jewish immigrants was limited, and they also had to consider their relations with other minority groups.³²

Eventually, in 1989, the US made several decisions. It stopped accepting asylum applications from Soviet citizens in Western cities, limiting them to Moscow, citing significant improvements in Jewish religious and cultural rights within the Soviet Union. It set the limit for accepting refugees from the Soviet Union at 50,000 per year, of which Jewish organizations would bear the costs of accepting 8000 refugees. And it would give priority to Jewish families already in the US for refugee admissions. These were, in effect, measures to curb the acceptance of Jewish refugees from the Soviet Union. In addition, the Israeli government established new flights from Eastern European countries to prevent Soviet refugees from becoming dropouts mid-way.

2.8 Competition for Highly Skilled Professionals

The issue of freedom of exit receded from the international political agenda once the political-ideological confrontation was resolved with the end of the Cold War. The economic significance and social implications of people crossing borders next came to the fore as factors that influence the behavior of states. Once again, countries arguably took a stronger mercantilist attitude to secure human resources of use to them.

Human resources with special skills and information have been welcomed no matter the era. Competition for experts having confidential information or military technology has occurred throughout the ages, not just in the Cold War. A wellknown example is that the US and the Soviet Union both sought to acquire German experts in nuclear weapons development immediately after World War II. Similar characteristics were observed in the cross-border movement of engineers involved in weapons of mass destruction (WMD) immediately after the end of the Cold War. To wit, it was greatly feared after the Cold War that the mass exodus of Soviet experts in the field would lead to WMD proliferation. Even semi-secluded North Korea, it is assumed, has been ardently trying to acquire experts in nuclear-related and rocket technologies.

However, the real issue is likely to be the competition to acquire highly skilled professionals. The term "brain drain" first came into use in the 1950s, it is said, when the flow of scientists from India to its former colonial power, the UK, was seen as a problem.³³ Such international movement of human resources in fields relatively unaffected by language and culture, such as sports and music, has been making considerable progress for some time. Furthermore, in fields such as medical care and nursing, which have specialized skills that are highly versatile throughout the world, there is a dynamic at work in which human resources from developing countries are attracted to rich countries where wage levels are overwhelmingly higher. Indeed, rare human resources, which require time and capital to train, are drawn to former colonial powers, a phenomenon that has already been observed in some African countries.

Today, even as the knowledge society progresses and highly competent professionals with advanced skills are a state's greatest resource, the scarcity of such human resources is increasing. Countries have stepped up their efforts to acquire engineers in the field of information technology (IT), for example, ever since the IT boom in the 1990s.

2.9 The Cases of America and Canada

The US, which remains at the cutting edge of global intellectual production, is a remarkable success story when it comes to acquiring highly skilled human resources. The US produced 100 Nobel Prize winners in science between 1901 and 1991, of which 44 were either foreign-born or their children. Especially remarkable are the activities of Jewish scientists who had fled Nazi persecution. The proportion of immigrant recipients has been even more pronounced since 1965, when national-origins quotas for immigrants were abolished; in 2016, all six American recipients were foreign-born.³⁴ The fact that foreign professionals occupy the majority of a field is not limited to some cutting-edge researchers. Of America's estimated 12 million scientists and engineers, 17% are foreign-born; of those holding doctoral degrees, 38% are foreign-born. US corporate research and development departments consequently rely heavily on foreign talent.³⁵ The presence of excellent universities and research institutions, a relatively open immigration policy, a competitive society, and

performance evaluations are among the factors cited as having enabled US success in attracting such highly skilled human resources.

From the perspective of the immigration system, the amendments in the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1965 held great significance in attracting highly skilled professionals. It replaced the prior method of allocating the number of immigrants based on their country of origin and introduced a system giving preferential treatment to the family members of naturalized immigrants (family reunification) as well as immigrants with vocational skills. This opened the door wide to non-European immigrants, who had hitherto been explicitly excluded, and provided the institutional basis for the increasing immigration of highly skilled human resources from Asia. When President Lyndon B. Johnson signed the Act, he remarked, "...from this day forth those wishing to immigrate to America shall be admitted on the basis of their skills...." The immigration law has been amended frequently since then. With respect to introducing highly skilled professionals, America's basic framework is to issue H-1B visas for workers in specialty occupations to allow highly skilled personnel to enter the country and work in fields such as architecture, engineering, mathematics, physics, medicine/hygiene, education, business administration, accounting, law, and so on. There are even cases where such personnel are immediately granted permanent residency.36

It can no longer be said, however, that the US has a monopoly on such efforts (Fig. 1). Canada's approach is a leading example in this respect. Its "point system" has been in place since 1967, which determines whether to issue immigrant visas on the basis of certain objective criteria, with points given for factors such as educational level, English and French proficiency, age, and work experience in Canada.³⁷ Its purpose is to select individuals "who by reason of his [or her] education, training, skills or other special qualifications is likely to become successfully established in Canada"; the point system was explicitly designed "as a steady policy of recruitment based on long-term considerations of economic growth."³⁸ Immigrants who receive permanent residency can become citizens after four years.

This system also influenced other native English-speaking, traditionally immigrant states. Australia introduced a system more open than Canada's in 1973, departing from a system based on a blatantly racist "White Australia" policy. New Zealand, too, joined the competition for talent through legal reforms in 1991 that introduced its own points system.³⁹

These developments also stimulated America's policy to recruit highly skilled workers. In addition, European countries, which had basically stopped letting in immigrants with the economic recession of the 1970s, since the 1990s have opened the door for skilled laborers, adopting a variety of systems to accept them, while it has also firmly excluded irregular migrants.



Fig. 1 Share of Immigrant Labor Force (%). *Source* Shachar, Ayalet. 2006. "The Race for Talent: Highly Skilled Migrants and Competitive Immigration Regimes." *New York University Law Review*, Vol. 81, No. 1, 178

2.10 Some European Cases

Under the Labour government of Tony Blair, which came to power in 1997, the UK began to expand its acceptance of immigrants against the backdrop of strong economic growth. In 2001, it introduced the Highly Skilled Migrant Programme (HSMP) to admit highly skilled professionals. Consequently, acceptance under the program was decided by points given according to the applicant's qualifications, regardless of whether the applicant had an employer or not.⁴⁰ [HSMP was closed in 2008, replaced by a new Tier 1 (General) route, which itself was closed for applications in 2011.]

Germany stopped bringing in guest workers from southern Europe, the Balkans, and Turkey in the 1970s. Germany remained reluctant to accept immigrants in the 1990s, in part because German reunification actually increased the supply of labor. In order to resolve a shortage of IT engineers, however, it introduced a "green card" system in 2000, admitting IT-related engineers from outside the EU. Although this was repealed in 2005, Germany established provisions to exclude sham and forced marriages, enhance security measures, and obligate immigrants who could not speak German to participate in integration courses. In 2012, Germany enacted the "Law to Improve the Assessment and Recognition of Professional and Vocational Education and Training Qualifications Acquired Abroad" (Recognition Act) and the "EU Blue Card" Act, and moved to ease regulations and provide preferential treatment to foreigners with specialized skills from outside the EU.⁴¹

Even with its longer experience taking in immigrants than Germany, France stopped accepting immigrants in principle in 1974. In reality, population inflows continued with reuniting families and the influx of refugees, but France's basic stance was to severely limit accepting new immigrants while it bolstered efforts to integrate the immigrants it had already accepted as citizens. However, this policy underwent a

major change under the Nicolas Sarkozy administration. The 2006 Immigration Law had strengthened the policy of "opening the door to highly competent foreigners who can be expected to contribute to the French society and economy, while tightening the conditions of stay for other migrants."⁴²

2.11 Highly Skilled Labor Sending Countries

These measures are probably contributing; highly skilled workers are a rapidly increasing proportion among immigrants. The number of highly educated immigrants entering the countries in the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) increased by 70% in the first decade of the twenty-first century, reaching 27 million.⁴³ The destination of highly skilled human resources, as one might easily imagine, is far and away the West, especially the US. Canada, Australia, and other anglophone countries are also popular destinations for highlevel talent (Fig. 2; see also Fig. 6 in Chap. 7). Western countries, especially native English-speaking ones, enjoy an overwhelmingly dominant position in terms of the number of international students at institutions of higher learning, a veritable reserve of highly skilled potential immigrants. From this the idea appears, as it were, that a country sells its higher education services to outstanding global talent, which it then utilizes in its own economy. Asian countries such as India and China are the first to be cited as sending countries, but the number of highly skilled immigrants from Africa is also significant.

The outflow of highly skilled human resources is a serious problem for small countries in Africa and Latin America, as well as island countries in the Caribbean. In 2010, close to 90% of highly skilled persons born in Guyana lived in OECD countries. More people with a higher education lived outside Barbados, Haiti, and Trinidad and Tobago than in these countries. The proportion of highly educated people residing in OECD countries rather than in their home country exceeded 40% in Jamaica, Tonga, Zimbabwe, and Mauritius.

An outflow of human resources is a serious problem even for a country like Singapore, economically open with a small domestic population. Singapore has a system for training human resources that is designed quite rationally. In addition to rigorously selecting talented people, the country invests heavily to foster competitive human resources, spending 20% of the national budget on education costs. However, those who have acquired high academic ability and the international lingua franca, English, have no incentive to return to Singapore because they have the ability to make better lives in various parts of the world. Senior Minister Goh Chok Tong has spoken frankly on the issue of talent loss: "the most talented Singaporean students who study abroad do not return home."⁴⁴

That the global movement of highly skilled workers has led to their uneven distribution in the medical field—skills requiring a large amount of capital to train yet are easily transferrable globally—is a problem evident to anyone. According to a 2007 OECD report, 18% of doctors employed in OECD countries are foreign-born, with



1) Movement of college graduate workers



2) Movement of foreign students

[Units: Thousands of people]



Fig. 2 Flow of highly skilled human resources. *Notes* NIS: Newly independent states of the former Soviet Union. Chart 2 only shows movements of 20,000 people or more. **a** Lowell, B. Lindsay. 2007. "Trend in International Migration Flows and Stocks, 1975–2005." *OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers*, No. 58. Paris: OECD Publishing. **b** OECD "Online Education Database"; Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China, "China Education Yearbook". *Source* Figures are based on Japan Cabinet Office. 2008. "Kōdo jinzai ukeire no genjō to kadai (Heisei 20-nen) [Accepting highly skilled human resources: current status and challenges (2008)]." Government materials, 2

India being the largest supplier. The US is, of course, the world's largest importer of medical professionals, with 25% of its doctors being foreign-born.⁴⁵ "Medical staff from Africa and Asia make up the core of the UK National Health Service. Of the 12 Zambian doctors trained after their country gained independence, only one still practices medicine in Zambia. Estimates suggest that more Malawian doctors work in the northern English city of Manchester than in the entire country of Malawi (population 13 million)."⁴⁶

Such trends are not limited to the medical field. Developed countries have shown vigorous demand since the 1990s for IT engineers in the information and communications field, which has made explosive progress in technology as well as applications. Developed countries' selective immigration policies to draw in highly skilled workers, which promotes the uneven distribution of talent, unsurprisinglly may seem like exploitation to developing countries.

2.12 Regulating Brain Drain

What countermeasures are available for developing countries, those primarily at risk of suffering a brain drain? The first possibility is to prohibit people from physically leaving the country. The freedoms of exit and to renounce one's nationality, as mentioned above, generally constitute a part of human rights, principles of the international community that started with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. The effectiveness of such human rights norms is clearly limited, because in reality people are not free to leave poor countries. Principled criticism from Western countries and human rights non-governmental organizations (NGOs) notwithstanding, developing countries tend to lack advanced administrative capacity. States could also restrict exit by limiting the issuance of passports, for instance. Yet such measures usually stimulate the desire to circumvent them, diminishing their effectiveness. We have already seen that there were limits to the effectiveness of strict emigration controls even in the case of the former Eastern European countries during the Cold War. The limitations that poor developing countries face with respect to emigration control are more evident. Moreover, highly skilled human resources in developing countries are often members of the elite class. They are likely to belong to a privileged class in terms of money, access to information, and political influence. They are highly likely to be able to circumvent the repressive measures implemented by already fragile states.

The second approach instead of restricting exit itself, might be to impose an obligation to provide a certain amount of "compensation" for those left behind in their home countries. A well-known example in this regard is called the "Bhagwati tax," proposed by prominent Indian-born economist Jagdish N. Bhagwati.⁴⁷ This proposal, unlike the Soviet Union's exit tax, would levy a certain tax on emigrants' income post departure, and would use the collected tax revenues for development purposes in the country of origin through the UN. "Compensation" does not necessarily have to take the form of a tax. Some commentators advocate imposing certain compulsory service obligations on emigrants. It would require the government of the country of origin

to send those who emigrated to the most disadvantaged areas of their homeland, typically poor rural areas, for a set period of time to perform service work such as education or health care.⁴⁸

The difficulty with these proposals lies in the ability to enforce cross-border taxation and volunteer activities in an effective manner. In 1976, the Pakistani government did attempt to impose an income tax of up to 20% on its citizens living overseas, but it backed down in the face of intense protests.⁴⁹ How realistic it would be for a state to compel tax payments or service work from native-born emigrants living outside its territory depends on its political relationship with the country receiving these emigrants; that is perhaps an even bigger problem. To implement such measures in reality, the sending country would need the cooperation of the governments of the countries where its emigrants currently reside. However, for the government of the current country of residence to exercise its power of taxation or compel voluntary service on behalf of a foreign government would most likely infringe upon its own fundamental principles such as territorial sovereignty, taxation rights, and civil liberties. In the case of the US, for instance, it would probably be considered illegal if the government of the world's largest immigrant receiving country were to tax its own residents on behalf of a foreign government or the UN.⁵⁰

In addition to such difficulties developing countries would face in taking unilateral countermeasures, their bargaining power is weak, for they are unable to offer attractive benefits to highly skilled human resources. For these reasons, brain drain has been a problem since the 1960s and yet, to the best of my knowledge, there have been no cases in which it has surfaced as an actual diplomatic issue.

2.13 From Brain Drain to Brain Circulation

Since the start of the twenty-first century, there have been important changes in the discourse over the international movement of highly skilled professionals. It stresses that the movement of highly skilled human resources is not a "brain loss," depriving emigrant countries of their resources, and that it also benefits these countries in several ways. The movement of highly skilled human resources is no longer regarded as a zero-sum game of allotting a fixed pool of abilities; rather, its dynamic effect in increasing the global supply of skills has drawn greater attention. The benefits that sending countries derive from their brain drain include the economic growth effect contributed by emigrants sending remittances back to their home countries. Certainly, sending remittances home is not limited to highly skilled workers. Moreover, highly skilled workers, who tend to emigrate with their families, may only send a small proportion of total remittances to their home countries. Yet what monies they remit home will still be at a level that cannot be ignored.

Of greater importance, the education and experience that these workers acquire overseas is contended to have a two-way effect, enhancing the quality of this human capital as well as benefitting the sending country when some of those human resources return home. This is called "brain circulation," and is illustrated with the following oft-cited case: many IT-related engineers and entrepreneurs working in Silicon Valley are from India, China, or Taiwan, and many of them return home to start new businesses there.⁵¹

Moreover, they are more likely to use the networks they have acquired in developed countries to facilitate the transfer of technology to their countries of origin, contribute to better management methods, stimulate investment, and even develop joint ventures. The argument emphasizes that such positive externalities bestow benefits on both the sending and receiving countries of highly skilled workers.

To be sure, there is a negative effect from the talent outflow, so the overall evaluation depends on weighing the positive and negative effects. There must be an optimal emigration rate; one study suggests it lies between 5 and 10%, with negative effects beyond the 15–20% threshold. Since this ratio is less than 10% in more than two-fifths of developing countries, the assessment is that "Many of these countries (including most large and middle-sized countries) are reasonably benefiting from the mobility of their skilled labor force. On the contrary, the majority of sub-Saharan and central American countries are well above this threshold and suffer from the brain drain."⁵²

In any case, regulating the outflow of human capital is not effective. Given the change in the discourse, the reality is that the response of sending countries is no longer taxation and regulation; their policy emphasis has shifted to organizing ties with (former) nationals living abroad, strengthening diaspora engagement (discussed in detail in Chap. 5 and providing them with various incentives to encourage voluntary remittances and investments. Clearly a considerable number of mainly small developing countries are being harmed by a brain drain, so its negative effect is hard to deny. Indeed, even India, regarded as the epitome of a mutually beneficial relationship in many analyses, expressed concerns about a brain drain at the first BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China, and South Africa) ministerial migration meeting (heads of migration authorities).⁵³ Like the issue of free trade, it certainly is doubtful that a satisfactory political solution to this problem will be found solely in the theoretical knowledge that the movement of highly skilled personnel is desirable on the whole. There is no consensus among developing countries, either. This issue will undeniably be a political issue again in the future, within the global landscape for the competition for human resources.54

3 Entry Regulations and International Politics

3.1 Population Transfers and Regulating Entry

As I have already discussed, according to liberal norms, freedom of exit should be respected as part of human rights. Even if a person can freely leave a country, however, whether he or she will be able to enter a foreign country is another matter, for even the most generous of immigration countries do not allow unlimited and unconditional freedom of entry. A small number of political asylum seekers fleeing hostile states, as well as those who at some future date will immigrate to a third country, as in the case of the Soviet Jews going to Israel, may receive sympathy and political support. But no country welcomes a flood of refugees.

The aforementioned Jackson-Vanik Amendment became a political issue with China, too, when the US granted most-favored-nation status to China. The issue was China's human rights violations. When President Deng Xiaoping visited the US in 1979, President Jimmy Carter, a vocal proponent of human rights diplomacy, urged China to respect human rights and allow freedom of exit. To this, Deng responded: "Fine. We'll let them go. Are you prepared to accept ten million?"⁵⁵ Since 1980, in fact, China had been granted a waiver from the Jackson-Vanik Amendment every year, driven by strategic considerations vis-à-vis the Soviet Union, rather than by virtue of any particular improvement in the human rights situation in China, including freedom of exit. The US Congress began actively debating human rights issues in China after the Tiananmen Square protests occurred in 1989. Around that time, there was growing US interest in cracking down on illegal Chinese migrants smuggled into the country by snakeheads and other immigration brokers. In another incident, the cargo ship Golden Venture ran aground off the coast of New York in 1993, and 300 Chinese people sought political asylum. A considerable number of Chinese people were also allegedly smuggled into California.⁵⁶ A massive inflow of unskilled workers from poor and unstable countries is far from welcomed, even by the US, traditionally a nation of immigrants, which claims to be the bastion of freedom and democracy.

A sudden, large-scale population movement would naturally be a burden on the receiving country. Thus, to intentionally send large numbers of people to another country can be a form of coercive diplomacy. For example, on November 6, 1975, King Hassan II of Morocco sent approximately 350,000 unarmed civilians to the disputed Spanish Sahara in what he called a "Peaceful March of Conquest (Green March)." Spain, then in the final stage under the Franco regime, was losing its ability and will to govern this colonialist era remnant that it had acquired as a result of the 1884 Berlin Conference. Yet along with Morocco, Mauritania, neighboring the area to the south, claimed the territory; in addition, the indigenous Polisario Front asserted independence. Spain, Morocco, and Mauritania continued to hold consultations following an advisory opinion from the International Court of Justice (ICC). Perhaps in an attempt to influence the outcome of the talks, and partly under pressure from domestic public opinion, Hassan ordered the 350,000 volunteers who gathered from all over the country to march, escorted by 20,000 Moroccan troops. Seeking to avoid bloodshed, Spanish troops deployed in the area not only refrained from firing but removed landmines that had been laid there. Yet the march was halted after the group had advanced only about 10 km into the border.⁵⁷

It is difficult to militarily disperse a large crowd of civilians when it suddenly surges, even if it is unarmed. Pointing guns at unarmed civilians, particularly in a state in which liberal norms have been established, is impracticable, for if the event is reported in major Western media, not only can it be expected to draw international criticism, but it will also evolve into a major domestic political issue. In other words, concrete political disadvantages would arise through audience cost. In addition, NGOs that have calculated this cost in advance may prepare to collaborate with the media to add to the audience cost. The same could be said of masses of refugees thronging at national borders, or of large numbers of fishing boats (or government vessels disguised as fishing boats) surging into territorial waters or exclusive economic zones (EEZs).

Historically, territorial expansion and border changes have not always come through military conquest. In the nineteenth century, a stream of Americans "peace-fully" settled in what was then Mexican territory and what is now Texas, building up a fait accompli and paving the way for the subsequent ceding of the territory to the US in the Mexican–American War. In the example of the UK's forcibly sending prisoners, and sometimes orphans, to North America and Australia for the purpose of colonial management, the policy intention aimed to kill two birds with one stone: population "dumping" and reinforcing local control. Furthermore, Israel's settlements in the West Bank area of the Jordan River, albeit not measures in and of themselves involving the use of force, are arguably a policy of population transfer intended to strengthen control over the settlements.⁵⁸

Although in the case of Morocco the march failed to achieve the goal of making possession of the territory a *fait accompli*, as the march itself ended prematurely, the domestic political objective was apparently more important: to mobilize public opinion and, by allowing it to vent, stabilizing the government.

3.2 Cuba's Strategic Population Dumping Policy

Still, there are surprisingly many examples of countries using their own citizens as "demographic bombings" to achieve external political objectives based on very careful calculations. Kelly M. Greenhill, who conducted a systematic study of these examples, examined various cases using three criteria: whether the population exodus was organized; whether it was based on strategic calculations, and whether it was intended to exert pressure on other countries. She consequently identified 64 cases between 1951 and 2006 in which states implemented policies to strategic cally manipulate mass population movements, which she called "strategic engineered migration."⁵⁹

Caribbean countries such as Cuba and Haiti attempted such coercive diplomacy relatively frequently against the US and were often successful. The US has long taken an imperialistic attitude toward the region and traditionally viewed the Caribbean as its own backyard (Fig. 3). Also, Spain and France once possessed the islands in this region; their rule was generally oppressive. Later, as the dominance of these European countries declined, governance became increasingly chaotic. In addition to its frequent military interventions in the region, the US had ties to the corrupt ruling class in these nominally independent countries, which generated mistrust among the local populaces.⁶⁰



Fig. 3 Countries of the Caribbean. Source Created by author

(1) Camarioca boatlift (1965)

I shall not discuss the details here of Fidel Castro's Cuban Revolution (1959) and the subsequent Cuban Missile Crisis (1962). But let me just reaffirm that through these events, US-Cuba relations became one piece of the Cold War confrontation. After the revolution, the US continued to isolate Cuba economically and put pressure on it, thereby straining the Cuban economy and further increasing Cuba's dependence on the Soviet Union. At the same time, Cubans who opposed the Castro regime sought political asylum in the US, and with the support of the US authorities launched an invasion of Cuba aimed at overthrowing the regime, known as the Bay of Pigs Incident (1961). Afterwards, they continued to call for the overthrow of the Castro regime. Joined in the US by economic refugees due to the deterioration of the Cuban economy, they formed a large anti-Castro community in Florida. So, there has always been strong pressure for Cubans to immigrate to the US together with a large community within the US to support them.

In 1965, when it became clear that his attempts to improve relations with the US had failed, Castro suddenly announced on September 28 that all Cubans with relatives in the US were free to leave the country by ship from Cuba's northern port of Camarioca.⁶¹ To the astonishment of the government and the Cuban community in the US, the Cuban government also announced that Cuban exiles living in the US would be allowed to take their relatives back in Cuba by boat.

Immediately, President Johnson publicly declared that he would welcome Cuban exiles, who were symbols of the Castro regime's tyranny. At first, some people did

not take Castro's statements seriously, seeing them as mere threats. However, the Cuban community in Florida reacted promptly, chartering a number of small boats to sail to the port of Camarioca. Opposition among local Florida residents swelled as the prospect of a sudden influx of thousands of Cubans became a reality.

In response to these moves, the Johnson administration began secret negotiations with Cuba. They formally agreed on the means and procedures for transporting refugees from Cuba to the US, and refugee flights commenced. To bring the situation under control, it was decided to accept the Cuban refugees all over the US to prevent their concentrating in Florida, and that the federal government would bear the cost of resettlement support. As a result of these negotiations, Castro closed the exit route from the port of Camarioca. The practical consequences of this series of events were modest: relatively quickly, Cuba dropped its policy of encouraging departure, so only 681 people actually emigrated to the US. But Castro learned that this was an effective technique to force the US to the table for serious negotiations with Cuba.

(B) Mariel boatlift (1980)

Cuba once again used population transfer as political leverage in 1980. In the 1970s, the US and Cuba had sought to normalize relations, and some bilateral talks began in secret under the Gerald R. Ford administration.⁶² Under the Carter administration, too, limited progress was made in improving ties, such as opening "Special Interests Section" representation offices between the two countries and starting some personnel exchanges. However, improvements in relations soon hit a wall as the Cuban community in the US remained firmly anti-Castro. Also, improving relations with Cuba did not go as the executive branch had planned, for Cuba sent troops to Angola in 1975 and Ethiopia in 1978 to intervene in their civil wars, which provoked Congressional hawks in the US.

Cuba's economic slump worsened once again under these circumstances. Furthermore, the Carter administration's lifting of restrictions on US travel to Cuba prompted Cuban exiles living in the US to start making temporary returns to Cuba. Through interactions with these visitors, many Cubans became aware of the vast disparity in living standards between the US and Cuba, which in turn fueled the pressure to leave Cuba. The method used by Cubans planning to flee the country at that time was to seize ships. In fact, hijackings between the US and Cuba were frequent occurrences, committed by mere criminals in many cases. Therefore, the two governments had reached an agreement in 1973 aimed at preventing hijackings, which also included some provisions for criminal extradition between the two countries. Regardless, the US ascribed the hijackings to opposition to the repressive Cuban regime, and so it took a stance that partially encouraged them and did not cooperate with Cuba in handing over the culprits, behavior which of course caused Cuba deep dissatisfaction.

Cuban Vice President Carlos R. Rodríguez told the US Interests Section in Havana on February 19, 1980:

You turn people away everyday at the Interest Section when they apply for entry documents, but if they enter illegally you greet them with open arms...As you are not applying your laws, we may well stop applying ours. We are considering [an] announcement that any Cuban who

3 Entry Regulations and International Politics

wishes to leave will be given [an] exit permit and can go to... Camarioca to be picked up by relatives or friends from [the] US. 63

These warning signals from the Cuban side were ignored. On April 1, 1980, six Cubans rushed into the Peruvian Embassy in Havana, and a Cuban guard was killed. Peru rebuffed Cuba's request for extradition and granted the six political asylum, so Cuba pulled its security from the embassy and issued a statement saying that anyone wishing to leave Cuba should go to the Peruvian Embassy. As a result, approximately 10,000 people rushed to the embassy over three days, and sanitary conditions within the embassy compound rapidly deteriorated.

The Costa Rican government's offer to take them in on a temporary basis wound down the incident. Castro contacted the Cuban American community and issued a statement on April 20 to the effect that Cubans wishing to leave the country would be allowed to exit through the port of Mariel. And similar to the results of 15 years prior, a steady stream of people arrived from Cuba, primarily by small boats sent by the Cuban community from Florida, so that by September, 125,000 people had arrived in Florida.

President Carter, a vocal proponent of human rights diplomacy, was publicly more sympathetic to Cuban refugees than Johnson. On May 5, he declared, "we'll continue to provide an open heart and open arms to refugees seeking freedom from Communist domination...."⁶⁴ Vice President Walter F. Mondale also said that the US could not do what it had criticized other countries for doing.⁶⁵ Around that time, it had criticized Thailand and Malaysia for forcing Indochinese boat people, refugees fleeing from Vietnam, back to the sea.

This stance received strong support from anti-Cuba hardline lawmakers, liberal human rights defenders, and even the Cuban American community. There was an immediate backlash to the mass inflows, however, from local communities in Florida, where thousands of refugees were arriving by sea daily. Moreover, there was growing anger in the African American community over the fact that Cuban refugees were afforded preferential treatment compared to Haitian refugees.⁶⁶

Ultimately, reversing its stance within about 10 days, the Carter administration announced a new policy on May 14. Designed to halt further inflows of refugees from Cuba, it effectively banned the passage of small boats from Florida to Cuba to pick up Cubans. In addition to detaining violators, imposing fines, or confiscating their boats, the policy also provided for limited transportation by sea and air. Naturally, this new policy immediately earned the Cuban community's great displeasure.

The Carter administration's erratic behavior yet again gave the American people the impression that the president was indecisive. It probably contributed to his loss to Ronald W. Reagan in the presidential election that fall. For his part, Castro was surprised by the unexpected scale of the population outflow. Also, perhaps fearing that Reagan would be elected president and replace Carter, Castro "unilaterally" banned the free departure of boats from Mariel Harbor in September.

(C) Balseros crisis (1994)

Improvements in US-Cuba relations stalled with the arrival of the Reagan administration and the start of the new Cold War. Moreover, as the Cold War later ended and the Soviet Union weakened dramatically, Cuba lost its Soviet backing, which compounded its economic woes and put it in a state of political crisis. A riot erupted in Havana and there were frequent foreign embassy break-ins, skyjackings, and seajackings. Like the pro-Soviet regimes in Eastern Europe, the Castro regime itself appeared badly shaken. Intoxicated with a sense of victory in the immediately aftermath of the Cold War, America's attitude must have appeared quite high-handed in Castro's eyes. Castro again resorted to the tactic of a strategic policy of population dumping, well aware of the danger to his regime, in order to bring the US to the negotiating table.

At an internationally televised news conference on August 5, 1994, Castro accused the US of being behind the uprising in Havana by spreading rumors that it would support illegal emigration to Miami by sea. If the US continued to strangle Cuba economically, "Cuba will no longer be able to afford to be the guardian of the North Americans' coasts," he said, hinting at a repeat of the Mariel crisis.⁶⁷

President Bill Clinton had suffered a bitter experience as governor of Arkansas during the Mariel crisis. An army base in Arkansas was used as a detention center for Cuban refugees; irritated by delays in processing their asylum applications, the Cubans rioted. This incident was a political blunder for Clinton and may have contributed to his defeat in that year's gubernatorial election.

The Clinton administration announced that it would respond with countermeasures that had been prepared for some time called *Operation Distant Shore*, which included a resettlement program for Cuban refugees and a blockade of the Florida Straits. In the event, only a small number of people left Cuba by raft. Florida Governor Lawton M. Chiles, however, criticized Clinton's policies vehemently amid strong local public opinion against the inflow of Cubans. He adopted a firm policy, declaring a state of emergency in Florida on August 18 and mobilizing the National Guard to detain and quarantine Cubans washing ashore on rafts.

Protecting Cuban exiles had lost much of its political meaning because so much time had passed since the Cuban Revolution, and the Cold War had already ended. The Clinton administration quickly reversed the nearly 30-year-long US policy of unconditionally welcoming Cuban exiles; it decided that it would treat Cubans attempting illegal entry as it would people from other countries. Cubans rescued at sea were not allowed to enter the US and were held at Guantánamo base in Cuba (which the US has leased permanently from Cuba since 1903, and which the Castro regime has denounced as illegal). Clinton justified his policy change with the rationale that those leaving Cuba were not exiles or refugees, but people Castro had intentionally expelled. Clinton also hoped to deter departures from Cuba by weakening the attraction of the US. At the same time, he strengthened economic sanctions, such as restrictions on remittances to Cuba, to placate anti-Cuban hardliners, in an attempt to balance various domestic interests. However, it was a contradictory policy, squeezing Cuba while trying to weaken the pressure to leave the country.

Many Cubans boarded rafts and headed for Florida after Castro officially announced the lifting of restrictions on exit on August 21. In just 12 days, from August 13 to 25, the US Coast Guard "rescued" 13,000 Cubans, a faster pace than during the Mariel crisis. Guantánamo base accommodations were rapidly approaching its maximum capacity. This pressured the US to the point where it had no choice but to settle the situation through negotiations with Cuba. At the negotiations, held September 1 to 10, the two sides reached a new immigration accord and decided to continue talks on other topics.

In April of the following year, Cuba again hinted at a similar lifting of exit restrictions. The purpose was to check the Helms-Burton Act stipulating strong economic sanctions against Cuba that had been introduced in Congress. The issue of the treatment of Cubans detained at Guantánamo base also remained in limbo between the two countries. A new refugee crisis was a major political risk with midterm elections scheduled for 1996, so the Clinton administration began negotiations with Cuba again. As a result, Cubans held at Guantánamo would be individually screened and admitted to the US, and the executive branch pledged to oppose the Helms-Burton Act.

3.3 Escalating from Strategic Engineered Migration

Strategic engineered migration is one of the few methods small countries can use as a means of coercive diplomacy. The influx of refugees generates a variety of domestic political dynamics within their large neighbors, which puts the governments of those receiving countries under troublesome pressure. Accepting large numbers of refugees creates various economic and social costs, which are especially acutely felt by those local communities experiencing the population inflows. Groups that regard refugees and immigrants as a human rights and humanitarian issue, meanwhile, will press hard for their acceptance. A country will face strong pressure to accept them when there is domestic support for the refugees, such as from the same ethnic group. Furthermore, there is the concept of the audience cost that can harm the international political credibility and prestige of countries that advocate human rights and humanitarian norms. And finally, special political significance is also attributed to political asylum seekers from adversarial states.

It should not be forgotten, however, that such extortion by the weaker party has natural limits. It is true that Castro played his few cards well to drag the US to the negotiating table. Yet, the matter would have been settled relatively soon if the US had refrained from furthering illegal departures to destabilize Cuba and made concessions on practical regulations on hijacking and the movement of people, even if Cuba failed to score points on restoring diplomatic relations or suspending US economic sanctions.

One reason may be that the worry that forcing dissidents to leave the country, although perhaps expedient for regime maintenance, can actually destabilize the regime once it goes beyond a certain point and becomes uncontrollable. This is because it is perceived as a loss of human capital, as seen in the case of East Germany. Also, a mass exodus of citizens carries the risk of shaking the legitimacy of any regime. Furthermore, the extent to which the receiving country is vulnerable to this extortion by the weak is uncertain and depends on a variety of conditions. For a country that advocates the right to exit and speaks loudly about the superiority of its own political system, the "hypocrisy cost" is considerable since it lays bare the true intent of championing freedom of exit while simultaneously denying freedom of entry. Yet the strength of domestic support for the entry of refugees and migrants varies across countries and time periods.

Moreover, this is still extortion by the weak. It would all be for naught if this strategic manipulation of mass population movement caused the conflict between the sending and receiving countries to escalate. The case between East Pakistan and India in 1970 is one example of a conflict escalating to a military level due to the mass influx of refugees.

3.4 Third Indo-Pakistani War (of 1971)—An Escalated Refugee Crisis

There is no need to go over the fact that, after fiercely struggling for, then achieving, their independence after World War II, Pakistan and India separated with intensive bloodshed.⁶⁸ India moved ahead with nation-building on the principle of secularism, whereas Pakistan's unifying principle was based on its Muslim religious identity. Consequently, Pakistan was left with a very unique domain, its territory split, east from west, by more than 1000 miles of India in between (Fig. 4). Although majority Muslim in both East and West Pakistan, the two were very different economically, ethnically, and culturally. Political power rested in West Pakistan, whereas the majority of the population were Bengalis, who lived in East Pakistan. In the 1970 elections, thus, the Bangladesh Awami League won an unexpectedly great victory in East Pakistan despite taking no seats in West Pakistan. The military and West Pakistan's leaders refused to transfer power in accordance with the constitutional system; in May 1971, they dispatched troops to East Pakistan, arrested Awami League leaders, and imposed martial law, effectively placing the country under military occupation in the end. A series of tragic episodes of bloodshed ensued between fierce antigovernment protests and the military cracking down on them. Against this backdrop of civil war, a mass of refugees, said to number around 10 million, flowed out from East Pakistan into India.

For India, this was a grave situation. First, once a refugee population reaches this size, simply setting up camps and providing even the most basic services presents an enormous burden for any country. But for a poverty-stricken India, this posed a much more serious economic crisis even with international support. The huge influx of refugees also precipitated a rapid deterioration of sanitary conditions, leading to outbreaks of cholera and other infectious diseases. Accordingly, it was no longer a problem limited to just the refugees in the camps; it signified a major crisis for the entire host region. Furthermore, tensions arose with the local residents of this already densely populated area, who shared their living space with the refugees. The influx



Fig. 4 The South Asia Region (1947). Source Based on a map from Sunaga, Emiko. 2014. Gendai pakisutan no keisei to hen'yō: isurāmu fukkō to urudūgo bunka (Modern Pakistan's formation and transformation: Islamic revival and Urdu language culture). Kyoto: Nakanishiya Shuppan.

of refugees into the local labor market, for instance, allegedly caused a sudden drop in wage levels, putting pressure on the livelihoods of local residents.

But perhaps most importantly in the context of this case, the mass inflow of refugees had the potential to suddenly destabilize the region's already fragile order.⁶⁹ The Communist Party was powerful in the state of West Bengal, where refugees were concentrated, and relations between the state and the central government were always tense. In addition, the North Eastern Region of India, with its complex ethnic composition and its territorial disputes with China, made the central government nervous about its stability. The influx of large numbers of Bengali refugees caused a sudden change in the ethnic composition of Assam, Tripura, and other areas, a situation that ethnic minorities could not afford to ignore, so it was quite natural for India to be worried about regional instability.

That the civil war sparked the outflow of refugees is a fact, but whether Pakistan intentionally engineered this situation is doubtful. What is undeniable, however, is that India truly believed that Pakistan had intentionally done so, given their extremely strong mutual distrust. The government of India issued the following statement on May 14, 1971: "This deliberate expulsion of such a large number of people from their homes has created a human problem of unparalleled magnitude which is capable

of producing serious repercussions in the area, leading to a threat to peace in the region." 70

Pakistan, meanwhile, held suspicions that India had consistently supported separatist movements and threatened Pakistan's territorial integrity in the East Pakistan issue, which it regarded as an internal matter. India unmistakably supported Bangladesh's Provisional Government Forces (Mukti Bahini) in waging an armed struggle by providing them with equipment and training. Thus, to what extent the refugee flow was orchestrated by Pakistan is not clear. But it would not have been unthinkable for Pakistan to have imagined that the expulsion of the "traitorous" Hindu minority in East Pakistan would not be such a bad idea. This would be all the more expedient if it would cause India to suffer. At the very least, Pakistan had absolutely no intention of acceding to India's request of repatriating these refugees and restricting their outflow.

In December 1971, India intervened directly in the conflict in support of the Provisional Government of Bangladesh, which shortly overwhelmed the Pakistani military. This led to the Third India-Pakistan War. Pakistan was ultimately forced to accept the loss of East Pakistan which would lead to the creation of an independent Bangladesh. The refugee flow from East Pakistan to India was a major factor that provoked India's intervention. It would have been a major strategic blunder had Pakistan intentionally engineered this flow.

3.5 Controlling the Import of Migrant Labor

What is usually perceived as an immigration problem in rich countries today is not the asylum seekers or coerced refugees crossing borders for political reasons or intentions, as discussed up to now. Rather, it is how to bring order to the large numbers of economic migrants who move from poor countries to rich countries seeking opportunities for a better life.

Though globalization is a cliché in describing today's world, the existence of enormous wealth disparities is an undisguisable reality. Huge wage differentials between countries create a dynamic in which products produced using cheap labor move from poor countries to rich countries. A further dynamic is created in which capital moves so as to produce using cheap labor.

As we have seen repeatedly, the developed countries of the West loudly promote freedom of exit as part of human rights while they do not, in principle, recognize the freedom of entry as a right for those who have left their country. Accordingly, once large numbers of people flock to a country's borders, they are transformed from persons subject to humanitarian protection to sources of vexing political problems. It is inevitable that, given the huge gap between rich and poor in the world and advances in migration methods, there will be pressure from people attempting to enter some rich countries in order to join their labor markets.

Therefore, contrary to the case of highly skilled workers, low-wage labor will inevitably become the biggest export commodity of a poor developing country with limited domestic employment opportunities when its exports, which take advantage of its low wages, are blocked by a range of protectionist measures in developed countries. A desire to send large numbers of unskilled workers to developed countries naturally comes into play provided the country can ease population pressures at home through large migrant outflows and can then utilize these emigrants' remittances for development purposes.

Developed countries are under pressure to accept immigrants from the business community and some industries seeking a cheap labor force, and from liberal groups who see tolerance of immigrants and refugees as a test of national openness. And they face a backlash for accepting immigrants from domestic unskilled workers and low-income earners who tend to compete with them in the labor market and for public services, as well as from conservative groups who view the traditions of the established majority as the basis for national integration. At least when it comes to accepting immigrants, the likely truth is that even countries keenly interested in the human rights and welfare of migrants seek to avoid being bound by international arrangements that limit their sovereignty to decide whether to allow foreigners into their countries. In the context of such domestic political dynamics, the state probably wishes unskilled labor migrants to be a workforce of convenience, welcoming them as a cheap, marginal labor force when necessary, but hoping they would go back home as economic and social conditions call for.

3.6 International Regime for Migrant Laborers

The landscape of competing interests is similar, in a sense, to that of international trade. The majority of economists hold the view that free trade and the ability to buy and sell goods regardless of national borders are most desirable. The general mode of behavior for states involved in actual international trade negotiations, however, is a mercantilist attitude of wanting to export to the counterparties' markets while protecting the domestic market. The international community has made considerable progress institutionalizing international trade. For instance, the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) was established after World War II, and at the end of the twentieth century it became the World Trade Organization (WTO), of which many countries around the world are now members. Furthermore, regional agreements have been concluded to mutually promote further liberalization. The European common market is the exemplar, and it has undergone a greater degree of liberalization than the WTO. The number of free trade agreements (FTAs) has rapidly increased in other regions aside from Europe since the 1990s.

Although an international regime of a sort exists for refugees, there is a low level of institutionalization regarding the movement of economic migrants. No global regime comparable to the WTO exists for economic migration, and migrants' rights only receive limited mention as part of international human rights and labor norms within frameworks such as the UN and the International Labour Organization (ILO).

The ILO can trace its origins to the period after World War I and is one of the few international organizations to have survived World War II. It is a unique international organization that brings together representatives of workers and employers in addition to government representatives, and an important part of its mission has been to set international labor norms. The issue of migrant workers was addressed early on: Convention No. 97, concluded in 1949, prohibits the discrimination of migrant workers, and enshrines the principle making the remuneration and other working conditions of migrant workers "no less favorable than" that of its own national workers. Furthermore, against the backdrop of the recession following the oil crisis, Convention No. 143 (1975) called on member states to impose penalties on employers who illegally hired migrant workers and to collaborate internationally to prevent illegal immigration.⁷¹

The UN has been setting norms on this issue primarily from the standpoint of human rights protection. The International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1990, after 10 years of negotiations, entered into force in 2003. It reaffirms the principle of equal remuneration in the aforementioned ILO Convention and its Article 44 reads, "States Parties, recognizing that the family is the natural and fundamental group unit of society and is entitled to protection by society and the State, shall take appropriate measures to ensure the protection of the unity of the families of migrant workers."⁷²

3.7 Absence of an International Migrant Regime

These international norms for human rights and for labor, by establishing minimum rights for migrant workers, form part of the governance surrounding economic migration. Unless these international norms are joined by the host country's public institutions, employment practices, and social norms, however, their effectiveness with remain insufficient in reality. Yet it is generally only immigrant-sending countries, mainly from Latin America and the Caribbean, North Africa, and Southeast Asia, that have ratified the conventions above. Few Western developed countries, the major recipients of immigrants, have ratified them. Especially since neither the US nor Canada, the countries that receive labor migrants on a large scale, have ratified it, the limits of the effectiveness of these norms are clear. What is of greater importance is that these norms only stipulate the rights of migrants who have been accepted; they say nothing about the decision to accept migrants, and under what conditions. In other words, unlike the international import and export of goods, the acceptance of labor from abroad in large part remains left to the discretion of the receiving country.

Why is there such a big difference between the movement of goods and the movement of people? A major reason is perhaps that, inasmuch as the relationship between countries receiving and sending economic migrants is asymmetrical, it is not one in which both sides can benefit from cooperating. The global international trade regime extends its benefits to all members, has uniform trade rules, and has dispute resolution procedures in place. Consequently, one country's enjoyment of benefits does not compete with the interests of other countries. That is, it has the characteristics of a "club good." Furthermore, since a country imports as well as exports, even if it opens up its own market, provided it expands its access in the other country's market, it takes on the character of a positive-sum game in which both parties benefit.

Some commentators argue that the international migration regime is also an international public good because its benefits extend throughout the world and the benefits obtained from it are non-rivalrous. Other commentators make further distinctions: the international refugee regime is a public good; the management regime for economic immigration of unskilled workers is a club good; and the management regime for highly skilled talent is a private good with no externalities for unrelated states.⁷³

However, the interests arising from the movement of people go beyond measurable economic benefits, such as whether gross domestic product (GDP) increases or decreases, to include social, political, and moral values unaccustomed to being calculated in monetary terms. For this very reason, relations between immigrant-sending and -receiving countries are largely dictated by how each perceives its "interests." Besides, the positions of sending and receiving countries are fairly fixed, for the economic migration flow of unskilled labor is not reciprocal like trade, and the direction of the flow of migrants, like that of a river, rarely reverses in the short term.⁷⁴

In addition, the developing countries that are currently sending migrants tend to emphasize the inviolability of their territorial sovereignty, as they are young states that have experienced the colonial era. And unlike exporting, sending labor abroad may not be regarded as a success of the government's economic management, but rather may be perceived domestically as a policy of labor dumping that symbolizes its failure. All these circumstances mentioned here may explain why the international migration regime is underdeveloped, unlike the trade regime.

3.8 Marketing One's Own Workers—The Philippines' Case

Whatever the reasons, the international regime regulating economic migration is weak, and moreover, the position of migrant-sending countries is usually weak. It is thus rare for differing interests over economic migration between sending and receiving countries, when they do exist, to immediately become a point of contention in international politics. Therefore, a sending country that actively positions labor exports as part of its economic strategy must work hard to market its own citizens as though it was selling products in a buyer's market.

The Philippines, a country that has traditionally relied heavily on the export of labor, has systematically rolled out campaigns promoting its own workers. The total number of documented overseas Filipino workers (OFWs) as of 2014 is estimated to be approximately 2.4 million, of which approximately 500,000 are laborers working at sea, as crew and in similar jobs. Looking at the geographical distribution of where

land-based OFWs reside, the top rankings are held by Gulf countries such as Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates (UAE), Qatar, and Bahrain, as well as in Asian economies such as Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan. Most of these OFWs probably consist of female domestic workers, such as housekeepers; workers on factory production lines and construction sites; and some agricultural workers. The many people working in auxiliary jobs in medical and nursing care settings, such as nurses and caregivers, are evident as well.⁷⁵

The government of the Philippines has established the Philippine Overseas Employment Administration (POEA) and the International Labor Affairs Service (ILAS) and actively seeks to send its citizens to labor markets overseas.⁷⁶ The POEA's mission is to generate and maintain strong employment opportunities for OFWs through the worldwide network it has built. It reportedly protects OFWs deployed abroad and assists in their reintegration into Philippine society upon their return.

The POEA, in addition to publishing information about job opportunities on its website, such as 50 factory workers in Taiwan and 300 nurses in Saudi Arabia, registers applicants and acts as an intermediary between them and prospective employers. It is structured so that the sending country's public institutions, through its intermediation of the movement of economic migrants, send them off as regular migrant workers having obtained visas from the receiving country. Furthermore, by centralizing administrative and employment contract procedures that are quite burdensome for individuals leaving the country, the POEA assists them in their move abroad.

Bevond collecting job information and mediating for OFWs, the Philippine government focuses its efforts on training the workers it sends abroad as well. English is often used in public education in the Philippines, by dint of its history as a US colony. English proficiency is one of the strengths of Filipino workers in the international labor market.⁷⁷ Still, when OFWs obtain work visas and seek employment overseas, they are often required to prove their skills that are highly valued in the international labor market, such as in computer-related fields, electrical engineering, cosmetology, barbering, nursing care, and caregiving. So technical education is promoted as a supplement to school education. The Technical Education and Skills Development Authority (TESDA) has been set up and approves and licenses a large number of technical training courses offered by the private sector (i.e., at private expense). The aim of these courses is to rate the competencies of OFWs and thereby increase their "added value." From the receiving country's perspective, this procedure facilitates the selection of "desirable" migrants by obtaining information evaluating the "commercial value" of these migrant laborers. Through these efforts, the Philippine government seeks to differentiate itself from other migrant labor-sending countries and enhance the attractiveness of its own migrant labor force.

At the same time, the government will also get involved when the workers it sent out return home. It has cooperated in their repatriation from receiving countries in the following instances: when the host country's economic situation deteriorates significantly, such as during the Asian Financial Crisis; or when a political crisis occurs, such as during the Gulf War; or even when the conduct of undocumented Filipino migrants risks becoming a political issue in the host country.⁷⁸ Absent

such cooperation, the trust of host countries would be lost, making it more difficult to keep sending out labor. This sort of labor export diplomacy is also subject to various diplomatic considerations. A bilateral agreement concluded with Myanmar, for example, would also have to take relations with other Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries into account. The Philippines also sends large numbers of workers to China, especially Hong Kong, and to Taiwan, so it must manage its relationship with the Taiwanese authorities while upholding the "one China" principle that Beijing persistently demands, operating at the risk of retaliatory measures from the Chinese authorities if it fails to do so.⁷⁹

The Philippine government is naturally concerned about protecting its own workers. A 1995 law requires that OFW employment contracts be defended, so that the Philippine government becomes involved as a party should a labor dispute or abuse of Filipino workers occur overseas. It is not easy for a country to play two roles simultaneously, "selling" its own workers to foreign governments while protecting them abroad. A work visa is essential to enter a foreign labor market legally; only the host country can issue it, exclusively. That migrant-receiving countries are in an advantageous position compared to migrant-sending countries, which must "sell" their wares, is true as long as the world's labor market remains segmented by country and work visas remain scarce, and as long as it is the host country that decides how many of these visas to distribute among workers from which countries.

3.9 Bracero Program—A US-Mexican Attempt at Migration Control

In reality, though, sending countries may be able to exercise a certain degree of influence over receiving countries; a receiving country may also need the sending country's cooperation. This is the case when a receiving country feels its ability to control migrant flows unilaterally is limited and finds it desirable to order the flow of migrant labor through agreements with sending countries. In that case, the position of the sending country will become stronger.

Between 1942 and 1962, the Bracero Program was a bilateral agreement to control migration between Mexico and the US, the world's largest migration corridor. Under this framework, approximately 5 million Mexican unskilled workers crossed the border into the US.

(1) Formation of the US-Mexico border

The long border spanning more than 3000 km that separates Mexico and the US took its current shape in the mid-nineteenth century. After it gained independence from Spain, the new Mexican Republic's internal affairs were in turmoil. An influx of illegal American settlers, taking advantage of the Mexican central government's weakness, poured steadily into the former Spanish territory of Texas, which at the time belonged to Mexico. Because Mexican authorities could not effectively control their borders, these irregular immigrants took over Texas, which achieved independence

in 1836. Later, after Texas had been annexed by the US, the Mexican–American War broke out in 1846 over a subsequent dispute concerning the border between Texas and Mexico. US victory resulted in the signing of the 1848 Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, under which Mexico ceded a vast swath of land to the US equivalent to one-third of its territory, including parts of present-day Texas, Colorado, Arizona, New Mexico, and Wyoming, as well as California, Nevada, and Utah. The outcome formed the US territory we see today and established the general outline of the US-Mexico border. Currently, perhaps more people cross the US-Mexico border than anywhere else in the world, with well over 300 million people crossing *legally* each year. More than 1 million people annually are thought to enter the US from Mexico *illegally*. It became a major issue in the 2016 US presidential election. Considering the historical circumstances mentioned above, one can only be amused by the historical irony that the winner, Donald J. Trump, had campaigned on building a huge wall on the US-Mexico border and having Mexico pay for it.

America's borders were very open up until the end of the nineteenth century. Domestically, a large immigrant workforce filled the rapidly expanding US economy's demand for labor at the same time as Native Americans were displaced onto reservations. There was virtually no security on the US-Mexico border, such that Mexicans living in the border areas could freely travel back and forth to visit relatives living in US territory, which was originally Mexican territory. When the US was founded, its people were homogeneous, mostly Anglo-Saxon Protestants; subsequently, immigrants from Catholic Ireland and Italy increased. As Eastern Europeans, Russians, Jews, as well as Chinese and Japanese joined the mix, there was an increase in racialized anti-foreignism and an intensification of various societal frictions. A range of immigration regulations were introduced, starting with the Chinese Exclusion Act of 1882, which banned Chinese migrants. Keeping Japanese immigrants out, too, was an oft-raised issue: as mentioned in the first section of this chapter, immigration from Japan to the US was virtually shut off in the early twentieth century. It was in this context that all Asians were deemed unassimilable under the Immigration Act of 1924 and Japanese immigrants were officially excluded.

Yet Mexicans were generally exempt from these regulations. Once the supply of Asian immigrants was cut off, they were widely employed to fill that gap by US commercial farmers in what was originally part of Mexico.⁸⁰ Mexican workers were also valuable to the US. There were many positive aspects, too, for the Mexican government; sending labor to the US served as a convenient safety valve to stabilize domestic society, in light of the contemporary state of the Mexican economy, which was unable to provide employment opportunities commensurate with its rapid population growth and urbanization.

(B) US-Mexico relations during World War II

The migrant labor force from Mexico suddenly increased during World War I. Congress had passed a generally restrictive immigration act in 1917, but the law had a loophole that allowed entry for temporary employment, such as agricultural labor. Accordingly, 73,000 Mexican workers entered the US between 1917 and 1921.⁸¹ To be sure, there was a labor shortage at the time caused by America's participation

in World War I. Amid the growing agricultural depression that began in the 1920s, American agriculture was beset by the plight depicted in John Steinbeck's novel *The Grapes of Wrath.* As a consequence, Mexican workers, who were in a position to compete with American agricultural workers, were suddenly treated as a nuisance; in 1929 alone, an estimated 350,000–600,000 Mexican workers were rounded up and deported to Mexico.⁸²

Throughout much of the twentieth century, anti-American nationalism was strong in Mexico, which at least officially had a somewhat restrictive policy vis-à-vis emigration to the US.⁸³ There is a clear difference in power between Mexico and the US, as was evident from the course of the Mexican–American War; the Mexican government has always had to be very careful not to damage relations with the US, its militarily and economically powerful, and often highhanded neighbor. In contrast, the US has always been able to act unilaterally, with no consideration for Mexico's interests, without being the least bit affected. Sometimes these situations can take unexpected turns.

A shift in the balance of bargaining power between the US and Mexico took place with the outbreak of World War II, as the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor brought about the US entry into the war. Mobilizing labor for military production became a top priority for America's prosecution of the war, which tightened the supplydemand relationship in the labor market. The agricultural sector in the South began to press to let in many of the more convenient, low-wage workers from Mexico. Also, the US wanted to gain diplomatic support from Mexico and other countries in Latin America and the Caribbean in order to fight World War II. Therefore, a committee consisting of representatives from the National War Labor Board and the Departments of Labor, State, Justice, and Agriculture began studying the issue of bringing in Mexican workers, taking the interests of labor unions and agricultural lobbies into account.

In Mexico, there was a strong sentiment among public opinion, political parties, left-wing groups, and even conservative groups intensely repulsed by American hegemony that Mexico should remain neutral in World War II. President Manuel Ávila Camacho, however, saw the war as an opportunity to obtain US cooperation on a variety of issues in exchange for cooperating with it on labor migration. Mexico declared war on the Axis powers on May 1, 1942. The US responded that same month by proposing the Bracero Program to Mexico through diplomatic channels.⁸⁴

Interestingly, Mexico was initially skeptical about the US proposal. First, it had suspicions about unstable US demand for labor. Mexico certainly sought to avoid a situation like what actually happened in 1929 when changing US circumstances resulted in the sudden mass deportation of Mexican workers. There were also concerns that the loss of so many workers would impede the development of Mexican industry. The Mexican government also had to consider a public backlash. There was naturally a sense of humiliation in the government's involvement in sending its own citizens as migrant workers to the southern states of the US, where working conditions were very bad, and incidents of abuse were common.⁸⁵ Conservative forces opposed it based on their anti-American views; the Catholic Church rejected the idea of migrant labor separating families. For Marxists and leftists, this
was the exploitation of Mexican workers by American imperialism, pure and simple. There were additional concerns that exporting labor to the US might further increase Mexico's structural dependence on the US, and that the purchasing power of workers returning from America would cause price levels in Mexico to soar.⁸⁶

The Mexican government could expect more of a say with the intergovernmental agreement and it could lead to better treatment of Mexican workers. Mexican agriculture would also benefit from the skills Mexican workers gained in the US. Diplomatic considerations were also at play, for showing a willingness to cooperate with the US war effort through this program was desirable in terms of bilateral relations. Best of all, Mexico could expect cooperation with the US to lead to tangible economic benefits beyond enabling its workers to receive wages, because the war provided an opportunity to export large quantities of its natural resources to the US.

Owing to this coincidence of motives, in July 1942, after just 10 days of negotiations, the two governments reached a formal agreement on the Bracero Program, which would remain in effect for the next five years. The program was administered by a bilateral committee, with the responsible agencies being the Departments of Agriculture and State for the US side and the bureau of migrant labor within the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on the Mexican side. The general framework was as follows: the Mexican side allocated each Mexican state a share of the total number of workers to be recruited under the program; both governments established procedures for setting up recruitment centers and vetting applicants; and hired workers were sent to the US and apportioned to farms across the country.

The principles of this program, which continued for the next 22 years, reflected the following Mexican wishes. First, Mexican workers were prohibited from serving in the US military. Second, Mexican workers were not to be subjected to discriminatory treatment. Third, Mexican workers' transportation, living, and repatriation costs must be covered in accordance with Mexican law. And fourth, Mexican workers who entered the country through this program were not to be pressured by any changes in American workers' employment and wage levels. Employment contracts under this program were between Mexican workers and the US government, which entered into subcontracts with individual farms, a system that enabled the US government to assume responsibility for protecting the Mexican workers and also to cover their transportation, living, and repatriation costs. Under this program, some 4000 workers left for the US as soon as July-December 1942. This total reached 200,000 in the five years spanning from 1942 to 1947.

(C) Post-World War II Bracero Program

As labor market conditions changed with the war's end, so too did the content of the intergovernmental agreement. The agreement for the 1948–51 period reduced US government involvement and expanded the purview entrusted to individual employers and workers. For example, the US government could no longer be held legally responsible for the performance of contracts, and employers took over responsibility for paying for transportation and living expenses.⁸⁷

Although dissatisfied, the Mexican government wanted the agreement itself to continue. The boom in illegal emigration from Mexico was one reason why. Whereas

there were 200,000 regular workers under the Bracero Program between 1948 and 1950, it is believed that about twice that number entered the US illegally. Maintaining some kind of route for regular labor migrants under the Mexican government's authority was thought to have the effect of curbing illegal departures. Also, it was hoped that the presence of regular workers might somewhat improve the situation for Mexican residents who had already illegally emigrated. The rapid increase in illegal immigration was also a problem for the US. The State Department worried that incidents of the mistreatment of undocumented immigrants, which came to light around this period, would have a negative impact on relations with Mexico; closing the route for regular migration, it feared, could make the situation even worse. In any case, the wages earned by workers were of great importance to Mexico, so it viewed it as preferable to have some kind of employment opportunity in any form, which would also leave room to change the content of the agreement to something more advantageous if the situation changed in the future.⁸⁸

And indeed, when the US labor market tightened again with the outbreak of the Korean War, Mexico's bargaining power increased significantly once more. The agreement that the two countries signed in August 1951 once again recognized the US government's involvement and responsibilities. It also strengthened the protection of the rights of Mexican workers by establishing in greater detail the legitimate employment conditions and employment procedures as well as blacklisting employers who hired illegal workers or violated these conditions, excluding them from the program.⁸⁹

Mexico's negotiating power declined again with the conclusion of the Korean War, but the Bracero Program continued until 1964, to protect the interests of southern farmers. One issue that arose between the two countries during this period was the location of the recruitment center. The US wanted them near the border, where its costs were low; Mexico was dissatisfied with its uneven employment environment, with labor shortages occurring in the northern regions. A greater problem was its dissatisfaction with a lack of serious US efforts to crack down on illegal Mexican migrants (what was referred to at the time at the "wetback problem"). This is hard to imagine, given what would later become the image of the US frantically cracking down on undocumented immigrants from the south. But, in the early days of the Bracero Program, for instance, Texas sought to acquire Mexican labor unilaterally, bypassing the national government program, and going so far as to open its southern border against Mexico's wishes.

In fact, the stances of both countries have been inconsistent with respect to irregular immigration because each has contradictory domestic interests. Southern ranchers in the US have an interest in using Mexican workers, even undocumented immigrants, as a cheap labor force. Others in the region, such as labor unions, worried about the negative impact on their wages and employment. When the economic situation was extremely poor in Mexico, US employment of Mexican workers, even if undocumented, served as a safety valve, easing domestic societal tensions. For Mexico, having its own citizens employed or chased away solely at the convenience of the US was a situation that was remarkably damaging, not only from the perspective of its economic interests, but to national pride.

An important unintended effect of the Bracero Program was the establishment of a migration route between Mexico and the US. Although both governments had temporary labor migration in mind when starting the program, a robust network of interdependence was formed between American employers and Mexican workers, which also led to a rapid increase in the number of irregular migrants. This rise was especially prevalent in the late 1940s and early 1950s after World War II; in 1954, more than three times as many irregular migrants were arrested as the number of legal migrants.⁹⁰ By hiring irregular migrants, there was no need to go through the hassle of the hiring procedures required by the program, and the wages were so low. In addition, a considerable portion of the Mexicans who entered the US under this program remained in the country illegally, making them highly dependent on these illegal employment opportunities.

(D) Growing criticism

The Bracero Program was pushed forward by an unusual combination of America's southern farmers and the Mexican government, joined by US diplomatic officials who attached importance to diplomatic considerations with the Mexican government. The program was institutionalized as a direct result of the tight supply and demand relationship in the US labor market caused by the war. As labor market conditions changed, however, it became difficult to preserve the interests of only a small number of farmers reliant on Mexican workers for their agricultural labor force. Furthermore, the US labor union's opposition movement was able to gain supporters from among the previously indifferent populace at large as the harsh working conditions of migrant workers in the agricultural sector became known nationwide.

The CBS documentary program *Harvest of Shame*, which aired in 1960, exposed the American viewing public to the harsh reality faced by the many immigrant workers on American farms.⁹¹ It also exposed the Dwight D. Eisenhower administration to public criticism, and although the Bracero Program was somehow renewed for two years in 1961, opposition to it rapidly took on a moralistic tone.

The year after the documentary aired, its producer, Edward R. Murrow, became director of the US Information Agency (USIA) in the Democratic John F. Kennedy administration that had just taken office; later, after Johnson assumed the presidency, Murrow was a member of the National Security Council (NSC). It was considered inconvenient and embarrassing, in both the "New Frontier" Kennedy and the "Great Society" Johnson administrations, for the government to be involved in the arranging of low-wage agricultural workers.⁹² The Mexican government requested that the Bracero Program continue, but the reality of American domestic politics in 1963 was that the program had run its course, and so it was concluded in 1964.⁹³

The US government thereby was allowed to escape responsibility for contributing to the plight of these agricultural workers. Even after the official program ended, however, Mexican migrant workers did not disappear, only their legal status changed.

So how did the actual conditions of the Bracero Program appear to the workers from Mexico? The following is a summary of a case study of a Mexican worker recorded in the late 1950s⁹⁴:

3 Entry Regulations and International Politics

Juan Garcia lived in a region where work was scarce and poorly paid when available. So, like many young men in his area, Juan decided to become a bracero [and go to America]. The first step was to secure a permit from a local mayor indicating his eligibility to apply to the program. The contracting process required bribes (mordida). Having secured his permit, Juan Garcia journeyed, at his own expense, to the nearest recruiting center. Once inside, he was interrogated by Mexican and US officials, answered a variety of questions regarding his eligibility and security risks, and then underwent a thorough physical examination. Having passed, Juan was transported, at the expense of his future employer, to a US reception center near the border. Theoretically, he could have chosen his employer, but in reality, Juan was contracted by a grower association. Once Juan signed the contract, he was quickly transported inland by bus to an association labor camp. During the next six weeks Juan and his countrymen worked for various farmers who were members of the contracting organization.

Juan exclusively harvested tomatoes, difficult work with long hours. Juan averaged \$35 a week, of which he paid \$11 dollars for meals. He managed to save more than \$100 in addition to purchasing some clothing and small gifts for his family. Like the majority of his fellow braceros, he had no complaints to register with the Mexican consul who, along with a foreign-labor service representative, questioned the braceros about their work, food, and general treatment. Juan would be glad to do the program again in the future, but at the end of six weeks he was homesick for Mexico and his family.

Upon completion of his contract, Juan was returned at employer expense to his original contracting station in Mexico. Juan was given a laminated identification card that classified him as a dependable worker and proved to be invaluable when he again became a bracero. Once he returned home, Juan had some definite thoughts on his stay in the United States: he felt that the only thing he knew about life in the United States was what he had seen from the fields and heard in the barracks; he never got a chance to know the local people or to socialize with a US family. Yet, he felt much more worldly than before. He really did not understand all the rights and protections granted under his contract. Still, it seemed his employers had been honest and fair. His only real regret concerned his isolation while a bracero. Juan definitely planned to contract again in the future. He would, in fact, like to return as a visaed immigrant.

This recollection reveals the fact that many migrant workers want to earn money, even under poor conditions with insufficient protection of rights doing hard labor for low wages, by the standards of the host country. If so, the pressure on people to cross borders in search of employment opportunities, whether legally or illegally, is unlikely to go away.

3.10 Political Landscape of Labor Migration

Under these conditions, when labor exports are organized through intergovernmental agreements, the sending countries will generally seek to improve the treatment of their nationals and ensure the protection of their rights. The sending country's bargaining power is usually weak, however, as long as many of its nationals would even be willing to work under poor conditions. A rivalry arises within the host country, between the interests of employers seeking a cheap, flexible labor force and labor unions and others concerned about the deterioration of the domestic employment environment. In addition, those interested in diplomatic relations with sending countries and the

human rights of migrant workers will participate in political bargaining at various stages. That is the general landscape.

In general, political dynamics within the host country play a large role in determining the form of these arrangements. However, power relations with the sending country may change, and cooperation between the sending and receiving countries conceivably may better serve the interests of both parties and the migrant workers themselves than if the receiving country were to act unilaterally. Yet there is a problem here: the black market that exists outside the legal framework. The more regulation protects legal immigrants, the greater the incentive to buy and sell labor on the black market, and the higher the risk of corruption, such as bribes paid in legal immigration quotas. Given this, sending countries need to implement effective exit regulations and border controls, as well as to operate fair screening processes for regular migrants. This will not be easy to achieve for many countries, especially developing countries.

Host countries will also need to strengthen regulations on migrants within their borders who have overstayed their visas. To do so, it will be essential for them to tighten border controls and to detect and remove irregular immigrants. They will need firmer penalties for employers of irregular migrants. However, such crackdowns on foreign nationals in Japan are met with strong opposition from civil liberties groups and employers alike. In short, a dynamic is created whereby the greater the effort made to control the movement of migrant workers in an orderly manner within the framework of intergovernmental agreements, the greater the need to control illegal migration and employment. Both migrant-sending and -receiving countries have diverse domestic interests, so it is essential for both parties to have consistent political will and effective administrative capacity on this issue in order to organize the orderly movement of economic migrants through bilateral cooperation.⁹⁵

4 Summary

This chapter has analyzed the state of international politics surrounding international population migration, focusing on the clash of wills between migrant-sending and -receiving countries. Freedom of exit became a prominent issue in the context of the Cold War, but it will likely remain a recurrent point of contention in interstate relations in the broader human rights context. Yet policies of strategic engineering migration sometimes become a means for the weak states to extort the strong ones. Furthermore, there appears to be competition for highly skilled human resources, whereas there is basically an oversupply of unskilled labor, and host countries negotiate from a position of strength. Why is population movement sometimes welcomed and sometimes feared? One reason for this may be found in the inconsistent normative structure stating that exit from a country should be free whereas entry falls within the jurisdiction of each state. Or that political asylum seekers who have fled their home countries are victims of persecution who deserve protection, whereas the emphasis when masses of refugees inundate the borders is on the responsibility of each state to protect the lives of its own nationals.

The significance the state ascribes to people who move changes depending on various conditions. Those who leave the country may be traitors to their homeland or a loss of human capital, but they may also be a politically and economically expedient way for their home country to rid itself of a nuisance. Those entering the country may be persons eligible for protection or beneficial talent, but they may also be perceived as a burden or a risk to social stability. The diversity of interests and positions that exists within both receiving and sending countries regarding the type and number of people to allow to enter and exit that would be suitable politically, economically, and morally does not facilitate the formation of a consensus of will. Furthermore, there is little hope that a broad agreement will be reached in the near future regarding what the internationally desirable immigration order would be.

The flow of people into and out of a country is not something the state can easily manage. People who cross borders are not computer central processing units (CPUs) that arrive at some optimal solution in response to wages and other conditions; they are actors attempting to carve out their own destinies using their own strategies. Such people create a dynamic reality that goes beyond the expectations of receiving and sending countries. Migrants who were brought into the US and Europe as marginal labor forces formed various networks and eventually established immigrant communities and put down roots in their new countries of residence. This was not the result of the state's policy intentions. Also, for the East German government, expelling dissidents was supposed to be an expedient pressure release valve. It was surely not the state's intent for the exodus of people to reach an uncontrollable level, finally leading to the dramatic collapse of the regime.

The limits of national immigration control become even clearer as borders become more porous in terms of goods, money, and information. That being the case, population movements that go beyond the will of the state necessarily become a topic for study. In the next chapter, I would like to examine the implications such international population movements hold for interstate relations.

Notes

- The Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training (ed). 2014. "Ōshū shokoku ni okeru kaigo bun'ya ni jūji suru gaikokujin rōdōsha: Doitsu, Itaria, Sue-den, Igirisu, Furansu 5-kakoku chōsa Heisei 26-nen 6-gatsu 30-nichi [Foreign workers engaged in the nursing care sector in European countries: a five-country survey (Germany, Italy, Sweden, UK, and France, June 30, 2014))." *JILPT Research Materials*, No. 139, 1. https://www.jil.go.jp/institute/siryo/2014/ 139.html (accessed March 11, 2024).
- Cohen, Deborah. 2011. Braceros: Migrant Citizens and Transnational Subjects in the Postwar United States and Mexico. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Minohara, Toshihiro. 2006. Kariforunia-shū no hainichi undo to nichibei kankei: imin mondai o meguru Nichibei masatsu 1906–1921-nen (California's anti-Japanese movement and Japan-US relations: Japan-US frictions over immigration issues, 1906–1921). Tokyo: Yuhikaku, 32.

4. However, restrictions on the issuance of passports are often enforced.

- Torpey, John. 2007. "Leaving: A Comparative View," in Green, Nancy L. and Weil, François (eds). *Citizenship and Those Who Leave: The Politics of Emigration and Expatriation*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press; de Haas, Hein and Vezzoli, Simona. 2011. "Leaving Matters: The Nature, Evolution and Effects of Emigration Policies." *International Migration Institute Working Paper 34*. https://www.migrationinstitute.org/publications/wp-34-11 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 6. Torpey, op. cit., 2007, 17.
- 7. Ibid., 19–20.
- 8. Ibid., 22.
- Sassen, Saskia. 1999. Guests and Aliens. New York: New Press, 11–13; Torpey, John. Fujikawa Takao (trans). 2008. Pasupōto no hatsumei: kanshi, shitizunshippu, kokka (The Invention of the Passport: Surveillance, Citizenship, and the State). Tokyo: Hōsei University Press, 98–106 [Translation of Torpey, John C. 2000. The Invention of the Passport: Surveillance, Citizenship, and the State. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 68.].
- 10. Sassen, op. cit., 12.
- 11. Yakushiji, Taizō. 1989. Tekunohegemoni-: ikkoku wa gijutsu de okori, horobiru (Technohegemony: A country rises and falls through technology). Tokyo: Chūkō Shinsho, 66.
- 12. Sunaga, Takashi. 2010. Purotesutanto bōmei nanmin no keizai-chū: Kinsei Ingurando to gaikokujin imin (An economic history of Protestant refugees: early modern England and foreign emigration). Kyoto: Shōwadō, Chapter 8.
- 13. Tombs, Robert and Tombs, Isabelle. 2006. *That Sweet Enemy: The French and the British from the Sun King to the Present*. London: William Heinemann, 24.
- 14. In a January 26, 1976 ruling, Japan's Supreme Court upheld a lower court's judgment that "the principle of non-extradition of political criminals cannot yet be recognized as established and general customary international law." For refugees, however, there are obligations under the Refugee Convention (Honma, Hiroshi. 1974. *Seiji bōmei no hōri [Legal principles of political asylum].* Tokyo: Waseda University Press.).
- 15. Freitag, Sabine (ed). 2003. Exiles From European Revolutions: Refugees in Mid-Victorian England. New York: Berghahn Books.
- Garcelon, Marc. 2001. "Colonizing the Subject: The Genealogy and Legacy of the Soviet Internal Passport," in Caplan, Jane and Torpey, John (eds). 2001. *Documenting Individual Identity: The Development of State Practices in the Modern World*. Princeton: Princeton University Press; Torpey 2008, op. cit., 208–209.
- Hirschman, Albert O. 1993. "Exit, Voice, and the Fate of German Democratic Republic: An Essay in Conceptual History." *World Politics*, Vol. 45 No. 2, 180. https://doi.org/10.2307/295 0657 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- de Bruyn, Günter. 1991. Jubelschreie, Trauergesänge: deutsche Befindlichkeiten. Frankfurt: S. Fischer, 36–37, as quoted by Hirschman, op. cit., 184.
- 19. Hirschman, op. cit., 185.
- 20. Yukiyama, Shin'ichi. 1993. Doitsu tõitsu (German unification). Asahi Shimbunsha, 47-48.
- 21. Ibid., 10.
- 22. Ibid., 113.
- 23. Kimu, Chanjon (Kim Chan-jeong). 2007. Zainichi giyūhei kikan sezu: Chōsen Sensō hishi (Zainichi Korean Volunteer soldiers did not return: a secret history of the Korean War). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten, Chapter 10.
- 24. Park, Kyung-Ae. 2010. "People's Exit, Regime Stability, and North Korean Diplomacy," in Park, Kyung-Ae (ed). *New Challenges of North Korean Foreign Policy*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 49; "Kankoku wa 'iki jigoku' ka– 'datsu minami' suru dappokusha-tachi (Is South Korea a living hell? North Korean defectors fleeing the South)," *Sankei Shimbun*, October 26, 2013.
- 25. Park, op. cit., 45.
- South Korea Ministry of Unification. "Policy on North Korean Defectors" https://www.uni korea.go.kr/eng_unikorea/relations/statistics/defectors/ (accessed March 11, 2024); Higgins, Trumbull. 1987. The Perfect Failure: Kennedy, Eisenhower, and the CIA at the Bay of Pigs. New York: W. W. Norton.

- 27. Park, op. cit., 55-56.
- Hägel, Peter and Peretz, Pauline. 2005. "States and Transnational Actors: Who's Influencing Whom? A Case Study in Jewish Diaspora Politics during the Cold War." *European Journal* of International Relations, Vol. 11, No. 4, 476. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354066105057893 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 29. Ibid., 481-482.
- Levin, Geoffrey P. 2015. "Before Soviet Jewry's Happy Ending: The Cold War and America's Long Debate Over Jackson-Vanik, 1976–1989." *Shofar*, Vol. 33, No. 3, 66. https://doi.org/10. 5703/shofar.33.3.63 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 31. Lazin, Fred A. 2005. The Struggle for Soviet Jewry in American Politics: Israel versus the American Jewish Establishment. Lanham: Lexington Books, 261.
- 32. Ibid., 276-278.
- 33. Spring, Joel H. 2009. Globalization of Education: an Introduction. New York: Routledge, 185.
- 34. Anderson, Stuart. 2014. The Increasing Importance of Immigrants to Science and Engineering in America. NFAP Policy Brief. Arlington: National Foundation for American Policy. https://nfap.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/NFAP-Policy-Brief.Increa sing-Importance-of-Immigrants-in-Science-and-Engineering.June-2014.pdf; Immigrants and Nobel Prizes: 1901–2023. NFAP Policy Brief. Arlington: National Foundation for American Policy, October 2023. https://nfap.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/Immigrants-and-Nobel-Prizes-1901-to-2023.NFAP-Policy-Brief.October-2023.pdf (accessed March 28, 2024).
- 35. Paral, Rob, and Johnson, Benjamin. 2004. "Maintaining a Competitive Edge: The Role of the Foreign-Born and U.S. Immigration Policies in Science and Engineering." *Immigration Policy in Focus*, Vol. 3, No. 3, 3. https://www.americanimmigrationcouncil.org/research/maintainingcompetitive-edge-foreign-born-and-us-immigration-policies-science-and (accessed March 11 2024).
- Shachar, Ayalet. 2006. "The Race for Talent: Highly Skilled Migrants and Competitive Immigration Regimes." *New York University Law Review*, Vol. 81, No. 1, 170. https://www.nyulawreview.org/issues/volume-81-number-1/the-race-for-talent-highlyskilled-migrants-and-competitive-immigration-regimes/ (accessed March 11, 2024).
- For details on the point system, please refer to the Canadian governments' website: https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/services/immigrate-can ada/express-entry/eligibility/criteria-comprehensive-ranking-system.html (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 38. Shachar, op. cit., 171.
- 39. Ibid., 176–183.
- 40. The Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training (ed). 2015. "Sho gaikoku ni okeru gaikokujin ukeire seido no gaiyō to eikyō o meguru kakushu giron ni kansuru chōsa, Heisei 27-nen 5 tsuki 29-nichi (Survey on various discussions surrounding the outline and impact of foreign acceptance systems in foreign countries, May 29, 2015)," *JILPT Research Materials Series*, No. 153, 14. https://www.jil.go.jp/institute/siryo/2015/153.html (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 41. The Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training (ed). 2013. "Sho gaikoku ni okeru kōdo jinzai o chūshin to shita gaikokujin rōdōsha ukeire seisaku: Denma-ku, Furansu, Doitsu, Igirisu, EU, Amerika, Kankoku, Shingapo-ru hikaku chōsa, Heisei 25-nen 3-tsuki 28-nichi (Foreign worker acceptance policies centered on highly skilled human resources in various countries: Comparative survey of Denmark, France, Germany, UK, EU, US, South Korea, and Singapore, March 28, 2013)," *JILPT Research Materials Series*, No. 114, 105–106. https://www.jil.go.jp/institute/siryo/2013/114.html (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 42. Ibid., 77–79.
- OECD-UNDESA. 2013. "World Migration in Figures: A Joint Contribution by UN-DESA and OECD to the United Nations High Level Dialogue on Migration and Development. 3–4 October 2013," 3. https://www.oecd.org/migration/mig/World-Migration-in-Figures.pdf (accessed March 11, 2024).

- 44. Yuki, Keiji. 2009. "Erīto kyōiku no tsuyomi to kunō (Strengths and struggles of elite education)," *Foresight*, April, 67.
- OECD. 2007. International Migration Outlook, 2007 Edition. Paris: OECD Publishing, 162– 163. https://www.oecd.org/migration/mig/41515701.pdf (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 46. Chanda, Nayan. Tomoda, Seki and Takigami, Hiromi (trans). 2009. Guro-barize-shon: Jinrui 5-mannen no dorama (Globalization: 50,000 years of human drama), 219. Tokyo: NTT Shuppan [Translation of Chanda, Nayan. 2007. Bound Together: How Traders, Preachers, Adventurers, and Warriors shaped Globalization. New Haven: Yale University Press.].
- 47. Bhagwati, Jagdish N. and Partington, Martin (eds). 1976. *Taxing the Brain Drain, Vol. I: A Proposal.* Amersterdam: North Holland.
- 48. Brock, Gillian and Blake, Michael. 2015. *Debating Brain Drain: May Governments Restrict Emigration*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 48.
- Bhagwati, Jagdish N. 1976. "Taxing the brain drain." *Challenge*, Vol. 19, No. 3, 35. https:// doi.org/10.1080/05775132.1976.11470220 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 50. Ibid., 37.
- Saxenian, AnnaLee. 2005. "From Brain Drain to Brain Circulation: Transnational Communities and Regional Upgrading in India and China." *Studies in Comparative International Development*, Vol. 40, No. 2.
- Docquier, Frédéric. 2006. "Brain Drain and Inequality Across Nations," *IZA Discussion Paper*, No. 2440, 24. http://ftp.iza.org/dp2440.pdf (accessed March 11, 2024).
- "BRICS Meet: India Express Worry over Brain Drain, Migration," *The Indian Express*. October 9. 2015 http://indianexpress.com/article/india/india-news-india/brics-meet-india-expresses-worry-over-brain-drain-migration/ (accessed March 11, 2024).
- Davis, Ted, and Hart, David M. 2010. "International Cooperation to Manage High-Skill Migration: The Case of India-US Relations." *Review of Policy Research*, Vol. 27, No. 4. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1541-1338.2010.00454.x (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 55. Brzezinski, Zibgniew. 1983. Power and Principle: Memoirs of the National Security Adviser, 1977–1981. Farrar Straus & Giroux, 407.
- 56. Weiner, Myron. Naitō, Yoshiaki (trans). 1999. *Imin to nanmin no kokusai seijigaku*. Tokyo: Akashi Shoten, 72 [Translation of Weiner, Myron. 1995. *The Global Migration Crisis: Challenge to States and to Human Rights*. New York: Harper Collins.].
- For the facts of this event, please see Weiner, Jerome B. 1979. "The Green March in Historical Perspective." *Middle East Journal*, Vol. 33. No. 1. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4325817 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- Teitelbaum, Michael S. 1984. "Immigration, Refugees and Foreign Policy." *International Organization*, Vol. 38, No. 3, 437–438. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2706466 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 59. Greenhill, Kelly M. 2010. Weapons of Mass Migration: Forced Displacement, Coercion, and Foreign Policy. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, Chapter 1
- 60. For the concise historical context of the Cuba-US relationship, see Chapter 1 of Munton, Don and Welch, David A. Tadokoro, Masayuki and Hayashi, Seiichi (trans). 2015. Cuban Crisis: Mirror Imaging Trap. Tokyo: Chūō Kōron Shinsha [Translation of Munton, Don and Welch, David A. 2011. The Cuban Missile Crisis: A Concise History 2nd Edition. Oxford University Press.].
- 61. This and the following Cuban events are primarily from Greenhill, op. cit., Chapter 2.
- For Cuba-US relations of this period, see LeoGrande, William M. 1998. "From Havana to Miami: US Cuba Policy as a Two-Level Game." *Journal of Interamerican Studies and World Affairs*, Vol. 40. No. 1, 67–86. https://doi.org/10.2307/166301 (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 63. Greenhill, op. cit., 90.
- 64. Ibid., 97.
- 65. Ibid., 96.
- 66. Ibid., 101.
- 67. Ibid., 110.

68. The discussion of the Bangladesh Liberation War that follows largely comes from Sisson, Richard and Rose, Leo E. 1990. War and Secession: Pakistan, India, and the Creation of Bangladesh. Berkeley: University of California Press.

- Salehyan, Idean. 2008. "The Externalities of Civil Strife: Refugees as a Source of International Conflict." *American Journal of Political Science*, Vol. 52, No. 4, 793. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1540–5907.2008.00343.x (accessed March 11, 2024).
- Kuptsch, Christine and Martin, Philip. 2011. "Low-Skilled Labour Migration," in Betts, Alexander (ed). *Global Migration Governance*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 37; and International Labour Organization. 1949. *C097 – Migration for Employment Convention (Revised)*, 1949 (No. 97) https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::p12 100_instrument_id:312242
- Office of the High Commissioner on Human Rights website. "Topic: OHCHR and migration." https://www.ohchr.org/en/migration (accessed March 28, 2024); Kuptsch and Martin, op. cit., 38–39.
- Betts, Alexander. 2010. "Global Migration Governance: the Emergence of a New Debate." *Global Economic Governance Programme Briefing Paper*, 2–3. https://www.geg.ox.ac. uk/sites/default/files/Betts%20Global%20Migration%20Governance%20PB.pdf (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 74. Of course, there is a widely observable pattern of development in which former emigration countries have since become immigration countries. A country can both receive and send migrants. It is also a fact that some countries are migrant transit countries, such as Mexico and Morocco.
- Department of Labor and Employment, Republic of the Philippines. 2014. Philippine Overseas Employment Administration Annual Report 2014, 25–27. https://www.dmw.gov.ph/archives/ annualreports/annualreports.html (accessed 11 Mar 2024).
- 76. Rodriguez, Robyn Magalit. 2010. *Migrants for Export: How the Philippine State Brokers Labor to the World*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 23.
- 77. Ibid, 32.
- 78. Ibid, 71–73.
- 79. Ibid, 68–69.
- Délano, Alexandra. 2011. Mexico and its Diaspora in the United States: Policies of Emigration since 1848. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 60; Andreas, Peter. 2012. Border Games: Policing the US-Mexico Divide, 2nd ed. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 32–33.
- Bickerton, Maria Elena. 2001. "Prospects for a Bilateral Immigration Agreement with Mexico: Lessons from the Bracero Program." *Texas Law Review*, Vol. 79, No. 4, 898. https://nationalaglawcenter.org/publication/note-prospects-for-a-bilateral-immigration-agreementwith-mexico-lessons-from-the-bracero-program-79-texas-l-rev-895–919-2001/ (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 82. Délano, op. cit., 74-75.
- 83. de Haas and Vezzoli, op. cit., 11.
- 84. Craig, Richard B. 1971. *The Bracero Program: Interest Groups and Foreign Policy*. Austin: University of Texas Press, 40–41.
- 85. Ibid., 41.
- 86. Délano, op. cit., 84.
- 87. Craig, op. cit., 53-54.
- 88. Ibid., 57–63.
- 89. Ibid., 82.
- 90. Kuptsch and Martin, op. cit., 49.
- 91. The CBS documentary is available for viewing at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yJTVF_ dya7E (accessed March 11, 2024).
- 92. After Murrow became a member of the NSC in the Johnson administration, he himself called the UK's British Broadcasting Corporation (BBC) to request that it not air the documentary, fearing it would further worsen Europe's image of the US, already diminished

^{69.} Ibid., 180.

by the Vietnam War. https://www.nytimes.com/1961/03/23/archives/tv-dismaying-start-mur rows-urging-bbc-to-ban-showing-of-harvest-of.html (accessed March 11, 2024).

- 93. Craig, op. cit., 186–188, 197.
- 94. Summarized from the interview in Ibid., 132–137.
- 95. For literature pointing out that migration is a social process and the ability to manipulate it has limits, see Castles, Stephen. 2004. "Why Migration Policies Fail." *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 27, No. 2. https://doi.org/10.1080/0141987042000177306 (accessed March 11, 2024).

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this chapter or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Chapter 3 The Limits of Policy—Irregular Population Movement



Contents

1	Irregular Migration				
	1.1	Current State of Irregular Migration	77		
	1.2	Post-Cold War Migration Policy	78		
	1.3	Border Control—The US and European Examples	80		
	1.4	The Difficulty of Border Control	82		
	1.5	External Extension of Border Controls	83		
	1.6	Limits to Outsourcing—The Example of Spain and Morocco	84		
	1.7	Internal Restrictions	87		
	1.8	Deportation	89		
	1.9	Legalization	90		
	1.10	Sisyphean Dilemma	92		
2	Refug	Refugees			
	2.1	Who Are Refugees?	93		
	2.2	Dissolution of Empire and Refugees	93		
	2.3	Enlarging the Concept of Refugee	94		
	2.4	Refugee Convention	95		
	2.5	Magnitude of the Refugee Issue	96		
	2.6	Recognition and Protection	98		
	2.7	People with Unrecognized Status	100		
	2.8	Externalizing Refugee Processing	101		
	2.9	Refugees Staying in Developing Countries	103		
	2.10	Options Available to Refugees	106		
	2.11	A Comprehensive Approach and Internally Displaced Persons	108		
3	Summary				
No	Notes				

Abstract This chapter focuses on irregular migration and refugee status, examining the international political issues of population movements that arise from the limitations of state policies, and not from any clash between states' policy goals. It seeks to distinguish between "illegal" immigrants and refugees, while bearing in mind the limitations of these conceptual categories. While there is a fairly wellestablished international system for handling refugees, irregular migration is in principle regarded as a matter for the receiving country's own immigration controls. But the author concludes that issues relating to the movements of people—be they irregular migrants, refugees, or internally displaced persons—are no longer merely human rights issues that apply to a limited or exceptional number. They inevitably become politically charged, and a failure to effectively address the resulting political issues will place the achievement of humanitarian objectives in jeopardy.

In the previous chapter, I discussed political issues surrounding people crossing borders in relation to conflicts of states' will. To be sure, people who cross borders are not agents acting to embody the will of the states to which they belong; they are nothing but actors with their own interests and strategies. Most decisions to cross a border that people make are independent of, and often run counter to, the will of the state. States naturally try to influence the movement of people through various means, but the consequences of their policies are difficult to predict. They have the potential to exceed initial expectations, leading to unexpected results for both sending and receiving countries. This chapter examines the international political issues of international population migration that arise from the limitations of state policies, not from a clash of states' policy goals.

In order to protect their territorial jurisdiction, states not only physically defend their borders, but also regulate the movement and stay of people through passports, visas, residence permits, and similar arrangements. The reality of the world is that there are many people who cross national borders or live in other countries in violation of state-established arrangements. These people are called illegal immigrants or clandestine migrants from the perspective that their entry was in violation of the host country's immigration system. There has been a backlash against these terms from the standpoint of defending the human rights of these people,¹ and so terms such as irregular immigrants or undocumented migrants are often used. Admittedly, the people who, of their own free will, enter another country either by clandestinely bypassing border control, or by paying smugglers or purchasing fake documents, have most certainly entered the country by illegal means. Yet most irregular migration would not occur if the receiving country did not have some kind of demand for it. There are also quite a few times when the authorities, considering the presence of such people a convenience, have not strictly enforced the rules. If this is the case, it would be somewhat hypocritical to treat such migrants as criminals.

The greater problem with these terms, from an analytical sense, is that they cannot fully capture the diverse realities of the people who deviate from the state-established systems to cross borders. The term irregular immigrant encompasses political prisoners and soldiers who have fled their home countries, as well as people who make a living through criminal activities such as smuggling. On the other hand, there are many people who were forced to leave the country against their will. Refugees are the archetype of such people, and some among them should rather be called victims of human trafficking. In addition to civil wars and political persecution, natural disasters, such as droughts and floods, and drastic changes in the environment force some people to cross borders. The term forced migrants would be more appropriate to describe these people. In reality, however, it is often difficult to distinguish between free will and coercion in harsh environments and impossible to draw a clear line between the act of fleeing political persecution and of seizing economic opportunity.

Given this book's purpose to examine the international politics of population migration, this chapter will advance the discussion by distinguishing between "illegal" immigrants and refugees while bearing in mind the limitations of these conceptual categories. While there is a fairly well-established international system for handling refugees, irregular migration is in principle regarded as a matter for the receiving country's immigration control.

1 Irregular Migration

1.1 Current State of Irregular Migration

It is impossible to know the total number of irregular migrants exactly. The estimates vary greatly. For example, the International Organization for Migration (IOM) estimated that 10–15% of the world's stock (total) of 214 million international migrants in 2010 were undocumented. The United Nations Development Program (UNDP) estimated that approximately one-third of all migration flows in developing countries were irregular migrants.² Regardless, it is safe to assume that the total number will not fall below tens of millions. This number is comparable to the population of a medium-sized European country.

Among these estimates, the US figures are thought to be relatively accurate. For example, according to the Pew Research Center, a prominent US research organization, there were approximately 11 million unauthorized immigrants in the United States in 2015. This is equivalent to approximately 3.4% of the US population. The number spiked briefly but has been stable since 2010. Of the total, 5.6 million, or more than half, were Mexican, a proportion that was decreasing; in their place, unauthorized immigrants from Asia (mostly China) and Central America were rising, as well as an increasing proportion of undocumented immigrants from sub-Saharan Africa. Additionally, nearly 60% of undocumented immigrants were concentrated in six states: California, Texas, Florida, New York, New Jersey, and Illinois. States such as Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and Washington were also seeing increases in the number of undocumented immigrants from countries other than Mexico. Furthermore, undocumented immigrants continue to live in the US for longer periods of time, with two-thirds of them having lived in the US for more than 10 years.³

In Europe, there were between 1.9 and 3.8 million irregular foreign residents living in the European Union (EU) in 2008, according to estimates by the EU-sponsored Clandestino Project. This corresponds to 0.39–0.77% of the population of the 27 EU countries.⁴ The number of persons detected by EU authorities to be illegally present in the member states in 2014 totaled approximately 550,000; broken down by nationality, many people migrated mainly from the Middle East and Africa, countries such as Syria, Eritrea, Afghanistan, and Morocco. Others have come from

former colonies, such as India and Pakistan, where immigrant communities already have roots in their former European colonial powers.⁵

Irregular migration is a cause for concern in many countries, not just for Western countries. A United Nations report found that almost all of the 146 countries surveyed considered irregular migration a problem, with 75% saying it was a major concern for their country.⁶

Irregular immigration has long been a major political issue in Western discourse. Jews who moved to what is now Israel from as early as the 1920s until the country's founding in 1948 were recognized by the British authorities who ruled the region as illegal immigrants who should be stopped or removed.⁷ There has been a continuous flow of labor migrants from Mexico to the US since the nineteenth century, as discussed in the previous chapter. They were highly prized as a useful marginal labor force. They were also arrested as undocumented immigrants and forcibly deported, in accordance with the supply/demand relationship in the US labor market, as plans to reduce undocumented immigrants were implemented on a large scale.

On the whole, however, irregular immigration arguably became a major political issue in the West after the 1980s. Large-scale recipients of immigrants during their post-World War II period of economic growth, wealthy Western countries shifted their policy focus to curbing the influx of immigrants in the 1970s. One reason why once welcomed immigrant labor came to be treated as a nuisance might be because of declining domestic demand for labor as the period of high economic growth from the 1950s to the 1960s ended. Especially as manufacturing industries in Japan and other Asian countries rapidly caught up to their Western counterparts, demand for factory labor declined, and Western countries' policies began to restrain immigration inflows. Another underlying factor may be that significantly lower costs for travel and information increased pressure on the illegal movement of migrants.

However, immigrant communities had already put down roots and had become familiar neighbors within their host country. They could not simply be taken as a marginal buffer mechanism in the labor market and driven out of the country. Even if a developed country prohibits the inflow of new immigrant labor, it cannot from a human rights perspective take a policy to essentially prohibit immigrants already in the country from bringing in their family members to reunite with them. Furthermore, once an immigrant community is established, a transnational network with its country of origin is also formed. Immigrant communities are able to assist compatriots from their homeland and provide them with a social niche that supports their livelihood after entry. As a result, people attempting to leave their home countries now have an environment in which they can make a living upon entering the country, whether they cross the border legally or illegally.

1.2 Post-Cold War Migration Policy

Moreover, in the context of the growing trend of neoliberalism since the 1980s, the end of the Cold War brought the overwhelming majority of people on earth into the global market economy. In a world brought dramatically closer by the international movement of goods, capital, and information, the lives of the working class in affluent countries, which have been protected by various welfare systems and labor agreements, have become threatened by competition from "emerging market" countries, exemplified by China and India. Immigrants have come to be perceived as a threat to the livelihoods of working-class people in developed countries who are in a competitive relationship with immigrant labor in the labor market. Though they had been tolerated in the days when they were a relatively small, convenient marginal labor force, immigrant workers were now recognized as a social and economic problem, increasingly seen as targets to be cracked down on.

There is now an emphasis on irregular immigration in connection with public safety and national security issues. The tie between illegal immigration and drug smuggling has been viewed as a problem in the US since the 1980s; consequently, attention has been drawn to the domestic safety connections, as well. When large numbers of people suddenly stream in across the border in a disorderly manner, the resultant change in the demographic composition of the local community will be regarded as a threat to the existing residents. For example, Jewish settlers in the West Bank, the treatment of Palestinians in Jordan, and the increase in the number 6132240-6,132,240-of Muslims in Lebanon are all issues that have the potential to change the respective identities of the local communities. This was the context in which the immigration issue has traditionally been recognized as a security issue. The issue of undocumented immigration in the US was dramatically elevated to a national security issue and became a high-priority political issue with the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001, and the ensuing series of "wars on terror." Almost in parallel to this development, in Western Europe, where the end of the Cold War prompted the sudden disappearance of geopolitical pressure from the Soviet Union that had caused long years of stress, countries continue to struggle to integrate Muslim immigrants into society, despite making various efforts. It was against this background that Islamic nationals carried out shocking terrorist attacks in the United Kingdom and France; here, too, there was a growing tendency to designate immigration, especially irregular immigration, as a national security issue. This trend was further strengthened by the startling terrorist incidents in several countries on the heels of the 2015 refugee crisis in Europe.

As a result, parties opposed to unrestrained and excessive immigration such as the *Front National* (FN) formerly led by Jean-Marie Le Pen in France, the *Alternative für Deutschland* (AfD) in Germany, the UK Independence Party (UKIP) in the UK, and other political parties that in the past would have been treated as fringe parties and not been taken seriously, have steadily grown in power. Furthermore, Donald J. Trump, who received loud cheers on the campaign trail for claiming he would build a huge wall along the US-Mexico border at Mexico's expense, won the 2016 US presidential election, against many media expectations. These developments attest to the fact that stronger measures to deal with migration, especially irregular immigration, is no longer limited to the calls of radical and racist fringe groups and has gained widespread popular support. In other words, anti-immigrant political movements are gaining democratic support and gaining strength in Europe and the US, which

remain powerfully influential in the international discourse. Even with the post-Cold War trend of globalization, measures to counter irregular immigration have become a national security issue for the Western world, where there were no imminent traditional geopolitical threats.

These irregular immigrants are in a vulnerable position. Having an illegal status in the country of residence, they are forced to make a living in the informal sector of the economy. So they are forced to endure poor working conditions, unable to receive medical care or other social security services, and constantly exposed to the risk of exploitation and abuse. They are unable to seek public relief for fear of being forced to leave. Not only is it a human rights issue for irregular immigrants, but it is also a socio-economic issue for the receiving country as a whole. Irregular immigration risks bloating the informal sector and increasing the criminalization of a country's entire economy, which in turn may intensify social problems, including issues of public safety. When this happens, it affects all people living in the same society. The societal exclusion of a fixed group of people from public services will see the growth of social divisions, the erosion of fundamental liberal democratic norms such as equality and the universality of human rights, as well as the widening of social rifts that weaken the country's unity.

1.3 Border Control—The US and European Examples

How will the state respond to prevent illegal entry? One possibility, naturally, would be to reinforce control of the borders and stop irregular movement of people before they enter the country. Ports were once the most important loci for national border control; international airports are the main entry points for the movement of people today. The passport and visa checks conducted at these places are supposed to confirm entry status and eliminate illegal entry. Even by land, conducting immigration inspections at several major checkpoints along the border while prohibiting passage through other points should also eliminate irregular migration.

However, the reality is that borders are much more porous than most people think, and there are many ways to bypass official immigration controls. The first is to smuggle people into the country physically. Crossing flat land borders is physically easy; crossing rivers and steep mountains is dangerous, but not impossible. Clandestine landings by sea on the destination country's coast is another a possibility.

The state deploys police forces to guard its borders and coasts. The US, the country with the world's largest influx of undocumented immigrants, has also made significant efforts to control its borders. The US Border Patrol has its roots in the US Immigration Service's mounted watchmen system, which was established in 1904. The organization initially consisted of only 75 people whose role was to monitor the border with Mexico as required. In fact, the targets of the surveillance were Chinese immigrants, not Mexican smugglers, who would later become the most important target in America's efforts to combat irregular immigration. Although the Immigration Act of 1882 had effectively banned Chinese immigration, many Chinese

migrants attempted to enter the US through its poorly guarded border with Mexico after Mexico and Qing China concluded a Treaty of Amity and Commerce in 1899 and established regular sea routes between them. Although the Border Patrol was reorganized in 1924 into its current shape, it remained a small and fairly inconspicuous organization. The organization has expanded rapidly since the 1990s, becoming a sudden priority after the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks. Employing 21,000 as of 2012, the Border Patrol, once an obscure law enforcement branch, has been thrust into the spotlight.⁸

The US border is long and passes through desolate desert and mountainous terrain; establishing physical barriers along all of it is impossible. Yet fences have been erected at strategic points, and Border Patrol agents monitor the border using stateof-the-art equipment, including electronic sensors, video monitors, and night vision scopes. Vehicle inspections near borders are also considered an important means of surveillance.

In the case of Europe, the Schengen Agreement concluded in 1985 liberalized the movement of people within EU member states in principle, so internal border controls within the area were basically suspended. At the time, some expressed concerns that the filtering function to monitor drugs and other criminal activity would be lost with the end of the existing border controls. The reality was that this border function had already been lost at borders internal to the EU. Regardless, the EU has liberalized the movement of people within the area and abolished internal border controls. Once that was secured, it placed an even greater burden on controlling the region's external boundaries. The incentive to enter an EU member state illegally grows because of the ability to move freely once inside the EU's Schengen area. Moreover, unless EU countries cooperate and coordinate their external border control systems, irregular migrants can enter through the least guarded of the area's 44,000 km sea and 9000 km land borders, allowing them to move freely throughout the EU.

The EU thus established the European Border and Coast Guard Agency (FRONTEX) to strengthen control of its border with the world outside the region. FRONTEX serves to strengthen the border management capabilities of EU member states, whose relevant government agencies basically carry out the actual border control work. FRONTEX assists by regularly conducting risk analysis to analyze and identify areas with high border control pressure, and through sending support personnel and additional equipment, as well as conducting information exchange and technical training.⁹ With the EU's eastward enlargement at the start of the twenty-first century, expanded border control capabilities of the countries involved had to take over a function which the Iron Curtain had played during the Cold War: restricting the movement of people at the EU's eastern border. This was arguably successful for the most part on the eastern border. But the EU's southern border is weak. Consequently, the EU has invested a concentration of resources, both human and technological, in countries such as Italy, Greece, and Malta.¹⁰

1.4 The Difficulty of Border Control

We have looked at border control in Europe and the US, where the pressure of irregular migrants to enter for economic purposes is strong. But border control is practiced by all countries around the world, including Japan. Developing countries generally have low border control capabilities, and countries with long land borders have a greater border control burden than island countries like Japan.

Therefore, physical border control has inherent limitations and often has an effect opposite to what was intended, even in the cases of Europe and the US, which have invested a relatively large amount of human and material resources and sophisticated management techniques. To begin with, it is technologically impossible to constantly monitor borders without fail. The reality is that border guards can monitor only a small portion of the entire border; they are destined to be unable to physically prevent every possibility of people sneaking across the border.¹¹ Irregular migrant labor is even more desirable for employers, as it is cheaper than hiring legal migrants, and it does not entail the hassle of preparing cumbersome documents.

We probably believe that even if only some clandestine entrants are detected, it will act as a deterrent and reduce future illegal immigration. The reality is, however, that even if they are arrested for sneaking across the border, the best we can hope for is their departure from the country, forcibly or voluntarily. Thus, they are apt to attempt entry into the country clandestinely once again. In such cases, deciding whether to smuggle oneself into a country becomes a matter of probabilistic costbenefit calculation. It becomes a high-risk, high-return business; the stronger the demand for migrant labor, the greater the cross-border economic disparity between the countries involved, and the more stringently regulations with limited enforcement ability are imposed on both those being smuggled and those smuggling. The paradox is that, given the prospect of high profits, tightening border controls will encourage smugglers to continually devise new methods.

There is a tendency for authorities who crack down on smugglers to assess their success through arrests and seizures of contraband; when that happens, it may give rise to a strange symbiotic relationship. The more people who repeatedly attempt clandestine entry, and the easier it is to catch smugglers, the easier it will be to prove the importance of the organization by evaluating their achievements, thereby resulting in greater authority and budget allocation. Indeed, some argue that smugglers and regulatory authorities have a functionally interdependent relationship, given that "It's now possible for a drug dealer to serve time in a forfeiture-financed prison after having been arrested by [US Border Patrol] agents driving a forfeiture-provided automobile while working in a forfeiture-funded sting operation."¹²

In addition to physical smuggling, methods such as forging the required immigration documents are also used. Passports were just documents at first, but later photos came into wide use to authenticate people. With the right skills, it is possible to forge passports, since they are made of paper after all; falsification, such as pasting a different photo onto a stolen passport, is a widely used method. Today, passports in many developed countries, including Japan, contain integrated circuit (IC) chips, making them even more difficult to forge. As this will likely give rise to new innovations in counterfeiting technology, it will not prevent counterfeiting indefinitely. Alternatively, a legitimate passport obtained by someone forging a birth certificate or other such document will not be detected at immigration inspection. In extreme cases, corrupt states themselves may become integrated with businesses that are parasitic to the rights and interests generated by regulation, such as smuggling and document forgery. For low-income civil servants employed by poor states in areas monopolized by state authority, there are strong incentives to become corrupt. There is also a dynamic at play that makes the issue of irregular immigration even more serious: as the risks and costs of crossing the border rise on stricter border security, undocumented migrants, who until then had repeatedly entered and exited the country for short periods of time, may remain in the country for longer periods of time once they have entered the country.¹³

In fact, the most common method of illegal entry is the overstay (illegal stay), in which foreigners who legally enter a country for tourism or business purposes do not depart by the end of the duration of stay and remain in the country. It is impossible to clamp down on this category of people through physical border control. The dramatic sights of people rushing across borders and of people being smuggled across the ocean, especially when they enter democratic countries, are an ideal subject for media coverage, and thereby provoke strong reactions from the migrant-receiving society. After entering the country legally, however, these overstayers are rarely in the spotlight, living inconspicuously on the fringes of society.

1.5 External Extension of Border Controls

Border controls have clear limitations, be it against the smuggling of contraband or of human beings, so states try to extend control beyond their borders. The liberalization of the international movement of goods and services, which has been the basic post-Cold War policy of Western countries, has naturally led to an explosion of the lawful movement of people across borders. Given the sheer scale of such crossborder movement, it is becoming nearly impossible to selectively screen out illegal migration at the border without disrupting legitimate entry.

States have therefore intensified their efforts to extend their border control outside their national borders, to detect unwanted immigrants before they reach their borders and prevent an influx. For instance, the governments of many countries, including the US, outsource some of the screening to private companies, obligating airlines and shipping companies to check the entry status of prospective travelers in advance and to submit passenger lists electronically. In addition, countries such as the US dispatch immigration officials to foreign airports to conduct preliminary screenings. This direction of control methods has expanded since the 9/11 terrorist attacks in 2001.

In addition to extending their border inspections abroad, receiving countries are developing efforts to strengthen sending countries' ability to control departees, carrying out a variety of information exchange and technical assistance, thereby encouraging stronger crackdowns on clandestine migrants, smugglers, and human traffickers. For example, after the Iron Curtain fell, Germany provided financial aid to Poland, exempted Poles from visas, provided a certain number of Poles with work permits in Germany, and supported Poland's EU membership; in return, it sought to secure Polish cooperation with border control. Upon joining the EU, Poland—a member of the Warsaw Pact that opposed the West during the Cold War—now served as a buffer zone on Germany's eastern border, patrolling its northeastern border with British-made Land Rovers and Austrian-made rifles.¹⁴

Each time the EU expanded, there were concerns about the border control capabilities of its new member states, not just of Poland's. Once these countries joined the free movement area defined by the Schengen Agreement, it was feared that irregular migrants who entered those countries through their external borders would flow into the entire EU. Therefore, new member candidate countries were required to strengthen their border controls as a condition for joining the EU. Since the 1990s, the EU's control of its external borders has been strengthened, with prospective member states also actively cooperating.¹⁵

Another commonly used method is to facilitate the deportation of detected illegal immigrants with the cooperation of the relevant countries, such as by signing repatriation agreements with countries that send undocumented immigrants. For example, the EU is empowered under the Treaty of Amsterdam (1999) to enter into agreements with countries outside the EU to conclude deportation agreements for illegal immigrants. The purpose is to ensure that those refused entry can be deported; such agreements have been concluded with Hong Kong, Macao, Sri Lanka, and Russia.¹⁶

This external expansion of border control would not be possible without some kind of cooperation from foreign companies and governments, which requires something in return. If their cooperation on border control would simplify and speed up border procedures for passengers on their own flights and for those departing from their own countries, it would incentivize airlines and foreign governments to take over responsibility for immigration screening. States have also engaged in diplomatic bargaining, inserting conditions such as crackdowns on smugglers and stronger border security when concluding aid, trade, or visa exemption agreements.

1.6 Limits to Outsourcing—The Example of Spain and Morocco

However, there are limits to these sorts of measures. This can be better understood by looking at the following example. The Strait of Gibraltar generally divides the EU's external borders from Africa. However, in reality, two Spanish enclaves, Ceuta and Melilla, are situated on the African side, forming the only land border between the EU and Africa (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Spain and its surrounding countries. Source Created by author

As with the US-Mexico border, the economic realities of Spain and Morocco are vastly different. The Strait of Gibraltar has been called "Europe's Rio Grande." There has been significant pressure on illegal immigration at this border, driven by the realities of Moroccan youth without hope. "Ask any teenage Moroccan male what his future will be and he will tell you he has three options: to escape across the sea to Europe; become a contraband dealer; or get into the hashish trade and end up either rich or in prison."¹⁷

The illegal crossing of people and goods across the border between Morocco and Spain has largely been tolerated. Until relatively recently, Spain had been a rather poor country in Europe, and was a migrant sending country. But as a result of experiencing steady economic growth through the progress of democratization and Europeanization, the country has now begun to receive migrants. As long as the majority of migrants arriving in Spain were native Spanish speakers from South America, their presence did not become politically problematic.

Since the 1980s, however, as its economy grew and labor became scarce with economic liberalization, the country became increasingly dependent on low-wage

labor from Morocco. Initially, most of these Moroccan labor migrants simply entered Spain legally as tourists, then overstayed and sought employment illegally.

When Spain signed the Schengen Agreement in 1991, its border controls suddenly became more stringent. For Spain, which under the regime of General Francisco Franco had not been treated as a member of Western Europe, there was a strong political need to control the EU's external borders, to emphasize its identity as a major European country. All at once, the Spanish government tightened its border controls, employing cutting-edge technology as well as obligating citizens of Morocco and other Maghreb countries to obtain visas. Consequently, Moroccan migrants began to enter Spain by various illegal means. For example, smugglers in Tangier, a hub for smuggling between Africa and Europe for centuries, made a fortune by offering clandestine passage into Spain for \$700–\$1000 per person, as if they were travel agents.¹⁸ Of course, the journey is perilous, so when drowning victims from ship-wrecks began to wash ashore on the Spanish coast, mass media across Europe began widespread news reports of irregular migrants from Morocco, which had previously received no attention.¹⁹

As a result, the Spanish government pressed the Moroccan government to clamp down on smugglers, threatening to cancel trade agreements if it did not.²⁰ The Moroccan government wanted to conclude a new fisheries agreement with Spain and strengthen economic ties with the EU. Therefore, in response to Spain's demand, it mobilized the military to guard the border, and carried out draconian crackdowns against smugglers while Spain was introducing harsher penalties for human traffickers.²¹ Due to strong pressure from the EU, the Moroccan government also softened its stance on illegal immigrants from sub-Saharan Africa who had entered Spain through Morocco. This reversed the previous policy of refusing to take back individuals that had been deported by Spain.

The irregular movement of people and goods, however, creates a symbiotic relationship between sending and receiving countries. It is true that Spain depends in part on low-wage labor from Morocco, and it actually benefits from smuggling, too. Ceuta and Melilla were originally fortresses built by the Spanish to monitor attacks from Islamic forces after they had been expelled from Spain. The border between the two cities and Morocco is the only land border between the EU and Africa. The EU has spent large sums of money building a double wall to monitor this border; even so, there is no end to the number of people who cross the border and enter these enclaves illegally. Furthermore, it is an open secret that Ceuta is a major hub for smuggling from Spain to Morocco, estimated to be worth \$2 billion, with Spanish warehouses lined up right next to the border. For Moroccans witnessing this situation, it is only natural that "no Moroccan finds it tolerable for Europe to ask Morocco to fight clandestine emigration and drug trafficking while a neighboring country like Spain allows its police and customs officers to stand by as merchandise flows illegally toward Morocco."²²

Influential figures in the Moroccan government close to King Hassan II were involved in drug smuggling, according to a study secretly commissioned by the European Commission in 1995, which concluded that the measures taken in the early 1990s were merely for show.²³ Even if countries already sending poor irregular

migrants had the ability to continuously crack down on clandestine routes in an effective manner, there is little incentive for them to do so.

Moreover, even if a state is able to strengthen external control of its borders with the cooperation of its neighboring countries, it would then be necessary to control the borders with countries outside of those neighbors. For example, in the case of Morocco and Spain, when border controls between the two countries were tightened, clandestine migrants who had transited through Morocco began attempting to smuggle themselves into the country by the more dangerous route from Mauritania to the Canary Islands. Once Spain managed to secure cooperation from Mauritania after negotiations, clandestine migrants heading to Europe went further south, leaving from Côte d'Ivoire and Senegal. Needless to say, these routes are even more perilous.

In other words, even if border control is extended externally covering a wide area, the problem then becomes control of the borders external to that area. Logically, the challenge of controlling external boundaries will not go away unless a global system of control is established. Also, in order to extend its border control externally, a state must secure cooperation from the countries concerned, which inevitably requires diplomatic negotiations, and in many cases, necessitates compensating the other countries in some form. Since the flow of irregular migrants is, above all, caused by large economic disparities between sending and receiving countries, that pressure is difficult to resist through the border measures of impoverished sending countries.

1.7 Internal Restrictions

If it is the case that border controls have limitations, there will be an elevated need to crack down on irregular migration within the borders. One possibility, for instance, would be to crack down on illegal overstayers through random checks of identity documents (ID) on the street. Such crackdowns are, in fact, carried out sometimes in France, in Paris subway stations and immigrant areas. Its effectiveness is highly questionable, however, and it provokes a wide range of opposition in liberal democracies, not from minorities alone.²⁴

Usually, a measure considered to be more effective is to impose restrictions so that domestic employers are unable to hire undocumented migrants. Without job opportunities, people taking risks to enter a country as irregular migrants have no incentive to enter illegally. The reason why US measures against undocumented immigrants from Mexico have been inadequate is they have failed to deal with the reality that some economic sectors in the US, agriculture foremost, have depended on the low-wage labor of such irregular migrants. If this is the case, a possible policy measure would be to exclude irregular labor from the job market by requiring employers to check employment permits and imposing penalties for violations.

This method has been implemented quite thoroughly in Germany, for example. Germany makes resident registration compulsory and issues ID cards on that basis. All job seekers must present an ID card, and employers are obligated to report this number to the Federal Employment Agency. This arrangement is required not only for employment, but also for acquiring various qualifications and even opening a bank account. In addition, services such as education, social welfare, labor, and justice are also linked to resident registration, so this is significant.²⁵ The US, too, for the first time introduced provisions to sanction employers for hiring unauthorized immigrants with the Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA), passed in 1986 after long and difficult deliberations that began in the administration of President Gerald Ford.²⁶

However, there are questions about how successful these systems for sanctioning employers have been. First of all, verifying employment qualifications is not that easy. It would have been easier to put this system into practice in continental European countries, such as Germany, which was cited above, as there is a basis for such regulations to be accepted as a matter of course. However, methods for pursuing employer accountability are politically controversial in nature in the US and the UK. American conservatives, advocates for small government, would be strongly opposed to the federal government's control over citizens' lives. There is still resistance to a nationwide ID card system in the UK, where it is not even compulsory to carry a driver's license. In addition to such libertarian opposition, human rights groups would also be expected to oppose such a system. Moreover, since the IRCA was passed, the number of unauthorized immigrants in the US has not decreased dramatically. On the contrary, it almost tripled from an estimated 4 million in 1986 to over 11.5 million people a quarter century later. Looking at these figures, the system of employer sanctions has arguably not achieved the results expected in the US.²⁷ The failure of this system provided the backdrop for candidate Trump's popularity during the 2016 presidential election as he boasted that he would build a border wall at Mexico's expense.

Moreover, the introduction of such regulatory measures will certainly encourage people to circumvent the system through means such as forging documents. In the case of the US, the IRCA stipulates that employers who "knowingly" hire undocumented immigrants will be held accountable, yet it is difficult for employers to verify work eligibility because, unlike Germany, there is no uniform system for resident registration and ID cards nationwide. Rather, it is even said that fraudulent documents to prove employment eligibility became a growth industry overnight. In addition, some employers used this provision to force illegal immigrants to work in poor working conditions.²⁸ Since irregular immigrants cannot seek public redress even if they are exploited under illegal working conditions, the result is to encourage illegal acts by unscrupulous employers who have no intention of complying with the employer accountability provisions in the first place. In other words, irregular migrants have been driven to the more shadowy parts of the informal sector of the economy, leading to an expansion of the black market for labor.

1.8 Deportation

Even if irregular immigrants are detected, it is not always easy to deport them. Yet there are many cases where large-scale deportations have actually been carried out. New governments in Nigeria announced in 1983 and 1985 the expulsion of irregular immigrants and the closure of the country's borders against the backdrop of a sharp decline in oil revenues. This prompted a chaotic rush to the border of people trying to leave Nigeria for their neighboring countries of origin, such as Ghana. There have been frequent large-scale forced repatriation measures in the Middle East, as well. From time to time, there would be a tightening of the rather vague standards on irregular immigration, which had been tolerated up until then. For example, Egyptian workers have been expelled from oil-endowed Libya every time ties fray between the two neighboring countries. Even in Europe, there is a historical record in Eastern Europe and the Balkans of ethnic minorities being persecuted and forced into exile.²⁹

The US has also frequently deported illegal immigrants from Mexico since the 1930s. One of the most well-known is *Operation Wetback*, which the Dwight D. Eisenhower administration carried out in 1954 using military veterans to round up and forcibly repatriate approximately 1 million Mexicans. Candidate Trump advocated such a large-scale deportation again during the 2016 US presidential election. In contrast, there is almost no support for that sort of mass deportation in Europe, which prioritizes human rights. Perhaps it is difficult to accept, too, because it brings to mind Germany's forced internment of Jews and Gypsies (Roma people) during World War II. France and Germany, however, have encouraged some people to leave the country voluntarily by offering financial support.

Setting aside the merits of deportation, it is extremely difficult to actually repatriate irregular migrants to their countries of origin. Unless their cooperation has been secured through a deportation agreement or other means, there is a possibility that these countries may refuse to take their people back. Even if there is cooperation, such measures would likely face opposition from existing immigrant communities and could also have a negative impact on diplomatic relations with the countries of origin. Indeed, Mexico has always had a strong distrust toward unilateral measures taken by the US.

In addition, even though undocumented immigrants were staying or working "illegally," this cannot be called a "crime" in a common-sense meaning of the word. That people working and living together in one society can be forced to leave their homes and be deported just because they do not have documents is, from the perspective of civil society that is supposed to be made up of equal individuals, not a comfortable situation, to say the least. Human rights organizations and minority groups naturally object to this. Furthermore, carrying out forced deportation even for irregular migrants who voluntarily return to their home countries entails costs and is also an administrative burden. To make matters worse, their deportation can have a major impact on the economy as a whole, let alone on the sectors that had depended on their labor. Some estimates hold that if the US actually deported the approximately 11 million undocumented immigrants from Mexico, as Trump advocated during the 2016 presidential election, it would need approximately \$400 billion in new federal spending, and that the US gross domestic product (GDP) would decline by about \$1 trillion.³⁰

1.9 Legalization

The inability of a country to prevent illegal entry and to deport people to other countries gives rise to the situation where people live in the country and are employed who rightfully should not be. One possible way to normalize this situation is to legalize the status of the undocumented immigrants and include them in the legal system. Various countries have implemented a process whereby they recognize as a fait accompli the people who have already entered the country and have lived there for a considerable period of time, clear the record of the circumstances of their irregular entry, and grant them legal status (Table 1). In Germany, there was a strong resistance against legalization on the grounds that it would effectively ratify previous illegal acts and undermine the authority of legal norms. Yet even Germany was forced to carry out de facto legalization in a limited manner for humanitarian reasons to allow people to receive public services in certain areas such as medical care.³¹

These sorts of legalization measures are limited to aliens unlawfully residing in the country at a specific point in time. In some cases, legal status is provided only to undocumented immigrants who meet certain eligibility criteria, such as being

Country/Area	Year(s)	Number of people legalized
Canada	1980	11,000
Venezuela	1980-81	351,000
France	1981-82	124,000
Argentina	1984	142,330
Gabon	1985	110,000
Italy	1987–88	105,176
Spain	1985–86	43,815
US	1987–88	3,000,000
Spain	1991	108,848
France	1992	10,000
South Korea	1992	61,000
Malaysia	1992	320,000
Taiwan	1991–92	22,549

Table 1 Examples oflegalization (1960–1992)

Source Bernstein, Ann and Weiner, Myron eds. 1999. *Migration and Refugee Policies: An Overview*. London: Pinter, 37. © Bloomsbury Publishing Plc. All rights reserved. This table is not governed by the same OA CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 license as this book

of a particular nationality or being employed in a particular industry. Such legalization regimes are usually implemented in conjunction with other measures, such as tightening restrictive measures against people who do not meet these eligibility conditions. They are also emphasized as being an exceptional, one-time measure. Failing to take such actions, it is feared, would not only lead to a loss of legal consistency, but would also undermine the credibility of the system and even encourage further inflows of irregular migrants.

The aforementioned IRCA in the US stipulated the legalization of irregular immigrants with 1982 as the cutoff date for eligibility together with undertaking the subsequent pursuit of employer sanctions and tightening of border controls. As a result, the US border control budget has expanded significantly: from just under \$700 million in 1986, it more than doubled in a decade; spurred on after the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, it reached \$11 billion dollars by 2012.³² When Venezuela legalized immigration in 1980–81, authorities announced legalization measures followed by the announcement of a large-scale crackdown on irregular immigration. The Gabonese government's 1985 legalization measures included the threat of deportation for undocumented migrants who did not register.³³

In the US case, approximately three-quarters of eligible people applied for legal status, and 90% of them were approved. As a result, nearly 3 million people actually gained legal status in the US; their wages rose, the number of poor households decreased, and educational standards and employment conditions improved.³⁴ In that sense, the IRCA can be seen as a fairly successful policy. Yet the influx of new undocumented migrants, mentioned earlier, meant that the scale of irregular immigration expanded significantly rather than shrinking. In the case of Venezuela, out of a total population of 13.5 million, it was estimated that there were between 1.2 million and 3.5 million undocumented immigrants. Yet only 350,000 people applied for legalization and only 6000 people were detected in the ensuing crackdown. Also, many people did not respond to this measure in the case of Gabon. A large part of the reason for this failure of legalization efforts is the undocumented immigrants' mistrust of authorities. Being in a vulnerable position, they fear that filing an application will put them at a disadvantage because the authorities will find out about their illegal status.

Another reason why these legalization regimes do not work as well as expected is that their eligibility requirements are often vague, so it is sometimes difficult to prove one's eligibility. Some undocumented immigrants who could be legalized do not apply if some family members do not meet the qualifications, another drawback to such regimes.

Consequently, writing off previous irregularities in what was supposed to be a one-off measure has actually been carried out numerous times. Although this has stabilized the legal status of many people, it has most likely damaged the credibility of the system, itself.

1.10 Sisyphean Dilemma

This section has discussed how dealing with illegal immigrants is a challenge fraught with limitations and dilemmas. Borders are more porous than generally imagined; physically preventing clandestine immigration is actually not easy. It is increasingly difficult to detect illegal immigration in today's world with the active growth in the movement of people and goods. Moreover, border measures cannot eliminate the sort of irregular immigration that often occurs when people who have entered the country legally remain illegally.

Extending border control externally is a powerful strategy for, without question, greater efficiency can be gained from bilateral or regional cooperation than from unilateral border measures. However, achieving international cooperation requires a certain degree of diplomatic leverage against the other country, which is not always possible. Even when sending countries make serious efforts, the problem will likely then become how to control the border beyond those countries.

It is necessary to bolster internal restrictions in addition to extending controls externally, but there are limits here as well. Weakening the labor demand for illegal immigrants through employer sanctions is effective, but its effectiveness depends largely on the domestic institutions involved; it may also have the effect of pushing irregular immigrants deeper into the black market.

Legalization, providing legal status to undocumented immigrants, is ultimately only a temporary stopgap measure unless new illegal entry can be prevented by other means. Otherwise, if legalization creates the expectation that once a person enters the country and continues to live there for a certain period of time, it becomes a fait accompli, it perversely provides a stronger incentive to enter the country through illegal means even at greater risk.

In any case, just as there is no definitive way for a state to crack down on all illegal activities by its own citizens, there is virtually no definitive way for it to stop illegal immigration, barring taking extreme steps amounting to national isolation. The best the state can hope for is to minimize the problem by appropriately combining various measures, taking into account the economic, political, and moral costs and benefits. And here, the degree of social acceptance of irregular immigrants in the state, as well as its diplomatic relations with sending and transit countries, hold important significance. And yet, even if a state enacts policy measures to simultaneously reinforce border controls, reduce incentives for illegal immigration while establishing pathways for legal immigration, and strictly sanction employers for hiring undocumented migrants, it is inevitable that a certain number of people will deviate from this system. It is necessary to design and draw up policies and institutions on the basis of this reality.

2 Refugees

2.1 Who Are Refugees?

In general, refugees are people who cross national borders to escape persecution or conflict in their home country and seek protection in another country. According to the principles of the order of sovereign states, each territorial state should be responsible for protecting the basic needs of its people. In reality, however, the state in control of a territory may not have the ability or will to protect the people within it, or the state itself may actively suppress them. There are also some people who, even if they do not move themselves, become minorities in a new territory due to the movement of borders. These people, to escape ethnic or religious oppression, have often migrated across borders to the homelands where their fellow countrymen live. Thus, refugees are people fleeing conflict or civil war; people fleeing the dangers of a complete breakdown in order due to the failure of a state; and people fleeing oppression by the territorial state itself for religious, ethnic, or political reasons.

Refugees are an exception to the principles of the order of sovereign states, in which each territorial state is responsible for protecting its own people. Seldom do they obtain a passport or visa and attempt to cross the border through normal immigration procedures. In that sense, they can also be considered a type of irregular migrant. The appearance of refugees is by no means a new phenomenon; in fact, it can be traced as far back as the history of countries and borders. A well-known example from European history involves people crossing borders to escape religious oppression caused by the conflict between Protestants and Catholics after the Reformation, which I mentioned in the previous chapter. That the English Puritans and members of various Protestant sects fled to America to protect their faith is also well known as part of the story of the founding of the US. Furthermore, the protection of people fleeing their own countries for political and ideological reasons in the world divided by the US-Soviet Cold War—a twentieth century version of religious division, as it were—was the central theme of refugee issues in the West.

2.2 Dissolution of Empire and Refugees

Nationalism, the belief that one nation of people should have one state, became more influential and spread from Europe to the rest of the world beginning in the latter half of the nineteenth century. As a result, states that had been ruled by the tenets of empires or dynasties were reorganized according to the principle of national self-determination. Ethnic minorities within these new nations, in many cases, were forced to cross national borders and settle. A well-known case is the mass of people who left their familiar places of residence to move across the newly drawn national borders in vast areas of the Balkans and the Middle East when traditional multiethnic empires were dismantled and reorganized into ethnic states as a result of World War

I. Many tragedies occurred upon the dissolution of the Ottoman Empire, for instance, amid the confusion and conflict between Greece and the new Turkish Republic. Both countries forced residents to move from their respective territory to the other in an attempt to fit the ethnic distribution within the new borders (see Chap. 5, Sect. 1).

It was not in the Ottoman Empire alone that the dissolution of empires generated refugees. In vast regions of Asia and Africa, large numbers of refugees also emerged from the newly formed states that became independent as a result of the dissolution of European and Japanese colonial empires after World War II. These newly independent states emphasized a national/ethnic identity as a principle for their political integration and so ethnic minorities within these countries often moved abroad to avoid danger. An enormous tragedy occurred when India and Pakistan separated and became independent in 1947; according to one explanation, more than 1 million people lost their lives in the riots and massacres that broke out amid the chaos that ensued when over 10 million refugees crossed the border between the two new states. In Africa, many people from the Indian subcontinent who had settled in East African countries under British imperial rule fled abroad as refugees. There are numerous records, too, of the many Chinese people who fled the country because of the Chinese civil war and the founding of a Communist state that took place after Japan's defeat in the war.

The end of the Cold War saw the collapse of the Soviet Union as well as the breakup of states within the Soviet sphere of influence; here too, the ensuing reorganization of national borders has been accompanied by ethnic conflicts and given rise to outflows of refugees in many regions. In addition, in Africa and the Middle East, a series of failed states appeared where the state itself disintegrated and effective central authority dissolved. Fleeing from the resulting chaotic anarchy, hordes of people flocked to the border, often starving, in search of richer and safer places, a scene that was oft repeated.

2.3 Enlarging the Concept of Refugee

There are well-established international norms and rules regarding the protection of refugees, even with their irregular status; the discretion of states regarding the entry of asylum seekers is limited. Once recognized as a refugee, a person can obtain a certain legal status, which puts them in a more privileged position than other undocumented immigrants, as well as those unable to leave their homeland. Their rights to certain protections from host countries and international organizations are recognized.

Furthermore, the scope of people who should be internationally protected as refugees has been steadily expanded. Internally displaced persons (IDPs), who are forced to move within a country though they do not cross borders, are increasingly recognized as a problem that requires the international community to address. In contrast, as the number of refugees has increased by an order of magnitude, there has been a rising trend since the 1980s to make refugee recognition generally more

stringent. In addition, policy responses have moved beyond humanitarian relief operations with the growing tendency to perceive refugees as a political issue or, in some cases, a security issue that includes the use of military force.

2.4 Refugee Convention

The core of the post-World War II international institutional framework for refugees is the UN Refugee Convention concluded in 1951.³⁵ Arrangements for the protection of refugees had already been made under the League of Nations, during the period of turmoil following the Russian Revolution in 1917, for example. The content of these arrangements was limited, both geographically and temporally, as each country responded to the specific needs. The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), the core organization of the regime for refugee assistance, was later established as an agency (or rather, an official) within the UN General Assembly. Its original mission was limited to providing legal protection to individuals persecuted by the state; that it would carry out large-scale refugee relief projects had not been envisioned. World War II had resulted in a large number of refugees in Europe, including those forcibly relocated by the Nazis. Against this backdrop, the issue of refugee protection was raised at the United Nations Human Rights Committee, and the UN General Assembly in 1950 adopted a resolution (A/ 429) to convene a separate Conference of Plenipotentiaries to discuss and consider a permanent refugee convention. The UN General Assembly itself did not adopt this draft convention with the aim of leaving room for non-UN member states to participate in the convention.

Thus, the Conference of Plenipotentiaries, attended by representatives from 26 states, was held in July 1951, and established what became known as the Refugee Convention. Article 1 paragraph 2 of the Convention defines refugees as people who "as a result of events occurring before 1 January 1951 and owing to well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion" cannot avail themselves of the protection of their country of nationality or of former residence. Furthermore, Article 33, paragraph 1 stipulates that "No Contracting State shall expel or return ("refouler") a refugee in any manner whatsoever to the frontiers of territories where his life or freedom would be threatened on account of his race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion." This is the principle of non-refoulement, the cornerstone of the 1951 Convention. The second paragraph of that Article provides exceptions to this principle for refugees for whom there are reasonable grounds to believe that they are a danger to national security, or for refugees who have been convicted of a serious crime.

It is clear from the qualification "as a result of events occurring before 1 January 1951" that the convention originally had in mind the refugees who had arisen as a result of World War II, mostly in Europe, and did not anticipate the large number of refugees who would later appear in Asia, Africa, and other regions. UN General

Assembly Resolution 2198 (A/XX1/2198) in 1966 took note of the draft Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees and requested that the text be sent to states to enable them to accede to it, and the protocol entered into force in 1967. The Protocol eliminated the time period qualification of the Refugee Convention, but more importantly, the UNHCR's mandate continued to expand in response to actual needs in Asia and Africa. Thus, the mandate now includes the protection of people who fall outside the definition of refugee as set out in the Refugee Convention, such as IDPs, and refugee measures have expanded to include long-term, comprehensive activities such as the development and stabilization of potential refugee-sending countries.

2.5 Magnitude of the Refugee Issue

The number of refugees in the world, according to UNHCR, is as follows³⁶ (Fig. 2).

The total number of forcibly displaced people worldwide was an estimated 65.6 million as of 2016—a number that made it the 21st most populous state in the world at that time, greater than the total population of the UK. This includes 22.5 million recognized refugees, approximately 40 million IDPs, and an additional 2.8 million asylum seekers. In contrast to the total (stock), 10.3 million people were newly forcibly relocated in 2016 (flow), of which 6.9 million were IDPs and 3.4 million were new refugees and asylum seekers. During 2016, approximately 190,000 people were resettled in third countries and more than 550,000 returned to their home countries. Approximately half of the world's refugees are children below the age of 18.



Fig. 2 Trend of global displacement and proportion displaced (1997–2016). *Source* UNHCR. 2017. *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2016*, 6

The top five source countries for refugees account for over 55% of the world's refugee population: Syria, Afghanistan, South Sudan, Somalia, and Sudan (Fig. 3). The configuration of refugee-sending countries is relatively stable. Syria is the world's largest refugee-sending country, having sent 5.5 million refugees around the world since civil war broke out in 2011 in the wake of the Arab Spring. Afghanistan has also been plagued by intermittent conflict since the late 1970s, and as a result of this conflict it too has been a major source of refugees for over 30 years since the 1980s. As a result, there are still 2.5 million Afghan refugees around the world (as of the end of 2016). Myanmar, a country that is more familiar to Japanese people, is the eighth largest refugee-sending country in the world.

An often overlooked fact is that the majority of refugee-hosting countries are not affluent countries in Europe, the US, or Japan, but developing countries located around these refugee-sending countries (Figs. 4 and 5). Among the countries hosting the largest refugee populations in the world, Turkey tops the list with a total of 2.7 million people at the end of 2016, an increase by about 400,000 in 2016 alone. It is followed by Pakistan, Lebanon, Iran, Uganda, Ethiopia, and Jordan.

In summary, people leave their homeland to escape hardship when civil war or conflict severely degrades governance in their country. Many of them remain within the borders as IDPs, but some flee to neighboring countries, where they register as refugees at UNHCR-established camps and remain there. This is the general picture that emerges from the facts. The images of refugees pouring into Europe from Syria, Afghanistan, and other places in 2015 suddenly captured the attention of international media, but the problem of refugees had been escalating long before many of them had arrived in Europe. The refugee problem from a global perspective is that the majority of refugees live in poor developing countries near conflict areas, where they remain for long periods of time.



Fig. 3 Major source countries of refugees. Source UNHCR. 2017. Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2016, 17



Fig. 4 Major refugee-hosting countries. * Refugee figure for Syrians in Turkey was a government estimate. ** Includes 33,100 Iraqi refugees registered with UNHCR in Jordan. The government estimated the number of Iraqis at 400,000 individuals at the end of March 2015. This includes refugees and other categories of Iraqis. *Source* UNHCR. 2017. *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2016*, 5



Fig. 5 Where refugees from top 5 countries of origin found asylum (end-2015). *Note:* In 2015, the majority of refugees were able to find asylum in neighboring countries. Of the 10.1 million refugees from the five highest countries of origin, all but 1.1 million (11%) found safety in a neighboring country. This is the case for most of the refugee populations of concern to the UNHCR. *Source* UNHCR. 2016. *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2015*, 21

2.6 Recognition and Protection

States cannot refuse entry to refugees, according to the provisions of the Refugee Convention, mentioned above. Refugee status determination (RSD)—deciding who

is and who is not a refugee—in the case of developed countries, is made by each country's refugee screening officers after examining each individual case. For poor developing countries, the UNHCR may shoulder the RSD duty and grant "mandate refugee" status. In addition, a mass influx of refugees is, for the sake of convenience, granted the provisional status of *prima facie* refugee. They are either provided UNHCR assistance in limited areas such as refugee camps or are registered as asylum seekers and later it is determined whether they are recognized as refugees. For individual refugees to be able to provide solid evidence proving their eligibility is rather rare, naturally, and there is rampant document forgery. Asylum seekers' claims are questioned, and determining their credibility necessarily is largely at the discretion of the host country's authorities and screeners.

Processing the asylum applications of a sudden mass influx of refugees places a burden on the administrative capacity of the receiving country. At the height of Europe's refugee crisis in 2015, Germany received over 440,000 new asylum claims, the largest number in the world, more than double the number of claims the year before.³⁷ Other countries hosting a large number of refugees are in similar situations, which means the backlog of applications as well as the time to make a final determination have both increased. Not all asylum requests are approved. The recognition rate varies widely, reflecting differences in the attitudes of each country, but globally, the recognition rate has ranged between 30 and 60% since 2000.³⁸ Approximately 600,000 people applied for asylum in the EU-28 countries during the 2015 refugee crisis. About three-fifths of them ultimately gained the right to stay in the host country, although that includes those who did not meet the refugee criteria but were deemed worthy of protection, a status variously called complementary (or subsidiary) protection or protection on humanitarian grounds.

Once granted refugee status, refugees are in a position to receive formal support to remain in the country of asylum. Many refugees do not receive generous daily support, however. Looking at housing, for instance, only a small percentage of the total refugee population lived in refugee centers similar to those found in some developed countries as of the end of 2015, according to UNHCR statistics. The majority live in refugee camps or in individual accommodations. However, many of these accommodations are no more than tents or shacks that barely provide protection from the elements.³⁹

There are generally three possible paths for refugees to return to a normal life. The first is voluntary repatriation. The most desirable solution for the refugees, the host country, and the country of origin is for the situation in the country of origin to improve enough to enable refugees to return home and rebuild their lives there. To this end, the UNHCR has prepared a repatriation support program to assist in resettlement by providing daily necessities and funds to pay for the purchase of land upon return.⁴⁰ As a result, approximately 550,000 refugees from Afghanistan, Sudan, Somalia, and other countries returned to their countries of origin in 2016. Difficult conditions must be met for this to happen: conditions on the ground improve, the local government agrees to the repatriation, and the refugees themselves agree to return home. In other words, many refugees cannot return home until stability is restored in regions where
civil war continues and states have failed. In fact, the 550,000 voluntary returnees represent only a tiny fraction of the more than 22.5 million refugees worldwide.

The second path is resettlement in a third country. If repatriation is not possible because conditions in the country of origin have not improved (and the country of asylum is not suitable), resettlement in a third country is an option. In 2016, 37 countries accepted nearly 190,000 refugees for resettlement. The majority of host countries are affluent, traditionally immigrant-receiving countries, such as the US, Canada, and Australia, which accounted for more than 80% of the total. The total number remained fewer than the number of voluntary returnees even though a high-level international meeting was held in 2016 and resettlement quotas nearly doubled.⁴¹ As a result, many refugees will have no choice but to take path three: to settle in their countries of asylum. Yet this local integration is not an easy task, either. This is clear looking at the current situation in affluent, liberal Western countries, the loudest advocates for human rights and democracy, where despite considerable efforts, the problem is becoming more serious and anti-immigration political parties are on the rise.

2.7 People with Unrecognized Status

What happens to those who are not recognized as refugees? Indeed, it is true that mixed in among the many asylum seekers are those who lie about their nationality, are fugitive criminals, or are simply economic migrants rather than refugees. The international refugee regime's official stance is that, since the screening country has determined that these people face no danger requiring protection, they should return to their country of origin barring some other circumstances. German Chancellor Angela Merkel, who was praised for her noble idealism when she said in September 2015 that "[t]he right to political asylum has no limits on the number of asylum seekers,"⁴² just one year later stated, "The most important thing in the coming months is repatriation, repatriation and once more, repatriation." Merkel then worked out a plan to speed up the deportation of migrants denied asylum status.⁴³

Forced deportation is largely ineffective in practice for a variety of reasons. Capturing illegal overstayers already in the country, detaining them, and forcibly deporting them is a costly task, as is easily imagined. Experience has taught us well, moreover, that it has no significant effect for all the effort. A prime example of a mass deportation is the aforementioned *Operation Wetback*, in which the US literally did a mass roundup of undocumented Mexican immigrants and expelled them across the border in the 1950s. The limits of this approach are clear judging from the rise in the number of undocumented Mexican migrants since then. Furthermore, such coercive measures entail significant political costs for liberal states because they are viewed as problematic from a human rights and humanitarian standpoint.

Returning countries, therefore, must encourage rejected applicants to choose voluntary repatriation, but this requires efforts such as convincing them that their country of origin is safe and offering financial incentives to return home. The returning countries also need to secure acceptance from the returnees' destination, so they must diplomatically engage the government of the country of origin to negotiate so that arrangements are in place to accept the returnees and to ensure their safety. It is natural that, here too, diplomatic bargaining will be carried out and that returning countries will need to offer incentives.⁴⁴

However, these people, who at great risk have already fled their own country to try to carve out a new life in a foreign country, will not simply return voluntarily. They might try to obtain refugee status in another country seeking better chances for protection. A significant number of asylum seekers who arrived in Europe from Syria and Afghanistan, in fact, kept moving from one country where they were denied refugee status to the next, hoping to obtain some form of resettlement rights. Since intra-regional movement is liberalized within the EU, the member states have adopted what is known as the Dublin system, so that once a person has filed an application for asylum with one EU member state, no other state need examine that claim. For this system to work, asylum seekers must undergo fingerprint registration and verification and various other procedures in order to officially apply for refugee status; but this system is too complex, is not understood by many asylum seekers, and is not actually working as intended. They will keep moving towards countries where they believe they will have easier access to refugee status and better treatment.⁴⁵

The reality is that many rejected applicants under these conditions end up as irregular immigrants. A 1992 study found that 80% of all asylum seekers continued to stay in the country even though only 25% of their asylum applications had been approved.⁴⁶ It is difficult to fully grasp the reality of people such as these, who find themselves in an unstable situation in which they have no legal right to stay in the country, yet deportation orders are not enforced in accordance with the law. Often these people will be forced to conceal themselves in their ethnic or religious communities and find a niche to eke out a living in the informal sector, away from legitimate, public society. And so, it would not be surprising if some of them even secreted themselves deep within underground society, such as criminal or terrorist organizations.

2.8 Externalizing Refugee Processing

As the definition of refugee expands, refugees have flooded national borders on a scale incomparable to when the system was first created. Faced with this situation, even countries with lofty ideals frankly want to keep this influx of refugees in check. Tightening refugee recognition criteria, however, does not make it possible to exclude people who actually enter the country and apply for asylum, as we have already seen. One policy vector that has emerged from this is for states to move asylum applications outside of their own territory.

Some European countries have granted special legal status to some of their international airports, restricting the right of people who land there to apply for asylum and exempting them from the non-refoulement principle. As a result, there have been cases of asylum seekers with their legal status in limbo staying in airport transit areas for long periods.⁴⁷ For example, Iranian Mehran Karimi Nasseri, who became widely known for being the model for Steven Spielberg's film *The Terminal*, actually lived at Charles de Gaulle Airport for 18 years starting in 1988.⁴⁸

States have also made attempts to examine asylum claims in locations away from their territory and closer to the refugees' countries of origin, apprehending asylum seekers at sea before they land, or extending their refugee processing functions abroad.

For instance, the US has struggled since the 1960s to rein in undocumented immigrants from Haiti seeking to escape oppression and poverty. The US government began taking measures to do so under a 1981 agreement with the Haitian government: the US Coast Guard would intercept refugee ships from Haiti on the high seas and hand the passengers over to the Haitian side without conducting a fullfledged review to determine whether they deserved to be protected as refugees. These measures resulted in 364 Haitian ships seized and 21,000 Haitians repatriated in the 10 years from 1981 to 1990. Only six of these people were formally interviewed by US authorities as having a high likelihood of being a refugee. When political upheaval in Haiti in 1991 precipitated a surge in the number of Haitian ships heading to the US, the passengers were transferred to Guantánamo base in Cuba rather than to the US. The US took measures to deport them to Haiti without applying the principle of non-refoulement, on the grounds that Guantánamo is not the US (it only has a lease; sovereignty lies with Cuba). Those measures sparked strong protests from human rights groups from the beginning and were challenged in the US Supreme Court, but in the end the federal government won the case.⁴⁹

The US is not the only state to round up asylum seekers at sea and then detain them outside its territory; Australia, too, has taken such measures in its struggle to deal with stowaways transiting through Indonesia from Asia and the Middle East. In 2001, Australia was involved in the *Tampa* affair, where it refused to allow the Norwegian freighter to dock or its crew to land after it had rescued asylum seekers from Afghanistan at sea. People who attempt to enter the country risking their lives at sea are subject to humanitarian protection, yet they are also clandestine migrants who must be kept under control. Australia was denounced for its inhumanity whereas the *Tampa*'s captain, who sailed to Australian territory at the wishes of the stowaways, was honored with the Nansen Refugee Award (awarded by the UNHCR to individuals, groups, or organizations who have made a significant contribution to refugees). Less well known, however, is that the Australian government, faced with this refugee dilemma, has been screening asylum claims at refugee processing centers in neighboring Nauru and Papua New Guinea, and recognizing many of them.⁵⁰

The most common measure for extending RSD work abroad is to create a buffer zone outside the country to control the influx of refugees into the country. To curb the influx of refugees from the Middle East, for example, Western European countries have designated "safe zones" and have begun to refuse applications from refugees streaming in from these areas. Their point is that asylum applications should be made in the first safe country the refugee arrives at, so their public attitude is that refugees should not be picky about which country accepts them. Western European countries have thus designated the Balkan countries and Turkey as "safe third countries" based on the judgment that they meet standards: there is no torture or suppression of human rights, and the security situation is good. Nordic countries have also designated Russia as a "safe third country" and have strengthened their stance against accepting applications from asylum seekers arriving from this region.

In addition, EU states have stepped up their diplomatic efforts to urge countries that act as routes for refugees to reach Europe to strengthen their controls over refugees and irregular migrants. We have already discussed how Southern European countries have offered a variety of rewards, such as aid and trade agreements, to encourage North African countries situated across the Mediterranean Sea to prevent irregular migration. This is where refugee-transit countries gain diplomatic leverage. For example, Libyan leader Colonel Muammar Gaddafi visited Rome in 2010 at a time when Italy was having trouble dealing with the arrival of refugees crossing the Mediterranean Sea. "Tomorrow Europe might no longer be European, and even black, as there are millions who want to come in," he reportedly said at a ceremony attended by Prime Minister Silvio Berlusconi, and overtly threatened that the EU ought to pay Libya at least 5 billion euros every year to stop such illegal immigration.⁵¹ In fact, Italy concluded a Treaty of Friendship, Partnership and Cooperation in 2008 after repeated negotiations with Libya; Italy established joint patrols in the Mediterranean Sea and refugee detention facilities in Libya as well as provided a range of aid to Libya in an effort to improve relations with the notoriously extremist Gaddafi regime. In 2009, the number of irregular migrants crossing the Mediterranean plummeted.⁵²

The EU agreed to a Joint Action Plan with Turkey in November 2015 in order to rein in the masses of Syrian refugees flooding into the region. The plan included the EU bearing the costs for the deportation to Turkey of irregular migrants and asylum seekers who were not granted refugee status who crossed from Turkey to the Greek Islands; the EU also agreed to accept and resettle one Syrian from Turkey to an EU member state for each Syrian deported from the Greek islands that Turkey accepts. In addition, the EU agreed to pay Turkey 3 billion euros up front and to consider an additional 3 billion euros once the initial sum was used up. (By the end of 2022, all 6 billion euro had been contracted out, of which 5 billion euros had been disbursed through the Facility for Refugees in Turkey.)⁵³

In addition, the EU promised to liberalize visas between the EU member states and Turkey and aim to eliminate visa requirements for Turkish citizens.⁵⁴ The EU has long rejected Turkey's application for EU membership on human rights and other grounds. But by having Turkey act as a dam in holding back refugees, the EU has now found itself in a position of having to make significant concessions.

2.9 Refugees Staying in Developing Countries

The vast majority of refugees, unable to return home or be resettled in a third country, have no choice but to live for a lengthy time in refugee camps that are often isolated

from local communities, in poor developing countries adjacent to their countries of origin.

The situation in Dadaab, said to be the largest refugee camp complex in the world, is even surreal. The Dadaab refugee complex—currently three separate camps—is located in northeastern Kenya, in an arid and barren area 80 km from the Somalia border (Fig. 6). The refugee camps were opened in 1991 to accommodate the roughly 90,000 refugees fleeing the Somali civil war. A UN peacekeeping operation (PKO) force was sent to Somalia, and a central government recognized by the international community was re-established there. Yet the Somali government remains weak and is in a permanent state of civil war with the Islamic extremist group al-Shabaab. Owing to a series of droughts, the number of refugees at Dadaab has grown, so that as of 2016 approximately 350,000 refugees, mainly Somali, were living there.⁵⁵ With that population, it is more on the scale of a city than a camp; in fact, Dadaab is actually the third-largest city in Kenya after Nairobi and Mombasa.

The UNHCR administers the camps in terms of the budget and the Kenyan government's police force is responsible for law enforcement, but there is also a UN program in place to determine democratic leadership through camp elections. Elected representatives are also involved in camp governance, albeit in a very limited way, through negotiations with aid stakeholders. The Kenvan government does not allow the residents of the camps to freely go out to live or work, making it a kind of closed space. A black market for aid supplies and goods smuggled in from Somalia has grown spontaneously, and some refugee entrepreneurs have made a fortune. The growth in trade with local Kenyans contributes to Kenya's tax revenue. The camps have hospitals, and makeshift soccer leagues and movie theaters. UN-supported schools offer a liberal curriculum; the enrollment rate is not high, however, and there are many private institutions that teach the Quran. Steadily the number of generations is increasing who were born in these living spaces that have been maintained for over 25 years, who have never seen any other place, and who have no place to return to.⁵⁶ While life here for the majority of the refugees is not idyllic, it is a relatively safe place. "In the camps are schools for their children offering a high standard of education, and hospitals providing free, quality healthcare-all unavailable in the warring countries from which they fled."⁵⁷ It is under these circumstances that refugee communities are being expanded and reproduced in isolated spaces in neighboring countries, relying on outside aid.

The people of Dadaab, in the eyes of those who regard refugees as a humanitarian issue, are eligible for support. The Kenyan government, as a signatory to the Refugee Convention, has a responsibility to protect them. Just like in developed countries, however, Somali refugees are not welcome. The Kenyan government agreed to open the refugee camps only on the condition that the refugees remain in the camps near the border. Kenya is a developing country, it argues, and it is beyond the country's capacity to support a large number of refugees. Western countries tried to persuade the Kenyan government by providing it with aid.

But that is not all. Since their independence, Kenya and Somalia have had a territorial dispute over this area, and their relations have not always been peaceful. A more pressing issue is the concern that the refugee camps, infiltrated by members



Fig. 6 The Horn of Africa. Source Created by author

of the Islamic extremist organization al-Shabaab, might be becoming hotbeds of terrorism. Naturally, that poses a security risk for Kenya. Two Spanish staff members of Médecins Sans Frontières were in fact kidnapped in Dadaab in 2011, taken to Somalia, and held for nearly two years.⁵⁸ It remains unclear whether it was a crime for money or a terrorist attack by al-Shabaab. But in 2013, al-Shabaab carried out a large-scale terrorist attack at the Westgate shopping mall in Nairobi, Kenya's capital, killing 67 people. In 2015, members of the militant group staged an assault on Garissa University in northern Kenya, killing nearly 150 students.⁵⁹ The Kenyan government claims that these terrorist attacks were staged from Dadaab and has repeatedly insisted that it will close the camps.

The extent to which a refugee camp poses a security risk to the host country depends on the time and situation; just because it is for humanitarian purposes, refugee assistance should not be assumed to be free from politics and unrelated to security issues.

A camp set up in Thailand in the 1980s to support Cambodian refugees became a haven for the Khmer Rouge, which according to the UN, "managed to get its hands on 50-80% of all the food aid and pharmaceuticals medicine provided there." Around the same time, refugee camps in Pakistan were nurturing Taliban fighters and in appearance almost functioned as supply bases for their fighting in Afghanistan. The Tutsis, who had been driven out of Rwanda in the 1950s by the Hutu majority, had prepared themselves to become refugee warriors in refugee camps in neighboring Congo. In 1994, after the genocide in Rwanda, the Tutsis took complete control of the entire country, resulting in large outflows of Hutu refugees, some of whom became refugee warriors themselves, occasionally conducting military operations back home.⁶⁰

All over the world, refugee camps act as a magnet to warriors. Strategic withdrawal to a camp allows armies and militias on the losing side to avoid getting minced. In a refugee camp, they have time to regroup, civilians to hold hostage as human shields against attacks, and a chance to recuperate. Rich international aid organizations provide food, clean drinking water, medical care, shelter, education, and welfare, both for the fleeing troops themselves and for their families and supporters. It costs the fighters nothing, and supplies will be brought to the camps from thousands of miles away if necessary. By forcing fellow camp dwellers and INGOs [international NGOs] to pay "taxes" and "protection money," they can top up their war chests at the same time.

Since aid organizations have neither the power nor the resources to prevent abuse, they ignore or keep quiet about the problem. The UNHCR, the largest refugee aid organization, makes only very occasional reference to the phenomenon of refugee warriors on its Web site, and even then, only as a responsibility of international politics.⁶¹

2.10 Options Available to Refugees

For affluent countries in the North, especially European countries worried about the arrival of refugees from sub-Saharan countries, their true concern is what can be done to prevent throngs of refugees from flooding their borders and destabilizing their own political and social order. Said more plainly, their genuine interest is how to deal with the matter in areas close to the refugees' countries of origin, that is, in areas far from these Northern countries.

Yet we must not forget what life in these camps means to the refugees themselves. There is no way that they can entrust their own fates to the goodwill of others in an isolated environment over the long term, and so they will attempt to carve out their own lives in the conditions given to them. Though their options are limited, they do have some choices in their lives.

The first is repatriation. The UNHCR and the Kenyan and Somalian governments agreed in 2013 on a refugee repatriation program, to encourage the voluntary return

of the refugees. Though some may question how "voluntary" the program may be given the Kenyan government's pressure, it certainly has the advantage that refugees can receive a certain amount of assistance if they voluntarily return. Four-fifths of refugees in Dadaab did not want to return home to Somalia, according to interviews conducted by Médecins Sans Frontières in 2013. Refugees cited the same priorities as conditions for returning: security, peace, a functioning government, healthcare services, education, food, water, shelter, land, and job opportunities.⁶² For people who have already lived as refugees for a long time, returning home is a big psychological decision. The land and property that they had in Somalia will now be in the hands of others, and their various human networks will have to be rebuilt from scratch. Many of the younger refugees have never even seen Somalia before. Some returnees, even after having received some money under the repatriation program, reportedly end up returning to the camps.

The second choice is resettlement to a third country, which is perhaps many refugees' greatest hope. They dream of immigrating to an affluent developed country, especially the US. Resettlement quotas are limited, and their distribution is competitive, so they would be willing to bet their lives on it, even if they must rely on family and relatives to apply for family reunification or perhaps even employ illegal means. Notwithstanding Kenyan government efforts to prevent refugees from integrating into Kenyan society by isolating them in camps, the reality is that it is impossible to completely confine several hundred thousand people; indeed, Somali refugees have formed a variety of connections with Kenyan society (many of which are black market trading and sometimes even criminal acts). Since Kenyan citizenship can effectively be bought with money, some refugees have moved to Nairobi and are living in urban Kenya.

The third choice is to become a new irregular immigrant in a developed country, a choice taken by some of the ambitious younger generation who see no prospects in living in refugee camps, dependent on meager rations. The cheapest route from Dadaab, Kenya to affluent Europe is go across the sea to Yemen, then head north through Saudi Arabia until they reach Europe. They could also go to Europe through Egypt, Israel and Turkey, then head to Greece, or again, via the Caucasus. A further option is to cross the Sahara Desert to Libya, then cross the Mediterranean Sea to Italy.

It is easy to realize that the journey is extremely dangerous. These clandestine migrants are treated harshly by the authorities; they are sometimes kidnapped and held for ransom. Still, those who risk their lives smuggling themselves into Europe are young people who have the courage to take such a risk. But more important than courage is money. The average going rate for getting smuggled into Europe via the overland route was \$11,000, according to Somalis interviewed in the Netherlands. Relatives usually manage to find a way to pay for such a large smuggling fee. Naturally, they do so in the hope that the successful migrant will return the favor and petition for family reunification allowing them to escape the camps to Europe. Of course, people are often fooled by smugglers. Two Somali girls are known to have attempted to cross the Mediterranean Sea nine times.⁶³

Even if they manage to reach Europe, it does not mean that they will be recognized as a refugee. Yet once they arrive in an EU member state, they are protected by European human rights ethics, so even if they are not recognized, it is highly unlikely that they will be forcibly deported, as was previously mentioned. In other words, there is an endless number of refugees who, as long as they see no hope in life in a refugee camp, are willing to take big risks because the payout for successfully beating such tough odds is so great. There are very few paths to regular immigration in affluent countries, yet once these refugees reach Europe after undergoing many trials and tribulations, they are protected by lofty human rights ethics. It comes at no surprise at all, then, that some refugees from among those trapped in refugee camps in developing countries who have money or who are in danger are willing to venture their lives traveling to Europe.

2.11 A Comprehensive Approach and Internally Displaced Persons

The large numbers of refugees moving in search of safer spaces has sparked the debate over who should be responsible for protecting them and where, and how that responsibility should be allotted among countries. Yet merely limited to the discussion of burden sharing, the debate cannot possibly lead to resolving the refugee issue itself. The influx of refugees far exceeds the scale envisaged by the Refugee Convention. Should the issue become so serious that it threatens to shake up the international order as well as being a political and social problem, then merely providing humanitarian aid to the refugees will not be enough to deal with it, and more extensive efforts will be required. What it boils down to is that the only option is to take early or preventive steps, and to reach out to the countries that are the source of refugees.

With these considerations in mind, the trend in recent years has been to begin fullfledged support for IDPs and to develop more intrusive refugee measures. The number of persons internally displaced by conflict-induced situations reported by UNHCR offices increased from just 4.3 million in 1995 to 36.6 million in 2016, with the UNHCR providing assistance to approximately 14 million of them.⁶⁴ In 2015, Yemen was by far the largest source of new IDPs, with 2.5 million people (approximately 10% of its population) internally displaced due to the renewed internal conflict. Other sources of new IDPs, following in order, included Iraq, where fighting continues in the northwest; Ukraine, where armed conflict with Russian forces continues in the east; and Sudan, where civil war continues.⁶⁵ In 2016, new IDPs emerged mainly in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), South Sudan, Afghanistan, and other countries. Looking at the stock of IDPs, Colombia has 7.4 million and Syria has 6.3 million, followed by Iraq, the DRC, and Sudan. Syria's number has decreased considerably in recent years, owing in part to some residents returning to their homes, but more importantly as a result of IDPs fleeing abroad to become refugees.⁶⁶ This point shows that refugees and IDPs are on a continuum and illustrates the concept that IDPs are a reserve of refugees in waiting.

The state that has jurisdiction over a territory is, in principle, responsible for protecting the people displaced from their homes within that territory. But there is no hiding the reality that the states with large-scale internally displaced populations generally lack the capacity or will to uphold such responsibilities. Therefore, an attitude of not providing aid until such people cross the border is arguably, from a human rights and humanitarian perspective, meaningless formalism. The reality of these refugees is behind the expansion of UNHCR's activities to encompass IDPs. At the same time, UN General Assembly resolutions have supported the expansion of the UNHCR's mandate and developed countries, through voluntary contributions, have provided the material means for its activities. This suggests that both developed countries, wary of a mass influx of refugees, as well as developing countries, lacking adequate resources to uphold their responsibilities toward IDPs, have high hopes for these more proactive preventive measures that go beyond traditional refugee protection.

However, there are difficulties with this approach, too. A holistic, comprehensive approach is easier said than done—that is the reality of the UN system. UN funds, programs, agencies, and other bodies each have their own mandates, are governed by their own executive boards, and have their own institutional philosophies and traditions; on-the-ground collaboration among them on the issue of development has been a major challenge since the UN's founding, and the same could be said for refugee assistance.

Furthermore, such external intervention, when carried out with the consent of the government having jurisdiction over the area, will be linked to development cooperation and nation-building. It is an activity that aligns with a wide range of activities such as post-conflict stabilization, nation building, and development assistance, and as such, it is expected that responsibility for this activity, too, will be shared among the implementing bodies, starting from the local governments, development aid agencies, NGOs, and all the actors that make up the international community. IDP protection and resettlement assistance should be positioned to play a role in these comprehensive and integrated efforts. This stabilization endeavor, however, demands steady efforts over an extended period of time, which will lead to the most essential solution to the refugee problem; it does not provide the sort of immediate results sought by public opinion and the mass media in developed countries.

However, a more fundamental difficulty lies in the dangers posed by refugee support activities venturing into countries where refugee populations originate. Gaining support for refugee protection across political lines was easy precisely because it has been limited to nonpolitical humanitarian aid. Yet in order to support IDPs, it is impossible to ignore the wishes of states holding territorial sovereignty, which means that aid agencies wind up appearing to support oppressive states rather than to protect the rights of IDPs. Undeniably, this could produce undesirable outcomes. In many cases, it is the local state that is the cause of the problem to begin with. Moreover, when grave, internal conflict-induced, humanitarian disasters generate mass refugee and IDP situations, there are times when external intervention may happen without the consent of the local government, or instances when the legitimate government that would have granted consent may have collapsed.

During the Cold War, the predominant view in the Western world was that refugee flows were essentially caused by the tyranny of socialist countries. The Soviet Union and other socialist countries would never agree with this view, and so refugee policy inevitably would have become bogged down unless it was treated as a purely humanitarian issue outside of the ideological confrontation. But in the early the 1990s with the end of the Cold War, as Western countries drove the UN agenda and consensus became easier to form, the UN became actively involved in numerous conflicts.

UN intervention was first put into practice in the process of dealing with the conflicts arising from the breakup of the former Yugoslavia and the ensuing pressure on refugees flows to Western Europe. The UN Security Council made the important decision to take preventative action to protect people at risk of persecution in the conflict area, by deciding to deploy the UN Protection Force (UNPROFOR) to intervene in the local conflict in order to allow the UNHCR to establish safe areas on the ground.⁶⁷ This experience, while it may have saved lives and curtailed the outflow of refugees, left a bitter feeling. The parties to the conflict did not respect the established safe areas and UNPROFOR was given neither the military force nor mandate to defend them. Consequently, UNPROFOR personnel themselves, as well as the civilian UNHCR staff, were exposed to danger; what is worse, their failure to protect the people who had taken refuge in safe areas resulted in tragic incidents of ethnic cleansing.⁶⁸ Humanitarian aid without the backing of force is like "passing out sandwiches at the gates of Auschwitz."⁶⁹

If strong military intervention is required to protect IDPs, it may in turn undermine the humanitarian nature of refugee protection. Now and again, a vexing dilemma arises: to provide humanitarian aid to friend and foe alike; or to resolve the conflict, restore order, and prevent people from becoming refugees. Even though the majority of refugees are victims of conflict and chaos, they too actually play active roles in and could even be responsible for the local armed conflict. Refugee aid organizations, by when, where, and to whom they provide their support, end up becoming more deeply involved in the local politics, whether they like it or not.

3 Summary

For the sovereign state, controlling entry and exit to and from its territory is an essential activity. But national borders are more porous than is commonly believed. For the state to eliminate irregular migrants altogether is nearly impossible, and whether it is even desirable is up for debate. Even with all the talk of globalization, however, the major states around the world have strengthened their border controls in various ways, a move their public opinion has also desired. There is no possibility of completely doing away with border controls, in fact, as long as there are efforts to preserve the system of sovereign states.

Notes

Furthermore, issues relating to these people—be they irregular migrants, refugees, or internally displaced persons—are no longer human rights or humanitarian issues that apply to a limited number of people who are the exceptions. These issues inevitably become politically charged, and a failure to effectively address the political issues will put achieving the humanitarian objectives in jeopardy.

Were that to happen, states would continue to seek to bolster the efficiency of their border controls in various ways, even if imperfectly. In order to reduce the pressure of dealing with irregular migrants at the border, meanwhile, states will extend their border controls externally as well as strengthen measures internally to identify the legal status of persons within their territory. However, there are limits to dealing with population influx pressures through border controls alone, so ultimately there is no other option than to seek improved governance in population-sending countries. This necessitates the development of political efforts both bilaterally and multilaterally.

It is not realistically possible for a state to stop some number of people from crossing its border and relocating into its country, whether legally or illegally, regardless of what kind of border controls it introduces. Twenty-first century states cannot escape the task of figuring out what kind of relationship to establish with such people.

Notes

- 1. Triandafyllidou, Anna (ed). 2016. Irregular Migration in Europe: Myths and Realities. London: Routledge, 2.
- United Nations (UN), Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA), Population Division. 2013. *International Migration Policies: Government Views and Priorities*, ST/ESA/SER. A/342, 91. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3920429?ln=en (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Pew Research Center, 5 Facts about Illegal Immigration in the US, April 27, 2017. https://web.archive.org/web/20170428135213/http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/ 2017/04/27/5-facts-about-illegal-immigration-in-the-u-s/ (accessed March 19, 2024).
- 4. European Commission. 2009. *Clandestino Project. Final Report. 23 November 2009*, 106 (https://emnbelgium.be/sites/default/files/publications/clandestino-final-report.pdf).
- European Parliament. 2015. Irregular Immigration in the EU: Facts and Figures. Briefing April 2015, 3. http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2015/554202/EPRS_BRI(201
 - 5)554202_EN.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 6. UN DESA, op. cit., 92.
- 7. Düvell, Franck. 2011. "Irregular Migration," in Betts, Alexander (ed). *Global Migration Governance*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 79–80.
- US Customs and Border Protection website. *Border Patrol History*. "Last Modified: July 21,2020" https://www.cbp.gov/border-security/along-us-borders/history (accessed March 12, 2024).
- FRONTEX website Who we are https://www.frontex.europa.eu/about-frontex/who-we-are/ tasks-mission/ (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 10. Triandafyllidou, op. cit., 27.
- 11. Andreas, Peter. 2009. *Border Games: Policing the US-Mexico Divide*, 2nd ed. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 25.
- 12. Ibid., 36.

- 13. Düvell, Franck. 2006. "Undocumented migration in Europe: a comparative perspective," in Düvell, Franck (ed). *Illegal Immigration in Europe: Beyond Control?* London: Palgrave Macmillan, 189.
- 14. Andreas, op. cit., 123–124.
- 15. Triandafyllidou, Anna and Illies, Maria. "EU Irregular Migration Policy," in Triandafyllidou, Anna, op. cit., 31.
- 16. Ibid., 27–28.
- 17. Andreas, op. cit., 127.
- 18. Ibid., 131.
- 19. Ibid., 131-132.
- 20. Ibid., 132–133.
- 21. Triandafyllidou, op. cit., 261.
- 22. Andreas, op. cit., 137.
- 23. "Morocco Leads World in Export of Cannabis," The Guardian, November 4, 1995.
- 24. Miller, Mark J. 1999. "The Prevention of Unauthorized Migration," in Bernstein, Ann and Weiner, Myron (eds). *Migration and Refugee Policies: An Overview*. London: Pinter, 26.
- 25. Andreas, op. cit., 125.
- Chiswick, Barry R. 1988. "Illegal Immigration and Immigration Control." *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 2, No. 3. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.2.3.101 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Chishti, Muzaffar and Kamasaki, Charles. 2014. "IRCA in Retrospect: Guideposts for Immigration Reform." Migration Policy Institute Issue Brief, No. 9, 2. http://www.migrationpolicy. org/research/irca-retrospect-immigration-reform (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 28. Ibid., 2–5.
- 29. Miller, op. cit., 27.
- "The Costs of Mass Deportation: Taxpayers should get ready to pay for Cruz and Trump plans." Wall Street Journal. March 21, 2016. http://www.wsj.com/articles/the-costs-of-massdeportation-1458342018 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 31. Cyrus, Nobert and Kovacheva, Vesela. "Undocumented Migration in Germany: Many Figures, Little Comprehension," in Triandafyllidou ed., op. cit., 136.
- 32. Chishti and Kamasaki, op. cit., 5.
- 33. Miller, op. cit., 37-39.
- 34. Chishti and Kamasaki, op. cit., 6.
- 35. Regarding the Refugee Convention, refer to Japan Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 2004. "Refugee Convention" https://www.mofa.go.jp/mofaj/press/pr/pub/pamph/pdfs/nanmin2.pdf [For English readers, see: https://www.unhcr.org/about-unhcr/who-we-are/1951-refugee-con vention.].
- 36. All of the following numbers are from UNHCR. 2017. *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2016*. https://www.unhcr.org/media/global-trends-forced-displacement-2016 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- UNHCR. 2016. Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2015, 38. https://www.unhcr.org/ media/unhcr-global-trends-2015 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 38. UNHCR 2017, op. cit., 44, Fig. 19.
- 39. Ibid., 55, Table 6.
- 40. Ibid., 25–26.
- 41. Ibid., 26–27.
- Associated Press, September 5, 2015 "No legal limit to number of asylum seekers Germany can receive: Merkel" http://www.ctvnews.ca/world/no-legal-limit-to-number-of-asylum-seekersgermany-can-receive-merkel-1.2549664 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 43. "Merkel, states reach deportation deal," *Deutsche Welle*, February 9, 2017. https://www.dw. com/en/merkel-reaches-deal-with-german-states-on-faster-migrant-deportations/a-37470199 (accessed March 13, 2024).
- Noll, Gregor. 1999. "Rejected Asylum Seekers: the Problem of Return." *International Migration*, Vol. 37, No. 1, 267–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2435.00073 (accessed March 12, 2024).

- 45. Schuster, Liza. 2011. "Turning Refugees into Illegal Migrants': Afghan Asylum Seekers in Europe." *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 34, No. 8, 1392–1407. https://doi.org/10.1080/014 19870.2010.535550 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 46. Suhrke, Astri and Zolberg, Ariside R. 1999. "Issues in Contemporary Refugee Policies," in Bernstein and Weiner (eds), op. cit., 175.
- 47. Baldacchino, Godfrey. 2010. *Island Enclaves: Offshoring Strategies, Creative Governance, and Subnational Island Jurisdictions.* Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press, 26–27.
- 48. Berczeller, Paul. "The Man Who Lost His Past." *The Guardian*, September 6, 2004. https:// www.theguardian.com/film/2004/sep/06/features.features11; "Man Living at Paris Airport: Has a Man has been Living at a Paris Airport since 1988?" http://www.snopes.com/travel/air line/airport.asp. In 1999, an Algerian woman who was refused refugee status spent half a year in a facility at Frankfurt Airport before committing suicide. (Anderson, Susan et al. 2009. "Naimah H. and Asylum Seekers in Germany." http://mgp.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2017/06/Oregon-10-Airports.pdf) (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Legomsky, Stephen H. 2006. "The USA and the Caribbean Interdiction Program." *International Journal of Refugee Law*, Vol. 18, No. 3–4, 679–681. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijrl/eel024 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 50. Regarding the *Tampa* affair, see Asakawa, Akihiro. 2003. "O-sutoraria no imin seisaku to fuhö nyūkokusha mondai: 'pashifikku soryu-shon' o chūshin ni (Australian Immigration Policy and Illegal Entrants: 'Pacific Solution' and its Implications)." *Gaimushō chōsa geppō (Ministry of Foreign Affairs Monthly Review)*, No. 1. https://www.mofa.go.jp/mofaj/press/pr/pub/geppo/pdfs/03_1_1.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 51. "Gaddafi wants EU cash to stop African migrants." *BBC News*. August 31, 2010. http://www. bbc.com/news/world-europe-11139345 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 52. Paoletti, Emanuela. 2010. *The Migration of Power and North–South Inequalities: The Case of Italy and Libya*, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- European Commission. 2023. "Seventh Annual Report of the Facility for Refugees in Turkey." September 22, 2023. COM(2023) 5343 final, 6. https://reliefweb.int/report/turkiye/seventhannual-report-facility-refugees-turkey (accessed March 19, 2024).
- 54. "EU Toruko no nanmin taisaku gõi sono haikei to shinchoku jõkyõ (EU-Turkey refugee agreement – background and progress)." EU MAG, Vol. 52, July 29, 2016. http://eumag.jp/ behind/d0716/ (accessed March 12, 2024).
- UNHCR Operational Data Portal. 2016. "Dadaab bi-weekly update 01-15th May 2016." https://data.unhcr.org/en/documents/details/30866 (accessed March 13, 2024).
- 56. "Life in Daddab: Three Generations of Refugees Isolated from Kenyan Society." *The Guardian*, January 7, 2016. (https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2016/jan/27/ life-dadaab-three-generations-of-refugees-isolated-from-kenyan-society).
- 57. Médecins Sans Frontières. *Dadaab to Somalia: Pushed Back Into Peril*, October 2016, 3 https://msf.or.ke/sites/default/files/msfpublications/dadaab_to_somalia_-_pushed_back_into_peril.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Hyndman, Jennifer. 2013. "A Refugee Camp Conundrum: Geopolitics, Liberal Democracy, and Protracted Refugee Situations." *Refuge: Canada's Journal on Refugees*, Vol. 28, No. 2, 10–11. https://doi.org/10.25071/1920-7336.36472 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 59. "Kenya attack: 147 dead in Garissa University assault" BBC News, April 3, 2015. http://www. bbc.com/news/world-africa-32169080 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 60. Polman, Linda. Ohira, Tsuyoshi (trans). 2012. Kuraishisu kyaraban: Funsöchi ni okeru jindö enjo no shinjitsu (Crisis caravan: the truth about humanitarian aid in conflict areas). Tokyo: Töyö Keizai Shinpösha, 154–155. [Translation of Polman, Linda. 2011. The Crisis Caravan: What's Wrong with Humanitarian Aid? New York: Picador, 107–108.].
- 61. Ibid., 154–155 [English edition, 110–111.].
- 62. Médecins Sans Frontières, op. cit., 1 and 6.
- 63. Rawlence, Ben. 2016. City of Thorns: Nine Lives in the World's Largest Refugee Camp. Toronto: Random House, 3606–3620. This book by the author, who spent time in Dadaab as a human rights activist, is interesting because it conveys the reality of refugee camps and the human image of refugees.

- 64. UNHCR 2017, op. cit., 35-37.
- 65. The figures above come from the UNHCR 2016, op. cit., 29-31.
- 66. UNHCR 2017, op. cit., 37.
- 67. UNHCR website. "The Role of Humanitarian Action in Peacekeeping" Keynote Address by Mrs. Sadako Ogata, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, at the 24th Annual Vienna Seminar, Vienna, 5 July 1994. https://www.unhcr.org/publications/role-humanitarianaction-peacekeeping-keynote-address-mrs-sadako-ogata-united-nations (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Hakata, Kei. 2003. "Kokunai hinanmin (IDP) to kokuren: kokusaitekina kanshin no takamari no naka de (Internally displaced persons (IDPs) and the United Nations: amidst increasing international concern)," *Gaimushō chōsa geppō (Ministry of Foreign Affairs Monthly Review)*, No. 1, 47–48. https://www.mofa.go.jp/mofaj/press/pr/pub/geppo/pdfs/03_1_2.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 69. Polman, op. cit., 161. [English edition, 113.].

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this chapter or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Chapter 4 The State and Its Membership



Contents

1	The	State Under the Old Order and Its Members	117		
	1.1	The State Under the Old Order	117		
	1.2	Religious Communities and the State	118		
	1.3	Passports Before the Nineteenth Century	119		
	1.4	Indelible Allegiance	120		
	1.5	How Aliens Become State Members	120		
2	Popu	Ilar Revolutions and State Membership	121		
	2.1	America	122		
	2.2	France	125		
3	Increased Mobility and Mutual Adjustment of Membership				
	3.1	A Time of Open Borders	127		
	3.2	Developments in the German Confederation	128		
	3.3	International Issues Concerning Overlapping Personal Jurisdictions—The British			
		Nationality System	130		
	3.4	The US System of Nationality	132		
	3.5	US-UK Conflict Over Irish Migrants	132		
	3.6	Gaining the Freedom of Expatriation	133		
	3.7	Reconciling Personal Movement and Personal Jurisdiction	135		
4	The Nation-State				
	4.1	Tightening of UK Immigration Regulations	137		
	4.2	Tightening of US Immigration Regulations	138		
	4.3	Development of the French System	139		
	4.4	Development of the German System	140		
	4.5	Differences of the French and German Systems	142		
5	Sum	mary	144		
No	Notes				

Abstract In this chapter, the author examines what it means to be a member of a state, and discusses how states have conceptualized and institutionalized membership, and how this membership has developed into an international political issue. He covers such topics as the old state orders, religious communities under the state, and the development of the conception of passports. The chapter provides an overview of the development of the nationality systems of the major European countries that are considered the models of modern nation-states, as well as a historical overview of the US nationality system. Since nationality systems determine who belongs to which state, they have international implications, with political friction sometimes

generated by the inconsistencies among these systems. Historical case studies include the revolutions in America and France, the differences between French and German systems, and the tightening of British and American immigration regulations.

If it is inevitable that people will move across borders, states will be forced to make choices about the kinds of relationships to establish with those who have left their territory and those who have newly come in. To rephrase, in addition to the challenges that states face in terms of migration *flows* that were discussed in the previous two chapters, they face challenges in terms of *stock*. The next three chapters will examine this issue. To address the issue, we must first inquire what membership means to a state. If the basic arrangement for coexistence is for states to be partitioned into their own domains, each state living separately within its own jurisdiction, then a state's territorial jurisdiction must be consistent with its personal jurisdiction. If this were the case, states would need to consider revoking membership status from people who have left their territory and granting new membership status to people who have immigrated.

This chapter, therefore, will examine the evolution of systems related to the crossborder movement of people, i.e., immigration control, and systems that set the conditions for acquiring and losing state membership that occurs as a result of that movement of people in Western countries, regarded as the models for forming modern nation-states. That is to say, I would like to discuss the evolution of the nationality, naturalization, and nationality revocation systems. Western European countries such as the United Kingdom and France experienced feudal systems and modernized from the old order in the nineteenth century. In contrast, the UK's former colony, the United States, also became a model of a nation-state that legally included all people within its territory as equals after the War of Independence. These countries also constitute precedents in the sense that they have both promoted globalization and been exposed to its effects.

In addition, major European countries have developed global trade networks since modern times, which has led to an active movement of people. Cross-border exchanges between societies had been dramatically liberalized from the nineteenth century onward, as evinced in the British-led free trade policies; with advances in technology, Western nations experienced large-scale population movements. The UK is also perhaps the most successful migrant-sending country in history; it built up a vast empire by sending its own people to the colonies it possessed around the world while physically and socially marginalizing the indigenous peoples there.

The United States of America, a state founded by British immigrants, developed into an enormous power in the twentieth century by accepting immigrants from all over the world, while eliminating its indigenous people and introducing enslaved blacks. Who is an "American" and how does someone become an American remains to this day serious questions for the US, the world's largest immigrant receiving country. It is also important for those who have newly become Americans to ask how they should think about their relationship with their country of origin. Such issues are no longer limited to the US. They are also confronting European countries, which became large-scale recipients of immigrants in the second half of the twentieth century.

1 The State Under the Old Order and Its Members

1.1 The State Under the Old Order

What kinds of bonds connect people when they form a group? The family, formed on the basis of blood relationships, is considered to be the most natural basic unit of society. When large numbers of families gather together to form permanent groups, they form what anthropologists refer to as clans or tribes. Today, what is meant by the term nation is a larger, unspecified group of people. Natural bonds of kinship and custom are insufficient to govern such a large group; symbolic devices indicating the rationale for the group and trappings of authority that ensure collective action are essential.

The countries that comprised the world under the old order of the feudal system were economically predicated on agricultural production and founded upon fealty ties between the liege lord and his vassals through the land. The people residing in the territory controlled by the state formed a hierarchical structure according to social status; these members of the state were not a legally equal, culturally cohesive "nation." The peasantry, who made up the better part of the population, were, so to speak, attachments to the land controlled by the feudal lords. Such ordinary residents, moreover, were not even thought of as constituent subjects of the power structure that was the state. Emotional bonds between the state and its members were relatively tenuous under the old order. Although the duties of obedience of feudal lords differed depending on which side of the border they belonged to, whichever state the common folk belonged to might have made little difference in practical terms, for they continued to do the same work, on the same land, anyway. Territory changed hands in a relatively flexible manner in order to balance power in Europe prior to nationalism becoming a dominant force. The weak ties between the state and the people residing in the territory it controlled made this possible.

Yet it is not to suggest that the state during this period was open to people traversing across its borders and had a tolerant attitude toward new arrivals from abroad. To start with, even freedom of movement domestically was not a guaranteed right during this period. For ordinary people in Europe under the old order, a greater part of their sense of belonging was to a feudal regional community rather than to a nation. The feudal community influenced where they could live, what occupation they could have, and whether they could participate in religious ceremonies and mutual aid services. Save for royalty and nobility, the people who traversed the boundaries of the feudal communities in which many people lived out their entire lives were, if

anything, rather exceptional. Many were people on the fringes of society, treated with suspicion, such as traveling entertainers and vagabonds.

1.2 Religious Communities and the State

Equally important was the sense of religious belonging organized around the church. It is well known that antisemitism inherent in Christian society was behind the repeated persecutions in Europe of Jews who moved there. Also, the conflict between Catholic and Protestant denominations in Christendom was a fault line running through Europe since the sixteenth century. As an example, England was therefore tolerant of the influx of Protestants but always remained wary of Catholics, for they were linked to its rivalry with continental powers, such as France and Spain.

Islamic society was more thorough, from the point that belonging to a religious community carried more weight than belonging to a state when considering individual identity. The Ottoman Empire ruled over ethnic groups inhabiting its vast territory that were highly diverse religiously, culturally, and linguistically. As Islamic principles of legitimacy underlay his authority, the sultan did not treat people from different religious communities equally. Sultans successfully achieved long-lasting Islamic coexistence by granting a certain degree of autonomy and protection to non-Muslims. "For these ethnic groups, belonging to the Ottoman state as a polity held very little meaning within their sense of identity."¹ Belonging to a religious community, rather than allegiance to a territorial state, is what determined people's sense of "we."

In contrast, the sixteenth century Reformation in Christendom caused sharp divisions within the religious community, and thus, the political order was reorganized along territorial compartments. As a result of European global expansion from the sixteenth century onward, exclusive territorial jurisdiction, i.e., the inviolability of territorial sovereignty, has through many twists and turns come to be accepted around the world.

In any case, because the state is a territorial entity, it has long exercised control over who, other than its members, can enter its territory, i.e., border and immigration controls. For example, it is said that in England the system for controlling entry originated with William the Conqueror, who had castles built on the southern British coastline and immigration officials stationed at the Cinque Ports, to prevent aggressors from invading England by the same route his successful Norman Conquest had taken in 1066. It was a system for the weak Kingdom of England to stop the infiltration of continental powers at its ports.² Furthermore, the origins of the passport, indispensable in today's immigration control, are as documents to control entry at ports, as its name would suggest.³ The usage in England of the term "passport" itself is said to trace back to documents that mail couriers plying between Antwerp and London in 1589 had obtained from the king of England to help facilitate entry into the country.⁴

1.3 Passports Before the Nineteenth Century

Pre-nineteenth century passports were quite different from how we imagine them today—a state certifying the nationality of its citizens and asking foreign governments to provide them protection. First of all, carrying a passport was not always compulsory, and it was not strictly enforced even if it was. Furthermore, the purpose of a passport was not, as is common knowledge today, for a state to prove the nationality of its bearer and to seek the protection of foreign governments for its citizens. Passports were issued by influential people and organizations such as military commanders, guilds, and universities, but not by the state. Its purpose, rather, was to prove the bearer's identity, and it was used for domestic travel purposes, too, with no distinction made between use abroad. It was large merchants and aristocrats who generally carried passports; ordinary people started carrying passports only after the French Revolution, when the feudal class system was abolished, and nation-states began to emerge. In other words, passports were originally more like identification documents for individuals and organizations with strong creditworthiness.⁵

Under the feudal system, serfs and servants were not free to choose where they lived, so documents issued by authorities such as the local church were required to confirm their social position and their right to travel freely. During this period prior to the appearance of concepts like a "national" or "citizen," it was social status, rather than a "nationality" that expressed belonging to a state, that was important for a person's identity, and so it was not necessary that it be a state that provided a guarantee or proof of a person's background and identity.

Attempting to cross a border in continental Europe under the old order would lead to undergoing complicated and humiliating checks at border checkpoints, and it seems that carrying a passport was more strictly required than in Britain. For example, since the Middle Ages, small territorial states had existed side by side under the roof of the Holy Roman Empire in the region that is today Germany; even crossing the borders of these states within the region required going through cumbersome procedures. It was mandated that people from the lower orders unaccompanied by their masters had to carry imperial travel documents, a type of passport, to pass through the territory of those domains. Rather stringent restrictive measures were taken in eighteenth-century Prussia: emigration outside the territory by peasants was prohibited; all travelers, except for military officers or other "distinguished persons," were required to be in possession of a passport; and innkeepers were obligated to notify the authorities if strangers were among their guests.⁶

The primary border control concern during peacetime was the exclusion of poor migrants and refugees, not the security risks from foreign entrants, so it is said that persons of "respectable status" could essentially avoid most screening. The state took, from today's perspective, a very tolerant attitude towards political exiles from abroad, perhaps because most of them were members of royalty and the aristocracy. Seeing as there were no "nationals" or "citizens," "foreigners" did not exist. Also, nationality, or being a member of some state, did not matter much at a time when the movement of people was actually limited. Under these conditions, "others" meant people who came from outside the feudal community, who believed in different religions, or who had a different social status, rather than people who belonged to a different state.

1.4 Indelible Allegiance

How was state membership conceptualized under the old order? What kinds of systems regulated the acceptance of new members and the departure of old members? Under the old order, where people were merely attachments to the land, the state controlled its inhabitants through its control of the land. In England, according to common law principle, it was understood that a person born within the king's dominions, regardless of parentage, was from the moment of birth a subject who owed a natural "indelible allegiance" to the crown and in turn was entitled to the king's protection. This principle, it is said, was explicitly laid out in the fourteenth century, but at a time where there was a limited meaning of belonging to a state, it mainly became an issue in disputes over land ownership. That is because one's nationality was questioned in disputes over inheritance of land, for only subjects could enjoy the crown's protection with respect to land ownership.

A judicial decision, what is referred to as *Calvin's Case* (1608), is often mentioned in this regard. The case was fought over whether land in England could be inherited by Robert Calvin, who was born in 1606 in Scotland, which had long been an independent kingdom. Yet in 1603, James VI, king of Scotland, had succeeded the heirless Elizabeth I and was crowned James I, king of England. This development complicated the issue of the nationality of Scottish-born persons. The opinion expressed by Sir Edward Coke, the chief justice of the common pleas, has long been influential in the understanding of the British system of nationality. According to Coke, persons born in the crown's domain remain subjects for life, their duty of allegiance continuing even should the current territory of the kingdom be conquered and ruled by a foreign sovereign. It thus meant that no matter where such persons moved and resided, renouncing nationality was impossible. Coke's opinion was based on the worldview that government and society are reflections of principles of natural law, and that subjects' duty of allegiance to their king was part of a divinely established order.⁷

1.5 How Aliens Become State Members

But what about the possibility of becoming a new state member by acquiring nationality? The text of the ruling in *Calvin's Case* indicates the following judgment about aliens. It distinguishes aliens either as *amicus* (friendly)—members of states in league with the English king, etc.—or *inimicus* (enemy)—members of states in open war, etc.—with the former given preferential treatment in terms of rights protection. No alien is allowed to own land, however, since a friendly state may someday become an enemy state. All "infidels" are in law *perpetui inimici* (perpetual enemies) being inherently hostile to Christian kingdoms. If indelible allegiance was at the basis for eligibility as an Englishman, then foreigners could be considered to have a duty of indelible allegiance. If that is the case, it might be logical to conclude that just as it was impossible for Englishmen to renounce their nationality, it was also impossible for aliens to become naturalized in England. Yet if allegiance to the king was the basis for eligibility as an Englishman, one might think it not entirely impossible for aliens to become subjects by proving their loyalty. Indeed, there long existed a system for alien-born to become members of England; generally speaking, two methods of naturalization had been established by the seventeenth century.

One method was to naturalize specific groups of aliens on a case-by-case basis through individual acts of Parliament, thereby allowing naturalized subjects who became members of England to enjoy the same rights as Englishmen. In other words, they were given the same rights to land ownership as Englishmen. The other method was to grant the status of denizen (permanent resident alien) through the king's letters patent. Denizens were a sort of intermediate quasi-citizen status, more advantageous than being an ordinary alien but with fewer guaranteed rights than natural-born Englishmen. Denizens were more disadvantaged in terms of taxes and other matters than naturalized subjects, and although they could own land, they were not allowed to inherit it. Moreover, there were other restrictions, such as their children were allowed to inherit land only in cases where the land was acquired at some time after their birth.⁸

By the early seventeenth century, naturalized subjects came to enjoy full rights as a member of the state, including political rights, such as the right to become a Member of Parliament. However, legislation was passed restricting the political rights of naturalized aliens when, with the Glorious Revolution of 1688, many of William III's followers entered England from the Netherlands. Similar measures were taken again in 1714 when George I, of the House of Hanover, became king.⁹

In any case, becoming a naturalized alien in England was a very complicated and costly process. Aside from individual treatment for an exceptionally small number of people, it was not possible to decide whether to bestow nationality on large numbers of immigrants, no matter which of the two methods was adopted. In fact, the UK had to wait until the latter half of the nineteenth century for its naturalization system to became a process of standardized administrative procedures instead of letters patent or individual acts of Parliament.

2 Popular Revolutions and State Membership

The relationship between the state and its members underwent a major transformation as a result of the late eighteenth-century popular revolutions that occurred in the US and France. With subjects becoming citizens, the legitimacy of the state to govern rested in the consent of its constituent members. This would become the dominant principle. The relationship that a state's members formed with the state was said to have changed with the advent of the citizen, from something "natural" based on a feudal class system to being grounded in a contract established by the free will of its equal members with equal civil and political rights. Along with freedom to choose a profession, the freedom of movement became part of civil rights within a country, which had now become a space of equality formed by citizens equal under the law.

2.1 America

It is believed that, with the American Revolution (1775–1783), US colonists severed their obligations of allegiance to the British king that had been assumed for life at birth and founded the USA on the basis of their own free wills. Yet it is also true that a considerable number of colonists swore their allegiance to the king and opposed independence. And if people are free to choose political allegiance according to individual will, it follows that just as there was freedom to swear allegiance to the US, there should also be freedom to remain loyal to the British crown. Here, American patriots found themselves in a dilemma. If they denied royalists the freedom to decide to whom to swear their allegiance, they would end up oppressing the very freedom they were seeking—the freedom to resist tyranny and choose for themselves to which political community to pledge allegiance. Yet achieving and maintaining independence might be jeopardized by leaving the actions of these people unaddressed.

No matter how free a state may be, its members need a certain degree of cohesion. If this were not the case, a state would divide without end, and taken to its extreme, as many new states would be created as the number of individuals. That would effectively mean anarchy. Regardless of that logical possibility, for the new American Republic fighting a war of independence against the British Crown, the ability to mobilize people for war was a pressing issue. Any state in sharp conflict with the outside world will step up the mobilization of its members and restrict individual freedoms. The same was true of the new American Republic.

The obligation to submit to an independent America was justified by contractual logic. Namely, the 13 colonies were originally political communities distinct from the mother country, and the original contracts under which they were established allowed the will of the majority to demand obedience from the minority. Or, following other logic, the new American state had conquered the colonies, thus it could demand the allegiance of its residents regardless of their feelings toward the former mother country. Furthermore, based on this logic, property owned by loyalists was confiscated on a large scale. The people who adhered to the British Crown in the War of Independence were not "Americans" but enemy combatants, though judges and juries were wary of executing loyalists as traitors: if captured, they were often dealt with as prisoners of war.¹⁰

The US was unable to unconditionally welcome new members as citizens because it was a frail new state that had gained its independence while riven with internal divisions, unable to stabilize the scope of its membership. In particular, there were serious concerns that a large influx into the US of people steeped in the ideas and customs of the old order would pose a threat to the weak new state with its political system so unique at that time in the world. Thomas Jefferson, author of the Declaration of Independence and third president of the US, said of immigrants:

[They] will bring with them the principles of the governments they leave, imbibed in their early youth; or, if able to throw them off, it will be in exchange for an unbounded licentiousness, passing, as is usual, from one extreme to another. It would be a miracle were they to stop precisely at the point of temperate liberty.¹¹

In other words, it was not only the influx of political ideas from the despotic old regimes of the Old Continent that gave Jefferson concern. The politics that embodied the "temperate liberty" of the US depended not only on a liberal political ideology but also on practices and cultural attitudes that esteem temperate liberty. If that was so, accepting new members who did not share these cultural attitudes, he feared, might be dangerous to the future of the weak new American Republic. America is certainly a nation of immigrants, yet the US was at the time of its founding neither a melting pot of races nor a testing ground for multiculturalism. The dominant group in America at the time were not only bound together by liberal political ideology, but were also highly homogeneous, sharing a Protestant faith, a common language of English, and cultural attitudes of British origin.

As ideological and geopolitical conflicts in Europe intensified after the French Revolution, there was increasing concern that such conflicts would, through foreign immigration, exert a negative influence on the US, and so there was growing suspicion of foreign-born people. Albert Gallatin, who later served as secretary of the Treasury, provides one example. Born in Switzerland, Gallatin moved to the US in 1780, and 14 years later he was elected to the US Senate in 1793, but he was stripped of his eligibility to hold his seat because, it was alleged, he had not fulfilled the required nine years of citizenship after his naturalization.¹²

Also, the naturalization laws of this period were becoming increasingly restrictive. America's first naturalization law, the Nationality Act of 1790, was rather liberal. Someone could become an American citizen as long as he or she was a free white person of good character, after residing in the US for two years and taking an oath to uphold the Constitution.

US naturalization requirements rapidly became stricter, however, as more and more politically active people of diverse backgrounds began to migrate to the US once the French Revolution escalated into a major war in 1792: exiled aristocrats from Europe; exiled political activists; Irish nationalists seeking independence from the British just as the US had; and French plantation owners forced to leave Saint-Domingue (Haiti) as a result of Toussaint Louverture's rebellion. In 1795, the residency requirement was extended to five years, and nobility was required to renounce their titles and embrace American egalitarianism. Regulations were further tightened in 1798, extending the residency requirement to 14 years. The new Act prohibited the naturalization of aliens from states at war with the US and strengthened the alien registration system.¹³ The Immigration Act of 1802 relaxed these extreme provisions,

but maintained the basic framework of naturalization requirements, which remained in place until the Civil War. The requirements included: a five-year residence period; a three-year period after declaring the intention to naturalize; an oath to sever ties with foreign countries and a declaration swearing allegiance to the US Constitution; and good behavior.

The extent to which these federal government arrangements actually suppressed the influx of immigrants, however, is different question. Furthermore, security concerns in the US rapidly receded with the end of the War of 1812 (1812–1815) between the US and the UK and the restoration of peace in Europe. Fears that diverse immigrants posed a threat to political stability receded as the new American Republic's foundations solidified and confidence in its own security grew. Against the backdrop of territorial expansion, there instead rose a keen awareness of the economic benefits to be gained from accepting more and more people. In fact, nineteenth century America was perhaps the largest immigrant-receiving country in history, with millions of people flocking to the US from across the Atlantic in search of new opportunities.

Although the outcome of the Revolutionary War had decided the matter of independence, it remained unclear whether the new object of allegiance would be the individual states that originated from the settler communities, or the new political community uniting the 13 new states. Thus, the naturalization system at the start of independence differed from state to state. If eligibility for membership is not uniform across the states, it will lead to various problems unless interstate population movement is strictly regulated—a situation similar to that in the European Union's Schengen Area. For example, if the eligibility of one state's members is not recognized by another state, it may lead to a situation where those members are denied their basic rights as citizens. Or conversely, it may lead to effectively circumventing state regulations that set strict eligibility requirements for membership. To be established as a single sovereign state, it is necessary to decide on a uniform membership eligibility. The differences in positions regarding authority split between the federal and state governments, well-known in US history, were not easily overcome.

The Constitution of the United States, which was established as a result of various compromises, stipulates the qualifications for the presidency in Article II: "No Person except a natural born Citizen, or a Citizen of the United States, at the time of the Adoption of this Constitution, shall be eligible to the Office of President." Article IV also provides that "The Citizens of each State shall be entitled to all Privileges and Immunities of Citizens in the several States" and that a fleeing criminal shall be transferred to the state in which the crime was committed.¹⁴ But then who exactly is a citizen of the US? The Constitution states nothing definite regarding this matter.

Although the basis of the state was said to be based on the free contract among its members, in reality, at the time of its founding, nationality in the US was determined by birthright (*jus soli*), the same principle as in the UK. If you were born in a settler community in a colonial state, you automatically became a member of that community. This came about as a result of inheriting the British common law tradition without giving it much thought, as it probably was the most natural thing to do. Yet important exceptions did exist. First of all, there are America's indigenous peoples,

the people belonging to the "Indian" tribes. They were not considered members of the American democratic state, regardless of the fact that their ties to the land traced back much further than those of the white settlers.

To regard the indigenous tribes as foreign states and the indigenous people as aliens, because the Native American tribes had no intention of becoming part of the settler communities and did not pay taxes, may have had its own degree of logic. But it was trickier by far to deal with enslaved blacks with the birthright concept of membership. Unlike the indigenous peoples, they did not belong to their own community. Therefore, it was unreasonable to think of them as aliens, and it was also far too unreasonable to view them as mere property of slaveholders. What further complicates the story is that not all black people were enslaved. The legal status of free black persons differed according to each state's institutions. Another issue arose as to how to deal with runaway slaves who fled to free states that prohibited slavery, or who legally emigrated and returned to slave states. It would be something akin to an influx of political asylum seekers and refugees today. Furthermore, as the US rapidly expanded westward and new states were added, the conflict quickly grew over whether black people should be members of the new states.¹⁵

The Civil War (1861–1865) broke out because, after various compromises to maintain the Union had failed, the Southern states sought to secede and become independent from the US in order to preserve their own institutions. The North took the position that inasmuch as the federal government was sovereign, allegiance to it could not be withdrawn, and that secession and independence would be treason. The South's reasoning, in contrast, held that since ultimate sovereignty rests with the states, secession and independence to resist oppression and protect the values and way of life of their communities was justified, the same as in the American Revolution. The outcome of the Civil War settled this debate. It was not until the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution, enacted in 1868, that Congress was acknowledged to hold final authority over eligibility requirements for US membership and that the principle of birthright citizenship was established throughout the US.¹⁶

2.2 France

Under the *Ancien Régime*, the French system of nationality was based on the birthright principle, just like in England. And just as in England, the question of whether a person was French was often raised in disputes over inheritance. However, who exactly was French was an even more pressing question for those involved than in England because the system in France was that the king would appropriate an estate if there were no French heirs (royal right of escheat). In 1515, the *Parlement de Paris* (high court under the monarchy) confirmed the birthright principle, holding that anyone born and resident in France was entitled to inherit property, regardless of parentage. Also, similar to England, the king was able to approve the naturalization of foreigners by *lettres de naturalité*. According to one study, approximately 6000 people became naturalized French nationals between 1660 and 1789.¹⁷

With the French Revolution, the idea of state membership in France underwent a literally revolutionary transformation. Arrangements regarding nationality and the movement of people became complex and unstable during the revolutionary period. Initially, restricting the people's movement and systems such as passports used for that purpose were roundly denounced as the evils of the ancien régime. As the revolution resulted in growing internal and external conflicts, however, the principles of the republic became inextricably linked to patriotism, and the emphasis fell on the security imperative of defending against counterrevolutionary forces and of defending the motherland from foreign intervention. In defense of the revolution, the state's control over movement was strengthened, and the ancien régime passport was reintroduced even for internal movement. Controls on international movement were suddenly tightened, especially after the king attempted to flee abroad. Given that liberal principles were not in place all at once worldwide, the revolutionary government was unable to control its borders with the anti-liberal world based on liberal principles. The defense of the motherland took precedence over the principles of civil liberties, suspicion of foreigners deemed counter-revolutionary increased, and many restrictions on movement were introduced.¹⁸

If the state is a group established by mutual contract among its citizens, then perhaps eligibility requirements for citizenship should be distinguished from those for nationality, which is determined by place of birth or lineage, wholly unrelated to a person's will. It has been pointed out that the provisions of the revolutionary-era constitution distinguished the qualifications of being a Frenchman from those of a French citizen.¹⁹ Once the revolutionary ideals or the motherland were exposed to external threats, responding to the immediate needs for territorial defense became the revolutionary government's most urgent task. In the early years of the French nationals, regardless of their will, and thereby they were immediately enrolled in the army due to the ongoing Revolutionary War.²⁰

After the turmoil of the revolutionary period, a set of laws known as the Napoleonic Code was enacted in 1804. Not only did this lay the foundation for later French institutions, but it strongly influenced civil law legal systems around the world, both in continental Europe and Japan. This established patrilineal descent (*jus sanguinis* through the father) as the principle of citizenship, a central element of the French nationality system for many years thereafter. Napoleon Bonaparte himself was a strong advocate of pure birthright citizenship in order to expand the labor force that could be conscripted.

Napoleon's opinions notwithstanding, François Denis Tronchet, who played a central role in compiling the Napoleonic Code, insisted that *jus sanguinis* (based on the Roman law tradition) should be the basis for the system of nationality. A jurist with a reputation that transcended partisanship, Tronchet was a man of steadfast beliefs who never compromised his principles, as evidenced by the fact that during the Revolution he served as defense counsel to Louis XVI, who was eventually executed after his ill-fated attempt to flee the country. The grounds on which Tronchet and others opposed *jus soli* was that it had a stronger element of chance than *jus sanguinis*

and so the ties between a member and the state were weaker. Opponents of *jus soli*, for instance, gave the following argument:

"The son of an Englishman can become French; but should he be French simply because his mother, passing through France, gave birth to him in this territory to which she and her family are foreign? [In such a case,] one's country would depend less on one's affection for it, one's choice, or one's domicile than on the accident of birth."²¹

Perhaps the reason for their difference in opinion was that Napoleon had envisioned commoners born in France as potential military conscripts whereas Tronchet probably had in his mind French people belonging to a relatively wealthy class who might live abroad. In other words, Tronchet might have been concerned that if France were to adopt the birthright principle, the children of Frenchmen living abroad would automatically become foreign nationals, thus potentially infringing on their inheritance and property rights in France.²²

3 Increased Mobility and Mutual Adjustment of Membership

3.1 A Time of Open Borders

The feudal system had been abolished and freedom of movement had come to be understood as a right of the citizen (a civil right). Yet only after the French Revolution and the Napoleonic Wars subsided and peace arrived in Europe did the freedom of cross-border movement actually increase there. Freedom of movement increased to a substantial degree after the security and public order rationale receded. Taking the UK as an example, legislation in 1720 banned British seamen, artisans, and workers in key industries from emigrating.²³ "Only after [the Battle of] Waterloo did the mercantilist impulse in migration policy begin to give way definitively to free trade"²⁴ and did the UK abolish these exit restrictions. The departure of emigrants instead came to be welcomed as measures to relieve poverty and address joblessness. The various systems that the UK had introduced during the French Revolution to deny entry to and deport migrants came under growing criticism; the cost of maintaining control over aliens who posed no real danger had become too much to ignore. Consequently, restrictions on aliens were gradually eased. The Aliens Registration Act of 1826 required aliens to register their address in the UK and, for those entering the country, to deposit their passports with the Alien Office in London; it abolished the deportation system, however. The Registration of Aliens Act of 1836 abolished the passport deposit system and the Alien Office. The law also stipulated that "masters of vessels" entering a British port must declare any alien passengers to port customs, and that these aliens must present any passports which might be in their possession.

However, in reality, the 1836 Act's system of declaration and registration appears to have been "very generally disregarded by Foreigners and ... never enforced by

the authorities."²⁵ Furthermore, no one was actually deported under the law in the 80 years from 1823 to 1905, when the Aliens Act of 1905, described below, came into effect.²⁶ In other words, from a public institutional perspective, the UK's borders probably remained the most open in history between 1823 and 1905, with the exception of a brief period of political turmoil from 1848 to 1850.²⁷

3.2 Developments in the German Confederation

Meanwhile, in the area that is Germany today, many independent territorial states coexisted peacefully until the late nineteenth century, and nationality meant belonging to one of the territorial states. There were various obstacles involved in crossing their borders. Foreigners entering or leaving Prussia were, for military reasons, required to present a passport. The security environment deteriorated after several events such as the series of revolutions in 1848, the outbreak of the Crimean War following Napoleon III's accession to the throne in the 1850s, and the January Insurrection in Poland (1863–4). Each time, restrictions on exit were tight-ened out of necessity for military conscription. Moreover, in the early nineteenth century, freedom of movement was not recognized for serfs, who were unable to leave their feudal lord's land, or for craftsmen bound by guilds. The immigration system, including passports, was regulated in detail and entry and exit were severely restricted.

Nonetheless, liberal reforms progressed as a general trend after the French Revolution, even in Germany, which was in such a state of affairs. In Prussia in 1806–07, Karl Freiherr vom Stein and Karl August von Hardenberg initiated a series of policies inspired by the French Revolution (Stein–Hardenberg Reforms), which included issuing an edict emancipating the peasants and recognizing the freedom of enterprise (*Gewerbefreiheit*). A Prussian law in 1817, issued after the end of the Napoleonic Wars, eased entry restrictions at a stroke, restoring the authority to border officials to issue entry documents and recognizing the validity of identification documents issued by other German states.²⁸

A number of bilateral agreements were signed between the German states, which led to a steady opening of their borders.²⁹ This took place against the backdrop of a growing momentum toward German integration; the liberalization of movement within what was to be a unified Germany made progress as part of the political integration project. In addition, the advance of industrialization centered in western Germany sparked a rapid increased of pressure for intraregional population movement from northeastern Germany towards the Ruhr area in the west. The technical limitations on controlling population movements using passports and visas were obvious at a time that did not even have photographs, much less fingerprinting techniques, and there was always a possibility that a document was a forgery. The number of people traversing borders rose dramatically with the development of railroads, exceeding the limits of the administrative capacity of border control from the era of horse-drawn carriages. Consequently, the Passport Treaty concluded in 1865 between

Saxony, Bavaria, Hanover, and Württemberg was very liberal, allowing those states to liberalize entry for their respective nationals and completely abolishing passport controls at their borders. A similar system was introduced in the Prussian-led North German Confederation in 1867.³⁰ This system, which mutually recognized freedom of movement between member countries of the agreement, was a sort of harbinger of the EU's Schengen Agreement that would be concluded 120 years later. As a result, population movements between German states increased; Prussia, for example, is said to have seen an influx of 700,000 people between 1823 and 1840.

However, this led to confusion in some regions where immigrants were refused entry. Many of the German territorial states still lacked codified nationality laws after the Napoleonic Wars. Even Prussia, the most powerful state, had to wait until 1842 for nationality laws to be enacted. For this reason, each territorial state in their constitutions and various related laws distinguished between its members and foreigners (*Ausländer*, although they were generally Germans from another state). Moreover, eligibility requirements for membership in the German territorial states lacked uniformity and were mutually contradictory because although their various nationality systems were generally based on the rule of descent (*jus sanguinis*), some states conferred nationality after long-term residence, and similarly stipulated that nationality would be lost due to long-term absence.³¹

Cross-border population movements in Europe increased during this period, but that did not render the identification of a person's affiliation with a state meaningless. In the peaceful era following the Napoleonic Wars, states were less interested in stopping foreign threats at their borders and became more concerned than ever before with the need to address challenges such as establishing responsibility to protect poor migrants and determining where to deport criminals and military deserters. As the German states enacted measures to deal with these issues in the absence of codified nationality systems, what was substantively a system of citizenship began to take shape that would cover the entire German Confederation.³² No longer could the authorities of the states arbitrarily expel criminals, vagrants, and poor migrants to other states in this era, for if they did, it was obvious that it would undermine relations with those other states. Thus, deportation treaties were signed between neighboring German states aiming to establish the location of responsibility for the jurisdiction over "undesirable" migrants who posed a burden on the states. The contents of these agreements came to function as a de facto nationality law. The 1816 treaty concluded between Württemberg, Baden, and Bavaria was the first of its kind and preceded the nationality laws of each state. The web of treaties subsequently expanded such that most of the German states had signed one by the 1850s. Grounds for nationality under these agreements did not strictly follow a single principle, be it lineage or birthplace, and were based on factors such as a person's residence for a certain period of time or the place where the person was found.³³ An administrative system for keeping track of residents, let alone a family registration system, was underdeveloped at that time. Under such circumstances, it was not easy either to determine the nationality and birthplace of the parents of commoners, or to get a handle on their place and period of residence in the complicated territory of the former Holy Roman Empire. Due to increased mobility, however, the matter of which state had jurisdiction over whom,

and thus was responsible for their protection, had to be determined for practical purposes.

3.3 International Issues Concerning Overlapping Personal Jurisdictions—The British Nationality System

As mentioned above, British membership was determined by the principle of *jus soli* founded on the indelible allegiance to the king. In principle, this meant that a vast number of people born and living under the king of England's reign—not only in Scotland and Wales, but also in the whole of Ireland (united with Great Britain with the Act of Union of 1800) as well as in lands from the self-governing states such as present-day Canada and Australia to colonies spread throughout Asia and Africa by the end of the nineteenth century—were all considered British subjects with the British king as their head of state.

In reality, the UK's overseas colonies, spread all over the globe, had their own systems for immigration and naturalization, depending on the regional needs.³⁴ Communities made up of white settlers, such as Canada and Australia, needed to accept new settlers from European countries other than the UK as members because of the pressing need for colonial development. Conversely, these countries were extremely closed off to the influx of non-whites, even settlers from within the British Empire, let alone their own indigenous peoples. Being a British subject did not guarantee equal rights, and the rights guaranteed by being a British subject were also limited.

The inconveniences of this system of nationality became apparent in the peaceful era of the nineteenth century as the movement of people increased. First of all, the problem was that this was an inconsistent, patchwork system. Under a strict understanding of *jus soli*, the foreign-born children of British nationals would not be able to obtain British nationality whereas the children of foreign ambassadors stationed in the UK could become British nationals. These issues were addressed through a patchwork of legislative fixes, but nationality-related legal norms were becoming inconsistent by this time.³⁵

Furthermore, since a British subject's allegiance to the king was thought to be indelible, unalterable for life, it gave rise to situations in which the UK's jurisdiction overlapped with that of another state, depending on that state's nationality system. For instance, a person born in the UK to a French father was British and, at the same time, French under France's system of nationality, which followed *jus sanguinis* in principle. This person thus had dual nationality. War between the UK and France was always a real possibility until the early twentieth century, for the two states had almost always regarded each other as potential enemies for centuries. Were war to break out, a person with dual nationality who served in the French army and was captured by the British would not be legally protected as a foreign military officer, but instead would be charged with treason. Or, to take another case where the problem of dual

nationality arose, a British woman marrying a foreign man would not lose her British nationality but, under continental European systems, she would automatically acquire her husband's nationality. It was virtually impossible to renounce British nationality short of committing the most heinous acts that would cause the king to relinquish his protection.

Becoming a naturalized British subject was easier than renouncing British nationality because there were measures to do so, such as individual acts of Parliament and crown prerogative, mentioned above; yet, in reality, these methods required powerful connections and a large sum of money and even so, naturalized subjects still had certain limitations placed on their rights. Within the generally peaceful and liberal post-Napoleonic Wars international environment, the desirability of the free movement of labor was a growing intellectual trend, partly because of the influence of free trade theory, which was a major social movement at the time. The Aliens Act of 1844 finally removed most restrictions on the rights of naturalized British subjects, although it still barred them from becoming a Privy Counsellor or a Member of Parliament.³⁶ There was also concern in the UK, the most powerful empire in the world at the time, that it would be a burden on its foreign relations if more people naturalized to take advantage of the protection that it could afford its subjects overseas.³⁷ For this reason, it was decided from about 1850 onward that naturalization in a colony outside the UK would only confer British subject status in that colony, and measures were taken to temporarily suspend the issuance of passports to naturalized subjects. This in turn led to the extreme absurdity of naturalized British subjects being unable to go abroad, and so measures were introduced to restart the issuance of passports valid for a limited period of time.

Diplomatic problems with the US prompted the UK to make drastic changes to its outdated systems for naturalization and renunciation of subject status. Its principled position was that in the event of war, the government could impress British emigrants to the US and imprison those who refused in accordance with British law, because, as we saw above, everyone born in the UK was British in theory. From the US perspective, this was tantamount to its own naturalized citizens being kidnapped by a foreign government. From the UK's point of view, however, US poaching of British seamen with offers of high pay after the War of Independence seemed to be instigating desertion from the Royal Navy. (The converse was also possible: that people of British origin could appear in America seeking the protection of the British government by claiming British status. In fact, British-born immigrants in some parts of the US did seek the British government's protection during the American Civil War, claiming they were exempt from US conscription on the grounds of being British-born.³⁸) Furthermore, the Royal Navy's impressment on the high seas of British-born seamen who had become naturalized Americans, occurring against the backdrop of fundamentally stormy UK-US relations, also became one of the causes of the War of 1812.³⁹

3.4 The US System of Nationality

Then again, since renouncing nationality (expatriation) had not been codified in the US, its position that a person becomes American upon naturalization, the original nationality being no longer valid, was not always consistent either. In the early years of independence, Thomas Jefferson advocated legalizing expatriation as a natural individual right, a view Alexander Hamilton opposed, arguing that allegiance to the state could not be withdrawn by individual will alone, and if that proposition were accepted, the number of deserters from the American army would rise.⁴⁰ Also, the debate over whether American citizenship meant membership in the federal government or in the various states invariably led to an irresolvable impasse.

Growing immigration to the US gave rise to situations in which newly naturalized Americans, having returned to Europe or European colonies in the Caribbean where renouncing nationality was also not adequately institutionalized, sought US government protection after military service or other obligations were imposed on them. Restrictions on expatriation were not unusual at the time. In addition to the UK, as we have seen, France, Germany, and the Scandinavian countries required military service even for persons naturalized in a foreign country. Russia went so far as to establish such provisions as not allowing its subjects who became naturalized in a foreign country to return home.⁴¹ As a result, when naturalized Americans returned to their countries of origin, they were subject to various obligations such as military service, and in some cases were even subject to criminal punishment. The US at the time was powerless to intervene in European systems of nationality, so it had to deal with each situation separately through diplomacy.⁴²

3.5 US-UK Conflict Over Irish Migrants

This ad hoc process finally became unworkable when large numbers of Irish migrants immigrated to America due to the Great Potato Famine of the 1840s and became naturalized. These Irish immigrants felt a sense of belonging toward Ireland, not the British monarch. Many of them were actively involved in the Irish independence movement, so when the British authorities began severe crackdowns, the US appeared to be a major base for the movement. Here again, according to British nationality law, a person born in Ireland was still a British subject even after becoming a naturalized citizen of the US. The US and UK thus now had overlapping jurisdictions over Irish immigrants to the US. Even so, the two countries could have resolved the matter diplomatically as before if they had enjoyed sufficiently good relations. However, their bilateral ties were stormy to begin with, on top of which, the US had experienced a growing dissatisfaction with the UK's favorable attitude toward the South during the Civil War. Therefore, it now felt an even stronger sympathy for Ireland.

Irish-born Americans who were deeply involved in the 1867 Fenian Rising that called for Irish independence were arrested upon their return to Ireland, some of whom were sentenced to death. In response, a bill was introduced in the US Congress that would give the president the power to arrest British nationals in the US, as the political influence of the Irish residents could not be ignored.

The Fenian raids took place in 1866, 1870, and 1871, carried out by the Fenian Brotherhood, an Irish nationalist group in the US that sent armed militia across the border to attack Canada, which was then a British territory. The men who masterminded the raids aimed to occupy Canada as a steppingstone for an invasion of Ireland, as well as to draw the US into conflict with the UK. The US president at the time was Andrew Johnson, elevated to the presidency after Abraham Lincoln's assassination in 1865. Although Johnson had no intention of getting into a dispute with the UK, rather than prevent these attacks on another country from his own territory he took an ambiguous position, mindful that his domestic political base was weak and he could ill afford to lose the Irish vote. In the actual fighting, the Fenians were quickly repulsed because their strategy was unrealistic and reckless. In addition, the Irish residents in Canada showed no signs of starting a revolt in response to the raids; though of Irish descent, many were Ulster Protestants who were satisfied with the Canadian system.

Though the raids were militarily unimpressive, they were a rude awakening for Canada. Threats from the larger, less-than-friendly neighbor to the south fueled Canadian nationalism. Conversely, it led to a complete loss of influence for the annexationist movement seeking union with the US that, albeit small, had existed until then, driven by dissatisfaction with British colonial rule. The incident is what prompted the colonies of British North America toward Confederation as the Dominion of Canada under the United Kingdom in 1867.⁴³

3.6 Gaining the Freedom of Expatriation

To prevent overlapping personal jurisdiction from causing such knotty situations, the US concluded a series of agreements known as Bancroft treaties. The US federal government established its authority over the American system of nationality after the Civil War, as we have seen. And on that basis, the US sought to forestall international disputes over personal jurisdiction by legalizing the right of expatriation (voluntary renunciation of citizenship) in 1868 and by preventing dual nationality through Bancroft treaties; starting with Prussia in 1868, it concluded 25 treaties by 1937 (Table 1). The parties to these treaties mutually recognized the right of their citizens who left the country as immigrants to renounce their nationality; the treaty with Prussia stipulated that they could become naturalized after five years of uninterrupted residence.⁴⁴ In other words, having allowed mutual renunciation of nationality under certain conditions, these treaties thereafter ensured that the states' personal jurisdiction would not overlap. The UK and the US, following this basic direction, aimed to resolve their long-standing issue over expatriation by mutually recognizing the right to voluntarily renounce nationality.⁴⁵

Signatories (with the US)	Date signed
North German Confederation (Prussia)	February 22, 1868
Bavaria	May 26, 1868
Mexico	July 4, 1868
Baden	July 19, 1868
Württemberg	July 27, 1868
Hesse	August 1, 1868
Belgium	November 16, 1868
Sweden and Norway	May 26, 1869
Austro-Hungarian Empire	September 20, 1870
UK	February 23, 1871
Denmark	July 20, 1872
Haiti	March 22, 1902
Inter-American Convention of 1906	August 13, 1906
Salvador	March 14, 1908
Brazil	April 27, 1908
Uruguay	August 10, 1908
Portugal	May 7, 1908
Honduras	June 23, 1908
Peru	October 15, 1907
Nicaragua	December 7, 1908
Costa Rica	June 10, 1911
Bulgaria	November 23, 1923
Czechoslovakia	July 16, 1928
Albania	April 5, 1932
Lithuania	October 18, 1937

Notes Inter-American Convention (1906) was signed by the US, Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Ecuador, Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, and Uruguay.

Source Adapted from Ben Herzog. 2017. Revoking Citizenship: Expatriation in America from the Colonial Era to the War on Terror. New York: New York University Press, 59.

It had become evident in the UK, too, that the principle of perpetual allegiance was unreasonable and inconsistent with reality, and no longer could the aforementioned frictions be ignored. There was growing support for the opinion that the right to renounce nationality should be recognized. A report submitted by a parliamentary subcommittee in February 1869 led to the passage of the Naturalization Act in 1870, which allowed Britons to renounce their nationality of their own free will. Further, British nationals who became naturalized in another country would automatically

Table 1 Bancroft treaties

lose their British nationality unless they chose to retain it within two years, and a British subject woman who married a foreign man would lose her British subject status. Also, the UK's naturalization requirements were also eased, with a minimum five-year period of residency. Distinctions between the rights of naturalized and other British subjects were done away with. People from the UK could also maintain their nationality without restrictions when traveling overseas.⁴⁶

The UK and the US signed a convention on naturalization in 1871, thereby enabling the US to stabilize their relations by removing the cause of conflict with the UK, the government of the country from which so many people crossed the Atlantic Ocean to settle in the US as naturalized citizens. In other words, although it did not allow the Southern states to secede collectively, it did recognize the right of individual Americans to choose, of their own volition, the country to which they would pledge allegiance.

3.7 Reconciling Personal Movement and Personal Jurisdiction

Thus, we have seen that in the post-popular revolutionary era in which interstate relations became stable and liberalism prevailed, freedom of movement was strengthened, and national borders became much more open than before. The opening of borders and greater personal mobility did not mean that belonging to a state lost its meaning. Rather, it drove the evolution of systems concerning people's belonging to the state. Furthermore, issues of members' belonging to the state (i.e., the state's personal jurisdiction) inevitably arose when events such as independence or national unification led to the redrawing of national borders or to territorially rearranging a state. The question of who belonged where was inextricably linked to the questions of who had what rights and whom the state could mobilize. Consequently, differences in positions and interests regarding the answers to these questions sometimes led to diplomatic conflicts.

Issues could generally be resolved during this period by common consent between the states involved, be they the German states or the US in its relations with other countries. One likely reason it was easy to reach diplomatic solutions is that even though borders did open to a larger degree, in reality, the practical barriers preventing cross-border migration remained quite high, limiting the scale of movement. The openness of the British borders was certainly impressive, yet given that the UK is surrounded by water, migrants had to go through emigration procedures in their own country before arriving at a British port as passengers on a ship, and boarding the ship came at considerable cost. Another reason was the relatively stable interstate relations between Western countries at the time, which enabled them to resolve any issues that might arise over personal jurisdiction or personal movement through negotiations without escalating into armed conflict.
Conversely, even during this period, states immediately tightened their control over movement and membership of people whenever tensions increased in the international political environment. Furthermore, the abolition of passport control in the German states did not mean that they had completely stopped control over aliens. Once they had entered the state, aliens were still obligated to prove their identity with various documents; the German states reserved the right to reintroduce the passport system if necessary.⁴⁷ This strengthening of control emerged as a dominant trend in subsequent periods.

4 The Nation-State

By the end of the nineteenth century, the use of railroads and steamships made movement technically much easier. The dominant ideology during this period was nationalism, the belief that members of a state should be a people or a nation connected by some kind of cultural bond.

Free, compulsory education was introduced in France in 1882 and in England and Wales around the same time. The state, by promoting a homogeneous national culture, was trying to turn out educated citizens into society. Military service, along with elementary education, stimulated the emergence of the "nation." A national military—in which all adult males in principle share the dangers in service to the state in place of armed forces composed of mercenaries and professional soldiers of a certain rank—is the product of nationalism as well as a device to strengthen it. Citizens certainly participated in the management of state authority to a much greater extent. Though still limited to male property owners, suffrage generally tended to expand, and democratization became an irresistible trend of the times. Equality, liberty, and political participation all increased, but these values were all developments that occurred within the framework of the state. Therefore, belonging to a state took on greater meaning than ever before.

With the growing sense of national identity in major Western countries at the time, the accompanying sense of the otherness of foreigners inevitably grew as well. Moreover, whether a state was capable of domestically mobilizing its people and resources when exposed to fierce external competition became a critical matter of life or death for the state. Nationalism, as a result, took on unprecedented political significance as a symbol, and also became linked to racist discourse, as exemplified by the Yellow Peril. In short, a stronger, more exclusive bond between a state and its members was called for at the same time that cross-border movement of people increased. States thus began to pursue more stringent controls over personal movement as well as personal jurisdiction.

4.1 Tightening of UK Immigration Regulations

Though its borders were once open, the UK began tightening its immigration regulations at the end of the nineteenth century. As mentioned above, it had been without strict immigration controls since the 1830s. However, the situation changed in the 1880s with the arrival of Jewish refugees from Russia and Eastern Europe in large numbers. The persecution of Jews (pogroms) in Russia and Poland intensified starting in that decade, resulting in Russian and Polish Jews migrating to other parts of the world. Many Jews began settling in London, too, concentrating in the East End. The mass influx of impoverished people with unfamiliar customs, religion, and languages caused a rise in societal tensions.⁴⁸ Amid this situation, Parliament made several attempts to pass legislation to restrict immigration, influenced by America's tightening of its immigration regulations as well as by the discussions of social Darwinism and eugenics that were popular at the time. Liberals and Liberal Party governments of the time resisted such moves, but a Royal Commission on Alien Immigration was set up in 1902 to consider immigration controls. Although the Commission dismissed many of the anti-immigrant arguments of the time as baseless, its discussions ultimately led to the enactment of the Aliens Act of 1905. This Act established a system of immigration officers and gave the Secretary of State for the Home Department the power to refuse entry to aliens from the perspective of public interest. The regulations that were actually introduced were full of loopholes as a result of various compromises, and so the Act did not radically tighten restrictions on entry into the UK. It did, however, become the basis for a further tightening of restrictions during World War I, including provisions for deportation.⁴⁹

Canada, Australia, and other white-ruled, self-governing dominions within the British Empire embarked on tightening immigration restrictions based on racist discourse to a greater extent than mainland Britain. While it was economically rational for colonial development to accept large numbers of Chinese and Indian immigrants as cheap labor, white settlers were more sensitive to Anglo-Saxon homogeneity than their home countries, and they vehemently rejected immigration by other races, arguing that it diluted their identity. Consequently, these self-governing dominions implemented a range of measures that, while formally unrelated to race, effectively excluding non-white immigrants, such as entry taxes, tonnage restrictions limiting the number of immigrants that can a ship can transport to its size, and literacy tests in Western languages.⁵⁰ The British imperial government in London showed little enthusiasm for blatant racial discrimination, partly owing to the need to govern a multi-ethnic empire, and partly because of its 1902 alliance with a non-white country, Japan. However, it repeatedly enacted legislation, similar to the immigration restrictions in the self-governing dominions, that effectively excluded people such as Chinese and Indians without formally discriminating based on race. As a result, immigration from Asia was almost completely excluded by World War I.⁵¹

4.2 Tightening of US Immigration Regulations

The anti-immigration movement gained strength in the 1880s even in the US, which had been the largest recipient of international immigrants in the nineteenth century. Throughout the century, as American territory expanded westward, securing settlers had been a major national goal for the US. To be sure, having started out as a homogeneous community of white, English-speaking Protestants, America experienced some discord among the diverse peoples who arrived in successive waves. Each influx of immigrants from Catholic countries and Eastern Europe always generated friction. The issue of immigration took on greater racial implications, however, with the influx of non-whites toward the end of the nineteenth century to meet America's vigorous demand for labor.

The US and the Great Qing Empire (China) signed what is known as the Burlingame Treaty in 1868 that established an equal bilateral relationship. While it does not mention naturalization, Article 5 of the treaty does provide for free migration and immigration of their two peoples.⁵² Consequently, large numbers of Chinese went to the US as contract laborers and were employed as a cheap labor force in the American West. However, as early as 1882, temporary legislation was passed to exclude Chinese immigrants, which became a permanent law in 1902 and remained in effect until 1943, during World War II. In addition, a registration system for controlling Chinese living in the US was established and enhanced. Chinese people living in the US were thus used as cheap labor but were unable to naturalize. The exclusion of Japanese immigrants that began on America's West Coast after the Russo-Japanese War was part of this general trend to exclude immigrants.

Increasingly systematic and "scientific" border control methods were introduced as advances in the modes of international migration put mounting pressure on national borders. A federal government immigration office was established on Ellis Island, off the coast of New York's Manhattan Island, and beginning in 1892 it was responsible for screening immigrants arriving across the Atlantic Ocean. Three-quarters of the immigrants coming to America at the time were screened at this huge facility (now the National Museum of Immigration) in a workflow process not unlike a factory production line. Here, medical examinations, document checks, and interviews were used to prevent people from entering the country: those with infectious diseases, passengers who did not pay their ship passage, polygamists, prostitutes, and anarchists. It was also hoped that conducting some intelligence and academic ability tests would play a role in keeping out "undesirable" immigrants at the border. A similar facility was established in 1910 on the West Coast, on Angel Island in San Francisco, where immigration screenings were conducted mainly for Chinese and Japanese immigrants.⁵³

4.3 Development of the French System

As we have already seen, France made patrilineal *jus sanguinis* the principle of its nationality system with the enactment of the Napoleonic Code. France in the nineteenth century was a major center of European civilization and an immigrant receiving country. The Napoleonic Code had no provisions regarding naturalization, but a route to obtaining French nationality was open to foreigners who declared their intention to naturalize after ten years of residence.⁵⁴ But the naturalization procedure was, in reality, complicated, costly, and time consuming. Moreover, even foreigners could effectively acquire many aspects of citizenship if they obtained a residence permit. Therefore, only a small number of foreigners actually were naturalized.⁵⁵

Under the *jus sanguinis* rule of the Napoleonic Code provisions, children born of alien parents remained forever aliens. Amending the Napoleonic Code itself, even if attempting to amend just that aspect, would have implications for the French legal system as a whole; moreover, the principle of *jus sanguinis*, being accepted in continental Europe at the time, had become a kind of international standard. And so the system evolved in a way to allow naturalization in a more flexible manner.

In 1851, under the Second Republic, the law was amended to grant, in principle, French nationality to French-born children, even if both parents were aliens, as long as at least one parent was born in France; in other words, the path to naturalization was opened to third-generation immigrants. Even in this case, they were still allowed the freedom to choose French nationality when they came of age.

Actually, the fact that there were children of immigrants living in France having the right to naturalize who did not seek to acquire French nationality was an issue at that time. This resulted in a rise in the number of foreign nationals permanently residing in France: the country's foreign population, which was approximately 655,000 in 1866, or 1.7% of the total population, almost doubled 10 years later to nearly 1.13 million, or 3% of the population.⁵⁶ This provoked a backlash from ordinary French people. The military conscription system, previously full of loopholes to escape serving, had become more rigorously enforced out of military necessity. It was unreasonable for those obligated to serve to live among those who were not in a republic that was supposed to be made up of equal citizens. It was thought unfair for someone born in France, resident since their parents' generation, to enjoy various state protections without fulfilling the attendant duties.

Another point, in addition to this perspective on civil equality, was a concern at the time about matters of national defense created by the growing number of foreign residents. France is a continental country, separated from its neighbors by long land borders. It was feared that having a sizable number of foreigners living in border areas might be undesirable from the standpoint of national defense. Such national security concerns were taken more seriously on the growing awareness, after France's crushing defeat in the Franco-Prussian War of 1870–71, that the country had become inferior in terms of population to the unified Germany.⁵⁷ It was felt that those French-born people who lived in France since their parents' generation had completely assimilated, in both language and customs. If so, a popular view held

that the country should promote their naturalization, both from the perspective of expanding human resources and from the perspective of accepting social reality.

That was the lead up to the Nationality Law enacted in 1889 under the Third Republic. The law denied the right to refuse French nationality that had been granted to third-generation immigrants under the 1851 law, and it granted French nationality, automatically and irrevocably, to anyone born in France of French-born parents. Also, it granted French nationality, in principle, to second-generation immigrants reaching the age of majority provided that they still resided in France, but they could retain their foreign nationality if they made a declaration within a year of reaching the age of majority.⁵⁸ There is no question that the French authorities took a stance of promoting naturalization, although they did leave some room for maintaining foreign nationality. At the same time, the French government encouraged resident aliens to naturalize by limiting their rights; it set a time limit on the right of residence that had previously been granted indefinitely and attached nationality conditions to civil service jobs and admission eligibility to some public schools that had previously been open to foreigners. Furthermore, by making the procedure for renouncing French nationality very strict, the government strongly induced second-generation immigrants to acquire French nationality. In other words, this effectively meant that French nationality law came to incorporate jus soli elements.⁵⁹

4.4 Development of the German System

Germany, which was unified in 1871, inherited its nationality law from the North German Confederation, which had enacted its Law on Nationality and Citizenship the year before; that law, too, had been inherited from the former German states, which meant that even in Imperial Germany, nationality was something each territorial state decided. The law was based mostly on the principle of descent but supplemented by factors such as place of birth and place of residence. It also included the ability to naturalize under certain conditions, and the loss of nationality when residing abroad for 10 years.⁶⁰ There was a sudden need to reconsider the question of who was German, arising from two new issues: the status of residents in the territories acquired from Denmark and France during the process of German unification and, as in France, a growing awareness of draft evasion. Strictly applying the jus sanguinis principle would not only make these residents aliens, exempting them from military service obligations, but it would also mean passing their same status down to their next generation. The rising number of youths not serving in the military, in the Alsace-Lorraine region in particular, was seen as problematic.⁶¹ In addition, by the end of the nineteenth century, Germany had begun acquiring overseas colonies, necessitating a reconsideration of the status of residents in those overseas territories.

Liberal arguments of immigrant integration, which held that incorporating new members into Germany was morally and economically correct, were also prevalent at the time. Also widely advocated was a mercantilist argument for immigrant integration, akin to one Napoleon had asserted. It argued that Germany's external competitiveness would decline unless its new residents were integrated as Germans, and so to incorporate as many residents as possible, Germany should strengthen the *jus soli* principle in determining nationality. France's amended nationality law of 1889, which we saw made birthright-based naturalization almost automatic, further aroused the concerns of the German Army, as it prepared for a French war of revenge. Indeed, in 1892 Hohenlohe, then governor of Alsace-Lorraine, asked German Chancellor Caprivi to grant German nationality to children born in Germany to foreign parents under certain conditions.⁶²

But interestingly enough, the story was quite different at the eastern border. Fear of immigration dominated the debate as pressure from the influx of immigrants from the east began to increase in the 1880s. Germany had been an immigrant sending country until the mid-nineteenth century, and tens of thousands of poor German peasants settled in the Volga River region, with Russian state encouragement, as far back as the 1760s during the reign of Catherine the Great. Later, a great many emigrants, sailing from Hamburg and other northern German ports, crossed the Atlantic Ocean for the New World such that their numbers are said to have reached 1.25 million by the 1850s. There was slight awareness of a large influx of immigrants as being a problem, apart from poor immigrants, at the time of German unification in 1871. However, the US became less eager to accept immigrants starting around the 1880s, and there was growing talk in some quarters of fears that the large-scale immigration that went along with the steady development of German industry would turn the country Polish or Slav owing to the expanded number of immigrants from Poland, which had been partitioned and annexed by Russia, Prussia, and Austria in the late eighteenth century.

German Chancellor Otto von Bismarck ordered the deportation of "Russians" without residence permits from eastern Prussia in March 1885. He then took similar measures in July against Austrians in the country. His apparent aim was to remove ethnically Polish migrant workers whose nationality was Russian or Austrian from Prussia. By 1887, upwards of 30,000 Poles (a third of whom were probably Jews) were forced out of Germany as a result. Expelling a great number of people from the country who, although aliens, were neither criminals nor economic burdens was a heavy-handed policy even by the standards of the time; these measures, in fact, invited opprobrium from the countries involved.⁶³ It is an episode that speaks to the German inclination toward ethnic nationalism of the time, an attempt to make Germany a purely Protestant Germanic nation.

The rise in ethnic nationalism during this period was not a phenomenon unique to Germany, however. Pan-Slavism was on the rise in Russia, and German immigrants there were also suffering. However, it was the Jews who were subjected to even more severe exclusion. Many Jewish immigrants migrated to Germany to escape the pogroms and repeated persecution of Jews in Russia. Germany responded by tightening restrictions on entry from its eastern border, on the pretext of preventing the spread of a plague from Russia.⁶⁴ The international political environment of this period saw states increasing national mobilization by strengthening their national unity, which in turn stimulated states to reconceptualize membership in more exclusive ways.

German nationalists campaigned for a system that would make it easier for Germans who emigrated abroad to maintain their nationality, and that would prevent foreigners from becoming naturalized.⁶⁵ The enactment of the Nationality Act in 1913 is a symbolic culmination of this trend. It strengthened the *jus sanguinis* principle: no longer would the nationality of German emigrants be automatically revoked after 10 years of residence abroad, theoretically making it possible for them to pass their German nationality down to their descendants, and it also contained provisions making it easier to restore nationality upon return to Germany.

It was all but impossible for emigrants who left Germany to fulfill their duty for military enlistment required to maintain their German nationality. Furthermore, providing "protection" to "Germans" in the US or Russia was fanciful talk that surely would have led to diplomatic problems. With the approval of the 1913 Act, Germany took the path towards "an unusually strict and consistent German definition of the citizenry as a community of descent,"66 according to one assessment, but the changes were more procedural, rather than using ethnic criteria to determine nationality. To be sure, blatantly racist policies were also adopted, such as refusing to grant German nationality to children born in German protectorates like Samoa or in Africa to German colonists and native women, or even worse, prohibiting interracial marriages altogether. Moreover, there was no shortage of racist practices and discourses that considered East Slavs and Jews as inferior peoples.⁶⁷ Yet, as evidenced by the fact that it took almost 20 years to enact the Nationality Act that was first proposed in the Imperial Diet in 1894, the bill's deliberations had stalled on opposition from German colonists, liberals, and the Social Democratic Party, which was a powerful force in the Reichstag (Imperial Diet).

It would be an over-interpretation to regard the Act as purifying the German Empire into a community of descent, thus paving the way for the Nuremberg Laws, enacted in 1935 under the Nazi regime, that prohibited Germans from marrying Jews. In any case, purifying the country, making it a pure ethnic community, was an unfeasible project for Germany, whose empire already held a significant number of non-Germanic peoples.

4.5 Differences of the French and German Systems

It is an undeniable fact that Polish residents experienced discriminatory treatment in Germany, where they lived in large numbers following the partition of Poland in the eighteenth century. Immigrants working in Germany were treated only as temporary guest workers; a public agency was established to control these migrants from the East, to arrange their employment and issue them entry permits. Their employment was restricted to specific industries in specific regions, and the duration of their residency permits was strictly set according to the worker's skill level. They were a labor force; no attempt was made to treat them as neighbors sharing daily life.⁶⁸ Moreover, it is true that whereas the French system of nationality sought a semicoerced assimilation of immigrants through its de facto change from *jus soli* to *jus*

sanguinis, the German system reinforced the exclusion of immigrants living in the country by purifying its principle of descent.

Why did Germany and France, each galvanized by changes the other made, ultimately move toward contrasting systems of nationality? Rogers Brubaker, a professor of sociology, attributes this to the contrasting self-perceptions of the "who we are" eligibility requirements for membership in the two countries. This was contractual and rational in France, which tried to incorporate immigrants. He notes that, in contrast, Germany had strong historicist and culturalist tendencies and conceptualized its members in ethnic terms, which led to exclusion of immigrants and racial purification (and later, under the Nazi regime, carrying out radical large-scale expulsion of Jews).

However, as I have already pointed out, *jus soli* was the concept of nationality under the feudal class system, and *jus sanguinis* was first introduced as a legal principle by France after the revolution. Furthermore, French universalistic inclusivity did not extend to Algeria, which France occupied in 1830 and subsequently ruled as overseas departments, and the local Muslim population were not incorporated as equal French citizens. Considering this, eligibility for French membership cannot be said to be universal at all. Furthermore, recalling the intensity of antisemitism seen in the Dreyfus Affair in France, which started at the end of the nineteenth century, it is hard to consider racial prejudice as being any less prevalent in France than in Germany. Similarly, France lost its tolerance for cross-border population movements and for incorporating new members when it grew more aware of external threats. In fact, France granted its police authorities strong powers to control foreigners and, beginning in 1893, implemented a system for registering places of residence.⁶⁹ During the Third Republic, a number of laws to restrict immigration were also deliberated, although few passed.

Perhaps the key difference between Germany and France is that France, being the traditional center of Europe, had a long experience as an immigrant receiving country up to the nineteenth century. In that century, too, immigrants from Belgium, Switzerland, Portugal, and elsewhere poured into France once Napoleon's defeat put an end to the series of conflicts that followed the French Revolution. And in the latter half of the century, as industrialization advanced, Jews from Eastern Europe and Russia continuously flowed into France, as they had in Italy, Poland, and even Britain, as well as immigrants from North Africa and Indochina. Consequently, late nineteenth-century France confronted the challenge of how to integrate domestically resident immigrants into the state. French nationalism, it should be pointed out, has become inextricably linked to a strong confidence in the universality and centrality of its own civilization. With France being a central power in the international politics of Europe, however, its nationalism is expansive and, backed by military capability, has long demonstrated a dynamic for outward expansion. Napoleon's conquest of the continent is the most recent example of this. France was a proud empire with characteristics similar to that of the traditional Chinese Empire, or of twentiethcentury Soviet Union and the US, expecting all immigrants to convert to French civilization in the belief that, in principle, anyone can become French.

In contrast, Germany was a newly independent state, just established through the unification of its territorial states, that had remained a large-scale emigrant sending country in the 1870s; its leaders had little confidence that the country's domestic stock of immigrants could be integrated as new members. A state may regard immigrants, especially highly skilled human workers, as a valuable human resource, and so have a strong desire to incorporate them as members. Or a state might be wary of immigration causing ties to weaken between the state and its members, a wariness activated especially when a state must demand strong allegiance from its members in an unforgiving international political environment. France, a traditional empire, placed emphasis on the former consideration, whereas Germany, a latestarting nation, emphasized the latter. It was in 1999, with the Cold War over, West and East Germany reunified, and the EU steadily gaining strength, that Germany undertook a major revision of its nationality law, moving away from *jus sanguinis* in a jus soli direction, by granting nationality automatically to second-generation immigrants. Despite having many immigrants, Germany long upheld jus sanguinis owing to the ethnic German compatriots left behind in the east because of the country's having been divided after World War II and having lost a vast amount of territory with its defeat in two world wars in the twentieth century. The end of the Cold War saw borders becoming adequately stable and concerns that dual membership would lead to interstate conflict receding; for Germany, this development symbolizes the shift in political agenda, away from those compatriots and toward the unintegrated immigrant communities within the country.⁷⁰

5 Summary

Under the old order, most members of the state were people without the freedom to leave the land of their feudal lords; in that case, the relationship between territory, people, and state was generally fixed. Thus, eligibility for membership in state was conceptualized in relation to land, and the majority of countries actually had systems of nationality based on the principle of *jus soli* (birthright). Regardless, interstate personal jurisdiction discord did not emerge insomuch as freedom of movement itself was restricted. As a result of the American and French revolutions, the people were liberated from feudal restrictions and freedom of movement was established as a civil right, while the state was reconstituted as a rational institution established through a contract among its citizens. Accordingly, the French birthright system of nationality was seen as a relic of the feudal system.

The UK long kept the old order concept of membership, perhaps because it maintained the continuity of its constitutional system, undisrupted by revolution, since the seventeenth century. Perhaps, too, a principle of gradual integration may be more realistic in governing a vast empire than is required for a nation-state. In the case of the UK with its far-flung territories, a multi-layered structure emerged: it maintained a somewhat anachronistic eligibility requirement for membership within the British Empire, allegiance to the Crown, while various regions of the empire developed their Notes

own systems of eligibility. In addition, the *jus soli* principle is a more rational system from the perspective of reproducing more white settlers as citizens for immigrant states, such as the US, that were established through the marginalization of indigenous people by white immigrants—perhaps why a system that had its origins in the old order was maintained.

Meanwhile, the revolution in France resulted in reconstituting the state as a rational institution established through a contract among the people. The French nationality system, introduced after the revolution, became the model for continental Europe in the nineteenth century, and most European states accepted it as the basis of their own nationality system. *Jus sanguinis* thus became an effective system of nationality, thereby causing the nationality systems of the major Western states to no longer be consistent with one another.

In the late nineteenth century, amid and coincident with rising nationalism and racialism, the bond between the state and its citizens were strengthened in various ways, such as conscription, education, and the expansion of suffrage whereas relations between states grew more acrimonious. With the shrinking of technological barriers to crossing borders, states began to stringently control international population movement. The US and the UK both reinforced their immigration controls, employing newly developed scientific techniques for this purpose. In this era that emphasized the otherness of foreigners which was amplified by racism, many states tried to gain the upper hand in interstate competition by emphasizing distinctions between their members and non-members, and by strengthening their engagement with the former, whether immigrant communities within their borders or compatriots beyond their borders.

When World War I started, eligibility requirements for membership in a state became extremely exclusive. Many people's fates came to be influenced largely by the nation to which they belonged. In France, the UK, and Germany, enemy country nationals were first required to register and then either be repatriated or sent to internment camps. There were as many as 60,000 internees in France, 32,000 in the UK, and 100,000 in Germany. In the US, there were 4.7 million residents born in enemy countries, making full-scale internment completely impossible, but at its peak some 6300 enemy nationals were interned in 1918.⁷¹ When it came to the bond with the state, a widespread tendency in all countries was to ignore official nationality and to regard the innate racial or ethnic bond as more reliable than a bond acquired through naturalization.

Notes

- 1. Suzuki, Tadashi. 2007. Nashonarizumu to Isuramuteki kyōzon (Nationalism and Islamic coexistence). Tokyo: Chikura Shobō, 201.
- 2. Roche, T. W. E. 1969. *The Key in the Lock: a History of Immigration Control in England from 1066 to the Present Day.* London: J. Murray, 13.

 "The five key control points, the Cinque Ports, were at Hastings, Romney, Dover, Hythe and Sandwich: the process of passing through these ports gave birth to the word 'passport." Cohen, Robin. 1994. Frontiers of Identity: The British and the Others. London: Longman, 37.

- Fahrmeir, Andreas. 2000. Citizens and Aliens, Foreigners and the Law in Britain and the German States, 1789–1870. New York: Berghahn Books, 101; Fahrmeir, Andreas. 2007. Citizenship: the Rise and Fall of a Modern Concept. New Haven: Yale University Press, 47.
- Torpey, John. Fujikawa Takao (trans). 2008. Pasupo-to no hatsumei: kanshi, shitizunshippu, kokka (The Invention of the Passport: Surveillance, Citizenship, and the State). Tokyo: Hōsei University Press, 93–94 [Translation of Torpey, John C. 2000. The Invention of the Passport: Surveillance, Citizenship, and the State. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 58–59.].
- A detailed analysis of the decision in the Calvin case can be found in the following literature: Yanai Ken'ichi. 2004. Igirisu kindai kokusekihöshi kenkyü: kenpögaku, kokumin kokka, teikoku (The origins of the modern British nationality law: constitution, nation-state and empire). Tokyo: Nippon Hyöronsha, 38–56 [English readers might refer to Price, Polly J. 1997. "Natural Law and Birthright Citizenship in Calvin's Case (1608)." Yale Journal of Law & the Humanities, Vol. 9, 73–145. http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.13051/7701 (accessed March 12, 2024).].
- Kettner, James H. 1978. *The Development of American Citizenship*, 1608–1870. Published for the Institute of Early American History and Culture, Williamsburg, VA by Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, Chapter 2.
- 9. Ibid., 35.
- 10. Ibid., 180-181.
- 12. Huntington, Samuel P. Suzuki, Chikara (trans). 2017. Bundansareru amerika (America divided). Tokyo: Shūeisha, 301 [Translation of Huntington, Samuel P. 2004. Who are we? The challenges to America's national identity. New York: Simon & Schuster, 186.].
- 12. Kettner, op. cit., 232–239.
- 13. Ibid., 243.
- Matsui, Shigenori. 2012. Amerika kenpō nyūmon, dai 7-han (American constitutional law, 7th ed.). Tokyo: Yūhikaku [English readers might refer to https://www.archives.gov/foundingdocs/constitution-transcript (accessed March 12, 2024).].
- Refer to "Kokujin dorei to Amerika kenpö (Enslaved blacks and the US constitution)" in Agawa, Naoyuki. 2013. Kenpö de yomu Amerika shi(zen) [Looking for America through reading its constitution (complete)]. Tokyo: Chikuma Gakugei Bunko.
- 16. Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment of the US Constitution states: "All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States..." (Matsui, op. cit., 444; or https://constitution.congress.gov/browse/amendment-14/). Despite this Amendment, it was a different story for native American Indians: not until the enactment of the Indian Citizenship Act of 1924 was citizenship status was conferred on them. https://constitutioncenter.org/blog/on-this-day-in-1924-all-indians-made-united-states-citizens/ (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 17. Weil, Patrick. Porter, Catherine (trans). 2008. *How to be French: Nationality in the Making since 1789.* Durham: Duke University Press, 11–12.
- 18. On the system of nationality and restrictions on movement during the French Revolution, see Torpey, op. cit., Chapter 2.
- Tateda, Akiko. 2006. "Furansu ni okeru kokuseki seido to kokumin gainen (2): sono rekishiteki kosatsu (System of nationality and the concept of nation in France (2): Historical considerations)." *The Hokkaido Law Review*, Vol. 56, No. 5. http://hdl.handle.net/2115/6101 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 20. Weil, op. cit., 19.
- 21. Brubaker, Rogers. Satō, Shigeki and Sasaki, Teru (trans). 2005. Furansu to Doitsu no kokuseki to nēshon: kokuseki keisei no hikaku rekishi shakaigaku (Nationality and nation in France and Germany: a comparative historical sociology of the formation of nationality). Tokyo: Akashi

^{4.} Roche, op. cit., 40.

Shoten, 146 [Translation of Brubaker, Rogers. 2002. *Citizenship and Nationhood in France and Germany*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 88.].

- 23. Zolberg, Aristide R. 2007. "The Exit Revolution," in Green, Nancy L. and Weil, François (eds). *Citizenship and Those Who Leave: The Politics of Emigration and Expatriation*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press, 37.
- 24. Torpey, op cit., 108 [English edition, 68.].
- Fahrmeir 2000, op. cit., 105–106. House of Commons Select Committee on the Laws Affecting Aliens. 1843. Vol. V, page ix, as quoted by Bevan, Vaughan. 1986. The Development of British Immigration Law. Beckenham: Croom Helm, 64.
- 26. Bevan, op. cit., 63-64.
- Fahrmeir 2007, op. cit., 73; Torpey, op. cit., 110–113. [English edition, 70–71.] Torpey interprets the 1836 Act as strengthening immigration control, but also states that it was not strictly enforced.
- 28. Torpey, op. cit., 99-100 [English edition, 62.].
- 29. Fahrmeir 2000, op. cit., 118.
- 30. Torpey, op. cit., 143 [English edition, 82.]; Fahrmeir 2000, op. cit., 80.
- 31. Fahrmeir 2007, op. cit., 64.
- 32. Fahrmeir 2000, op. cit., 22.
- 33. Ibid., 26-28 and 37.
- 34. Karatani, Rieko. 2003. Defining British Citizenship: Empire, Commonwealth and Modern Britain. London: Frank Cass, 50–58.
- 35. Fahrmeir 2000, op. cit., 45–46.
- 36. For the contents of the Aliens Act of 1844, see Yanai, op. cit., Chapter 6.
- 37. For example, there is the Don Pacifico affair in 1850, in which a Gibraltar-born Jewish British merchant living in Greece demanded compensation from the Greek government. Lord Palmerston, the British Foreign Secretary at the time, dispatched the Royal Navy to Greece to put pressure on the government, but his actions provoked strong criticism from within Britain as well as from other countries.
- 38. Tsiang, I-Mien. 1942. *The Question of Expatriation in America Prior to 1907*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins Press, 83.
- 39. Ibid., 45–47.
- 40. Ibid., 25–30.
- 41. Ibid., 95.
- 42. Ibid., 72.
- Regarding the Fenian raids on Canada, see the following documents: Neidbardt, W.S. 1975. *Fenianism in North America*. University Park: The Pennsylvania State University Press, 132– 135; Senior, Hereward. 1991. *The Last Invasion of Canada: The Fenian Raids, 1866–1870*. Oxford: Dundurn Press.
- 44. Herzog, Ben. 2017. *Revoking Citizenship: Expatriation in America from the Colonial Era to the War on Terror*. New York: New York University Press, 57–59.
- Jonas, Manfred. 1984. The United States and Germany: A Diplomatic History. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 25; Morrow, Rising Lake. 1934. "The Negotiation of the Anglo-American Treaty of 1870." The American Historical Review, Vol. 39, No. 4 https://doi.org/10.1086/ahr/ 39.4.663 (accessed March 12, 2024); Feldman, David and Baldwin, M. Page. "Emigration and the British State ca 1815–1925" in Green and Weil (eds)., op. cit., 144–145; Karatani, op. cit., 47–49.
- 46. Fahrmeir 2000, op. cit., 48–50.
- 47. Torpey, op cit., 133–134 [English edition, 80–81.].
- Coleman, David. 1995. "Immigration Policy in Great Britain," in Heckmann, Friedrich and Bosswick, Wolfgang, eds. *Migration Policies: A Comparative Perspective*. Stuttgart: Enke, 115–116.
- 49. Bevan, op. cit., 68–72; Fahrmeir 2000, op. cit., 101; Karatani, op. cit., 77 and 99.
- 50. Bevan, op. cit., 66.

^{22.} Weil, op. cit., 23.

- Daniels, Roger. 1995. "The Growth of Restrictive Immigration Policies in the Colonies and Settlement," in Cohen, Robin, ed. *The Cambridge Survey of World Migration*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 39–40; Torpey, op. cit., 154–161 [English edition, 96–101.].
- 52. For the text of the Burlingame Treaty, please see: https://history.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/ history-education-pss-war-burlingame-transcription.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 53. Fahrmeir 2007, op. cit., 97–98.
- 54. Weil, op. cit., 31.
- 55. Ibid., 32–33.
- 56. Ibid., 45.
- 57. For more information on France's concerns at the time about demographic trends and the foreign policy implications, see the following works: Cole, Joshua. 2000. *The Power of Large Numbers: Population, Politics, and Gender in Nineteenth-Century France*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press; and Offen, Karen. 1984. "Depopulation, Nationalism, and Feminism in Finde-Siècle France." *The American Historical Review*, Vol. 89, No. 3, 648–676. https://doi.org/ 10.1086/ahr/89.3.648 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 58. Regarding the contents of the 1889 amended law, see Weil, op. cit., 49.
- 59. Ibid, 50–53.
- Moriya, Haruyoshi. 2007. "Doitsu teikoku kensetsuki no kokusekihö (Nationality law during the construction of the German empire)." *The Chūō Law Review*, Vol. 113, No. 11/12, 675–698.
- Moriya, Haruyoshi. 2009. "Teiseiki Doitsu ni okeru kokusekihō no kaisei (Reform of the nationality law in imperial Germany)." *The Review of Economics and Political Science*, Vol. 77, No. 3/4, 299–300. https://meiji.repo.nii.ac.jp/records/3792 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 62. Ibid., 300.
- 63. Fahrmeir 2007, op. cit., 89–90.
- 64. Torpey, op. cit., 173-174 [English edition, 108-109.].
- 65. Brubaker, op. cit., 190 [English edition, 116.].
- 66. Ibid., 187 [English edition, 114.].
- 67. Moriya 2009, op. cit., 302 and 305.
- Bade, Klaus J. 1995. "Germany: Migrations in Europe up to the End of the Weimar Republic" in Cohen (ed)., op. cit., 133–134; Fahrmeir 2007, op. cit., 100.
- 69. Fahrmeir 2007, op. cit., 100.
- Weil, Patrick. 2001. "Access to Citizenship: A Comparison of Twenty Five Nationality Laws," in Aleinikoff, T. Alexander and Klusmeyer, Douglas B. (eds). *Citizenship Today: Global Perspectives and Practices*. Washington, D.C: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 30–31.
- 71. Fahrmeir 2007, op. cit., 120.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this chapter or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Chapter 5 Inclusion and Reproduction of Members



Contents

1	1000	apting a Foreign Labor Forea	151
1		pting a Foreign Labor Force	
	1.1	Migrant Workers in Postwar Western Europe	151
	1.2	Broken Incentives to Return Home	152
2	Guar	anteeing the Rights of Permanent Resident Aliens	153
	2.1	Denizen—Institutionalized Permanent Resident Aliens	153
	2.2	Suffrage Status	154
	2.3	The Dilemma of Liberal States	159
3	Natu	ralization and Dual Nationality	160
	3.1	Jus Sanguinis or Jus Soli	160
	3.2	Post-Cold War Baltic States	161
	3.3	Naturalization Requirements	163
	3.4	What Are the Core Values of a State?	164
	3.5	Dual Nationality	166
	3.6	Rise in Countries Allowing Dual Nationality	167
4	Socie	etal Integration	170
	4.1	Assimilation/Isolation	170
	4.2	The Development of Multiculturalism	171
	4.3	Disappointment with Multiculturalism	172
	4.4	Foundering Societal Integration	174
5	Sum	mary	175
No		*	178

Abstract For a state to continue to exist, it faces the challenge of integrating new entrants into its current members and reproducing the nation. A state's relationship with the people who have newly come to live in its territory develops through several stages. This chapter examines the issues of naturalization and dual nationality, systems by which a state grants formal membership to non-members. It also touches on the issues of societal and cultural integration, which have become politically controversial in the Western world. Other specific topics addressed in this chapter include the acceptance of migrant workers in postwar Western Europe, the rights of permanent resident aliens, naturalization in the post-Cold War Baltic states, and the development of—and disappointment with—multiculturalism. The "short twentieth century," from the outbreak of World War I in 1914 to the end of the Cold War in 1989, was the heyday of the "crustacean type of nation,"¹ firmly protected by the hard shell of its borders, which it used to control interaction with the outside. This development was driven in large part by constant, large-scale interstate conflict: two total wars and the ensuing Cold War. As states mobilized their populations for long periods of time in mutual confrontation, they were forced to secure strong allegiance from their members residing in the territories under their control, which required creating a relationship with their members that was at times pathologically close. This phenomenon was observed no matter the state's political and economic system or ideological position.

Accepting large numbers of immigrants from potential enemy states and magnanimously incorporating these immigrant communities has become a rather exceptional, laudable story. Receiving states tightened restrictions on accepting immigrants when their governments were in conflict with sending states. Host states and societies also lost the psychological wherewithal for tolerant acceptance of previously settled immigrant communities. Even the United States, a nation supposedly proud of being founded by immigrants on the basis of liberty and democracy, forcibly isolated members of the Japanese immigrant community in concentration camps during World War II, even including second-generation members who undoubtedly had citizenship under the US Constitution. Considering that German and Italian immigrants did not experience anything similar, racial prejudice could have been a factor. This is but one of many examples illustrating how minority immigrant communities have found themselves placed in difficult positions in an international political environment fraught with conflict.

At the same time, it was expected that the state of this period would play an incomparably greater role in various areas of the lives of its people than it did in the nineteenth century. Achieving equality among the people through income redistribution-in addition to providing them with a variety of services, such as education, medical care, pensions-has, to varying degrees, become a role widely expected of state. Such wide-ranging roles naturally require the resources to pay for them. The state's finances, previously funded through customs duties and state monopolies on certain products, were forced to assume a larger role in the twentieth century, by broadly taxing the income of the entire populace. It also became a global trend for the state's members, now expected to support their state with these ample taxes, to firmly demand to take part in political decisions. In short, not only did the state control the territory in which its members live, but it also became responsible for their lives in general. This entailed the state having to procure from its members the enormous resources necessary to provide them with a variety of services. Being a member of the state also means being a member of the state's redistribution and sharing of risk. The extent to which someone can receive services hinges therefore on whether he or she is a member of the state. And a state member is expected to provide resources to the state. As such, members naturally came to expect the right to participate in the decision-making of the state.

The borders between states with different regimes during the Cold War in the second half of the twentieth century were probably the most stoutly defended in

history. The Berlin Wall, which separated East and West Berlin, and the 38th parallel, which bisects the Korean Peninsula into north and south, are typical examples of such hard borders. In addition, even the traditional immigration states of the West adopted state policies regulating the flow of immigration openly on the basis of race. As mentioned in the previous chapter, the world's largest receiving country starting in the late nineteenth century, the US, gradually tightened its immigration laws and did not abolish its racially discriminatory quota limits by country until the Hart-Celler Act of 1965.² It was also official policy in Australia to exclude immigrants of *colored* races through the White Australia policy, which was not changed until the 1970s. Even Canada, arguably the world's most successful multi-ethnic immigrant state at the start of the twenty-first century, is no exception. Until it introduced its points system in 1967, immigrants of colored races were deemed "undesirable," ineligible to become new members of Canada.³

A unique international environment emerged in the period from the end of World War II to the 1970s. Somewhat paradoxically, relations between states within the Eastern and Western camps were strengthened by virtue of the Cold War itself, and the use of force became virtually unthinkable, especially within the Western camp. The result was a significant development of cross-border economic and social exchanges within the camp. The liberalization of economic and social exchanges progressed rapidly particularly among the Western European countries, a development actively backed by the US, which aimed to strengthen its camp. These economic exchanges gave rise to steady economic growth, which in turn led to higher demand for labor in Western countries, and the costs of migrating were decreasing, too. Amid this liberalization of the movement of goods, money, and information, it thus was simply not possible to stringently control only the movement of people. In other words, even as the state became a "crustacean type of nation," strictly controlling the flow of people into its territory and tightening control over membership eligibility, people, in fact, moved across borders consecutively. This meant that the state had no choice but to face the task of the kind of relationship it should establish with its new residents.

In this chapter, I shall examine how states tackled this task from the experience of Western European countries, the long-regarded models of the nation-state.

1 Accepting a Foreign Labor Force

1.1 Migrant Workers in Postwar Western Europe

Since the time of their economic recovery after World War II, developed Western European countries have tried to respond to a vigorous demand for labor by actively accepting laborers from abroad on the premise that they would return home after a certain period of time: i.e., guest workers. The United Kingdom and France brought in large numbers of workers from their newly independent former colonies. Prevented by the Cold War confrontation from importing labor from the Eastern European countries that were its traditional economic hinterland, West Germany relied heavily on bringing in labor from southern Europe, such as Italy, and from Turkey, with which it had historically deep ties. Yet as they all were assumed to be migrant workers staying temporarily in order to alleviate labor shortages, it was not envisaged that they would be incorporated as members of the state. Guest workers were positioned as a marginal labor force that was cheap, convenient, and easy to dismiss.

Western European countries suddenly stopped accepting guest workers and expected them to return home as the economic recession triggered by the 1970s oil crises precipitated a rise in unemployment. But many guest workers, having already established their base of livelihood, chose to remain in the countries where they resided. They instead had their family members join them, thereby continuing the flow of immigrants into Europe thereafter. Contrary to the host country's intentions, the immigrant community was thus reproduced on a larger scale.

Having large groups of people who are economically disadvantaged, socially isolated, and without political rights in the space of a democratic nation-state, which is supposed to be made up of members whose rights are guaranteed equally, is a situation that goes against the principles on which a democratic nation-state should originally stand. That these guest workers living among "us" and doing the same work continued to be excluded from state-provided social systems and services just because their nationalities were different, was naturally perceived as unreasonable in Western European countries where the welfare state was advancing, especially in light of the principle of equality, the foundation of democracy, as well as from the premise of the universality of human rights. Some of these states, at different paces and to varying degrees, began to take liberal policies of incorporating these foreigners into their welfare systems, in order to avoid the societal frictions that would arise from internally having large groups of people dissatisfied with unreasonable treatment. Providing benefits to foreigners in this way sometimes generates a sense among the populace who are already members of the system for mutual support that "our" system for helping each other is being used by "them." This sense will grow stronger notably in situations when security, the public good provided by the state, is threatened, or when economic growth is stagnant and the resources to be distributed are limited.

1.2 Broken Incentives to Return Home

As a strategy to deal with this problem, logically, there are the following options. One is to physically remove the immigrants from the country. An extreme measure would be to physically deport them. Measures to forcibly promote national homogeneity, being reminiscent of the Nazi-perpetrated Jewish Holocaust, were highly unpopular in postwar Western European countries, especially Germany. Even were such measures acceptable in terms of human rights norms, they would face resistance from economic sectors reliant on immigrant labor. Moreover, expelling a large, domestically resident population against its will is, realistically speaking, an option with high administrative and political costs. Enforcing such measures may very likely harm diplomatic ties with the governments of the expelled immigrants' countries of origin, which have an interest in their treatment. The Mexican government vehemently opposed the plan that President Donald Trump rolled out in 2017 to step up crackdowns on illegal immigration in the US, and if a further deterioration of relations led to losing the Mexican government's cooperation, the US would have found it more difficult to carry out deportations.

Setting extreme coercive measures aside, these Western states have implemented measures in various forms that provide incentives to encourage these workers to depart. For example, Germany tried to encourage Turkish guest workers to return home by enacting the Return Assistance Act in 1983, which offered quite generous financial incentives.⁴ Some immigrants naturally choose to return home once they have lost their job opportunities. Relatively few immigrants who go abroad intend to settle down right from the beginning, and there is a natural dynamic for the many people who migrate with the intention to return home once they have built up some assets that they will opt to go home if there is no economic merit in staying. Obviously, this also depends on the economic and political conditions of the migrant's country of origin. But moving to a foreign country is a risky choice for most people if their home country had stable politics, a stable society, and abundant employment opportunities.

However, the postwar experiences of Western European countries generally show that, after a certain period of time, measures such as these are not powerful enough to encourage immigrants to return home once they have established a base of livelihood in their current country of residence. And particularly for those people in the second generation or later in the immigrant community who were born and raised in their current country of residence, encouraging them to leave the country may have the same meaning as expulsion. After all, they were born in their current country of residence, received education there, and grew up speaking that country's language as their mother tongue. Furthermore, it is natural that over time a certain number of marriages will occur between members of the immigrant community and nationals of the receiving country; it is not necessary to bring up advanced human rights norms to understand the absurdity of policies that encourage such people to "return home."

2 Guaranteeing the Rights of Permanent Resident Aliens

2.1 Denizen—Institutionalized Permanent Resident Aliens

If, for reasons such as those mentioned above, it is not possible for the state to maintain the homogeneity of its membership by expelling immigrants outside its borders, then the challenge for the state becomes how to incorporate the number of non-nationals that presumably will be permanently residing in the country. Many countries have made attempts to establish systems that guarantee immigrants certain rights and provide them with a stable living environment rather than the precarious

status of foreign worker. They expected that doing so would eliminate various inconsistencies, prevent the emergence of spaces in domestic society where minorities were separated and isolated, and ensure political and social stability. In other words, they would establish a system to treat non-nationals who meet certain conditions as quasi-members of the state. These legal permanent resident aliens are sometimes called denizens.⁵

There are multiple systems for making denizens of foreigners. In the US, the permanent residence system is commonly referred to as a Green Card. Green Cards are issued primarily based on an applicant's skills and qualifications to measure his or her contribution to the US; some immigrants are granted eligibility for permanent residency through a lottery. In Japan, special permanent resident status was granted to Korean residents in Japan (South and North Koreans) as a result of the Japan-South Korea negotiations to normalize diplomatic relations in the 1960s. This status provides stronger rights guarantees than normal permanent resident status. In Western European countries, permanent resident status has been institutionalized for foreigners who have lived in the country for a certain period of time, making the renewal of their residence status and work status almost automatic.

What new rights do immigrants gain under such a system? It is common practice for liberal democracies to equally protect the liberal rights of foreigners, such as personal freedom, freedom of speech, freedom of opinion and expression, and freedom of religion. So, perhaps permanent residency and access to the labor market are the key rights that distinguish denizens from other resident foreigners. In addition, denizens can obtain the same eligibility as nationals for public social security systems such as pensions and medical care. So what differences separate denizens from nationals who are formal members of the state? Perhaps the most decisive difference is the right to participate in the formation of the state's will as a constituent subject, i.e., the right to vote.

2.2 Suffrage Status

The reality in this regard is more complex, however. In fact, there are many countries, mainly Western European, that grant denizens a certain level of enfranchisement (Tables 1 and 2). A 2016 study of Europe and the Americas found that 42 of the 53 states in the study's dataset grant some form of franchise to foreigners.⁶ Outside of Europe and the Americas, New Zealand and South Korea (since 2006) have also introduced systems that allow some permanent foreign residents the right to vote in local elections. The movement to enfranchise foreigners has been gradually expanding in Europe since the late 1970s; European Union (EU) member states agreed under the Maastricht Treaty, which entered into force in 1993, to allow foreigners—so long as they are EU nationals—to vote in European Parliamentary elections and in local elections in their country of residence. This movement arguably gained further impetus from deeper European integration and the dramatic improvement in the security environment after the ending of the Cold War.⁷

Non-resident franchise								N (%)
None			None	Monolevel (local only)	only)	Multilevel (i or local)	Multilevel (national and/ or local)	
None				Restricted	Unrestricted	Restricted	Unrestricted	
			Guatemala Nicaragua Suriname	Cyprus Greece Malta		Belize Guyana	Ireland* Uruguay	10 (18.8)
Mono only)	Monolevel (national only)	Restricted	Canada	Germany	Denmark Iceland Sweden	UK		6 (11.3)
		Unrestricted	El Salvador US Costa Rica Honduras Mexico Panama Switzerland	Austria Bolivia Bulgaria Czech Republic Spain France Croatia Italy Latvia Poland Romania	Argentina Belgium Colombia Estonia Finland Hungary Lithuania Luxembourg Netherlands Peru Paraguay Slovakia Slovenia Venezuela	Brazil Portugal	Ecuador	36 (68.0)
Multilev	Multilevel (national and/	Restricted			Norway			1 (1.9)

(continued)	
le 1	
Tabl	

Non-citizen franchise	franchise							N (%)
		Unrestricted						0 (0)
N (%)			11 (20.7)	15 (28.3)	18 (34.0)	5 (9.4)	4 (7.5)	53 (100)

Note *Non-citizen franchise in Ireland is unrestricted in local but restricted in national elections.

Source Arrighi, Jean-Thomas and Bauböck, Rainer. 2017. "A Multilevel Puzzle: Migrants' Voting Rights in National and Local Elections." European Journal of Political Research, Vol. 56, No. 3, 624

Enactment of a laws granting suffrage		Repealing/Rejecting laws granting suffrage
Finland		
	1945	
Australia		
UK		
Israel	1950	
Uruguay		
	1955	
	1960	
Ireland (regional)		
	1965	
New York City (Board of Education)		
	1970	
		Belgium
New Zealand		Canada
	1975	
Portugal, Sweden		
Denmark		
Norway		
Amsterdam		
Switzerland (Neuchâtel, Canton Jura, 1849 ~)		
The Netherlands		
Venezuela	1980	France
Ireland (national politics)		
Spain		Australia
Iceland	1985	
Chile		
Barbados		
Columbia		Germany
EU (Maastricht Treaty)	1990	
Estonia		Washington, D.C., Los Angeles (State of California)
Takoma Park (Maryland)		
Arlington (Virginia, Board of Education)		
Bolivia		
	1995	Iceland
EU (Treaty of Amsterdam)		Italy

 Table 2
 Suffrage for resident aliens after World War II

(continued)

Enactment of a laws granting suffrage		Repealing/Rejecting laws granting suffrage
		Massachusetts
	2000	France, Japan, Latvia
Vienna (Austria)		
Belgium		Belgium
Republic of Korea (ROK)	2005	

Table 2 (continued)

Source Arrighi, Jean-Thomas, and Bauböck, Rainer. 2017. "A Multilevel Puzzle: Migrants' Voting Rights in National and Local Elections." European Journal of Political Research, Vol. 56, No. 3

Still, the number of countries that allow non-citizens the right to vote at the national political level is quite limited, estimated to be around 10. Moreover, even in these cases, voting is often allowed only for foreign nationals from countries with special ties. For example, in the case of the UK, just about the only major industrial country that allows foreigners the national level franchise, this right to vote is limited to citizens of Commonwealth countries and Ireland, clearly stemming from the former British Empire's historical connections. Brazil and Portugal, too, allow reciprocity-based franchise at the national level, related to the fact that both countries, the former colony and former colonial power, share a common language.

Only five countries allow permanent foreign residents the right to vote in national elections in principle: New Zealand, Ireland, Uruguay, Chile, and Ecuador. Formerly, New Zealand granted only immigrants from the UK the right to vote in national politics, but changed its policy in 1975 by granting the right to all immigrants regardless of nationality upon one year of permanent residency. The fact that countries like New Zealand and Ireland have such open systems is probably not unrelated to their favorable security environments.⁸ In the case of Uruguay, although there are no nationality restrictions for franchise, the requirements for immigrants to vote are tougher than the requirements to naturalize: 15 years of residency, having family in the country, good behavior, and property or professional occupation.⁹ The fact that it was General Augusto Pinochet, an autocratic leader, who introduced this system in Chile in 1980 may be somewhat surprising. It is said that by enfranchising the relatively small number of European immigrants, he sought to have his proposed draft authoritarian constitution ratified in a national referendum, and thereby remain in power. Ecuador since 2008 has given foreigners with at least five years of residency the right to vote, including at the national level. However, as Ecuador is overwhelmingly an immigrant sending country, this system is presumed to be a sort of demonstration measure aimed at expanding the rights of its own emigrants abroad.¹⁰

There are also some cases where the aforementioned special historical ties have weakened and the system of suffrage for foreigners has been abolished. Australia and Canada, both with a history as white-ruled, self-governing territories of the British Empire, used to grant voting rights to citizens of Commonwealth countries. However, Canada abolished this arrangement in 1975 and Australia in 1984.¹¹ Several of the states in nineteenth century America allowed foreigners the right to vote in order

to encourage immigration and integrate new immigrants into local communities; by 1875, the number had increased to 22. However, the number of Asian immigrants increased toward the end of the nineteenth century and the state became a "crustacean type of nation" partly due to the influence of World War I, so that alien suffrage had been abolished in all US states by 1928.¹²

2.3 The Dilemma of Liberal States

In any case, permanent resident alien systems such as these represent a move to protect people's rights by emphasizing the fact of residence rather than nationality determined by place of birth or descent. From the perspective of the country of residence, this is a practical way of responding to the need for societal coexistence with immigrant communities that have actually established a base of livelihood. From the perspective of the members of these immigrant communities, the ability to solidify their legal status in the country of residence without losing their nationality in their home countries may be a more attractive option than naturalization.

Even though liberal states enhanced the rights guarantees of denizens, they are careful to avoid involving them in national politics, especially in decisions regarding foreign relations. In addition, these liberal states necessarily are left with no choice but to enter into asymmetrical relationships with non-liberal states. Nationals of nonliberal states can exercise political influence in liberal states, but nationals of liberal states cannot exercise the same influence in countries that do not hold elections. The implications of this are not so simple and it is difficult to make an immediate determination whether it will contribute to the spread of liberal values or lead to an increase in the influence of non-liberal states. Whichever the case may be, even liberal states will find it difficult to remain indifferent to such asymmetry in interstate relations fraught with conflict. The emergence of postnational membership, as some contend,¹³ is still hard to call a general trend globally; whether it is an irreversible trend is also highly questionable, considering that the twenty-first century is marked by the reemergence of non-liberal states like China and Russia. Moreover, one cannot rule out the possibility that, under certain circumstances, those holding nationality in the country of residence will change the system, depriving denizens of their rights, too, as they are not constituent members of the state. After all, a denizen is what you might call a "middle state" between foreigners and citizens, a system of compromise aimed at coexistence between immigrants residing in a country and the nationals who are that country's main actors.

3 Naturalization and Dual Nationality

3.1 Jus Sanguinis or Jus Soli

As a general principle of the sovereign-state system, the expected method for permanent resident aliens to fully participate in will formation as constituents of the state in which they currently live is, ultimately, for them to acquire nationality and confirm their bond with the state through a formal system. In fact, as the community of denizens passes through the second and third generations, the unnatural status of people called denizens cannot but become more apparent. The second and third generations in immigrant communities are born in their current country of residence, many receiving the same education, working in the same workplaces, and having economic interests in the society of their current country of residence; they are essentially no different from the majority population of nationals. That being so, the unnaturalness of their being put in a different legal status and living under different rights and duties due to their parents' different nationality, a condition beyond their control, will inevitably come to light. When that happens, the state will have to consider whether to accord them citizenship, that is, naturalization.

As we have already seen, the principles of descent (*jus sanguinis*) and place of birth (*jus soli*) are the traditional methods by which states determine their membership. There is a strong tendency to regard the former as a pre-modern system that emphasizes the character of the state as a community of blood. Yet the adoption of *jus sanguinis* in many countries can be traced to the Napoleonic Code, which was compiled in response to the French Revolution, as we have already seen (in Chap. 3, Sect. 2). However, whether by birthright or by descent, nationality is accorded based on conditions at birth unrelated to one's will, and in that sense, both systems can be said to be unreasonable from the standpoint of respecting the independence of personhood and free choice. In this respect, there is no difference between the two.

From the perspective of naturalization, however, there are significant differences between the two. With *jus soli*, immigrants in the second and successive generations automatically acquire the nationality of their country of residence. In contrast, with *jus sanguinis*, people inherit the nationality of their parents even if they immigrate or if national borders shift. That the US and other states founded by immigrants have adopted birthright-based nationality systems, inheriting the legal tradition of the UK, which had adopted the principle of *jus soli* rooted in feudal tradition, is a coincidence as well as a convenient system for assimilating continuous streams of new members as citizens.

On the other hand, that major continental European countries came to adopt *jus sanguinis* in the nineteenth century owed less to a deep attachment to bloodline or ethnicity and more to the fact that these states generally were sending emigrants to the New World during this period. Germany purified its *jus sanguinis* principle at the end of the nineteenth century and opted to exclude the Polish residents in its territory (see Chap. 3, Sect. 4). It should also be recalled that up until that time, Germany had been a migrant sending country. It is further conjectured that a background factor

for Germany's fundamental preservation of the descent-based Nationality Law of 1913 long after World War II was its awareness of the ethnic Germans who were left behind outside West Germany because of the postwar division of East and West Germany and the loss of eastern territories.¹⁴

In the 1980s, the Germany that Chancellor Helmut Kohl declared "is not a country of immigration" also stabilized its borders with the reunification of its East and West. Incorporating immigrants residing in the country then became a much higher priority and thus the nationality system was significantly revised. The nationality law was amended in 1999, after the end of the Cold War, allowing the German-born children of foreign residents to become German citizens, albeit with various conditions. The nationality law has been amended several times since, and *jus soli* elements have been strengthened.¹⁵ As a result, the major European countries can be said to have oriented themselves, by the start of the twenty-first century, toward granting citizenship to second-generation immigrants.¹⁶

3.2 Post-Cold War Baltic States

Of interest in this regard is the issue surrounding the handling of the legal status of ethnic Russian residents in the three Baltic states, which regained their independence with the end of the Cold War. Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania have preserved their own cultural and ethnic identities, even as they were influenced by their larger neighbors: Russia, Germany, Sweden, Finland, and Poland. All three gained independence after World War I but were annexed by the Soviet Union in 1940 under the secret protocol of the Treaty of Nonaggression between Germany and the Soviet Union. The Soviet Union colonized them, so to speak, implementing a program of Sovietization/Russianization, so that when the three Baltic states regained their independence post-Cold War, many Russians who had immigrated during the Soviet era were living in each country.¹⁷ Approximately 1.7 illion Russians were living in the Baltic states, according to Russian census data in 1989, making up 30% of the total population in Estonia, 34% in Latvia, and 9.4% in Lithuania. And so their legal status became a major question.¹⁸ Since they were Russian, should they acquire Russian nationality and return (home) to Russia as part of the decolonization, as did the Japanese settlers who had moved to Manchuria and the Korean Peninsula, and the many white settlers who had lived in African countries?

In fact, a great many Russians experienced a change of nationality following the breakup of the Soviet Union. Between February 1992 and 1996, 1.5 million people applied for Russian nationality, and about 40,000 people renounced it. Of the people who newly acquired Russian nationality residing in Central Asian countries such as Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan, 80% of them emigrated to Russian territory; almost all of those in the Baltic states remained in those countries.

Were they legitimate members of the new states, like the descendants of white settlers in the Americas and Oceania? In 1993 and 1994, Russia asked the Common-wealth of Independent States (CIS) countries, which had gained independence from

the former Soviet Union, to recognize dual citizenship with Russia. Not surprisingly, all of them rejected this, similar to when Asian and African countries achieved national independence after World War II.¹⁹

How were the Russians who remained in the Baltics treated by the states that had regained independence for the first time in half a century? Of the three, Lithuania, with the relatively smallest number of Russian residents as part of its population, most generously offered them nationality. Lithuanians were defined by the Law on Citizenship of 1989 as people who were citizens before Soviet annexation in 1940, as well as their descendants, so permanent residents, regardless of language or length of residence, could automatically acquire nationality provided they could show that at least one parent or grandparent was Lithuanian. Otherwise, they could still obtain citizenship if they swore an oath of allegiance to Lithuania to abide by its constitution and respect Lithuania's sovereignty and territorial integrity. As a result, roughly 95% of the adult population held Lithuanian citizenship in 1994.²⁰

In contrast, Latvia took the legal position that, as the country had been in a state of illegal occupation during the Soviet era, the nationals of the new state should be strictly limited to those who were citizens of the Republic of Latvia as of the 1940 Soviet annexation and their descendants. Accordingly, just about all the ethnic Russians who immigrated during the Soviet era were "foreigners" and had to acquire nationality through naturalization in order to become Latvian citizens.²¹ The 1994 Law of Citizenship basically adopted a *jus sanguinis*-based stance; it required that, at the time of applying for naturalization, a person had to have lived in the country for at least five years starting from 1990 and possess an income. Applicants were also tested on their proficiency in Latvian—which is very different from Russian—and knowledge of Latvia's constitution and history. They were also required to take an oath of allegiance to the Republic of Latvia.

Similarly, in Estonia, a law on citizenship was enacted in February 1992, stipulating two or more years of residence and Estonian language proficiency among other requirements for naturalization. The law was amended in 1995, tightening naturalization requirements by, among other things, extending the residency requirement to five years, and adding questions regarding its constitution and citizenship law to the existing exam on the Estonian language in addition to a minimum income requirement. Finally, an oath of allegiance to Estonia was required.²²

In response, European institutions such as the European Union (EU) and the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE; Conference on Security and Co-operation in Europe until 1994) applied strong pressure on Latvia and Estonia, calling on them to respect the human rights of minorities within their states.²³ Pressure from EU countries was very effective, for both states wanted to join the EU. A national referendum was held in Latvia in 1998 and the results led to an amendment of its citizenship law. Naturalization requirements were significantly eased, in particular, no longer requiring a Latvian language test from the children of non-citizens born in Latvia after the restoration of independence in 1991, effectively granting citizenship to second-generation immigrants.

Estonia, too, took some measures such as easing naturalization requirements and granting local suffrage to permanent resident aliens (i.e., Russian residents), so now

there are even some who consider its naturalization system to be comparatively more open than that of EU countries.²⁴

3.3 Naturalization Requirements

Even for the countries of continental Europe, which traditionally followed the principle of *jus sanguinis*, the integration of minorities residing within their states became a priority as their national borders became more stable and their security environment improved after the Cold War. Consequently, their systems have converged, with state membership eligibility for second-generation immigrants being based on place of birth, and for first-generation immigrants based on long-term residence (*jus domicilii*). The EU has played a role in promoting this kind of institutionalization and improved institutional coherence to promote the liberalization of the movement of people within the area and not merely for normative reasons.²⁵

It is also true, however, that naturalization is not granted unconditionally, even to immigrants who have settled permanently. Naturalization requirements vary from country to country, but it is common for many liberal countries to impose the following requirements.²⁶ The first is one we have already seen: the residency requirement, which requires that a person has lived in the country for a certain period of time. Many countries require around five years of residency, but that varies at the state's discretion. As shown in Table 3, even among Western European countries, the time period ranges from a minimum of three years (Belgium) to a maximum of 12 years (Switzerland), which can also change depending on each state's policies. For example, Germany maintained a 15-year residency requirement prior to 1999, at which time the law was amended to shorten the duration to eight years. What the term residency means is something that each state determines. For example, in the case of Eastern European countries, only the time after obtaining permanent residence counts toward residency, so actually it means that a longer period of residency is required for naturalization.

The second is the livelihood requirement, which shows that a person can be financially self-supporting. The more generous a state's welfare policy is, the more essential it becomes to be careful not to be exploited by welfare tourism, the term used to refer to the movement of people who try to take advantage of more generous welfare systems. The third requirement is the issue of the person's good behavior. Criminal history, tax records, and similar materials are generally used to concretely judge behavior. Even a liberal state would not venture to offer membership to persons who might act in a way that threatens its own security, or who clearly espouse an ideology that poses such a risk.²⁷

Years of residency required	Country
3	Belgium
4	Ireland
5	Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, France, Latvia, Malaysia, the Netherlands, Poland, Sweden, Turkey, the UK
6	Finland, Portugal
7	Greece, Iceland, Luxembourg, Norway
8	Cyprus, Estonia, Germany, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia
9	Denmark
10	Austria, Italy, Lithuania, Moldova, Slovenia, Spain
12	Switzerland

Table 3 Residency requirements for ordinary naturalization

Source Wallace Goodman, Sara. 2010. Naturalisation Policies in Europe: Exploring Patterns of Inclusion and Exclusion. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, 2010/07, Comparative Reports, 7

3.4 What Are the Core Values of a State?

To respect its members' inner freedom and to be value-neutral are principles of a liberal state. Even from among such countries, a growing number of them undertake a sort screening for allegiance to some of their core values, as well as having a citizenship test that tests for language ability and knowledge of their history, culture, and constitutional system (Figs. 1 and 2).

How each state perceives its own core values is an interesting question. No matter how rational and universal a state may be, inasmuch as the world is made up of independent states, we are left to believe that there must be something that distinguishes one state from the others, something that the state must protect. In formulating these core values, even liberal states that are not supposed to intrude into the inner world of the individual are forced to make its new members cognizant of the national identity and demand their allegiance to these values.

In the case of France, the issue becomes allegiance to *valeurs républicaines* (republican values). In materials targeting those interested in becoming citizens, in addition to democracy and "Liberty, Equality, and Fraternity"—the motto of the French Revolution—the emphasis on secularism (*laïcité*), which demands a strict separation of church and state, is notable. It also touches on the duties of French citizens to contribute to the national defense as well as to pay taxes, making clear that "In the event of war, all citizens may be called up to the army to participate in the country's defense."²⁸

In the case of the UK, along with British values and the responsibility of British people to respect the law and act fairly, the citizenship test material lists "look after yourself and your family," "look after the area in which you live and the environment," "treat everyone equally regardless of gender, race, religion, age, disability, class, or sexual orientation" and to "work for yourself and your family."²⁹



Fig. 1 Changes in language requirements for ordinary naturalization. *Source* Wallace Goodman, Sara. 2010. *Naturalisation Policies in Europe: Exploring Patterns of Inclusion and Exclusion*. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, 2010/07, Comparative Reports, 16

In the case of Canada, which has perhaps the most open immigration policy in the world today, the Oath of Citizenship still requires a declaration of allegiance to the reigning monarch of England in addition to observing its constitution and laws.³⁰ Furthermore, according to the official study guide for the citizenship test that the country administers to naturalization applicants, Canadian citizens are responsible for obeying the law, serving on a jury, supporting their family, and protecting the environment; it goes on to state the following about the defense of Canada:

There is no compulsory military service in Canada. However, serving in the regular Canadian Forces ... is a noble way to contribute to Canada and an excellent career choice... . You can serve in your local part-time navy, militia and air reserves and gain valuable experience, skills and contacts. Young people can learn discipline, responsibility and skills by getting involved in the cadets....

You may also serve in the Coast Guard or emergency services in your community such as a police force or fire department. By helping to protect your community, you follow in the footsteps of Canadians before you who made sacrifices in the service of our country.³¹

In major Western countries after the Cold War, compulsory military service was abolished, the economy has become marketized, and the redistribution function of the state has been reduced. But if a state seeks to govern effectively, it must secure material resources from its members as well as gain their loyalty.³² As long as this is the case, it is not possible to dodge the questions of who can become a member,



Fig. 2 Changes in country knowledge requirements for ordinary naturalization. *Source* Wallace Goodman, Sara. 2010. *Naturalisation Policies in Europe: Exploring Patterns of Inclusion and Exclusion*. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, 2010/07, Comparative Reports, 17

what the state expects from its members, and what the state guarantees its members. In order to provide threat protection, ensure economic and social stability, and carry out mutual aid and income redistribution functions for its members, the state must strengthen its capacity to mobilize its members materially and spiritually, grant them the rights that come with membership, as well as ask for members to share sacrifices and risks. When the time for that comes, the ultimate question will be who will share the risks of protecting the state and how. The dramatic improvement in the post-Cold War security environment saw the countries of Europe change their systems for nationality and naturalization in a more open direction. However, in the twenty-first century, with the frequent occurrence of terrorist attacks by Islamic extremists, these states have tightened their naturalization requirements to varying degrees and more of them have instituted citizenship tests. This speaks to the growing importance of the aforesaid ultimate question.³³

3.5 Dual Nationality

It is known that many immigrants have actually chosen to remain in denizen status, notwithstanding the easing of requirements so as to encourage naturalization. It might

be because as denizen status becomes more satisfying, the desire to participate in politics becomes less pressing. Yet at the same time, the hesitancy denizens feel about severing the bond with their country of origin as a result of naturalizing is not unusual. This is especially true for first-generation immigrants. It may also be related to the degree of progress of a denizen's integration into society.

To boost the naturalization rate, a movement to promote naturalization by allowing dual nationality has spread over the past few decades, mainly in European countries (Fig. 3). As we have seen, nationality systems are determined at each state's discretion; an international mechanism to coordinate among these systems, much less one unified system, does not exist. Therefore, it does happen that there are people with multiple nationalities or, conversely, people with no nationality.

It has traditionally been considered undesirable to hold multiple nationalities/ citizenships. Internationally, the "Convention on Certain Questions Concerning the Conflict of Nationality Laws" was adopted at the League of Nations Codification Conference held in 1930, and after World War II, the "Convention on the Reduction of Cases of Dual Nationality and the Obligation of Military Service in Cases of Dual Nationality" was adopted by the Council of Europe in 1963. These conventions basically took the position of preventing dual nationality to the greatest possible extent.³⁴ The grounds for the argument against dual nationality is that immigrants who become new citizens should demonstrate allegiance to the state in which they become naturalized. There was also a wariness that a dual national might be forced into a relationship of incompatible loyalties between their country of origin and the country of naturalization. A severe conflict between the two countries, even one falling short of the extreme situation of war, would put dual nationals in a sort of test of loyalty, having to decide which state to prioritize their relationship with. Furthermore, the political participation of citizens under democratic principles demands that citizens equally share in the results of their political choices, but it is possible that this mechanism does not work for dual nationals. In other words, for a dual national taking part in public decision-making in one country to have the option, if dissatisfied with the outcomes, of fleeing to the other country violates democratic equality represented by the principle of "one person, one vote."35

Here, I would like to remind the reader that dual nationality means overlapping personal jurisdiction, a potential source of interstate conflict. This issue of multiple nationalities was the backdrop against which the War of 1812 was fought between the UK and the US, and the very issue that the US sought to resolve by concluding the Bancroft Treaties after the Civil War, as we saw in the previous chapter.

3.6 Rise in Countries Allowing Dual Nationality

It is an unmistakable fact that an increasing number of countries allow dual nationality despite the traditional argument against it. In the US, which had dealt with this issue in the nineteenth century through the Bancroft Treaties, it became permissible as a result of a 1952 US Supreme Court ruling that dual nationality is "a status long





recognized in the law" and that "a person may have and exercise rights of nationality in two countries and be subject to the responsibilities of both."³⁶ Hence, although not actively supportive of this change, the US government did accept it, and many of the Bancroft Treaties, now unenforceable, were abrogated during the Jimmy Carter administration. The current US government has taken a nuanced position: while acknowledging the legality of dual nationals, it does not, as a policy, encourage dual nationality owing to various predictable issues.³⁷

As possible reasons for this trend, we can point to the growing influence of the norm that possessing nationality constitutes a part of human rights and the growing emphasis on women's rights. Based on the premise that a child ought to be able to inherit the nationality of both parents because forcing the child to choose either the father's or the mother's nationality is improper, then the argument is persuasive that it is natural for a child to inherit both if the parents' nationalities differ.

Furthermore, as I shall discuss in the next chapter, conditions have become more supportive of dual nationality with the stronger push among emigrant-sending countries to maintain relationships with their own nationals who emigrate. In light of this development, emigrant-sending countries find themselves having to allow dual nationality for immigrants entering their countries. For example, southern European countries, traditionally a source of migrants to the industrialized countries of northern Europe, as EU members have become recipients of immigrants from Africa and the Middle East in the twenty-first century. It is therefore difficult for a country of emigrants to take the position of allowing dual nationality for its nationals who leave the country, while at the same time denying it to immigrants entering the country.

But most of all, operating a system strictly allowing for only one nationality may be difficult in today's world, where each state controls its own nationality separately in its own system, as throngs of people cross borders to build lives in their new places of residence. A child of immigrants coming from a country with descent-based nationality laws who is born in a country with a birthright-based nationality law has dual nationality, regardless of the child's (or the parents') wishes. Conversely, a child born to parents from a birthright-based country in a descent-based country may be stateless. Dual nationality, which used to occur in a handful of exceptional cases, has become nigh impossible to eliminate, given that resident registration and birth certificate systems vary from country to country, and such systems do not function effectively in many countries.

It should also be recalled that behind this trend is the emergence of an international environment that facilitates the holding of multiple memberships. Integration among EU countries post-Cold War has deepened to the point where geopolitical competition between member states has become unthinkable, and a cross-jurisdictional membership, a so-called EU citizen, has gained ground. It has also developed as a supra-national system uniting different nationalities. The EU has come to hold real meaning, although it cannot yet be said that a European identity that transcends "German" or "French" has replaced the existing national identities. Western European countries in succession did away with military conscription after the Cold War, and with it has receded the real possibility of their members being tested with the ultimate question of belonging (i.e., risking one's life to defend the state). Moreover,

even should an issue of overlapping personal jurisdiction arise, so long as it happens between established liberal democratic countries without a territorial dispute between them, it can be resolved within a common legal framework.

Yet that the three Baltic states, which also belong to the EU, are cautious about dual nationality is indicative. Article 12 of Lithuania's constitution stipulates that dual citizenship is prohibited with the exception of individual cases provided for by law. Dual nationality is prohibited in Estonia in principle, but it is tacitly allowed in practice. Its constitution states that no person who acquired Estonian citizenship by birth can be deprived of it; only naturalized citizens, by holding another nationality, can be deprived of Estonian citizenship. Latvia, which allows dual citizenship under its 2013 Citizenship Law, has an interesting system that limits the countries with which persons may hold another citizenship, including countries of the EU, North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), and others with which Latvia has concluded special treaties. What is clear is that the Baltic states are extremely guarded toward dual nationality with Russia. The obvious reason appears to be the sense of geopolitical wariness and political discomfort that they feel toward Russia.

4 Societal Integration

When an immigrant community, no matter its origin, becomes an official member of its country of residence, at that stage the integration of the new members into the state is complete, in terms of the public system. It is another matter, however, whether those new citizens will be able to integrate societally with members of the indigenous majority in the country of residence. Societal integration of ethnic groups is a major challenge in many immigrant-receiving countries.

4.1 Assimilation/Isolation

The traditional approach to societal integration is called assimilationism. Initially, the new members spent their lives helping each other within their own minority community, living in specific areas or working together in specific occupations. As the generations pass, however, their places of residence and occupations become more diverse, and they come to learn the language of their country of residence as their mother tongue. As intermarriage among different communities increases, the identity of the immigrant community dissolves into the national identity of the country of residence. This is the sketch of assimilationist social integration. This attitude implicitly assumes the existence of a dominant culture or core cultural system that remains stable over time. In other words, this position holds that a sense of "we" has continued unbroken from a distant past before modern times, regardless of

whether a country's identity originates from its language, its religion, or its ecosystem such as climate or geography.

Advances in studies on nationalism have thrown emphasis on the fictious nature of what used to be considered the identity of a nation. It is now evident that what had been regarded as the traditional and distinctive culture of a country is in fact the product of political will from a national integration project to unite the modern state, and that the history of a "tradition" that is considered traditional is surprisingly shallow and has changed over time.³⁸ It is true that, whatever the political system, extremely repressive measures are required when seeking assimilation through social customs and religious beliefs that are deeply rooted in the personality. During the era of the White Australia policy, a program that separated indigenous children from their parents to raise, and nominally to "protect," them, continued until the late 1960s.³⁹ This is an extreme example of assimilating conquered indigenous peoples, but the "civilizing project" that imperialist states forced on indigenous peoples in the course of colonial rule wounded the pride of these peoples and eventually stoked a huge backlash.

In cases where assimilation is deemed impossible, isolation or segregation may emerge as an alternative strategy. It means acknowledging the existence of unassimilable groups, which in fact has been linked to racial discrimination. An example well known to Japanese people is the Japanese Exclusion Act (the Immigration Act of 1924) in the US. The US, supposedly a melting pot of races and a country of immigrants, acknowledged that there were groups that could not assimilate into American society; all people of color, including the yellow Asian races and African Americans, fell into this category. It is also well known that Jewish communities that did not accept the Christian traditions dominant in European societies faced long years of discrimination and isolation.

There was a bitter conflict between Catholics and Protestants within the Christian community, too. For example, there was a long history of Catholics in the UK since the Tudor dynasty being ostracized as a transnational security threat having ties to Catholic states on the continent. Not until the nineteenth century was this problem resolved. Many Western countries are currently struggling with the societal integration of Muslim communities.

4.2 The Development of Multiculturalism

Isolation clearly is incompatible with liberal norms firmly claiming the equality of humanity and the universality of human rights. Multiculturalism has thus become influential as a progressive position, replacing assimilationism. Multiculturalism holds that individuals belonging to each ethnic group should be respected as members of groups each with their own cultural traditions, rather than as members of a single national community.

For example, multiculturalism became official policy in Canada in 1971. Forced to respond to the separatist push by French residents of Quebec, the government made
efforts to preserve national unity by adopting French as one of the official languages and by treating the minority French culture and the dominant British culture as equal. In the US where African Americans struggled to improve their status even after the 1960s civil rights movement, there was a growing attitude to affirmatively highlight differences among ethnic groups and encourage that they be preserved rather than be melted into an American identity. Europe began adopting multiculturalist policies in the late 1970s to improve relations with immigrant communities, as could be seen in the UK, where race riots occurred. The Scandinavian countries, the Netherlands, and Germany also began implementing policies to encourage and support the various ethnic groups within their countries to maintain their cultural identities.

4.3 Disappointment with Multiculturalism

Yet there was growing disappointment with multiculturalism as the twenty-first century opened. Putting multiculturalism into practice requires recognizing which groups are the bearers of their cultures, then determining who belongs to which group. This recognition process by the state itself is not only unavoidable, but it also tends to disregard the diversity and oppression within groups. This fueled growing misgivings that the effort was furthering division rather than societal integration. Some argue that, widespread agreement to respect the cultural values of minorities notwithstanding, multiculturalism ultimately fosters and entrenches rivalry among ethnic groups within a society, which they suspect has resulted in divisions among these groups on an expanded scale.

The state still must ensure some kind of unity. This is something especially keenly felt by states in times when their people must share more hardships than benefits or states that must survive in a harsh international environment. Although multiculturism's acceptance of diversity and its spotlighting of the oppressiveness of the state's push toward homogeneity are laudable, it is deeply disappointing that not much can be said about its tenets to unite diverse peoples.

Nor can a tolerant and liberal state become completely value-neutral. In Canada, the birthplace of multiculturalism, two disturbing incidents occurred. In the 1980s Sikh extremists blew up an airplane departing from Montreal in support of the independence movement in their home country, India. Sri Lankan activists are known to have raised funds for the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE; Tamil Tigers), a terrorist organization in their home country.⁴⁰

In the post-Cold War 1990s, as the civil war raged in the former Yugoslavia, ethnic Croats and Serbs in Canada engaged in a war of words via their own radio stations. Their identities remained oriented towards Croatia or Serbia, not Canada. Furthermore, Canada dispatched troops in support of the United Nations peacekeeping operation that was deployed during the Yugoslav civil war. In September 1993, Canadian troops tasked with protecting the minority Serb population from Croatian attacks became embroiled in the most brutal fighting for the Canadian military since the Korean War. Ironically, the Croatian Minister of Defense at the time, Gojko Šušak,

was an immigrant who had lived in Canada for many years. He spiritedly organized the Croatian nationalist movement in Canada, collecting and remitting funds to the newly seceded Croatia. Some of the money allegedly turned into artillery and mortar shells that hit Canadian troops. A further irony is that this fierce Croatian nationalist movement was aided by the Canadian government's multiculturalist policies.

The [Canadian] federal government funded language schools and folklore centres but unbeknownst to them they also paid for publications disseminating the message of the radical right wing. The federal support was naive and often foolish: city halls in Toronto and Waterloo allowed Croats to fly the flag of the wartime Ustashe's Independent State of Croatia on the anniversary of the defunct state's foundation in 1945. [Ustashe was the Croatian fascist nationalist party, known to have collaborated with the Nazis to secure Croatian independence and to commit mass genocide against Jews and Serbs.]⁴¹

To be sure, it would be too hasty to evaluate a country's entire multiculturalism policy from a single case. It would be just as easy to find examples of people from diverse backgrounds cooperating and sharing risks. Canadian forces with their multicultural makeup have traditionally deployed around the world for UN peacekeeping operations; while serving as part of the International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) in Afghanistan in 2002, they carried out their duties despite suffering casualties into the triple digits. It should also be noted that members of immigrant communities are not the only ones to oppose the foreign policies of their own state.

What I would like to point out here is that Canada's multiculturalism policy may make it more difficult to create "Canadians," who can share the risks and burdens in times of hardship, from people of diverse origins, which would mean trouble when combined with a harsh international environment. In the example cited, Canada itself was not under threat, and there were no casualties among the Canadian troops deployed to the former Yugoslavia. Yet it would not be surprising for multiculturalism, which emphasizes bonds with home countries beyond the border, to be regarded as problematic if it dilutes ties among people within the border.

Disappointment with multiculturalism seems to be greater in Europe, with its nation-states having a history of feudalism, than in North America and Oceania, with its traditional immigration states created by white settlers as they marginalized the native populations. Many European states have worked hard to share multiculturalism with immigrants from Muslim countries. Yet the shocking fact is that some of the operatives who joined the Islamic State (IS) and other radical Islamist movements energized by the instability in Middle Eastern countries and who carried out terrorist attacks in Europe were among the young people who were born in, held the nationality of, and received a multicultural education from the very countries that had made efforts to achieve multicultural coexistence. German Chancellor Angela Merkel said in 2010 that "multiculturalism in Germany has failed."⁴² The disappointment with multiculturalism is vividly reflected in the fact that in all Western countries, doubts about immigration policies have spread well beyond a few radical far-right groups.

4.4 Foundering Societal Integration

There are positions that seek to de-ethnicize the principle of integration. Indeed, the principle of integration that is at work between people of different ethnic backgrounds cannot possibly be something ethnic. Even if we seek integration based on liberal principles such as democracy, freedom, and equality, emphasizing their universal validity, however, it may be seen as merely a form of assimilationism unless most people around the world accept these same liberal principles. It is a stark fact that there are still groups that do not support liberal positions on issues such as secularism and gay rights.

Rights guaranteed by formal institutions are important, of course, but alone do not achieve societal integration. Societal integration is related to informal institutions and customs rooted in society that, over time and through repeated trial and error, are shared by countless people. Societies may also differ in their ability to integrate new members. For example, French historian and demographer Emmanuel Todd deduced two anthropological types of society: the universalist and the differentialist. From that he argues that in countries where the family system prototype is authoritarian, such as Germany and Japan, the state's ability to assimilate immigrants is low and the immigrant community remains in a state of segregation for a long time, but in universalist societies typified by France, immigrants soon become assimilated through marriage. If this is truly the case, then in a universalist society like France, while multiculturalism may soften the shock of the first generation of immigrants who begin to live in a society with a different culture, it should hinder what Todd implies is naturally occurring assimilation.⁴³ In reality, France has not adopted multiculturalism; it adopted a liberal policy of assimilation that integrates society based on the equal human rights of individuals, not groups. Even so, many of the perpetrators of the shocking terrorist attacks that occurred in Paris in 2015 and Nice in 2016 were French (including those with dual nationality).

Of course, this does not mean that terrorist attacks are exclusively caused by immigrants. The examples of successful societal integration are numerous. We should be cautious about judging the overall picture of societal integration solely from shocking and attention-grabbing incidents. Yet, looking at the current situation (as of the time of writing in 2018), one can hardly say there is any noticeable difference in the degree of social integration of the Muslim communities in Germany and France. The undeniable reality is that many voters feel a strong sense of disillusionment toward both liberal (which many Western commentators tend to refer to as "Western") assimilationism and tolerant multiculturalism, which in turn has led to the rise of anti-immigration parties in Western countries.

What we might conclude from the country experiences examined here is that the formation of a political community is unlikely to make any headway solely through window dressing. What makes it possible for people with different customs and religious and political beliefs to bond under one society is the ceaseless process of learning and compromise on all sides. It is the natural act of reproducing identity— mutually learning to coexist with others, establishing and internalizing it such that

it might be called a custom, and continually integrating new "others" as they appear in succession.

At the same time, policies cannot freely change internalized norms and customs. In that event, policies and formal institutions are not very likely to achieve societal integration right away. It is not possible here to formulate an easy answer to the complex question of what conditions expedite societal integration. But what is certain is that promoting societal integration requires a safe environment and sufficient time for mutual learning. Even the current identity of a "nation," which is regarded as relatively stable, was in fact formed through a long-term process and is constantly reproduced. Even Japanese society, which is often assessed as being exceptionally homogeneous, has unresolved issues regarding the societal integration of native-born Japanese nationals, such as persons from discriminated communities and the indigenous Ainu people from Japan's northern regions; societal integration of immigrant communities can be said to be a similar issue in that sense.

5 Summary

States generally control the acceptance of new members through their operation of five interrelated gates. The first gate is physical immigration control at the border. As long as a state is a state, control of its national borders is essential; but borders are more porous than is generally imagined (see Chaps. 1 and 2). There are clear and insurmountable limitations to controlling the entry and exit of people, particularly at present when freedom of movement is held as a fundamental principle and globalization is advancing.

The second gate is the institutionalization of the status, rights, and obligations of foreigners who have entered the country. It is a basic norm of a liberal democracy that human rights should be guaranteed to all persons staying within its territory, regardless of nationality. Furthermore, there is no choice but to institutionalize in some form long-term residents, irrespective of their nationality, inasmuch as they are neighbors who share a living space. In many cases, local government and other public institutions responsible for administering public services such as education, health, medical care, policing, and justice stand at the frontline of relations between foreign sojourners and residents. Often, it is through their daily operations that a concrete institutionalization process gradually develops.

The major decision point that a state must face regarding institutionalization is the third gate: whether to recognize non-members as denizens and guarantee them the legal rights of permanent residency and access to the labor market. What can be said from the experiences to date of Western countries, especially postwar Western European countries, is that, contrary to the state's expectations, people allowed to enter the country as guest workers for a limited period of time do not return to their home countries. It is natural for a considerable number of immigrants to continue living in their country of residence, whether legally or illegally, once they have established a base of livelihood. Moreover, it is not surprising that immigrant communities put

down deep roots and begin to reproduce as, either through marriage with regular members of the country of residence or by bringing in family members from the country of origin, they form families and the next generation is born.

A country of residence that continues to disregard its actual residents will be denying them the right to continue to live in the same society solely on basis of their nationality, an unreasonableness that is hard to square with liberal norms. At the very least, it is essential to be good neighbors and guarantee them the right to permanent residence and access to the labor market. And then, to exclude people who do the same work and pay the same taxes from social security and income redistribution networks based solely on their nationality will lead to the erosion of liberal norms themselves. Furthermore, having a minority group subjected to discrimination can cause various problems for any state, a fact so obvious that one need not even bring up advanced human rights norms. This is how the dynamics of enlarging denizen's rights work.

Denizens, unlike regular members of the state, may also be subject to restrictions on certain economic rights, such as taxation and land ownership, but these restrictions have been eased as the economy becomes increasingly marketized. Perhaps the biggest difference between regular members and denizens is the eligibility to participate in the will formation of the state, i.e., the right to vote. Yet there are quite a few countries that allow local franchise to foreigners—this holds true particularly for post-Cold War Europe, which rapidly developed a supranational regional framework along with seeing a marked improvement in its international environment. Even so, qualifications to vote in national elections or to become public servants representing the state abroad are red lines for a state and are oftentimes not granted to foreigners. This is even more true for countries with harsh security environments.

For some people in a society to have the right to political participation while others do not is an extremely unfavorable situation from the standpoint of advancing the equality of mankind and the universality of human rights. That is why facilitating naturalization became a major trend in Europe, where the EU area's role expanded after the Cold War. Still, many denizens may often prefer remaining in denizen status to naturalization. Many among the first-generation of immigrants in particular will have a strong desire to preserve their cultural bond with their home countries. Citizenship also comes with duties. In particular, serving in the military and risking life and limb for one's country may be the ultimate test of loyalty. Historically, many issues surrounding nationality have arisen in connection with military service (see Chap. 3, Sect. 1). However, the conscription system itself has disappeared in many states, in post-World War II Japan, and most countries in the West since the Cold War. Consequently, the trend in many developed countries is to promote naturalization even if it means allowing dual nationality.

Naturalization, which constitutes the fourth gate, is the final stage of integration by the state, public institution-wise. At the stage an immigrant obtains nationality and becomes a citizen, the state's incorporation of the member is complete, in terms of the official system. But it is another matter entirely whether these immigrants now having the same legal rights and duties and possessing the same passports (though not limited to just one) will be integrated as members of a single society. In the 2010s, there was a spreading sense of frustration and dismay on this point, whether it be liberal assimilationism or multiculturalism. Things might improve in the future, but in any case, societal integration, which constitutes the fifth gate, will be a long-term process and will require persistent efforts.

The pressures on these five gates are interrelated. When the first gate is completely closed, of course, no pressure will be applied to the second and subsequent gates. The twenty-first century reality is that it is virtually impossible for the first gate to completely insulate the internal from the external. The knowledge that an immigrant who entered and then resided long-term within the country could obtain various rights and become a denizen, easily passing through the third gate, would be expected to fan the desire for others to enter the country, even illegally, thereby increasing the pressure on the first gate. And it would be only natural for there to be demands to grant those living for a long time as denizens their civil rights, including political participation, thus generating pressure on the fourth gate, naturalization. Yet many may choose not to acquire the nationality of their country of residence if denizen status were attractive enough. That is also related to the fifth gate, societal integration. It would also be natural for a person to choose not to naturalize if he or she is not accepted into society as a fellow citizen even after acquiring nationality, especially if naturalizing requires the renouncing of previous nationality because the state does not allow dual nationality.

Regardless of how the five gates are institutionalized, one thing seems certain: a growing number of people with legal statuses and cultural and ethnic backgrounds more diverse than ever before will be living together in the domestic space, a trend that is likely irreversible. Irreversible because it is hard to imagine that in the future their numbers will decrease, not merely those who acquire multiple nationalities from voluntary choice or pragmatic reasons but the people who, because their parents were refugees or immigrants, are living with the destiny of being a minority in their countries of residence. The rise in the number of people changing nationality and holding dual nationalities will compel a change in what being a member of the state means. Yet for the majority of people in the world who cannot migrate even if they want to, nationality is not the same as membership in a club, which can be freely joined or left at will; nationality is unrelated to personal will, being largely determined by a person's origins, whether that means a place of birth or the nationality of their parents. Nationality is something absurd and often irreplaceable that we have no choice but to accept as a part of ourselves, just like our own bodies.

If what I have argued above is correct, states will have unprecedented heterogeneity within their territories even as they will be required to overcome the challenges of integration. Basing solidarity in ethnic mythology does not work to tie ethnically diverse people together as members of one society. There are clear limits to the effectiveness of "tradition" in bringing together groups with different historical memories. This is why the current direction of Western countries has been to emphasize state membership as a rational system based on contracts, regarding it as something like "citizenship light"⁴⁴ founded in the secular and sometimes the practical. With military service now a thing of the past in many Western countries, being a member of a state may gradually become less meaningful if the significance of the state-organized redistribution and social welfare functions diminish in the face of the global market economy. The meaning of state membership is bound to be something more consequential, however, especially at times of strain in the international environment, as long as states have ultimate responsibility for the safety and security of their members.

Notes

- 1. A term John Torpey popularized, borrowing from Karl Polanyi. Torpey, John C. 2000. *The Invention of the Passport: Surveillance, Citizenship, and the State.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, Chaps. 4 and 5.
- Nitta, Hiroshi. 2014. "Amerika gasshūkoku imin-hō no saikin no dōkō ni kansuru kenkyū (Research on the latest trend of an American immigration law)." *Studies of Regional Policy*, Vol. 16, No. 3, 20. https://tcue.repo.nii.ac.jp/records/134 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Murai, Tadamasa. 2002. "Kanada imin seisaku no rekishi: seisaku kettei no purosesu to mekanizumu, ka (History of Canadian Immigration Policy (Part II)." *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences* (Nagoya City University), Vol. 12), 7–10 https://ncu.repo.nii.ac.jp/ records/1420 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Return Assistance Act (RückHG) of November 28, 1983. https://www.gesetze-im-internet. de/r_ckhg/BJNR113770983.html. [An English translation can be found here: https://german history-intersections.org/en/migration/ghis:document-119.] (accessed March 16, 2024).
- 5. Hammar, Tomas. 1990. Democracy and the Nation State: Aliens, Denizens, and Citizens in a World of International Migration. Aldershot: Avebury, 15.
- Arrighi, Jean-Thomas and Bauböck, Rainer. 2017. "A Multilevel Puzzle: Migrants' Voting Rights in National and Local Elections," in *European Journal of Political Research*, Vol. 56, No. 3. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765.12176 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 7. Earnest, David C. 2008. Old Nations, New Voters, Nationalism, Transnationalism, and Democracy in the Era of Global Migration. Albany: SUNY Press, 28.
- 8. New Zealand disbanded its fleet of fighter jets in the twenty-first century. Ireland is not a member of NATO and has maintained a policy of neutrality. Like New Zealand, the Irish Air Corps does not have any fighter jets (as of 2017). Its mission is to support the army with 18 fixed-wing aircraft and 21 helicopters.
- 9. Arrighi and Bauböck, op. cit., 631.
- Ibid., 631; Echeverría, Gabriel. 2015. *Report on Electoral Rights: Ecuador*. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, 2015/12, Electoral Rights Reports, 6-7. https://hdl.handle.net/1814/36660 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 11. Earnest, op. cit., 39.
- Aylsworth, Leon E. 1931. "The Passing of Alien Suffrage," *American Political Science Review*, Vol. 25, No. 1, 114. https://doi.org/10.2307/1946574 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 13. For instance, Soysal, Yasemin Nuhoğlu. 1994. *Limits of Citizenship: Migrants and Postnational Membership in Europe*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- 14. In his comparison of France and Germany, Brubaker highlights the difference in qualifications for membership between the two, calling France's *jus soli*-based and Germany's *jus sanguinis*-based, but this is probably an exaggeration. (Brubaker, Rogers. Satō, Shigeki and Sasaki, Teru (trans). 2005. Furansu to Doitsu no kokuseki to nēshon: kokuseki keisei no hikaku rekishi shakaigaku (Nationality and nation in France and Germany: a comparative historical sociology of the formation of nationality). Tokyo: Akashi Shoten [Translation of Brubaker, Rogers. 2002. Citizenship and Nationhood in France and Germany. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.]).

- 15. Watanabe, Fukuko. 2014. "Rippō jōhō: Doitsu kokuseki-hō no kaisei (Legislative information: Revision of Germany's nationality law)." Foreign Legislation (Monthly) No. 261-2, 10-11. Tokyo: Research and Legislative Reference Bureau, National Diet Library. https://dl.ndl.go.jp/view/download/digidepo_8802176_po_02610205.pdf?con tentNo=1 [For English readers, see https://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/topics/migration/obligation-one-citizenship/obligation-one-citizenship-node.html]; Satō, Shigeki. 2009. "'Kettō kyōdōtai' kara no ketsubetsu: Doitsu no kokuseki-hō kaisei to seijiteki kōkyō-en" (Farewell to the 'Community of Descent': The Reform of Citizenship Law and the Political Public Sphere in Germany.)" Hosei Journal of Sociology and Social Sciences, Vol. 55, No. 4, 73-111. http:// doi.org/10.15002/00021059 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Joppke, Christian. Endö, Ken et al. (trans). 2013. Karui shitizunshippu: shimin, gaikokujin, riberarizumu no yukue (Light Citizenship: Citizens, Foreigners, and the Future of Liberalism). Iwanami Shoten, 60-64 [KK: Joppke, Christian. 2010. Citizenship and Immigration. Cambridge: Polity, 40-43.].
- 17. Regarding the historical background, the analysis of the following work is excellent. Hashimoto, Shin'ya. 2016. *Kioku no seiji: Yo-roppa no rekishi ninshiki funsō (Politics of memory: Conflicts over European historical perceptions)*. Iwanami Shoten, Chapters 1 and 2.
- Kirch, Aksel; Kirch, Marika; and Tuisk, Tarmo. 1993. "Russians in the Baltic States: To be or not to be?" *Journal of Baltic Studies*, Vol. 24, No. 2. https://doi.org/10.1080/016297793000 00051 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 19. Zevelev, Igor. 1996. "Russia and the Russian Diasporas." *Post-Soviet Affairs*, Vol. 12, No. 3. https://doi.org/10.1080/1060586X.1996.10641425 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 20. Barrington, Lowell W. 2000. "Understanding Citizenship Policy in the Baltic States," in Aleinikoff, T. Alexander and Klusmeyer, Douglas (eds). From Migrants to Citizens: Membership in a Changing World. Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press, 262.
- Kawahara, Yūma. 2004. "Ratovia kyōwakoku no shimin-ken seisaku to 'hi shimin' no kika purosesu (The Citizenship Policy and the Naturalization Process of 'Non-Citizens' in the Republic of Latvia)." Okayama Law Journal, Vol. 53, No. 3/4), 65. https://ousar.lib.okayamau.ac.jp/en/journal/olj/53/3 · 4/article/48783 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Mutsushika, Shigeo. 1998. "NATO/EU kakudai kõka to sono genkai ("The Effects and Limits of the NATO/EU Enlargement on the Stability of Eastern Europe)." *Annals of the Japanese Association for Russian and Eastern European Studies*, No. 27), 16-17. https://doi.org/10. 5823/jarees1993.1998.11 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 23. Barrington, op. cit., 287–292.
- Vetik, Raivo. 2011. "Citizenship, statelessness and belonging in Estonia," Paper presented at ECPR General Conference, Reykjavik 2011. https://web.archive.org/web/201901251 35924/https://ecpr.eu/filestore/paperproposal/3e77f4ab-9a20-4440-b23c-0746c8bce314.pdf (accessed March 16, 2024).
- Weil, Patrick. 2001. "Access to Citizenship: A Comparison of Twenty-Five Nationality Laws," in Aleinikoff, T. Alexander and Klusmeyer, Douglas (eds). *Citizenship Today: Global Perspectives and Practices*. Washington DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 31–32.
- 26. See below for each country's naturalization requirements. Ibid, 17-35. United Kingdom: https://www.gov.uk/becoming-a-british-citizen/check-if-you-can-apply; France: https:// www.service-public.fr/particuliers/vosdroits/F2213; Germany: https://www.bamf.de/EN/The men/Integration/ZugewanderteTeilnehmende/Einbuergerung/einbuergerung.html (accessed March 16, 2024). Japan: http://www.moj.go.jp/MINJI/minji78.html#a09
- 27. Hammar, op. cit., 76.
- France Ministry of the Interior and Overseas website. *Livret du citoyen*, mars 11, 2022,
 http://www.immigration.interieur.gouv.fr/Accueil-et-accompagnement/La-nationalite-fra ncaise/Le-livret-du-citoyen (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 29. Johnson, Charles. Life in the UK Test (2016 edition): Complete Official Study Material, 342.
- Government of Canada website: "Discover Canada, The Oath of Citizenship / Le serment de citoyenneté" https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publicati ons-manuals/discover-canada/read-online/oath-citizenship.html (accessed March 12, 2024).

- Citizenship and Immigration Canada. 2021. Discover Canada, The Rights and Responsibilities of Citizenship, 9. http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/pdf/pub/discover.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 32. Of course, there quite a few rentier states that obtain resources through the extraction of natural resources, and other states whose main means of procuring resources is through foreign aid rather than from their members.
- Wallace Goodman, Sara. 2010. Naturalisation Policies in Europe: Exploring Patterns of Inclusion and Exclusion. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, 2010/07, Comparative Reports. https:// cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/19577 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Okamura, Mihoko. 2003. "Jūkokuseki: wagakuni no hōsei to kakkoku no dōkō (Dual nationality: Japan's legislation and the trends in other countries)." *The Reference*, No. 634, 60. https://dl.ndl.go.jp/view/download/digidepo_999969_po_063403.pdf?contentNo=1 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Faist, Thomas, Gerdes, Jürgen, and Rieple, Beate. 2004. "Dual Citizenship as a Path-Dependent Process." *The International Migration Review*, Vol. 38, No. 3, 914–915. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2004.tb00224.x (accessed March 12, 2024).
- See the website of the US Embassy & Consulates in Japan: https://jp.usembassy.gov/services/ dual-nationality/ (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Ibid.; and US Department of State website. https://travel.state.gov/content/travel/en/legal/tra vel-legal-considerations/Advice-about-Possible-Loss-of-US-Nationality-Dual-Nationality/ Dual-Nationality.html (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 38. Gellner, Ernest. Katō, Setsu et al. (trans). 2000. Minzoku to nashonarizumu. Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten. [Trnaslation of Gellner, Ernest. 1983. Nations and Nationalism. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.]; Anderson, Benedict. Shiraishi, Takashi and Shiraishi, Saya (trans). 2007. Teihon Sōzō no kyōdōtai: nashonarizumu no kigen to ryūkō. Tokyo: Shoseki Kōbō Hayama. [Translation of Anderson, Benedict R.O'G. 1991. Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origins and Spread of Nationalism (revised and expanded edition). New York: Verso.]; Hobsbawm, E. and Ranger, T. (eds). Maegawa, Keiji, Kajiwara et al. (trans). 1992. Tsukurareta dentō (Created tradition). Tokyo: Kinokuniya Shoten [Translation of Hobsbawm, Eric J. and Ranger, Terence O. (eds). 1983. The Invention of Tradition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.].
- 39. The Australian government officially apologized for this in 2008.
- Granatstein, J. L. 2008. "Multiculturalism and Canadian Foreign Policy," in Carment, David and Bercuson, David (eds). *The World in Canada, Diaspora, Demography, and Domestic Politics*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press, 82–83.
- 41. Off, Carol. 2004. *The Ghosts of Medak Pocket: The Story of Canada's Secret War*. Toronto: Random House of Canada, 33.
- "Merkel says German multicultural society has failed" BBC News, October 17, 2010 http:// www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-11559451 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 43. Todd, Emmanuel. Ishizaki, Haruki and Tomatsu, Hideo (trans). 1999. Imin no unmei: Dōka ka kakuri ka (The Fate of Immigrants: Assimilation or Segregation?). Tokyo: Fujiwara Shoten. [Translation of Todd, Emmanuel. Le Destin des immigrés: assimilation et ségrégation dans les démocraties occidentales (The fate of immigrants: assimilation and segregation in western democracies). Paris: Éditions du Seuil.].
- 44. Joppke, op cit., 209 [English edition, Chapter 5.].

Notes

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this chapter or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Chapter 6 Overseas Compatriots and the State



Contents

1	Who	Are the Diasporas?	185		
	1.1	Who Are the Diasporas?	185		
	1.2	Victim Diaspora	186		
	1.3	Labor Diaspora	188		
	1.4	Imperial Diaspora	188		
	1.5	Trade Diaspora	190		
	1.6	Deterritorialized Diaspora	191		
2	Diaspora Engagement				
	2.1	Institutions of Engagement Policy	193		
	2.2	Objectives of Engagement	194		
	2.3	Methods of Engagement	198		
3	Natio	onal Origin for the Diaspora	200		
	3.1	Sense of Belonging	200		
	3.2	Utility of the Diaspora	203		
4	Diaspora and Interstate Relations				
	4.1	Influence on the Country of Residence	205		
	4.2	Influence on the Country of Origin	206		
	4.3	Political Relations Between the Countries of Residence and of Origin	208		
	4.4	Loose Relations Between a State and Its Members	210		
	4.5	Abandoned People	211		
	4.6	Ideal Type of an Order of Territorial Sovereign States	212		
	4.7	Deviation from the Order of Territorial Sovereign States	213		
	4.8	Jurisdictional Overlap	214		
5	Sum	mary	217		
Notes					

Abstract A state's integration of its new residents often fails. People's sense of identity can become deterritorialized and may be driven by long-distance nationalism, in which ties with compatriots in the far-off country of origin are emphasized over those with neighbors in the new country of residence. Meanwhile, the countries of origin of these migrants may aim at diaspora engagement in an attempt to leverage this deterritorialized sense of belonging. This chapter analyzes such diaspora engagement. It distinguishes between various kinds of diaspora—victim, labor, imperial, and trade diasporas—and shows how the purposes of diaspora also vary, from the purely cultural to the economic. The chapter notes that diasporas could become a security issue between the country of residence and country of origin, depending on their bilateral political relationship.

The dominant interest regarding immigration in the United States and Europe as well as Japan today is the issue and policy concerning the acceptance of immigrants. Since immigrants arriving from abroad are people who have left another country, we should naturally consider what immigration means not just from the perspective of the receiving country, but also from the that of the sending country and the people left behind there. In this chapter, I would like to examine the relationship between communities of immigrants residing outside their native countries and the governments of their countries of origin, and what implications this has for international relations.

Unlike the flow of goods or money, which responds sensitively to prices established in the market, the pattern of the movement of people is more like a river: once a route has been established, it flows continuously in that channel. When people want to establish a base of livelihood in a foreign country, it is overwhelmingly easier to go to a place where a community of their own people already exists. The communities built by preceding immigrants provide new immigrants with a variety of information and services. When moving to a foreign land, it is matter of course for people to rely on the connections of relatives and acquaintances who have come before them. In this case, a transnational network of people from the same country or region who speak a common language and have similar needs will be maintained. Should this flow of immigration continue in the same direction over a long period of time, a considerable number of (former) nationals will end up residing in specific locations abroad.

As for a government of the country of origin of these people who have moved abroad, what kind of relationship does it build with these groups of compatriots living outside its own territorial jurisdiction? What it must bear in mind when building these ties is that the overseas compatriots, the target of engagement, are actors with interests and identities independent of the intentions of the governments of their country of origin and country of current residence. They must also remember that neither the states of origin nor of residence can unilaterally control how these people behave. The state cannot control their sense of belonging and behavior as its wishes. The interests and identities of people who live outside their home countries for long periods of time change over time. And it cannot be uniform.

European migrant-sending countries since the sixteenth century have maintained a variety of bonds with people who emigrated to the New World, which have been a political asset at times. Although the British Empire is a thing of the past, the gentle bonds of the Commonwealth still retain political significance for the United Kingdom.¹ The relationship between immigrants and their home countries is not always a straightforward matter. This is evident in the fundamentally rocky relationship throughout the nineteenth century between the UK and the US, founded through rebellion against her home country.

1 Who Are the Diasporas?

Immigrant groups, it is true, are often in a vulnerable position as minorities in their countries of current residence, especially in the Western world, which dominates the global discourse. Yet it is not correct to arbitrarily conclude that they are powerless and utterly passive. They are no different from other people in that they constantly search for the optimal strategy for living within the conditions given them in pursuit of their own interests and ideals. For the people who have left their country of origin, the bond with their home country can be an asset or a burden.

The ties between such (former) migrants and the government of their country of origin is, in some cases, a matter of concern to their country of current residence. It is natural for the host country government to take an interest particularly when a large group residing in its territory has close ties with the government of another country.

In this chapter, I would like to focus on the international political significance of policies advanced by country of origin governments to foster involvement with their countrymen living overseas. Policies for involving overseas compatriots are often referred to as diaspora engagement. In recent years, there has been a large amount of research on the topic in Europe and the US. Many sociological studies have focused on the nature of the diaspora, and many have related tragic narratives of breakups and dispersals, since diasporas are typically a marginalized minority in society. There are also many essays that critically examine their human rights and the exclusivity of the majority in a society. Conversely, just because diaspora deviate from the international political framework of sovereign states, their territories, and their peoples, oftentimes this research projects expectations on them as pioneering entities embodying a new post-statal nature of the diaspora, research on the topic has shown little interest in interstate relations, which is a central focus of international politics.

In this chapter, I would like to examine the policies of the home country governments that seek to preserve and strengthen relations with the diaspora and how these policies affect the diaspora groups themselves as well as relations between the countries of origin and of current residence.

1 Who Are the Diasporas?

1.1 Who Are the Diasporas?

The term diaspora is generally used to refer to "a group of immigrants with a strong feeling of attachment to their homeland."² Yet this term, capitalized as Diaspora, was long used to describe the experience of the Jewish people, remembered for being stateless and having suffered repeated persecutions mainly in the Christian world. As a result, the word came to be strongly colored by a nuance of the dispersion of a tragic people from their homeland. Since the 1980s, however, the term has become so widely used that even "expatriates, expellees, political refugees, alien residents, immigrants and ethnic and racial minorities" are sometimes referred to as diasporas.

Some view that the concept has become overly expansive in terms of analytical utility. As an experiment, a search for "diaspora" in English and in Japanese on Google.co.jp that I made in March 2018 resulted in about 150,000 and 270,000 hits, respectively. Regardless, I would like to confirm that this word today is not limited to the Jewish people but is used to refer to immigrant groups in general.

Even if we follow this general terminology, some ambiguity will inevitably remain. To speak of "immigrant groups," all of humanity today spread throughout the world from Africa about 50,000 years ago. In this sense, most of humanity are immigrants who moved to their current place of residence at some point in the past. Even without looking that far back into the past, those now regarded as "indigenous people" often excluded the people who had been on those lands before them. Just how far back in time must we go to determine our country of origin? Furthermore, migration was the norm for pastoralists moving across grasslands with their live-stock, unlike agriculturalists whose lifestyle was based on a vital relationship with a specific piece of land. Their concept of home was not something fixed and would have been thought of as a geographically broader area (at least when compared to the common Japanese sense of the term).³

The most important issue is a strong sense of affinity. "Affinity" is not directly observable because it is a state of people's consciousness. The content varies, with some feeling cultural affinity and others having a sense of a place to which they should return someday. It may also mean continued political involvement and participation. Although overextending the concept of diaspora should be avoided, the abovementioned ambiguities are unavoidable to some extent as long as human consciousness is concerned. In any case, it is important to note the diversity of peoples who are called diasporas. Sociologist Robin Cohen classifies these diverse diaspora concepts into types—victim diaspora, labor diaspora, imperial diaspora, trade diaspora, and deterritorialized diaspora—each which we shall examine in this order.

1.2 Victim Diaspora

The classic example of the victim diaspora is, of course, the Jewish people. As is widely known, the self-awareness of the Jewish people was shaped by being the protagonists of their tragic history of conquest and captivity by Babylon, rebellion against Rome and expulsion, subsequent persecution in Christendom, and the Holocaust by the Nazis. Yet, who is a Jew? The answer to that question is not simple; that all present-day Jews are descendants of people expelled from ancient Israel by Rome is merely a legend, some argue.⁴ The identity of Jews distributed throughout the world today is diverse, and it is widely acknowledged that that many Jewish communities were formed as a result of voluntary migration for purposes such as trade. There are also many people, after assimilating into the countries in which they have lived for so long, who have lost their Jewish identity or for whom it has only a limited meaning.

Israel, established in 1948 as the homeland for the Jewish people without a homeland, also granted citizenship to the Arab people (Palestinians) who lived there at the time of its founding. Arab Israeli citizens currently make up around 20% of the population and are elected members of the Knesset (parliament). Yet it is inevitable that these non-Jewish groups will feel alienated as long as Israel remains a Zionist state. At the same time, the State of Israel cannot be sure of the allegiance of these people. This explains why Israel imposes the heaviest military conscription on its citizens in the world, even requiring women to serve for a year, yet its Arab citizens are exempt from this obligation.

To begin with, there are also various ways of considering who is a Jew. One 2016 estimate puts the total number of Jews, strictly defined as people who consider Judaism solely central to their identity, at around 14.4 million people worldwide. Approximately 6.3 million of these reside in Israel, and the remaining 8.1 million live in countries other than Israel as members of the diaspora. Of these, approximately 6.1 million are said to live in North America, a figure comparable to the Jewish population of Israel.⁵ Israel proclaims in its founding declaration that it "will be open for Jewish immigration and for the Ingathering of the Exiles [all countries of their dispersion]." The Law of Return, enacted in 1950, provides that all Jews have the right to settle in Israel. A Jew is defined here as "a person who was born of a Jewish mother or has become converted to Judaism and who is not a member of another religion." Since then, amendments have been made that further expand the principle of descent by granting immigration rights to Jewish children and grandchildren, as well as the spouses of Jewish grandchildren.⁶

The driving force behind the reproduction of Jewish identity has been the memory of being forcibly expelled from a homeland promised them by God to suffer persecution in the Christian world for a long period of time. Discrimination and persecution in Christendom reproduced their identity thereafter. As they established an influential position in the West, particularly in the US, the transnational network of Jews became powerful. This has unquestionably been a valuable resource for Israel, judging from the consistent support of the US for Israel in the international political arena.⁷

While the Jewish experience may be unique, Jews are not the only people who share a history of hardship after having been violently separated from their homelands. Innumerable Africans suffered a harsh fate as a result of the slave trade conducted by Western countries. Although the institution of slavery was not a European invention, the Atlantic slave trade carried out continuously and systematically over a long period from the sixteenth to the nineteenth centuries is said to have resulted in the forced migration of some 10–14 million people from their homelands. A significant proportion of these people and their descendants, treated as literal livestock for labor in the Caribbean, the Americas, and elsewhere, have lived separated from their homelands over generations. Furthermore, a significant number of people of African descent often had a weak sense of belonging to their countries of residence as oppression continued even after the official end of slavery. Many felt that their homeland was in Africa. The repatriation to Africa movement, as discussed below, can be said to be similar to the Zionist movement in that it was driven by the thoughts of those in the diaspora.

1.3 Labor Diaspora

The most common type of diaspora today is the labor diaspora. The typical example cited is Indian indentured labor. To meet the demand for agricultural labor after slavery was banned, large numbers of people migrated within the British Empire from India to Africa and the Caribbean as temporary contract workers (Table 1). Their working conditions were extremely poor, so in that sense they were not much different than slave labor. Even so, their descendants were not sold, and once the contract expired, they were allowed to return home at full or partial expense to their employers. However, the majority of Indian migrants remained in the area. The reason for this was less that they had established a sense of belonging to the local society, and more because they had economic expectations that by continuing to do contract work and saving enough money they would be able to acquire their own land. Moreover, staying outside India was also an opportunity to break free from India's rigid caste system. "A common in-group joke among contemporary Indo-Trinidadians is that while there were no Brahmins when the ships set out from Calcutta, by the time they arrived in Port of Spain (Trinidad) several gentlemen had assumed a puffed-up, priestly mien."8

1.4 Imperial Diaspora

Cohen calls the people who emigrated from an empire's home country to its colonies the imperial diaspora. This typically applies to the descendants of white immigrants from former colonial empires such as Spain, Portugal, the Netherlands, France, and the UK. European countries today are generally immigrant receiving countries, particularly struggling with societally integrating their Muslim populations. But looking further back in time, Europeans were emigrant sending countries on an extremely large scale. Migrants, especially those from the UK and Spain, marginalized indigenous people in many parts of the world and established their own states that continue to this day. Although quite limited, Japan, too, sent a considerable number of migrants and colonists abroad as a result of its imperialist territorial expansion, an often overlooked fact today. Most of these people were left with no choice but to pull out of their places of residence and return home to Japan with the dissolution of its empire.⁹ Hokkaido, on the other hand, had not been established as Japanese territory until modern times. Thus, from the point that the country established its territorial control through colonization while it marginalized the indigenous people, it is similar to what Russian settlers in Siberia and European settlers in North America had done. However, it would be inappropriate to call today's Anglo-Americans who have already established a sense of homeland in their places of residence the British diaspora, or Russians living in the Far East the Russian diaspora, or the non-indigenous peoples living in South America the Spanish or Portuguese diaspora based on their historical origins.

1 Who Are the Diasporas?

Colony/Country	Period	Indentured workers	Indian pop. 1980	Latest estimates 2007
Mauritius	1834–1912	453,063	623,000	850,558
British Guiana/ Guyana	1838–1917	238,909	424,400	384,547
Natal (South Africa)	1860–1911	152,184	750,000*	923,994*
Trinidad	1845–1917	143,939	421,000	422,643**
Réunion	1829–1924	118,000	125,000	156,800**
Fiji	1879–1916	60,969	300,700	343,584
Guadeloupe	1854–85	42,326	23,165	40,000***
Kenya and Uganda	1895–1901	39,771	79,000	12,000***
Jamaica	1854–85	36,420	50,300	61,500***
Dutch Guiana/ Suriname	1873–1916	34,000	124,900	174,190
Martinique	1854–89	25,509	16,450	14,000***
Seychelles	1899–1916	6,319	n.a	5000***
St Lucia	1858–95	4,350	3,700	4,095
Grenada	1856-85	3,200	3,900	3,698
St Vincent	1861-80	2,472	5,000	7,088
Total in countries	of indenture	1,361,431	2,952,495	3,403,697
Total Indians ove	rseas (2001)			17,000,000

Table 1 Indentured Indians and Indian population (1980, latest estimates (c. 2007))

Notes *South Africa in total; **excluding mixed population; ***source poor

Source Cohen, Robin. Komai, Hiroshi (trans). 2012. *Shinpan gurõbaru diasupora*. Akashi Shoten, 138. [Translation of Cohen, Robin. 2008. *Global Diasporas: An Introduction (second ed.)*. Oxon: Routledge, 63.]

Background elements of the imperial diaspora include the political and military power of the mother country and the dominant-subordinate relationship of authority with the indigenous people in the country of residence. Nevertheless, many of these immigrants were rather marginalized in their home countries. Desperate farmers with no land to cultivate, unemployed workers, orphans, religious minorities, and even prisoners risked their fates by emigrating to distant frontiers of the empire.¹⁰ From the empire's perspective, it was hoped that the imperial diaspora would serve to kill two birds with one stone: stabilizing the home country's society by alleviating population pressure, and providing the human resources essential to manage the empire.

1.5 Trade Diaspora

The trade diaspora is what Cohen calls the people who make a living through trade with distant lands, maintaining trade networks with their home countries while based in faraway locations, citing the Chinese diaspora as the typical example. Emigration from China allegedly can be traced back as far as the Han Dynasty (206 BC-220 AD). Chinese people with advanced skills and knowledge were welcomed by dynasties all over Southeast Asia, and Chinese communities existed throughout Southeast Asia already in the Ming Dynasty (1368–1644). There were communities of Chinese merchants in Japan, too, in Nagasaki and Hirado. Most Japanese are familiar with Zheng Chenggong—known internationally as Koxinga—who resisted the Qing Dynasty in the seventeenth century based out of Taiwan. He was the son of Zheng Zhilong, a maritime merchant living in Hirado, and a Japanese mother.

Chinese emigrants are not an imperial diaspora backed by the policies of successive Chinese empires: Confucianism, China's dominant ideology, disdained commerce, and both the Ming and Qing dynasties adopted a long-term *Haijin* policy (a "sea ban" on overseas travel and trade). Instead, China's international trade system was based on a tribute (*chaogong*) trade form of state monopoly, in which both international trade and emigration were suppressed. This state monopoly system in fact sparked a growth in smuggling, so even as China prohibited foreign ships from visiting its shores, it was forced to allow Chinese merchants to go overseas and trade under certain conditions. This is how a trading base for the Chinese was established in Southeast Asia.¹¹

After being defeated by the UK in the First Opium War (1839–42), Qing China was virtually unable to implement its sea ban policy and a large number of emigrants flowed out of the country. Many of today's Chinese diaspora are descendants of people who went overseas during this period. Many migrants of the time were contract laborers working on farms, mines, and construction sites; in that sense, the Chinese diaspora was also a labor diaspora. As these migrants gradually found success in small and medium-sized commercial activities, settled in the area, and reunited with their families, they formed the Chinese communities that continue to this day in Southeast Asia and around the world.¹²

Cohen cites Lebanese immigrants as a similar people who settled mainly in Mediterranean port cities and formed a continuous trade network to engage in trade between the Middle East and Europe from the seventeenth to the nineteenth century. Three factors are thought to be behind the emergence of immigrants from Lebanon. First, Lebanese Christians were at a disadvantage under the rule of the Muslimmajority Ottoman Empire. Second, there was an impact from conflicts in the Middle East that endure to this day. A third important factor is that Lebanese immigrants have spread out in large numbers in Europe and North and South America forming successful trading communities. There are many people, even today, who live abroad for work purposes. If they were to settle outside their home countries for various reasons, such as marriage or political change in their country of origin, and form a durable trade network of a certain scale, they too could be referred to as a modern trade diaspora.

1.6 Deterritorialized Diaspora

A diaspora may also be created as a result of shifting borders.¹³ Mexico has the world's largest diaspora population, the majority of which resides in the US. The first generation of the Mexican diaspora living in the US were people who became a diaspora in 1848 when Mexican territory was ceded to the US as a result of the Mexican–American War. The US government demanded that residents of the new territory acquire US citizenship or else relocate to Mexican territory. At that time, between 75,000 and 100,000 people of Mexican descent decided to remain, took American citizenship, and became part of the diaspora.¹⁴

The Russian diaspora has reached a huge number comparable to that of Indians and Chinese, and many of them were created with the change in national borders that ensued after the collapse of the Soviet Union. With the 1991 breakup, calculations based on 1989 statistics suggest that approximately 25 million Russians and approximately 18 million non-Russians ended up living as minorities in states named after other ethnicities. Russians, who had been the majority in the Soviet Union during the former Soviet era, account for about 30% of the overall population in present-day Latvia and Estonia and their number is close to 20% of the population in Ukraine.¹⁵

Upon the founding of the State of Israel, Palestinians became residents of Israel. As long as Israel is a Zionist state and a homeland for Jews, however, it is nothing more than a foreign country for non-Jews. Consequently, the establishment of a homeland for the Jewish diaspora ironically created a new diaspora.

The dissolution of the Ottoman Empire after World War I is a well-known example of the creation of a new diaspora. The empire, whose rule spanned an area from today's Middle East to parts of the Balkan Peninsula, was broken up, and states were reorganized based on the principle of national self-determination. Complex conflicts and numerous tragedies arose with its dissolution. Each ethnic group sought to enlarge its own territory after becoming independent, while the involvement of the European powers complicated the local problems. Borders were demarcated after the signing of a peace treaty at the Lausanne Conference in 1923, leaving many countrymen on the other side of the border. As a result, a situation emerged in which "more Greeks lived in Istanbul, the capital of the Ottoman Empire, and in cities on the eastern Aegean Sea, such as Smyrna (Izmir), than in the territories of independent Greece."¹⁶ Therefore, an attempt was made to maintain the integrity of the population within the border by moving the residents along with the movement of the border.¹⁷ Turkey and Greece signed an agreement to mutually exchange populations, and approximately 2 million people were forcibly moved from their hometowns, where they were born and raised, to their new "homelands" (Fig. 1). Yet the dynamics between the diasporas that emerged with the Ottoman Empire's dissolution and their



Fig. 1 Migration of Turks and Greeks through "population exchanges". *Source* Ikeuchi, Satoshi. 2016. *Saikusu = Piko kyōtei hyaku-nen no jubaku: Chūtō daikonmei o toku (The 100 year curse of the Sykes-Picot agreement—Understanding the utter chaos in the Middle East)*. Tokyo: Shinchō sensho, 113.

respective "homelands" continue to cause appalling conflicts a century later, and there is still no visible path to a stable order.

2 Diaspora Engagement

As was laid out in Sect. 1, there are many people who, for various reasons, live abroad and who retain some sense of belonging to a country other than the country in which they reside. Many countries of origin have adopted so-called diaspora engagement policies, seeking to strengthen their relations with such communities of their (former) nationals who have emigrated abroad and their descendants. China and the Philippines have long pursued institutionalizing ties with their diasporas. In recent years, countries have stepped up their organized efforts to revitalize these bonds, viewing their overseas compatriots as a resource for their own development. This phenomenon coincides with the development of globalization post-Cold War, with its expanded scale of the movement of people and liberalized international capital flows.

2.1 Institutions of Engagement Policy

In 2011, 114 countries had established some kind of governmental unit to implement policies to strengthen relations with their diaspora, according to a United Nations report.¹⁸ One study found that 15 countries, including Armenia, Bangladesh, the Commonwealth of Dominica, and India, have ministerial-level departments implementing these policies, many of which were established after 2001.¹⁹ In the case of India, for example, the Ministry of Non-Resident Indians' Affairs, later renamed the Ministry of Overseas Indians' Affairs (MOIA), was established in 2004 to be solely responsible for diaspora engagement. Some countries, such as the Commonwealth of Dominica, also have hybrid ministries that combine functions such as foreign affairs, labor, and tourism.

In the Philippines, the Commission on Filipinos Overseas (CFO) was established in 1980 as an agency directly under the Office of the President. It is primarily responsible for policies targeting the diaspora permanently residing or having acquired citizenship abroad.²⁰ Heavily reliant on overseas remittances from its emigrants, the Philippines also established the Overseas Workers Welfare Administration (OWWA) under the Department of Labor and Employment in 1981, an organization that runs a variety of assistance programs for Filipino migrant workers overseas, such as protecting them, assisting their repatriation, and providing them with loans for new businesses in their country of residence. In addition, the Philippine Overseas Employment Administration (POEA) is responsible for short-term overseas employment-related matters (see Chap. 1), and the Department of Foreign Affairs has appointed an Undersecretary for Migrant Workers' Affairs.²¹ Furthermore, because diaspora engagement policies touch on various aspects such as external relations, economy, and labor, Mexico, Chile, and other countries have established interministerial committees to coordinate policies. In Brazil, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs is in charge of migration issues, and an Undersecretary General for Brazilian Communities Abroad has been appointed.²² The largest destination for migrant workers from Brazil is Japan.

With its enormous diaspora spread all over the world, China set up a special organization that is directly connected to the highest political levels.

A political party of overseas Chinese, the China Zhi Gong Party, was also invited to participate at the People's Political Consultative Conference held in Beijing in 1949 to establish the People's Republic of China and formulate the framework of the new government. The "Common Program," the provisional constitution that the Conference adopted, defines the new government as a people's democratic dictatorship with a broad united front, lists "the overseas Chinese" as one of the constituent representatives, and stipulates that the government would protect the proper rights and interests of Chinese residing abroad and facilitate remittances from overseas Chinese. In addition, the Committee of Overseas Chinese Affairs was established under the Government Administration Council (later the State Council), which corresponds to the Japanese Cabinet, and it was made clear that [Beijing] would place the same importance on overseas Chinese as the Nationalist Government [in Taiwan].²³

Under this policy, a Cabinet-level chair of the Committee of Overseas Chinese Affairs was established, and He Xiangning was appointed; He was the widow of Liao Zhongkai, a Kuomintang leader second only to Sun Yat-sen and who was of overseas Chinese origins. Liao Chengzhi, He's eldest son who was born and raised in Japan, succeeded her in 1959 and remained in that position for a long time. In 1970, the Committee was officially abolished and the priority of the engagement policy was formally downgraded out of consideration for diplomatic relations with Southeast Asian countries, which were on alert, "seeing the Committee of Overseas Chinese Affairs as an organization to mobilize overseas Chinese people for the benefit of China." However, its successor agency, the Overseas Chinese Affairs Office of the State Council (OCAO), occupies a unique position of reporting directly to the premier.²⁴ The OCAO is said to have a staff of approximately 120 people and to be responsible for a wide range of projects, such as establishing databases on overseas Chinese for each region in China and operating two universities for overseas Chinese.²⁵

2.2 Objectives of Engagement

What are the objectives of the countries behind this push? In the case of the Commonwealth of Dominica, the total number of people in its diaspora has reached a size comparable to the population living within the country's territory. In a 2010 policy document, the Dominican government clearly laid out its expectations for the overseas diaspora, the great majority of whom are in the US, to play the following roles:

- 1. Recognizing and strengthening of the Diaspora's potential to act as lobbyists on behalf of Dominica in the host countries.
- 2. Utilizing the skills and knowledge of the Diaspora in policy development and national development matters, especially where our national development is influenced by the host country.
- 3. Providing information on areas of expertise for the development of the Diaspora data-base.
- 4. Sharing of skills and knowledge with Dominicans at home in the interest of national development.

So that the diaspora can fulfill these roles, the Dominican government is implementing the following measures:

- Grant citizenship to Dominicans living abroad and to their grandchildren
- Promote their investment in Dominica
- · Recruit development-related engineers and medical professionals to Dominica
- Enhance information exchange between the Dominican government and the diaspora
- Invite the diaspora to travel to Dominica
- Strengthen trade and investment relations with the diaspora

2 Diaspora Engagement

 Support the diaspora's cultural projects and recognize its outstanding contributions.²⁶

The policy document went on to note that meetings are held annually between Dominican government Cabinet ministers and representatives of the diaspora, and the prime minister himself meets with diaspora representatives in the host countries. In addition, 2008 was designated as the "Year of Reunion," and the Dominican government made intensive outreach efforts to the diaspora community. As bases for diaspora-related activities, embassies, consulates, and other overseas diplomatic missions are to provide services beyond traditional consular services, such as information about issues affecting the local diaspora as well as taking proactive methods to maintain and strengthen ties with the diaspora community.²⁷ Furthermore, the country established the Ministry of Employment, Trade, Industry and Diaspora Affairs, which is in charge of overall economic issues, in order to continue to be involved in diaspora issues.²⁸ Countries in Latin America and the Caribbean are very similar in that they all have large native diaspora communities in the US; as they share information and inspire each other, they are developing similar engagement policies.²⁹

As seen in the example of the Commonwealth of Dominica, the diaspora is primarily positioned as a resource for the economic development of the country. Many emigrant-sending countries are impoverished, dependent on the export of labor, so for them overseas compatriots are a valuable resource for their development. Notably, emigrants' remittances to their families and local communities in their home countries have steadily increased over the past 20 years, and the pace of growth shows a stable trend less affected by economic and financial conditions. Remittances to developing countries surpassed \$430 billion in 2014, according to the World Bank. This figure is more than three times the total amount of global official development assistance (ODA), is on par with private debt and portfolio investment, and is about 70% of foreign direct investment (Fig. 2). Moreover, since there are no conditions that are imposed on remittances as in the case of assistance, it is a convenient means for developing countries to secure foreign currency.³⁰ In addition, economically successful diasporas in rich countries can be expected to be a source of direct investment funds, not just remittances, and are regarded as promising trade partners.

The specialized skills and information the diaspora possesses are also attractive development resources for developing countries. Developing countries often lack the human resources that require long-term higher education in fields such as civil engineering, medical technology, and information technology. Their ability to train experts in these fields domestically is limited. In addition, valuable professionals who have been educated overseas, especially those who have acquired internation-ally applicable skills such as medical technology, are increasingly drawn to job opportunities offered in affluent countries that are far better than those offered in their countries of origin. Against the backdrop of this phenomenon, which was at



Fig. 2 Trend of remittances to developing countries. Source World Bank Group. 2016. Migration and Remittances Fact Book 2016, 3rd ed., World Bank Group, 17

one time called a "brain drain," a major motive for the engagement policies of developing country governments is to somehow make use of such expertise and skills accumulated overseas for the purpose of their own development.

The home country's government also expects its diaspora to exercise political influence on the home country's behalf within their countries of residence, to act as "lobbyists," as we saw expressed in the Dominican government's policy document. Particularly in the case of a democratic and traditional immigrant nation such as the US, lobbying activities by various ethnic groups, in concert with their countries of origin, to influence the host country government are considered legitimate and occur on a daily basis.

The most remarkable example is the role that Israel entrusts to the Jewish community in the US, who Middle East policy, as is well known, cannot be discussed without regard to the influence of its Jewish community.

But this is not limited to Jewish Americans. It is well known that Americans of Polish descent exerted a strong influence on the US government in the early 1940s, to prevent compromise with the Soviet Union with respect to the future of the Polish state after Nazi Germany's defeat, and that this became one of the causes of the Cold War.³¹

As a more recent example, in the late 1980s and early 1990s, the Mexican government called on the more than 10 million people of Mexican descent in the US to support the conclusion of the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), inviting prominent members of the diaspora to Mexico City where President Carlos Salinas personally urged their support.³²

There is also the episode involving Armenia and its rival, Azerbaijan, that brought in Americans of other ethnic origins. Armenians are Christian, which also helps provide them with a more advantageous position of political influence in Western society than their Muslim counterparts. In 1998, Armenia and its diaspora in the US extracted approximately \$90 million in aid from the US government while blocking any move to resume US aid to Azerbaijan.³³ However, Turkey, a fellow Muslim country with close ties to Azerbaijan, and oil companies with an interest in developing oil fields in the Caspian Sea fought back. The American Jewish lobby also stood in support of the Turkish side, given Israel's strategic cooperative relationship with Turkey. By the end of 1998, plans were moving forward for a pipeline from Azerbaijan that would bypass Armenia and Russia. American Jewish organizations paid for an opinion advertisement that ran on November 8 in the *New York Times* (alleged to have a pro-Israel bias) celebrating the 75th anniversary of the founding of the Republic of Turkey. This in turn sparked a backlash from Greek American associations, which later began to criticize the entire US policy toward the Balkans at the time from the perspective of their home country, Greece (which has long had poor relations with Turkey).

Chinese American and Korean American organizations have been active in the US regarding the issue of the comfort women. Diaspora are often expected to play the role of cheerleaders for their home governments within their countries of residence.

It is more common for diaspora engagement policies to have little connection to specific government economic or political objectives and to aim instead at improving the international environment surrounding their countries of origin. Many governments advance their public diplomacy by popularizing their language and promoting their culture internationally. Naturally, they target people in the diaspora interested in their own roots for spreading their own culture and language abroad. One underlying factor is the rise of multiculturalism, which, as mentioned in the previous chapter, calls for respecting each ethnic community's cultural uniqueness, a movement that has grown along with the increase in immigration in Western countries. Governments want their diaspora to remain interested in the country of origin and to become a source for transmitting the country's culture and information. If possible, they would like their diaspora to project a favorable impression in the country of residence and to serve as a network that the country of origin can use for future outreach when political or economic needs arise. For these reasons, the diaspora has been targeted for engagement by the governments of their countries of origin.

To that end, Morocco, for example, hosts conferences on issues related to its diaspora, holds exhibitions, and has established permanent memorials and museums, at home and abroad, as well as implementing programs to set up Moroccan cultural centers and dispatch instructors of its language, literature, and religion.³⁴ Japan, formerly an emigrant-sending country, has been running support projects for the Japanese diaspora community in Latin America, with the hope that they will carry on their identity as persons of Japanese descent and serve as a bridge between Japan and their current country of residence.³⁵ Once perceived as deserters who fled abroad to escape the hardships of their homeland, the diaspora is now seeing many countries around the world developing organized attempts to remember them as heroes supporting their country from abroad.³⁶

2.3 Methods of Engagement

As we see in the example of the Commonwealth of Dominica, one concrete measure that countries of origin can take to revitalize relations with the diaspora is to grant them some kind of legal status. Even in impoverished developing countries, granting membership is easy to do, as states may freely produce it at essentially no cost. Furthermore, this will enable the diaspora to participate politically and be involved in shaping the will of their country of origin. The reason behind this move is that the diaspora can now maintain citizenship in their country of current residence even after acquiring a new citizenship; in other words, it is related to the fact that many Western countries now allow dual nationality.

However, this point was controversial in Mexico, which has a very large diaspora population in the US. First, there is the fundamental question of whether it is appropriate from the perspective of democracy that the diaspora, who are currently residing abroad, should have equal voting rights with those left behind in the home country. Politically speaking, various considerations will naturally come into play among political parties if the votes of countrymen living overseas influence the outcomes of elections. That said, it is very difficult for a state to deny the right to vote to its citizens even if they live overseas; states recognize voting rights for their nationals living abroad more broadly than for foreign nationals residing in their territory.

For example, most countries in the European Union (EU), with the exception of Greece and Ireland, allow their nationals living abroad the right to vote. It is expected that states would encounter enormous administrative difficulties in conducting a fair vote with large numbers of their citizens living abroad. In reality, there are usually various restrictions in place when the diaspora is given the right to vote. For example, some countries, such as Israel and Nicaragua, require all voters to cast their vote in their home country on election day; other countries require residence in their home country for a certain period of time. Some countries, such as France, Italy, and Portugal, also allocate specific parliamentary seats to their diaspora.³⁷ It is presumed that this approach ensures that the diaspora has a say in politics while at the same time limiting its political influence.

Citizenship comes with duties. Even if the country of current residence allows dual citizenship, the overseas diaspora would be far less attracted to having the citizenship of the country of origin should that country conscript them into the military and tax their income, which would also dampen their desire to deepen ties with their country of origin. As a practical matter, it is difficult to have non-resident citizens fulfill their duties in a fair manner, particularly for developing countries with limited administrative resources. As a consequence, even if the overseas diaspora is given some kind of legal status, their rights and duties, such as the right to vote and the duty to serve in the military, are often restricted.

It is also possible to provide some kind of preferential legal status to the diaspora that does not go as far as formal citizenship. India, for instance, has traditionally been reluctant to engage its diaspora and, as a leading member of the non-aligned countries, it has a principled position of respecting the sovereignty of newly independent

states, so it does not allow dual nationality. Consequently, people of Indian descent were not given protection or support even when they met with severe ostracism in the newly independent East African states from the 1960s onwards.³⁸ In response to the shift toward a market-oriented economic policy. India since the 1990s has increasingly tended to make active use of its diaspora as a resource. India classifies its citizens living abroad for more than six months "Non-Resident Indians" (NRIs), and in 1999, began granting the legal status of "Persons of Indian Origin" (PIO) to the Indian diaspora with foreign citizenship. The conditions at the time for PIO were whether the applicant ever held Indian nationality; had parents, grandparents, or great-grandparents who were born and lived in territory that is now India; or is the spouse of an Indian citizen or PIO. Applicants could obtain a PIO Card by meeting any of these conditions, which allowed them benefits related to entry into India and undertaking economic activities there. Interestingly, the government has carefully determined which citizenships are incompatible with PIO status: nationals of Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, China, Nepal, Pakistan, or Sri Lanka are ineligible.³⁹ In 2005, the government established the "Overseas Citizenship of India (OCI)" status in response to requests from the Indian diaspora. Although OCI does not come with any political rights, it does give OCI holders almost the same rights as NRIs; in 2015, PIO was integrated with OCI.

Trade, investment, and other economic incentives are often linked to the aforementioned legal statuses. It is common practice to provide the diaspora with preferential treatment such as tax reductions or exemptions related to direct investment, securities investment, and trade; preferential treatment in the provision of accommodations; priority rights in licensing matters; and simplification of other administrative procedures. According to the UN, 46 countries, mainly developing countries, had such systems in place in 2011.⁴⁰ Nearly all countries have some form of restrictions on direct investment by foreigners, and many countries have restrictions on land ownership.⁴¹ In such cases, granting national treatment to the diaspora might stimulate direct investment. Other possibilities include providing access to a range of home country markets. Japan, for instance, provides opportunities for Japanese Brazilians to enter its labor market. Mexico has adopted a policy of increasing the diaspora's desire to invest by using public funds to provide matching funds for direct investments of a certain amount. There are also examples of governments setting up remittance networks to facilitate small remittances from the diaspora back to their country of origin.

Along with providing such legal status and the associated right to participate in the national economy, there are a set of measures for states to strengthen networks, and reinforce spiritual bonds, with the diaspora. Whether a diaspora behaves like a diaspora depends on how its members perceive themselves. To that end, attempts to symbolize the relationship with the home country's government hold important significance. An approach commonly adopted by country-of-origin governments is to develop and maintain relationships with the diaspora, by symbolically affirming the spiritual bonds with them, acknowledging their journeys of hardship abroad, and honoring their contributions to their countries of origin. For example, in 2003 India designated January 9 as Non-Resident Indian Day (Pravasi Bharatiya Divas)

to recognize the contribution of the Indian diaspora to the motherland. Morocco has also established August 10 as a National Day of the Moroccan Community Abroad.

Another widely seen policy approach is to use language and culture to affirm and reproduce bonds with the diaspora. National broadcasters in Hungary, Turkey, and Italy have channels targeting their diasporas, disseminating information from the governments of their countries of origin.⁴² Mexico uses its network of consulates in the US to coordinate with the groups of its large diaspora, such as the "home town associations," of which there are many throughout America. As well as sponsoring visits to Mexico for diaspora delegations, organizing sports tournaments, and hosting cultural programs such as art exhibitions, Mexico sends teachers to US schools every summer to support bilingual education in English and Spanish. In addition to donating Spanish-language teaching materials and teaching Spanish to American instructors, the government runs programs to assist children of Mexican residents in the US to receive an education in Spanish, and to boost the Spanish literacy of migrant workers.⁴³

3 National Origin for the Diaspora

3.1 Sense of Belonging

We have seen the efforts made by country-of-origin governments to build bonds with their compatriots abroad. How the diaspora responds to these efforts is another matter entirely.

Affirming a self-identity and a sense of cultural belonging is an essential psychological need for human beings. The diaspora is often seen in a negative light as those who have abandoned their homeland, so members might welcome engagement by their countries of origin, if only the acknowledgment of their efforts and hardships. They may even become more sensitive to their own ethnic identity than people in their home country, inasmuch as they live surrounded by the majority of "others" in their current country of residence. There is a psychological dynamic at work, in which people wish to liberate themselves through a connection with their great fatherland; in particular, the more alienated these people are from the society of their country of residence, the more their self-esteem is strongly influenced by "long-distance nationalism"⁴⁴ that seeks solidarity with a distant homeland. A notable example of this is that the persistent discrimination in European Christian societies energized the Zionist movement, so that even today Israel can count on the support of Jews around the world. There are also many other examples of people staking their honor on the independence and advancement of their homeland.

It has already been mentioned that, along with Jews, the large number of people enslaved in Africa and sent to the New World are typical of the victim diaspora. Long after their ancestors had been enslaved, treated like livestock, and forced to migrate across the Atlantic Ocean, many people of African descent were pushed to the margins of society even after slavery was officially abolished. As a result, a sense formed among some black people that Africa is their "homeland," based on the color of their skin and their origins dating back more than 200 years. In the first half of the twentieth century, it took the form of the Pan-Africanism movement, with growth centered in Jamaica. Its leader, Marcus Garvey, organized the Universal Negro Improvement Association and African Communities League (UNIA-ACL) hoping to develop a movement to improve the status of black people, as well as to promote their return to Africa and to further the development of Liberia. Garvey is still considered a hero in Jamaica, having also influenced the Rastafari movement, which advocated a return to Ethiopia, the only independent country in Africa at the time.

Yet other Africans who returned were Westernized and Christianized people. For many blacks, Liberia was a hope for liberation, but those who returned there "soon took on the appearance of colonists—refusing to learn the local languages, imposing American-style institutions, acquiring the air of a social elite and ruthlessly monopolizing political power. In the 1930s a League of Nations investigation found that some Americo-Liberians, including a number holding political office, had reinstituted slavery...".⁴⁵

There are also many examples in which the diaspora has launched national liberation movements from abroad. The Irish people living in America, who were mentioned in Chap. 3, actively supported the Irish independence movement after the nineteenth century. During the Irish War of Independence (1919–21), Éamon de Valera, the American-born representative of the Provisional Government of the Irish Republic, gained political support for Irish independence from the US government, which had advocated national self-determination at the Versailles Peace Conference, and also attracted financial support from Irish Americans.⁴⁶ Starting in 1919, de Valera stayed in the US for about a year and raised was over \$5 million primarily from the Irish diaspora by issuing bond certificates that could be exchanged for gold-value securities once the Irish government was internationally recognized.⁴⁷ Of that amount, \$1 million was remitted to Ireland before the armistice in July 1921, and is claimed to have been used in the anti-British struggle.

The Indian community living in Africa is known for having actively supported India's independence movement. Indian emigration picked up during the period of British rule from the latter half of the nineteenth century to the early twentieth century. While slavery was abolished in the first half of the nineteenth century, Indians began to leave the motherland to toil as agricultural workers on white-managed plantations as demand grew with the expansion of the British Empire, as well as a labor force on civil engineering works such as railway construction. One estimate puts the total number of Indian emigrant workers between 1834 and 1947 at 30 million; they emigrated around the world, from the Caribbean islands to Kenya and Uganda in East Africa, west to Malaysia and as far away as Fiji and other islands in the Pacific Ocean. Though they migrated as indentured laborers, many of them ended up settling in the area.⁴⁸ Furthermore, these immigrants from India often served as lower-level administrative officials, positioned between the natives and whites in British colonies in Africa, and in intermediary roles associated with commercial activities in urban areas of Africa

where commerce was underdeveloped. Some classes achieved considerable success in local society, yet all faced obvious discrimination by whites. It was this class of Indian diaspora that supported Indian nationalism, and it was their support that the leaders of the Indian independence movement actively sought. The leader of the independence movement, Mahatma Gandhi himself had worked as a lawyer in South Africa. In a similar vein, many activists in China's national liberation movement, such as Sun Yat-sen, Zhou Enlai, and Deng Xiaoping, are known to have used Japan and other overseas bases for their activities, where they were provided support by the local Chinese diaspora community.

People who flee abroad to escape poverty, corruption, and political and religious persecution often become fierce critics of the government of their country of origin, not its cheerleaders.⁴⁹ For example, Cuban immigrants in the US comprise those close to the old regime who fled the Cuban revolution as well as those who later fled political oppression and economic hardship under the Castro regime (see Chap. 1). Traditionally, it has long been the Cuban diaspora community within the US that has firmly opposed restoring US diplomatic relations with Cuba. The diaspora is strongly inclined to support the Republican Party. This is observable from the facts that US Senators Rafael Edward "Ted" Cruz and Marco A. Rubio, who vied to be the Republican nominee in the 2016 US presidential election, are both of Cuban descent, and that they spearheaded the opposition to improving relations with Cuba initiated by President Barack Obama. The Chinese diaspora that fled the country as a result of the Chinese civil war naturally were rather critical of the Communist government in Beijing. Many Chinese students abroad and members of the diaspora took part in demonstrations in Western countries against Beijing's repressive crackdown on the Tiananmen Square protests in 1989. The Iranian community that fled the country due to the collapse of the Mohammad Reza Shah Pahlavi government in 1979 did not sympathize with the Iranian regime after the Islamic revolution.

Conflicts and societal rifts occurring within the country of origin may become even more pronounced among diaspora groups. The Communist government in Beijing and the Kuomintang government in Taipei vied to engage and garner support from the overseas Chinese diaspora. The rivalry between North and South Korea was also reproduced within the Korean diaspora in Japan. Such phenomena have long been observed. There are also cases where diaspora may have a stronger sense of belonging to a sub-national region, rather than country, of origin. Rather than by being ethnically Chinese, the Chinese diaspora came to be organized in various ways based on the region of China they originated from, with "groups that shared the same language variant organizing mutual aid organizations (*bang*), around which they developed economic and social activities."⁵⁰ In the case of the Indian diaspora that had emigrated before India's independence, its members brought their differences in regional languages, religions, and (in the case of Hindus) caste differences with them to their countries of residence; after all, the "Indian diaspora" as a group is just a simplified category.

A person's identity is shaped though conditions that are diverse and complex; the identity of the diaspora, therefore, is not as easily susceptible to controlling as the country-of-origin government might wish. The bond with the homeland is neither fixed nor uniform. Whereas the country of origin's significance weakens over passing generations, there is another dynamic at work, stemming from alienation in the current country of residence, that reproduces the religious and cultural bonds. Various conditions determine whether the diaspora develops a long-distance nationalism for the country of origin based on oppression in the current country of residence, or conversely comes to hold an antipathy toward the country of origin, or even assimilates completely into the society of their country of residence, becoming indifferent to their country of origin. Yet the truth is, the most significant conditions are the efforts to engage the diaspora by the country of origin as well as the success or failure of incorporating the diaspora by the state and society of the country of current residence.⁵¹

3.2 Utility of the Diaspora

For most members of the diaspora, their daily reality is more concerned with maintaining their own livelihoods than with the politics of their country of origin. Particularly when diaspora members are economically and socially in a vulnerable position in the country of current residence, their unease about their fundamental rights being under threat is something very real. They would welcome help from the government of their country of origin to protect their rights, which might lead to their support for the country of origin. Responsibility for protecting the people in a given area, regardless of their nationality, lies with the state with jurisdiction over that territory, i.e., the government of the country in which the diaspora currently resides. The diaspora may look to their country of origin, however, if members feel that they have inadequate protection or are ostracized by the government itself in their country of residence.

Labor diasporas usually are in a weak position in their countries of residence and are at high risk of being exploited as a marginal labor force. The Philippine government has established a governmental organization to protect its overseas guest workers, as was mentioned in earlier chapters. Human rights issues have frequently surfaced with regard to Filipino women working as domestic workers. The 1995 execution of a Filipino household maid in Singapore sparked a backlash in the Philippines, where it was believed that she was wrongfully convicted. Consequently, she was viewed as a martyr.⁵² Approximately 300,000 foreign domestic workers, mostly Filipino, live in Hong Kong, and from time to time they stage protests against their mistreatment and poor working conditions.⁵³ The families of those involved, as well as public opinion in the Philippines, often strongly urge the government to intervene. In fact, public opinion spurred the Philippine government in the 1995 case to act, recalling its ambassador to Singapore. In Japan, the issue of the status of Korean residents in Japan (Zainichi) was one of the major agenda items during the negotiations to normalize diplomatic relations between Japan and the Republic of Korea (ROK) in 1965. The Zainichi community welcomed the ROK government's interest in the issues of local suffrage and fingerprinting, which was legally required of all registered aliens after 1952 as the diaspora considered this to be discriminatory.

The 10-million-member Mexican diaspora in America has also sought the protection of Mexican consulates across the US.⁵⁴ The Mexican community would seek the Mexican government's support whenever the interests of Mexican immigrants are threatened, and they would receive the sympathy of the Mexican people, too. Moreover, the Mexican government would be sensitive about responding to such requests from the diaspora, given that members can now participate in shaping the will of the Mexican government through elections.⁵⁵ US President Donald Trump stirred up controversy during his 2016 campaign by repeatedly making provocative statements, such as calling Mexican immigrants "drug dealers, criminals, and rapists." Mexican public opinion viewed this as so insulting and antagonistic that the Mexican government could not ignore it. In an unusually strong reaction, in January 2017, Mexican President Enrique Peña Nieto canceled his planned visit to the US and meeting with the president immediately after Trump had issued an executive order directing the construction of a wall along part of the US border.

The ability to actually protect the diaspora overseas varies greatly depending on the country of origin. The Bible records that when St. Paul preached in Jerusalem, he was able to escape punishment by the authorities because he was a Roman citizen. The episode shows the great power Roman citizenship wielded within the vast empire. During the golden age of imperialism, European countries often intervened in foreign countries, nominally to protect Christians and their own nationals. Japan, too, carried out several military expeditions to Shandong in the 1920s to protect its own citizens. Even today, some might expect that the possession of US citizenship will offer greater protection to a foreigner in China or North Korea who engages in political activities prohibited by the authorities.

However, many large-scale migrant-sending countries are in the South, not very wealthy and geopolitically weak, so their ability to protect their own diaspora is limited. For example, in the examples of Mexico mentioned above, the Mexican government has long carefully avoided measures that the US would consider to be interference in its internal affairs, since it holds an overwhelmingly inferior position in the balance of power and had once lost territory in a war. The diaspora must also understand the reality that the Mexican government cannot be expected to take any action that would harm relations with the US.⁵⁶ For a diaspora to expect support (already limited) from their country-of-origin government would raise the visibility of their position as a minority group in the country of residence, thereby increasing the risk that their position will become even less stable. Moreover, should that lead ties between the countries of origin and residence to deteriorate, the diaspora's bond with the country of origin will become nothing more than a burden.

Economic incentives provided by the governments of their countries of origin may be attractive to diasporas. Having a less costly way to remit small sums abroad is a real concern for many in the diaspora who send money to their families back in their countries of origin. The Mexican government issues identification cards to the diaspora at its consulates throughout the US, enabling them to open US bank accounts and thus obviating the need to rely on black market moneylenders and other dubious means. It should be of great help to the diaspora and generate greater willingness on the part of its members to send remittances to their relatives and communities back home. Additionally, if the country of origin relaxes procedures for immigration and regulations on direct investment, it may prompt an increase in international transactions, and if it facilitates entry into its labor market, the number of diaspora members returning home will likely rise. Indeed, such steps may foster mutually beneficial economic relationships since the diaspora have language and network advantages when doing business with their country of origin.

Economic activities are primarily motivated by profit, however, even for the diaspora, which does not invest or do business solely out of patriotism. The country of origin may simply be too risky a business partner for a diaspora that fled abroad to escape turmoil and persecution. A simpler, more effective system may be to introduce preferential treatment for trade and direct investment to all foreigners in general, in a non-discriminatory manner. From a perspective of pure self-interest, for a diaspora to have a strong interest in the social stability and economic prosperity of the country of current residence is both natural and, in this respect, no different from the interest of the majority group in that country. And in that sense, the diaspora's own attitude toward immigrants is quite interesting. Naturally, the diaspora strongly opposes antiimmigrant policies and statements that lead to discrimination and disrespect because of their own ethnic background. It also goes against their own interests because it will complicate efforts to bring family and relatives to the country of residence. But a large influx of new immigrants also means more intense competition in their own economic niches. These interests presumably are reflected in study showing that the Mexican diaspora in the US, like the white Anglo majority, feels that the current number of immigrants is excessive.⁵⁷

4 Diaspora and Interstate Relations

What does it mean for a state to have groups within its borders that have strong bonds with other states? This has been a topic of active debate in the US, traditionally a receiving country for immigrants and a state that has maintained its position of overwhelming political and economic hegemony since the mid-twentieth century. Interest in this topic has arguably increased since the 1970s, with the retreat of the traditional "racial melting pot" theory of assimilationism and the rising influence of multiculturalism, in which each ethnic group puts its uniqueness and its rights front and center.

4.1 Influence on the Country of Residence

One view is alarmist, arguing that diaspora groups create foreign enclaves within their countries of residence, thereby resulting in a loss of social cohesion, hindering the formation of a unified view of national interests and the implementation of a consistent foreign policy, and giving rise to balkanization. The US, an immigration nation that is recognized by itself and others as having preeminent influence in the world, has long struggled with this issue. In the nineteenth century, the issue of Irish American affiliation was a major factor in Anglo-American relations (see Chap. 3). This is not only a matter concerning people of Irish descent; for example, when World War I broke out in Europe, the belligerent European states sought to exert influence over the US government through the use of their respective diaspora groups.

At the time, German Americans opposed war with Germany, Irish Americans opposed an alliance with the UK, and Scandinavian and Jewish Americans (the latter who had fled persecution in Russia) opposed an alliance with Russia. Their presence could not be ignored from a demographic perspective. In 1910, the total US population was 92 million, of which 13.5 million (roughly 15%) were foreign-born. By origin, the foreign-born American population came from the UK (1.2 million), Ireland (1.4 million), the Scandinavian countries (1.3 million), Germany (2.3 million), Poland (1.0 million), Italy (1.3 million), the Austro-Hungarian Empire, including Czech, Slovak, Romanian, and Yugoslav subjects (1.3 million), as well as ethnic Russians, including people from the Baltic countries (1.4 million).⁵⁸ Adding second-generation immigrants, the numbers become even larger. Moreover, first-generation immigrants very likely had an out-sized impact on elections because they were more likely to be of voting age and because they often lived concentrated in specific geographic areas.

Considering these circumstances, it arguably would have been an extremely risky political choice for the US to take an active role in the war in Europe, one that would have divided the country. Indeed, President Woodrow Wilson remarked in 1914, "We definitely have to be neutral since otherwise our mixed populations would wage war on each other."⁵⁹

The Cold War period after World War II was an exceptional time of bipartisan consensus on an anti-Communist US foreign policy, and so the influence of these diaspora groups on foreign policy fit rather neatly into a relatively strong framework. As the fundamental policy line for US diplomacy has grown more fluid and interest in it, never strong to begin with, has waned, post-Cold War America has seen a return to a time when its foreign policy is susceptible to groups representing a variety of separate interests. Therefore, the question must be asked, how America's views of its national interests will be shaped and influenced by the large Hispanic population, as well as the rapidly swelling new generations of Chinese and Indian diasporas.

4.2 Influence on the Country of Origin

While it is true that diaspora groups are a channel of influence from their countries of origin to their country of residence, it can also be observed that they are also a conduit of influence from their country of residence to their countries of origin. Political scientist Yossi Shain argues that rather than representing the interests of their home country governments, diaspora groups in the US have played a role in projecting America's fundamental values abroad, in the sense that they have become a force for independence and democracy in their home countries.⁶⁰

I have already mentioned the initiative of Irish Americans who promoted anti-British national self-determination. Eastern Europeans and Russian Jews in the US who had experience with the Soviet empire's rule during the Cold War were known for being strong supporters of the US Cold War policy. When Jean-Bertrand Aristide, the democratically elected president of Haiti, was ousted from power in 1991 by a military coup, the Haitian diaspora living in the US responded by campaigning for the return of democratic government in the Caribbean state. This put pressure on President Bill Clinton, who had been reluctant to intervene militarily, and the US Department of State, and led to the dispatch of US troops as part of a UN mission. Various other diaspora groups within the US have demonstrated their strength in helping to usher in democracy by overthrowing authoritarian regimes, such as the administrations of Chun Doo-hwan in the ROK and Ferdinand E. Marcos in the Philippines.⁶¹ Diaspora groups operate within America's free and democratic political system and are socialized by American democratic values.⁶² These diaspora groups therefore pose a danger to undemocratic home country governments. That is precisely why, when the Tiananmen Square protests occurred in 1989, the Chinese authorities, gripped by a sense of impending danger of large-scale protests by the diaspora, launched measures toward overseas Chinese. According to documents reportedly leaked from the Communist Party, China attempted to deal with Chinese studying in the US by offering bribes to "patriotic" students who toed the party line and by compelling students with anti-government tendencies to return home, where they were given preferential treatment in terms of employment and housing, in an effort to incorporate them into the system. Meanwhile, it imposed financial penalties on hardline dissidents, such as withholding scholarships, and prohibited their relatives from traveling abroad. The Chinese government is said to have adopted a policy of punishing anti-regime leaders who testify in the US Congress against China, stripping them of their nationality or exiling them, as well as attacking their character and pressuring their families back in China.⁶³

It is unclear whether these measures by the Chinese authorities have been successful, but nearly 30 years later, the Chinese diaspora has burgeoned without any resulting signs that the Chinese system is becoming democratic. That the majority of the Chinese diaspora would rather avoid any involvement is quite natural. It is hard to make a speedy judgment whether, overall, they are serving to project America's democratic beliefs to China to a greater or lesser degree than to project the interests of the increasingly powerful Chinese government overseas, influencing America's view of its national interests and international perceptions, instead. However, the Chinese carry a heavy cultural baggage of Confucian values deeply ingrained in their consciousness, and any effects of Americanization may accumulate only gradually. In other words, Yossi Shain argues that it will take a long time to take effect, suggesting a kind of Chinese exceptionalism, interestingly enough.⁶⁴ Yet if this is the case, does the same not apply to the possibility of the Indian diaspora and the Islamic diaspora being socialized under Western liberal values?

What is certain is that illiberal regimes in China, Russia, and Islamic countries will regard any efforts by their diasporas to project liberal values such as democracy and liberalism back into their countries of origin as nothing less than a threat. It may be an appropriate foreign policy objective for the West to project liberal values transnationally, out of a belief that they are universally appealing and valid. But the threat they pose to affected states is not unlike the threat liberal states see in Islamic extremism. In any case, when countries in the West enjoyed an overwhelming geopolitical dominance in the immediate post-Cold War world, they were confident in proselytizing their liberal values via the diaspora, and they may have taken a tolerant stance regarding influence being projected in the opposite direction. If coexisting with powerful illiberal forces is the challenge of the next era after the post-Cold War period, then it is quite conceivable that the political role of diaspora groups will become a destabilizing factor in international relations.

4.3 Political Relations Between the Countries of Residence and of Origin

From the standpoint of its diplomatic relations, the country of residence may welcome the diaspora as a beneficial channel to the country of origin, and the bonds mediated by the diaspora may also lead to economic benefits. The diaspora thus often becomes a useful diplomatic resource for both their countries of residence and origin. It is the political relationship between these two countries that necessarily becomes the major determinant of the significance of a diaspora group.

Let us attempt to create a simple typology below. This will classify cases as those in which state involvement with its members politically, economically, and psychologically is very strong, and those in which its involvement is relatively weak (Fig. 3). First, in terms of politics, we can conceive of a state where its people participate in political will formation and are required to contribute to the state. In the city-states of ancient Greece, citizens were expected to participate in public will formation in the assembly (ecclesia), hold public office and be involved in government administration, and in times of war to risk their lives for the state as soldiers. A contrary state is also conceivable, in which its members have little involvement in public will formation while at the same time bearing no obligatory political duties such as military service. In the pre-modern feudal system, people were a labor force attached to the land, and they might have expected protection from the state in exchange for paying taxes, but they never participated politically or served in a national military for the state. Political democratization has not progressed in many developing countries in the modern world, and political participation by the people and political mobilization by the state are both limited.

In economic terms, we can distinguish between concepts of big government and small government. A big government state collects huge sums in taxes and social security contributions from its members and provides welfare services such


Fig. 3 State-diaspora relations

as medical care and pensions as well as actively redistributes income among its members—think of Scandinavian and Western European countries. In contrast, there are states whose economies are largely dependent on the autonomous market. The extreme case is a state, like a tax haven, where personal income and corporate taxes are either not imposed at all or at very low rates. Also, in the case of a state that relies on natural resources to finance its budget, called a rentier state, there is no need to collect taxes from its people, and in that sense it has a small degree of economic involvement with the people. An example of this type is the oil-rich Gulf countries, which rely heavily on immigrant labor.

The psychological bond between a state and its people is the most complicated to discuss. The nation-state model is based on the principle that an independent political state should be formed by a single a nation, a people sharing a common identity. States were able to use a sense of national unity to mobilize enormous energy from their people, which gave them an advantage over empires and city-states beginning in the nineteenth century. Colonial empires were dissolved into many independent nations throughout Asia and Africa in the latter half of the twentieth century. At the same time, it became regarded as tragic when a single nation became divided and failed to establish its own state. Both are based on the idea that a state and its members should be linked by a strong psychological tie.

Democracy, arguably the sole legitimate political system in the world today, requires some form of national unity for it to function. Given that democracy ultimately considers the will of the majority to be the will of the whole, and that the defeated minority accepts the will of the majority without seeking secession or autonomy is possible because there exists a sense of "we" that connects the two. The fact that many countries do not have stable democratic politics even when voting has been institutionalized suggests that despite having democratic institutions, effective collective decisions cannot be made when the people are as disunified as grains of sand.

4.4 Loose Relations Between a State and Its Members

Yet there are quite a few states that have a rather loose psychological bond with its members. The relationship between a traditional empire and its members was a loose one. Subjects of the British Empire, which ruled almost a quarter of the land on earth, lived in large numbers outside of the British mainland, in Africa, India, and even Hong Kong and Singapore; their emotional ties to the British crown varied by class and origin. This sort of relationship applies to the Chinese, the Ottoman, and the Habsburg empires, too. Governance in the empire was to a sizable degree left up to self-rule within each region, and the peoples' sense of belonging was probably oriented toward ethnic, clan, or religious groups.

Empires may have been relegated to history, but in many countries today members regard their relationship with the state solely as an instrument. The nationality of such countries can be effectively bought and sold. States that have introduced programs granting nationality in exchange for large investments or donations include not only Caribbean countries such as Antigua and Barbuda, the Commonwealth of Dominica, and Grenada but also European countries like Austria, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Malta, and the Netherlands. It is mainly a wealthy class of people of Chinese, Russian or Middle Eastern origin who obtain these as a second or third nationality. High net worth individuals looking to diversify their investment in stocks, are the main customers of the nationalities on offer by these countries.⁶⁵ Some nationality sales advisors recommend buying a nationality from an EU member state, such as Austria, Cyprus, or Malta, which provides the benefit of automatically obtaining an EU passport and thus enabling easy visa-free travel to many countries.⁶⁶

Naturally there is an argument that the buying and selling of citizenship should be prohibited as it represents a corruption of the citizenship system. The major EU countries in particular are not pleased about such sales by member states.⁶⁷ However, nationality and citizenship only have meaning in terms of daily life benefits and risk reduction. If you think citizenship is purely an instrument, then the proposal made by two microeconomists on when it should be put up for sale is also reasonable. They believe it would be more effective in reducing illegal immigration and preventing human trafficking.⁶⁸

If a state is thought of as a members-only club, in which a group of people can freely join for the purpose of obtaining security and welfare in exchange for a certain membership fee (i.e., tax), then it might be considered rational to buy and sell membership. However, the people in the world who actually enjoy the freedom to choose their nationality are an overwhelming minority, and it is a privileged few who have the resources to make a successful bid for a nationality with good services. For the vast majority of people who must share their fate with a fatherland not of their choice, the possibility of freely choosing one's nationality is as divorced from reality as choosing one's own parents.

In any case, let us confirm that the relationships that states hope to establish with those residing within their territory are diverse, ranging from those that are purely an instrument, to those that require full-scale involvement. For the state, the meaning of a domestically resident diaspora group of non-members depends on what membership means to that state in the first place. The relationship between the diaspora's country of origin and its current country of residence is also shaped by how these states identify diasporas within and beyond their own national borders and what they expect of them. Figure 3 simply categorizes the relationship between the countries of origin and residence according to the degree of their involvement with the diaspora. Let us examine the relationship between the two countries in each case.

4.5 Abandoned People

The first type is where the governments of both countries have a low level of involvement with the diaspora, or in extreme cases, avoid involvement altogether. In this type, because the government of the country of origin is indifferent, the diaspora's living environment depends on the conditions in the country of residence. Although diaspora members may experience societal discrimination as minorities in the country of residence, that government neither offers them protection as members nor strongly promotes their assimilation and does not even try to mobilize them.

Traditional empires were generally tolerant of immigrants, but the rights and duties attendant upon membership were relatively minimal in an empire having diverse ethnic groups in the vast territories under its control. As empires were incapable of mobilizing their equal constituent members at a uniformly high level, they were relatively unconcerned that their members' origins and cultural traditions differed. Today's liberal Anglo-Saxon states, such as the US, which are relatively tolerant of immigrants, have a strong liberal tradition that limits state involvement in the private sphere, which may also be a reason why it is easier for diasporas to maintain their own identities.

The stateless are the most extreme example of this type. There are currently (as of 2015) at least 10 million stateless persons in the world, according to estimates by the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR).⁶⁹ Statelessness is said to arise from gaps between the nationality laws of multiple states—for example when a child is born in *jus sanguinis* (descent) country to parents from a *jus soli* (birthright) country—or when a newly independent state makes specific ethnic ties a requirement for nationality.⁷⁰ No state has personal jurisdiction over those persons, so in that sense, no state is ultimately responsible for their protection. Therefore, the guarantee of their rights is weak and vulnerable.

The Rohingya people of Myanmar's Rakhine State are a tragic example. They are a Muslim minority population, estimated to total some 1 million, in Myanmar, where Buddhists are the overwhelming majority. Even since the pro-democracy forces led by Aung San Suu Kyi came to power, Myanmar regards them as irregular migrants from Bangladesh. Bangladesh, meanwhile, treats Rohingya who have fled to its territory as illegal immigrants, repeatedly imprisoning and deporting them, demanding that the Myanmar government take them back.⁷¹ In this case, more than being indifferent, both countries shun involvement with the Rohingya, and their foisting of this deemed nuisance on the other country has become a source of tension in the bilateral relationship.

A person having a nationality formally can be seen as being in de facto statelessness if neither the country of origin nor the country of residence provides effective protection. Many refugees in developing countries are in a situation close to this one: de facto statelessness arises within the current country of residence if it attempts to deport these irregular immigrants, but their country of origin refuses to take them back. It is widely known that there are many transit migrants heading to the US via Mexico coming from Guatemala and Honduras to the south, or to Spain via Morocco from Algeria, Mauritania, and even as far away as sub-Saharan countries like Sierra Leone. Mexico and Morocco are critical of the way their citizens have not been treated humanely in these countries to the north, yet they fail to fulfill their own responsibilities to protect these irregular migrants who are not their own nationals transiting through their countries.⁷² Thereupon, these migrants appear to be people who have literally been abandoned by the state.

4.6 Ideal Type of an Order of Territorial Sovereign States

The second type is the case where the country of origin's level of involvement is low and that of the current country of residence is high. In this case, the situation that emerges is as one would expect with the territorial sovereign state order. In other words, the host state strongly engages the diaspora and expects a high level of integration in exchange for recognizing the diaspora as members of the country of current residence. No problems would arise should the diaspora be assimilated politically and socially into the country of residence. But, in this case, the countryof-origin government shows no concern even should the diaspora face political and societal persecution within their country of residence.

The Indian diaspora that migrated to East Africa in the nineteenth century provided firm support for Indian independence. The diaspora occupied an intermediate status in British-ruled East Africa between the white community and the local native African community, into which they were not socially integrated. That is why, when Kenya and Uganda gained independence in the 1960s, the Indian diaspora was ostracized due to the nationalism of the newly independent host countries. Particularly in Uganda under the regime of President Idi Amin, the Indian diaspora was severely ostracized, and Indian diaspora members without Ugandan nationality were deported. Out of consideration for its diplomatic relations with African countries, the Indian government response was to encourage the Indian diaspora to assimilate into their countries of residence, without seeking to actively engage or protect them⁷³ (see Sect. 2 of this chapter). Being a leader of the non-aligned countries, India itself embodied the nationalism of a newly independent state; with its own diverse ethnic groups, India was itself in a position to be wary of foreign government involvement

in those domestic diasporas. These facts may have had something to do with the Indian government's attitude.

In this case, the fate of the diaspora will depend on how the state and society of the country of residence treats minorities. As a minority, the members of the diaspora are in a socially vulnerable position and will undoubtedly find themselves in a tough spot if the country-of-residence government not only fails to protect their rights, but also actively supports their persecution. In fact, there are many such examples. Yet, with this case, there are no diplomatic issues over jurisdiction between the country of origin and the country of residence.

4.7 Deviation from the Order of Territorial Sovereign States

The third type is the case where the level of involvement of the host country government is low and the home country government's involvement is strong. This situation deviates from what one would expect in a sovereign state order that emphasizes territorial sovereignty.

There are some situations that can be observed in which diasporas are more strongly influenced by their country of origin than by the government of their country of residence. For example, a diaspora's country of residence will often tacitly accept the strong influence the diaspora receives from its motherland with which the country shares a border. The Pakistani government has little administrative authority over the Federally Administered Tribal Areas in western Pakistan, and it is said that the Taliban in Afghanistan had a stronger influence in the early 2000s. Some of the Russian diaspora, now minorities in the countries neighboring Russia following the breakup of the Soviet Union, feel a sense of belonging to Russia, and quite a few members actually have Russian nationality. Also, some Muslims in Europe feel a stronger sense of belonging to local and religious communities back in their countries of origin than to their countries of residence; they in effect form virtually closed communities. The governments of their countries of residence know that extremist organizations such as the Islamic State have ties to these communities.

This kind of situation is a deviant case from the perspective of the principle of territorial sovereign state order. However, if the countries of origin and residence enjoy good relations, the government of the country of residence should be able to remain accommodating even if the diaspora forms an enclave within its borders. This point might hold truer when the bilateral power relationship favors the country of residence. Large cities around the world are home to large numbers of foreigners, but not all countries immediately view this as a problem.

Even when the South American diasporas residing in a liberal "empire" like the US maintained their Spanish-speaking communities and increased sending remittances home from the US, as desired by the governments of their countries of origin, that in and of itself was of no concern to the US government. The Chinese diaspora, living in Chinatowns in most major cities around the world, has formed communities fairly isolated from the society of their countries of residence, and their sense of belonging

is directed toward the government of China or Taiwan. Yet this is unlikely to cause any immediate concerns unless relations between the various states involved become extremely tense.

It is a different story, however, when the country of origin is a geopolitical threat, and its diaspora collaborates with the government. Ever since national self-determination became a widely accepted principle, there have been numerous instances in which this situation led to a push to restore a former border. A well-known example is the case of the Sudetenland in the late 1930s, when Czechoslovakia was forced to cede this region with its large German population to Germany in response to Nazi demands.

The dissolution of the multi-ethnic empire that was the Soviet Union resulted in Russia strengthening ties with its compatriots left behind in the surrounding states. If these successor states fail to incorporate their ethnic Russian residents, the treatment of the Russian diaspora may develop into an international issue.

In fact, in 2014 Russia successfully brought about the de facto cession and independence of the Crimean Peninsula from Ukraine. It also provided support to groups comprised of Russian diaspora in eastern Ukraine that then effectively seceded from Ukraine. Russia felt a growing sense of crisis over Ukrainian membership in Western European organizations such as the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) and the EU. The Ukrainian government in Kiev, meanwhile, was unstable, lacked the ability to unite to deal with these externally provoked crises, and failed to fully incorporate its ethnic Russian residents. Furthermore, the ethnic Russian population, which constituted the majority in these separatist regions, was exposed to statements from the Russian central government through Russian-language mass media on a daily basis rather than through Ukrainian-language commentary emanating from Kiev. In 2022, Russia began a military invasion of Ukraine, at that time citing the need to protect the pro-Russian population of eastern Ukraine as a reason for starting the war. However, overall, the military invasion seems to have stimulated Ukrainian nationalism and strengthened the anti-Russian identity of the Ukrainian people.

Russian residents account for nearly one-third of the populations in Estonia and Latvia, but their legal status has been an issue in each country since they regained independence (see Chap. 4). Whether these people can be effectively incorporated goes beyond a human rights issue; it is nothing less than a security issue for both countries, which are adjacent to Russia, which is a geopolitical threat to them. On the other hand, minorities within Russia do not pose a geopolitical threat to Russia.

4.8 Jurisdictional Overlap

The fourth and final type is the case where both the country of residence and the country of origin attempt to strongly engage with the diaspora. When these two forms of engagement are incompatible, it becomes one of the most difficult problems in international politics. The most extreme example is a situation where a war breaks out between the country of residence and the country of origin, and the diaspora's

belonging is torn between the two homelands. One can easily imagine this situation by recalling the plight of Japanese Americans in the US during World War II and of Muslims in Western countries after the September 11 terrorist attacks. In the two total wars of the first half of the twentieth century, this problem was realized in its most dramatic form, as states asked their citizens to bear the ultimate risk of falling on the battlefield. All-out wars such as those became obsolete, and fewer major countries maintained military conscription after the Cold War. Yet even today, when interstate conflict and confrontation emerge, it is inevitable that the diaspora regardless of nationality will be viewed with suspicion. Since diasporas in most cases are just a minority within their countries of residence, and rarely do they pose an actual geopolitical threat to the governments of those countries, even should they be influenced by their country-of-origin governments.

When we consider the potential that a diaspora's relationship with the government of its country of origin has to destabilize the system and domestic society of its country of residence, history teaches us that the relationship has given rise to a variety of complications, though none so extreme as territorial loss. Soon after its establishment, the Communist government in Beijing expected remittances from the Chinese diaspora concentrated in Southeast Asia. In a competitive relationship with the Kuomintang government in Taiwan, it also sought to actively engage and mobilize the overseas Chinese diaspora in its bid to have the new government be internationally recognized. The wave of new states created from national liberation movements across Southeast Asia, however, oriented themselves toward stronger, nationalism-based relationships with the people within their territory, unlike the local administrative authorities of the former European colonial empires. Throughout the newly independent Southeast Asia, the Chinese diaspora began to be driven out, partly because it occupied a dominant position in regional trade networks, and partly because of China's descent-based nationality law. In the case of Indonesia, this resulted in some 120,000 overseas Chinese, including those possessing Indonesian nationality, having to "return home" to China between 1959 and 1963.⁷⁴

The Chinese government was unable to provide effective protection to its nationals living abroad; if anything, it took the position of encouraging the Chinese diaspora to accept the laws of their country of residence and to localize. This position was inconsistent, however, reflecting domestic power struggles and "line struggles". Many members of the Chinese diaspora were killed during the Thirtieth of September Movement that took place in Indonesia in 1965. Although much of the incident remains shrouded in mystery, there is a strong argument indicating that forces within the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) controlled by Mao Zedong were behind the Indonesian Communist Party, which led to its repression.⁷⁵ Once the Cultural Revolution began in 1966, the CCP openly attacked the governments of Southeast Asian countries in fiery language, calling them "reactionary" and "imperialist stooges" and making repeated appeals to the peoples of those countries to overthrow their governments. "From its diplomatic missions in Indonesia, Burma, and Cambodia, China distributed the works of Mao Zedong to overseas Chinese and held study sessions on these texts, and encouraged and taught Red Guard activities to students at overseas

Chinese schools. As a result, some Chinese youths engaged in Red Guard activities, clashed with locals, and sparked riots."⁷⁶

The Chinese government's engagement with the diaspora was not consistent, for whenever overseas Chinese returned to China, they were criticized as "bourgeois" and suspected of being spies. It is also questionable how influential the calls to respond to the Cultural Revolution were among the overseas Chinese in Southeast Asia. It is an undeniable fact that China's official media continued to broadcast radical messages supporting the Chinese diaspora's "revolutionary activities" and criticizing the "oppressive" response of the host country governments. It treated the members of the diaspora who were deported to China by those governments as heroes and, in some countries, demanded the right of allegiance to the homeland for its diaspora, based on Mao Zedong thought. Labeling the host country governments "fascist states," the media went so far as to call on the overseas Chinese to overthrow them.⁷⁷ It is not at all surprising, given China's outsized presence, that countries in which the Chinese diaspora resides would feel it a threat were something like this to happen.

Islamic State and other Islamic extremist groups have succeeded in arousing some Muslims who, though born and raised in Western countries and holding the nationality of the country where they reside, feel alienated from the local society. Repeated terrorist attacks have taken place in their current countries of residence. Islamic State is not a state, and it would be going too far to conceptualize all Muslims around the world as a diaspora. Since their own nationals were organized by hostile foreign forces to carry out indiscriminate acts of terrorism, the shock felt in these Western countries cannot be overstated. While Islamic State is not a geopolitical threat to them in the standard sense, it is a source of serious anxiety for their societies. It would therefore be unreasonable to dismiss the host country governments' efforts to acknowledge the group as a threat and to take measures to counter it as simply xenophobia.

Actions by the government of the country of origin to protect its diaspora have often stirred up an adverse reaction in the country of residence, which deems such actions as interference in the country's internal affairs, although rarely does it become a serious security issue.

For example, amid a rising tide of anti-Japanese sentiment, San Francisco city officials ordered Japanese children attending public schools to transfer to the Oriental School in 1906 under the pretext that the local schools had become overcrowded as a result of the recent earthquake. The Japanese side objected to this segregation of Japanese schoolchildren and approached the federal government to remedy the situation. In the end, the city government agreed to return the Japanese students to their normal schools the following year (though the measure was not formally rescinded until 2017).⁷⁸ In exchange, Japan agreed to impose a voluntary restriction on immigration to the US. In such cases, the more advantageous position is usually held by the government of the diaspora's country of residence, which has territorial sovereignty, in which case the government of the country of origin may calculate that the best approach is to resolve the situation cooperatively. Domestic public opinion in both countries can complicate a diplomatic solution, however. In this example,

the two governments of the time had a reasonably cooperative relationship, but the US federal government was not in a position to fully control the situation, lacking any direct authority over the measures of local governments. For its part, Japan was unable to prevent the immigration issue from later fermenting anti-American public opinion in the 1920s.

It is also conceivable for the economic interests of the government of the country of origin to conflict with those of the government of the country of residence. For example, the diaspora's remittances and investments back home may in some cases be understood as an outflow of wealth from the country of residence, so that government might impose some kind of regulation on such outbound flows. If so, the home country government may see it as a serious violation of national interests; if it then approaches its diaspora to exert influence over the host country government, it may prompt a backlash and have the opposite effect. To reiterate, the government of the diaspora's country of current residence is generally in a better position than the government of their country of origin. After all, it is the government that physically controls the territory where the diaspora resides, and being the country receiving immigrants, is often economically richer and more powerful.

Yet here, too, there are times when that is not the case, such as when a geopolitically or economically dominant country of origin's government takes a firm stance against the country in which its diaspora resides. This is similar to the examples of the protection offered by the great powers of the past to their nationals overseas. For example, the British Empire is known to have employed gunboat diplomacy from time to time for the benefit of British subjects living overseas. Anti-government protesters and human rights activists who flee their countries may also anticipate enjoying greater protections if they hold American passports. Beyond that, Russia, China, and India, in addition to having vast populations and regional geopolitical dominance, are stepping up engagement with their large diasporas. To mobilize and protect these overseas compatriots, naturally it is possible for these emerging market countries to take a strong stance against the diaspora's host countries. If these countries—all geopolitically powerful, large-scale migrant-sending states that possess nuclear weapons—become more engaged with their own diasporas, there is a realistic chance that it could have serious international political implications.

5 Summary

In the ideal type of territorial sovereign state, the state's territorial and personal jurisdictions coincide. Yet this is merely the ideal. In reality, it is more common for a country to have ethnic minorities within its borders. Furthermore, the cross-border movement of people and the dissolution of empires have resulted in many diasporas residing in states to which they have a weak sense of belonging. In this chapter, we ascertained that the country-of-origin governments are becoming increasingly involved in their overseas diasporas and examined the potential political implications for relations with the governments of the countries of the diasporas' current residence.

Even if diaspora members hold the nationality of their country of origin, their rights there are almost always limited. Even when that is not the case, for countrymen living overseas to have the same rights and duties as nationals residing in the country is difficult in reality. It is the exception for a state to be able to directly provide effective protection to its nationals living outside its territory. There may be situations today when a state sends troops to a foreign country to protect its nationals, but even in the golden age of imperialism this was no easy task. Even if the state has the military capabilities, this has become all the more challenging in the twenty-first century, where external sovereignty is an established norm. In many cases, a diaspora is a vulnerable minority, and even if it enjoys the active protection of its country-of-origin government, the government of its country of residence, which has control over its territorial jurisdiction, is in a position of strength.

However, it is natural for the government of the country of residence to perceive the country of origin's involvement with its diaspora as a threat, depending on the two countries' geopolitical, political, and economic standings. Even falling short of that extreme, should friction between the two countries destabilize their relations, it would not be surprising for the presence of the diaspora to be viewed as a problem.

To be sure, it would be a mistake to treat the existence of diasporas and diaspora engagement policies solely as being problematic, for conceivably a diaspora often can serve as a medium for constructive bilateral relations. However, the strong relationship between a diaspora residing in one country and the government of its country of origin contains new risks, and is something that cannot be handled within the traditional international political framework based on territorial sovereign states coexisting, each compartmented within their own jurisdictions.

Notes

- 1. Regarding the British Commonwealth, see, for example, Ogawa, Hiroyuki. 2012. *Eirenpō: Ōkan e no chūsei to jiyū na rengō (British Commonwealth: Allegiance to the crown and free association).* Tokyo: Chūkō Sōsho.
- Cohen, Robin. Komai, Hiroshi (trans). 2012. Shinpan gurōbaru diasupora (Global Diaspora [New Edition]). Tokyo: Akashi Shoten, 23–24 [Translation of Cohen, Robin. 2008. Global Diasporas: An Introduction (second ed.). Oxon: Routledge.].
- For a discussion of the order of nomadic peoples based on movement, see, for example, Saitō, Shigeo. 2016. "Kodai Toruko-kei yūbokumin no kōiki chitsujo (The Far-Flung Political Order of Turkic Nomads from the Mongolian Steppe)." *Asteion*, Vol. 84. https://www.suntory.com/ sfnd/asteion/vol84-en/index.html
- 4. Sand, Shlomo. Lotan, Yael (trans). 2009. The Invention of the Jewish People. London: Verso.
- DellaPergola, Sergio. 2016. "World Jewish Population, 2016," in Dashefsky, Arnold and Sheskin, Ira M. (eds). *The American Jewish Year Book, 2016*, Volume 116. Dordrecht: Springer, 253-332. As found at the Berman Jewish DataBank: https://www.jewishdatabank. org/databank/search-results?search=World+Jewish+Population%2C+2016 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- The Law of Return 5710 (1950) https://main.knesset.gov.il/EN/About/History/Documents/ kns1_return_eng.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).

- Mearsheimer, John J. and Walt, Stephen. 2006. "The Israel Lobby and U.S. Foreign Policy." Working Paper Series, Harvard University, John F. Kennedy School of Government. https:// econpapers.repec.org/paper/eclharjfk/rwp06-011.htm (accessed 12 Mar 2024).
- 8. Cohen, ibid., 139–140 [English edition, 64.].
- 9. For more information on Japanese emigration and its relationship with imperialism, see Shiode, Hiroyuki. 2015. Ekkyösha no seijishi: Ajia Taiheiyö ni okeru Nihonjin no imin to shokumin (The political history of border crossers: Japanese emigration and colonization in the Asia-Pacific). Nagoya: Nagoya University Press.
- 10. That Britain used Australia as a penal colony is well known. Large numbers of orphans were also systematically sent to the colonies. Gill, Alan. 1998. *Orphans of the Empire: The Shocking Story of Child Migration to Australia.* Milsons Point: Random House Australia.
- Miyazaki, Ichisada (ed). 2000. Shin teikoku no han'ei (Chūgoku bunmei no rekishi 9) [Prosperity of the Qing empire (history of Chinese civilization 9)]. Tokyo: Chūkō Bunko, 64.
- 12. Ryō, Sekiyō (Liao, Chi-yang). 2011. "Kakyō kajin no rekishi-teki tenkai: 1950-nendai made no harukanaru tabi (The historical development of overseas Chinese: a distant journey to the 1950s)" in Komai, Hiroshi, Chin, Tenji, and Kobayashi, Tomoko (eds). *Higashiajia no diasupora (Sosho gurōbaru diasupora 1) [East Asian diaspora (global diaspora series no. 1)].* Tokyo: Akashi Shoten, 36-38; Tanaka, Kyōko. 2001. "Chūgoku no taigai kankei to kakyō kajin (China's foreign relations and overseas Chinese)" in Okabe, Tatsumi (ed). *Chūgoku o meguru kokusai kankyō (International environment surrounding China).* Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten, 282.
- 13. I still remember a story I heard from an elderly local researcher when I visited Poland in the 1990s. There was a man, born before World War I in what is now Lithuania, whose nationality changed seven or eight times, even though he never left his hometown. "It would have been easier to move the people than the border lines," I joked, to which the researcher replied, "That would have been pointless. The people would have come back eventually.".
- 14. Collyer, Michael (ed). 2013. Emigration Nations: Policies and Ideologies of Emigrant Engagement. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 153.
- Kimura, Hidesuke. 2004. "Okizari ni sareta' diasupora/roshiajin ("Russian 'Stranded' Diaspora)." *Journal of International Politics and Economics* (Nishogakusha University), No. 10, 88. https://nishogakusha.repo.nii.ac.jp/records/1872 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Ikeuchi, Satoshi. 2016. Saikusu = Piko kyōtei hyaku-nen no jubaku: Chūtō daikonmei o toku (The 100 year curse of the Sykes-Picot agreement—Understanding the utter chaos in the Middle East). Tokyo: Shinchō sensho, 110.
- 17. The text of the agreement can be found on the website of the Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs https://www.mfa.gov.tr/lausanne-peace-treaty-vi_-convention-concerning-the-exchange-of-greek-and-turkish-populations-signed-at-lausanne_.en.mfa (accessed March 12, 2024).
- UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA). 2013. International Migration Policies: Government Views and Priorities, UNDOC ST/ESA/SER. A/342, 74. https://www. un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/policy/InternationalMigrationPolic ies2013/Report%20PDFs/z_International%20Migration%20Policies%20Full%20Report.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Agunias, Dovelyn Rannveig (ed). 2009. Closing the Distance: How Governments Strengthen Ties with Their Diasporas. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute, Chap. 1. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/closing-distance-how-governmentsstrengthen-ties-their-diasporas (accessed March 12, 2024).

- 22. Ibid., 7.
- 23. Tanaka, op. cit., 286.
- 24. Ibid., 294.
- 25. Agunias, op. cit., 10.

^{20.} Ibid., 8–9.

^{21.} Ibid., 6.

- Government of the Commonwealth of Dominica, Ministry of Trade, Employment, Industry and Diaspora Affairs. 2010. *Diaspora Policy*. https://web.archive.org/web/20200825030139/ http://www.dominica.gov.dm/images/documents/diaspora_policy_2010.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 27. Ibid.
- The Commonwealth of Dominica Ministry of Trade, Energy and Employment https://web.arc hive.org/web/20191229102449/http://www.dominica.gov.dm/ministries/trade-energy-andemployment (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Délano, Alexandra. 2014. "The Diffusion of Diaspora Engagement Policies: A Latin American Agenda." *Political Geography*, Vol. 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2013.11.007 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- World Bank. 2016. Migration and Remittances Fact Book 2016, 3rd ed. Washington DC: World Bank, 17. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0319-2 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Irons, Peter H. 1973. "The Test Is Poland': Polish Americans and the Origins of the Cold War." Polish American Studies, Vol. 30, No. 2. https://www.jstor.org/stable/20147875 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Hamm, Patricia H. 1996. Mexican-American Interests in U.S.-Mexico Relations: The Case of NAFTA. UC Irvine: Center for Research on Latinos in a Global Society, 29–30. https://eschol arship.org/uc/item/3wx2g9f2 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Smith, Tony. 2005. Foreign Attachments: The Power of Ethnic Groups in the Making of American Foreign Policy. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 14–15.
- 34. The Council of the Moroccan Community Abroad (http://www.ccme.org.ma/en/); Hanafi, Leila and Hites, Danielle. 2017. "Morocco and Diaspora Engagement: A Contemporary Portrait," in Mangala, Jack (ed). Africa and its Global Diaspora: The Policy and Politics of Emigration. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan.
- 35. For example, there is Japan International Cooperation Agency's (JICA) "Support for Japanese Emigrants and Their Descendants." https://www.jica.go.jp/regions/america/support. html (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Durand, Jorge. 2004. "From Traitors to Heroes: 100 Years of Mexican Migration Policies." Migration Policy Institute, March 1, 2004. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/traitorsheroes-100-years-mexican-migration-policies (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Bauböck, Rainer. 2005. "Expansive Citizenship: Voting beyond Territory and Membership." *Political Science and Politics*, Vol. 38. No. 4, 683–684. http://www.jstor.org/stable/30044350 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 38. For details, please see in Lall, M. C. 2001. India's Missed Opportunity: India's Relationship with the Non-Resident Indians. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- India Ministry of Home Affairs website. "Frequently Asked Questions about the Persons of Indian Origin (PIO) Card Scheme" July 2022. https://www.mha.gov.in/sites/default/files/ 2022-07/ForeigD-FAQs-PIO-Crd.pdf (accessed March 27, 2024); Kuschminder, Katie and Siegel, Melissa. 2013. "Disaspora Engagement in India: From Non-Required Indians to Angels of Development," in Collyer, op. cit., 85–86.
- 40. UN DESA, op. cit., 75.
- 41. In the case of India, OCI also has restrictions on agricultural land holdings.
- 42. Ragazzi, Francesco. 2014. "A Comparative Analysis of Diaspora Policies." *Political Geography*, Vol. 41, 75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2013.12.004 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- González Gutiérrez, Carlos. 1999. "Fostering Identities: Mexico's Relations with its Diaspora." *Journal of American History*, Vol. 86, No. 2, 546. https://doi.org/10.2307/2567045 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 44. Anderson, Benedict; Sekine, Masami (trans). 1993. "Enkakuchi nashonarizumu' no shutsugen (The emergence of 'long-distance nationalism')." Sekai, No. 586.
- 45. Cohen, op. cit., 100-101.
- 46. Shinichi Takagami. 2004. "Airurandokei Amerikajin to Airurando dokuritsu sensō: Airurando kyūsai Amerika iinkai to Airurando shirojūji (1) [The Irish-Americans and the Irish War of Independence (1): the American Committee for Relief in Ireland and the Irish White Cross]."

Osaka Sangyo University Journal of Economics, Vol. 6, No. 1, 3. https://osu.repo.nii.ac.jp/rec ords/595 (accessed March 12, 2024).

- 47. The decision to sell "certificates" rather than "public bonds" was a means to circumvent legal regulations. The subscribers came mainly from the Irish community living in New York. Carrol, Francis M. 2002. *Money for Ireland: Finance, Diplomacy, Politics, and the First Dáil Éireann Loans, 1919–1936.* Westport: Praeger, 17.
- 48. Lall, op. cit., 13-14; Kuschminder and Siegel, op. cit., 75.
- de la Garza, Rodolfo O. 1998. "Interests Not Passions: Mexican–American Attitudes toward Mexico, Immigration from Mexico, and Other Issues Shaping US-Mexico Relations." *The International Migration Review*, Vol. 32, No. 2, 405–406. https://doi.org/10.2307/2547189 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 50. Tanaka, op. cit., 283.
- 51. I remember a conversation I had when in New York in the 1990s. An elderly Jewish American scholar told me, "Without the arrival of Hitler, the American Jewish community would have disappeared by now." He continued, "Even today, Jewish identity is still on the verge of disappearing in New York. It means very little to my son." "Is that a bad thing?" I asked him, to which he replied, looking somewhat sad, "I don't know, really. It's probably a good thing." It is natural for the older generation to have some mixed feelings about the younger generations, which have lived satisfying lives free from discrimination in their current country of residence, becoming assimilated into that society and losing their identity as a diaspora.
- Shenon, Philip. 1995. "For Filipinos, A Symbol Dies In Singapore." *The New York Times*, March 18, 1995. https://www.nytimes.com/1995/03/18/world/for-filipinos-a-symbol-dies-insingapore.html (accessed March 12, 2024).
- For example, rallies were held in Hong Kong in 2003 to protest the taxation of wages. South China Morning Post, February 24, 2003. https://www.scmp.com/article/407633/10000-maidsprotest-against-levy (accessed March 28, 2024).
- 54. Délano, Alexandra. 2011. Mexico and its Diaspora in the United States, Policies of Immigration since 1848. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, passim.
- 55. Federation for American Immigration Reform. 2005. "Mexico's Defense of Illegal Immigrants." https://www.fairus.org/issue/illegal-immigration/mexicos-defense-illegal-imm igrants (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Délano, Alexandra. 2009. "From Limited to Active Engagement: Mexico's Emigration Policies from a Foreign Policy Perspective (2000-2006)." *The International Migration Review*, Vol. 43, No. 4, 769–773. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20681731 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 57. de la Garza, op. cit., 409.
- 58. Smith, op. cit., 50–51.
- 59. Ibid., 52.
- 60. Shain, Yossi. 1999. Marketing the American Creed Abroad: Diasporas in the U.S. and their Homelands. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 61. Ibid., Chap. 2.
- 62. Ruggie, John Gerard. 1997. "The Past as Prologue? Interests, Identity and American Foreign Policy." *International Security*, Vol. 21, No. 4. https://doi.org/10.1162/isec.21.4.89 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 63. Shain, op. cit., 71; Delfs, Robert. 1990. "Long-Arm Tactics," *Far Eastern Economic Review* July 5, 1990, 10–11.
- 64. Shain, op. cit., 82.
- 65. Gittleson, Kim. 2014. "Where is the Cheapest Place to Buy Citizenship?" BBC News, June 4, 2014. http://www.bbc.com/news/business-27674135 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Reeves, Christian. 2016. "10 Best Second Passports and Citizenship by Investment Programs For 2016," Premier Offshore Company Services March 15, 2016. https://premie roffshore.com/10-best-second-passports-and-citizenship-by-investment-programs/ (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Shachar, Ayelet and Bauböck, Rainer (eds). 2014. Should Citizenship be for Sale? Florence: European University Institution, EUI RSCAS, 2014/01 EUDO Citizenship Observatory. https://hdl.handle.net/1814/29318 (accessed March 12, 2024).

- Becker, Gary S. and Lazear, Edward P. 2013. "A Market Solution to Immigration Reform: The U.S. needs more people with skills and vision. To get them, it should sell the right to become a citizen," *Wall Street Journal*, March 1, 2013. https://www.wsj.com/articles/SB1000142412 7887323375204578271531542362850 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- UNHCR. 2016. Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2015, 46. https://www.unhcr.org/sta tistics/unhcrstats/576408cd7/unhcr-global-trends-2015.html (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Abe, Kohki. 2010. "Mukokuseki no jōkei—kokusaihō no shiza, Nihon no kadai (Overview of Statelessness: International and Japanese Context)." UNHCR Representation in Japan, 10– 12. https://www.unhcr.org/jp/wp-content/uploads/sites/34/protect/pro_8_Overview_of_the_ Statelessness_2012.pdf [English translation: https://www.unhcr.org/us/media/overview-sta telessness-international-and-japanese-context-abe-kohki-professor-international] (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 71. Regarding the Rohingya, see, for example, the following literature: de Chickera, Amal and Whiteman, Joanna. 2014. "Discrimination and the Human Security of Stateless People." *Forced Migration Review*, Vol. 46. https://www.fmreview.org/afghanistan/dechickera-whiteman; Parnini, Syeda Naushin. 2013. "The Crisis of the Rohingya as a Muslim Minority in Myanmar and Bilateral Relations with Bangladesh." *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, vol. 33, no. 2. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2013.826453 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Kimball, Ann. 2007. The Transit State: A Comparative Analysis of Mexican and Moroccan Immigration Policies. Center for Comparative Immigration Studies, University of California. https://ccis.ucsd.edu/_files/wp150.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 73. Lall, op. cit.
- Tanaka, op. cit., 290. For information on China's nationality law, please refer to Tanaka, Kyöko. 2002. Kokka to imin: Tōnan Ajia Kajin sekai no hen'yō (The state and immigration: transformation of the overseas Chinese world in Southeast Asia). Nagoya: The Nagoya University Press, 39–44.
- 75. Chino, Keiko. 2013. Indoneshia 9.30 kūdetā no nazo o toku: Sukaruno, Suharuto, CIA, Mō Takutō no kage (Unraveling the mystery of Indonesia's September 30 coup: the shadows of Sukarno, Suharto, the CIA, and Mao Zedong). Tokyo: Sōshisha; Kurasawa, Aiko. 2014. 9 30 sekai o shinkan saseta hi: Indoneshia seihen no shinsō to hamon (9/30, the day that shook the world: the facts and repercussions of the Indonesian coup). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- 76. Tanaka, op. cit., 292.
- 77. Ibid., 292–293.
- San Francisco United School District. 2017. "SF Board of Education rescinds 1906 resolution that excluded Asians from 'normal' schools." Press Release January 25, 2017. https://www. sfusd.edu/about-sfusd/sfusd-news/press-releases/2017-01-25-sf-board-education-rescinds-1906-resolution-excluded-asians-normal-schools (accessed March 25, 2024).

Notes

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this chapter or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Chapter 7 International Population Movement: What It Means for Japan



Contents

1	What is the Agenda for Japan?					
	1.1	Migrant Flows and International Politics	226			
	1.2	Migrant Stock and International Politics	227			
2	Japan and Population Inflows and Outflows		229			
	2.1	Movement of People in Japanese History	229			
	2.2	Policy of National Seclusion (sakoku)	230			
	2.3	Meiji Japan—As a Migrant-Sending Country	231			
	2.4	Enlargement of Japan's Territory	234			
	2.5	Dissolution of the Empire of Japan	236			
	2.6	Postwar Overseas Emigration	237			
	2.7	Debate Over Accepting Immigrants	237			
	2.8	The Existence of a "Side Door"	242			
3	The	International Politics of Population Flows and Japan	244			
	3.1	Japan-US Friction Over Japanese Immigrants	244			
	3.2	Japan as a Migrant-Receiving Country	245			
	3.3	Population Flow Involving Japan—Strategic Use of Population Movement, Limits				
		of National Border Control Capabilities	248			
	3.4	How to Deal with Large-Scale Refugee Flows	251			
4	The	Diaspora and Japan—From <i>Nihon</i> to <i>Japan</i>	252			
	4.1	Conditions for Being a "Nihonjin"	253			
	4.2	How to Promote Societal Integration	254			
	4.3	International Political Implications	256			
No	Notes					

Abstract The final chapter focuses specifically on Japan, providing an overview of the current situation of immigrants in the country. The previous literature on immigration in Japan is dominated by microsociological concerns that focus on the protection of immigrants' human rights and on their domestic societal integration, whereas there is little mention of the potential for immigration to develop into an interstate political issue. The author aims to show that by gleaning the appropriate lessons from the experiences of other countries, Japan's discussion of immigration policy will be unfettered from the barren notion of Japanese exceptionalism to become more intellectually sophisticated and constructive. The chapter examines population inflows and outflows, including sections on Japan's historical policy of national seclusion (*sakoku*) and on the emigration phenomenon during the Meiji era, and also looks

at Japan-US friction over Japanese immigrants to America, and the conditions for becoming a *Nihonjin*.

1 What is the Agenda for Japan?

How should twenty-first century Japan grasp the issues posed by people crossing borders? In this final chapter I shall briefly examine the issues in line with the book's framework for examining them. But before doing so, let me briefly review the discussion thus far.

1.1 Migrant Flows and International Politics

As seen in the introduction, large numbers of people are already moving across national borders in today's world, a reality that comprises a diversity of peoples, from a global elite engaged in transnational activities to those who have been abandoned by their own state and are in obvious need of a humanitarian response. The rise in the number of these border crossers is not attributable merely to advances in transportation technology. Moreover, the total migrant population worldwide, estimated at several hundred million people at the beginning of the twenty-first century, is not particularly large from a historical perspective. Indeed, perhaps the scale of human migration should be regarded as still rather limited when factoring in the conditions today, such as the advances in transportation and information technologies, as well as the reality of astonishingly large disparities in economic conditions, social stability, threats of violence, and political repression. States control the movement of people at their borders, and immigration control technology is improving apace with transportation technology. Above all, choosing where to live is often a once-in-a-lifetime choice for human beings, so it is not a phenomenon caused solely by price differentials, like the movement of goods or money. What generally happens is that a certain route is formed, much like a river flows, as many people rely on the networks of those who went before them, and a stream of people will move along the migration corridor created in this way.

People moving across borders hold implications for both for the states they leave behind and for the states they enter. A state may stringently prohibit people from exiting the country if it perceives the loss of its population as a leakage of valuable resources. Conversely, it may actively encourage their departure if it understands overpopulation to be detrimental to its economic and social stability. Repressive regimes unsure of their political legitimacy may consider the departure of a small number of dissidents as contributing to regime stability. I looked at these ideas in Chap. 1. In some cases, states with limited economic opportunities welcome their own people leaving the country as emigrants and systematically promote their departure as a policy. Host countries may also welcome the entry of immigrants from outside their territory as a labor force or as a means of introducing advanced skills, adopting policies to accept them proactively. Even when introducing this labor is beneficial for the national economy as a whole, those competing against these immigrants in the local employment market regard them as a threat, the same way trade protectionism regards imports as threatening domestic industry. For refugees fleeing political repression and conflict, certain international norms have been established to protect and support them. When confronted by a sudden surge of refugees, no state, no matter how humane, would be willing to accept an unlimited number of migrants.

Considered in this way, then, the issues surrounding the treatment of these border crossers becomes a matter of interstate politics when the interests or intentions of the sending and receiving states are in conflict. Host country immigration policies heavily influence the international flow of people at the present time, when territorial jurisdiction is strictly respected and freedom of exit is commonly considered a fundamental right. In cases where the people have economic value to the receiving country, such as highly skilled professionals, it may result in a competition for human resource acquisition between the sending and receiving countries, which sometimes manifests as political conflict. Conversely, when a state adopts a policy of strategic engineered migration or population dumping, sending its people away in droves as a form of political pressure, as was pointed out in Chap. 1, the situation resembles one state foisting unwelcome people on the other.

Thus, for a range of motives, states try to control border crossers and have been making attempts at technological and institutional innovation to that end. They have also pushed forward with international cooperation for that purpose. A state's ability to control its borders has limits, however; a significant number of people will inevitably cross its borders, regardless of the will of the state, although there may be differences in degree. This point was emphasized in Chap. 2. As a practical matter, it is nearly impossible, technically and politically, for a state to completely stop large numbers of undocumented immigrants attempting to cross the border, even if it is illegal. Irregular migrants and refugees become an international political problem particularly in a failed state or civil war situation, in the absence of a unified state that is supposed to be responsible for protecting its citizens, not because of a state conflict of will, but as a result of the lack of the sending country's border controls and the limited ability of the receiving country to control its borders.

1.2 Migrant Stock and International Politics

Because of the limits on their ability to control their borders, states have a significant number of foreign-born residents, both legal and illegal, within their territory as well as a number of their (former) nationals residing in the territories of other states. States are therefore forced to make choices about the kind of relationships they form with non-members within their borders as well as with their (former) compatriots outside of their borders. In Chaps. 3 through 5 I examined the kinds of political issues that may arise in terms of the stock of international migrants. In modern democratic states, the nationality system that determines whether someone is a member of a country is the fundamental system for determining a person's political and economic rights. That a state should be formed by people with a certain cultural unity remains a prevalent idea. In Chap. 3, I tracked how the meaning of state membership evolved historically and looked at the historical development of systems related to the acquisition and withdrawal of membership status, i.e., naturalization and renunciation of nationality.

The primary focus of interest in immigration in major Western countries today is the issue of accepting new members, as considered in Chap. 4. Liberal universalism which holds that all people must be respected as individuals and that new residents, regardless of racial or ethnic origin, should be incorporated as members of the state is generally tolerant of immigration. Yet even liberals who expects the state to play a major role in welfare and income redistribution face a dilemma, for no matter how they try to incorporate new members broadmindedly and to enlarge the scope of the mutual support network, they cannot escape the need to strictly distinguish between members and non-members.

In contrast, nationalists, who seek to preserve the cultural bonds held by existing members by emphasizing the importance of solidarity among them, cannot deny the need to acquire human resources from abroad, whether it be a marginal labor force or highly skilled professionals, because a policy of national seclusion is inappropriate and impracticable if a state is to become more competitive in the global marketplace. Nationalists face their own dilemma, putting the state at a global competitive disadvantage if they seek to exclude new talent by demanding strict conditions for membership.

The reason behind dilemmas such as these is that the major modern state is somewhat ambiguous, having aspects of being a universal and rational system able to accept new members regardless of origin while also being a community of people linked together by nonrational bonds such as language, customs, religion, history, and mythology. These dilemmas cannot be resolved in principle until the construction of a universal order, such as a world government where the state is dismantled, or until the emergence of an anarchic stateless (dis)order.

The issue in terms of international politics, it should be noted, is that the deterritorialization of people's belonging results in overlapping personal jurisdictions of states, which makes maintaining the international order based on compartmented territorial sovereign states more difficult. The most basic principles for coexistence in a peaceful international order of sovereign states are respect for the territorial jurisdiction of other states and mutual recognition of each state's exclusive jurisdiction. When a country-of-origin government becomes more actively engaged with its overseas compatriots in an immigrant community that remains unintegrated as members of their country of residence, it may sow seeds of conflict in relations between these states, depending on the international environment.

In Chap. 5 I examined the political issues of the relationship that immigrant sending countries create with their (former) compatriots and the effect it has on the relations with the current country of residence.

Using various methods to manage relations that fundamentally are in tension is a perennial challenge in real politics. Modern states must also seek optimal solutions to intractable dilemmas with their given socio-economic, historical, and geopolitical conditions. We should recall that state membership has changed throughout history, and that the bonds between members have a dynamic character that is constantly reproduced. Whether a country is able to accept new members and make them a national strength, or whether it will alienate them, turning them into anti-social forces, is an issue that goes beyond the welfare and rights of the immigrant community, an issue that is also connected to that country's development and external relations.

These points also apply to Japan, to be sure. In the sections that follow, I would like to conclude with a brief examination of the issues for Japan surrounding cross-border population movement, in line with the framework of this book.

2 Japan and Population Inflows and Outflows

2.1 Movement of People in Japanese History

Since the distant past, when very little transportation technology existed as compared to today, people have staked their fate on dangerous migrations across deserts and oceans. In that sense, the history of the people who live in Japan today is not at all a global exception. Like people in all the other countries around the world, the Japanese today are not the descendants of people who lived on the Japanese archipelago consistently since the world began. Humans are said to have migrated to the Japanese islands tens of thousands of years ago, and *Nihon* (or *Nippon*) only came into use as the name of the country in the seventh or eighth century. (Japan, from *Cipangu*, hails from Marco Polo's account in the late thirteenth century.)

Without a doubt, in the state formation of *Nihon*, there was a significant influence from the continent, in a human sense, as well. Even after *Nihon* was established as a cohesive political unit, there are records of people-to-people exchanges with the outside world. It is known that many *toraijin* from the continent came to Japan in ancient times and played a major role in the formation of Japanese culture and institutions. Furthermore, history records that pirates known as *wakō* actively engaged in smuggling and acts of piracy on the Korean Peninsula and coastal areas of China repeatedly since the fourteenth century. Dealing with them was a chief matter in the continental dynasties' diplomacy toward Japan. Some studies assert that the *wakō* active from the sixteenth century onwards were a transnational group of maritime people that included Koreans and Chinese as well.¹ In pre-modern states, there was a limited centralization of power and a lack of clear distinction between what was inside and outside of their borders, a tendency that apparently became more pronounced when the central government was weakened.

The movement of people in and out of Japan increased during the Age of Discovery with the start of large-scale European maritime expansion. From the sixteenth century

onwards, Europeans began arriving, and *Nanban* trade boomed, leading to the flourishing of trading cities such as Sakai, south of Osaka. This trade brought guns, mechanical clocks, oil paintings, copperplate engravings, and other European products, and Christianity rapidly enlarged its following. During this period, Luís Fróis, who visited Japan as a Jesuit missionary, wrote that the Japanese, especially Buddhist forces, subjected the missionaries to various forms of harassment, but that the Japanese people also showed great curiosity about the worldview the missionaries preached, and that so many of them crowded into the area that the Westerners became utterly exhausted.²

The number of Japanese going overseas had reached a level that could not be ignored. Japanese people migrated throughout Southeast Asia for trade, and forming Japantowns in Thailand, the Philippines, and Java. The story of Yamada Nagamasa, who became a commander of a Japanese mercenary corps in the Kingdom of Siam, is quite famous. Also, Japan's shipbuilding and navigation technology had become quite advanced by this time.³ Hasekura Tsunenaga sailed round-trip across the Pacific Ocean on his mission to Europe in the early seventeenth century aboard the *San Juan Bautista*, a Western-style galleon build in Sendai for that purpose. This took place 250 years before Katsu Kaishū and his entourage sailed to America on the *Kanrin Maru*, a steam-powered warship that was built in the Netherlands.

At this point, Japan and Europe were "never as far apart in their level of 'modernity,' both in terms of production technology and socio-economic systems, as they were at the end of the Edo period."⁴ In Europe, this period was also a time when a system of sovereign states was in the process of taking shape, which international political scientists call the Westphalian system, and terrible wars of religion were being waged. The Jesuit missionaries who came to Japan were themselves anti-Reformation forces, not people devoted to modern enlightenment or progress.

2.2 Policy of National Seclusion (sakoku)

It was Japan's policy of national seclusion that drastically changed the course of history thereafter. Watsuji Tetsurō argued in 1950 that this *sakoku* was Japan's tragedy:

[Tokugawa] Ieyasu was the one who steadily carried through this conservative movement [i.e., *sakoku*]. To that end, he restored once-ruined traditions, using Buddhism and Confucianism as the foundation for his conservative movement. In particular, he took care that the rise of Confucianism *supported the institutionalization of samurai rule*. Thus, in an age when the spirit of modernity was already manifesting itself in Francis Bacon, a philosophy based in ancient Chinese society from two millennia past was employed as the guiding spirit of governance and institutions. It was the wisest method to establish *domestic order*, perhaps. It was the most unfortunate method, however, to establish the global status of the Japanese people.⁵

This is where [the Japanese] *sense of adventure* in a spiritual sense atrophied. It was this *lack of adventurous spirit*, this *spiritual cowardice* that finally led to closing the country from a

2 Japan and Population Inflows and Outflows

fear of Christianity. Never would Japan have been conquered in the same way as Mexico or Peru, no matter how Christianized the Japanese people of the time became. 6

Since then, there have been several critical studies done on the topic of national seclusion, and today there is a growing debate among historians that emphasizes the interconnectedness between Japan and the international environment of East Asia.⁷ National seclusion was in fact a diplomatic policy for the state to monopolize foreign relations in order to secure the benefits of trade while expelling Christian forces, and the Spanish and Portuguese presence backing them. Tokugawa's *sakoku* policy was in contrast to the plan to invade the continent of his predecessor, Toyotomi Hideyoshi, and the expansionist scheme of the major European powers who vied against each other as they invaded various parts of the world. Yet, because 250 years of peace ensued, it is hard to say with certainty that the policy was a one-sided tragedy.

No matter how *sakoku* is assessed, there is no doubt that the flow of people in and out of the country suddenly shrank, as Japanese were prohibited from departing and foreigners were allowed entry only on an exceptional basis under strictly controlled conditions. Although the policy resulted in stable domestic governance, it hindered Japan's dynamic development in various fields because it severely limited contact with foreigners, a fact of which the Japanese people were reminded with the arrival of US Commodore Matthew C. Perry and his black ships in the mid-nineteenth century. In any case, after having exited from the grand global story of the crossborder movement of people for a time, Japan reappeared on stage in the Meiji era, where it continued to play a different role than that of the West.

2.3 Meiji Japan—As a Migrant-Sending Country

With the Meiji Restoration, Japan's old order was dismantled, and the movement of people who had been freed from the feudal system suddenly became more active. The Constitution of the Empire of Japan, which entered into force in 1890, clearly states in Article 22 that "Japanese subjects shall have the liberty of abode and of changing the same within the limits of the law," making the freedom of movement a constitutional right. The introduction of steamships and similar technologies spurred greater mobility of the people. Japan appeared in the international population migration narrative as an immigrant sending country from the Meiji era onwards (Fig. 1). Although it tends be forgotten, this development is the same as in many other modernizing countries.

As early as 1868, the first year of the Meiji era, some 150 Japanese contract workers went to Hawai'i, an independent country at the time, arranged by an American merchant living in Yokohama. Since they were forced to labor under poor working conditions there, the Japanese government had to step in to protect them, sending an envoy to Hawai'i for talks, which resulted in measures to allow those who wished to be repatriated to Japan.⁸ Learning hard lessons from such troubles, the Meiji government did not promote emigration overseas for about 20 years, focusing its efforts instead

7 International Population Movement: What It Means for Japan



Fig. 1 Overseas emigration trends up to World War II. *Source* Based on Japan International Cooperation Agency (ed). 1994. "Kaigai ijū tōkei (Overseas Migration Statistics, FY1952-1993)." Gyōmu shiryō, No. 891, 9–10. https://www.jica.go.jp/Resource/jomm/outline/library/ku57pq000001x70uatt/statistics.pdf (accessed March 23, 2024)

on the development of Hokkaido.⁹ When Japanese emigration to Hawai'i resumed in 1885, it was decided to adopt a system of government-contracted migration (*kan'yaku imin*) based on an immigration convention between the two countries.¹⁰ Emigration to various parts of South America got underway with programs to that end in the 1890s, beginning with 790 Japanese going to Peru in 1899.¹¹

Behind this rise in Japanese emigration was a discourse about overpopulation. Japan's total population, approximately 30 million in the early Meiji period, was rapid increasing, and there was a generally recognized need to seek an overseas

outlet for the population pressure. Made foreign minister in 1891, Enomoto Takeaki established the Emigration Division in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. It was said to be "the result of the belief that overseas emigration was the only way for the Japanese people to continue to develop far into the future."¹² Enomoto feared for Japan's future, concerned that the country could not survive with an overabundant population in a confined territory, which led him to aspire to send Japanese people overseas to lay the cornerstones for future construction of colonies. He took part in establishing the Tokyo Geographical Society in 1879 and the Settlement Society in 1893, and also proposed colonizing Papua New Guinea and purchasing the islands of Borneo and New Guinea.

These Japanese immigrants overseas soon confronted a range of obstacles in the late nineteenth century. As discussed in earlier chapters of this book, racial nationalism was approaching a peak in the late nineteenth century in Western countries, which tightened restrictions on immigration, particularly for non-white immigrants. Countries that traditionally accepted immigrants, such as the United States and Canada (within the British Empire) saw a growth of movements to exclude Chinese and other Asian immigrants, with Japanese immigrants also excluded in each country as part of these movements. I shall discuss later how this developed into a diplomatic issue between Japan and the US.

During the period when Japan was impoverished and felt strong pressure to send migrants abroad, it did not experience significant pressure from migrant inflows. Nevertheless, how to approach the matter of foreign residents in the country was a subject of vigorous debate in the context of revising the unequal treaties of the *Ansei* era (five treaties the Tokugawa shogunate signed in 1858 with the US, the Netherlands, Russia, the United Kingdom, and France). The controversy focused on the issue of mixed residence in the country's interior. The *Ansei* Five-Power Treaties provided a system of settlements along with consular jurisdiction for foreigners (extraterritoriality), thereby limiting the residence and activities of foreigners to specific settlements established in open ports such as Yokohama and Kobe. Revising these unequal treaties was the Meiji government's most pressing diplomatic matter, and yet there was vociferous opposition to the idea of mixed residence in the interior, which meant abolishing the foreign settlements and allowing people from treaty signatory countries the freedom to travel, conduct business, and live among Japanese. Thus, a heated debate raged in the 1880s and 1890s.¹³

For Kuga Katsunan and Inoue Tetsujirō, who opposed mixed residence in the interior, their argument was grounded in concerns that the intellectually and economically inferior Japanese would lose in a competition against Westerners within the country, and that Japan would be effectively taken over. Kuga developed a counterargument, what he called encroaching (*sanshoku*), which is the act of manipulating the minds and interests of foreigners to make them voluntarily subordinate, in contrast to gobbling up ($r\bar{o}don$) a territory through invasion by force of arms.

Fukuzawa Yukichi sternly criticized these arguments as "base cowardice," writing that such an approach "is exactly like someone who first sheathes his weapons without a fight, as though he planned to surrender from the very beginning."¹⁴ Fukuzawa noted the dynamic effect that interaction with Westerners had in stimulating the

Japanese people, stating, "If we are to develop the knowledge of our people in even the slightest degree, we should only reach our goal through experiencing foreign things and coming into contact with foreigners ... If intercourse with foreign countries is the only good remedy for the paltry foolishness of our people, I see no reason to hesitate using it."¹⁵ Similarly to Fukuzawa, Taguchi Ukichi, too, referred to the dynamic effect that capital and technology brought in by foreigners would have in strengthening the Japanese economy, and argued that it would more dangerous for Japan's independence if foreigners were to concentrate in their settlements and exercise their own administrative power there.

In the end, the issue was settled through a series of revised treaties, led off by the Japan-UK Treaty of Commerce and Navigation in 1894, that abolished consular jurisdiction and permitted mixed residence in the interior. All sides in the debate, no matter the position, had shared an interest in the implications that an influx of foreigners would hold for Japan's international standing. The debate arguably evinced the nationalist dilemma between the stability of domestic rule and the acceptance of external stimuli linked to socio-economic progress.

It was in the Meiji period, after contacts with foreigners reached a certain level, that Japan felt the need to set up a system of nationality. The first such law was the Grand Council of State ($Daj\bar{o}kan$) Edict of 1873, which stipulated the acquisition and loss of nationality resulting from marriage with a foreigner.¹⁶ The first civil code that had been promulgated in 1890 also provided for a nationality system modeled after the Napoleonic Code, but it did not take effect because this "Meiji Civil Code" itself was never implemented. Japan's system of nationality took shape with the Nationality Law of 1899, enacted in response to Article 18 of the Meiji Constitution, which states that "The conditions necessary for being a Japanese subject shall be determined by law." The law is based on the principle of patrilineal descent (*jus sanguinis a patre*), and establishes the acquisition of nationality through naturalization and marriage. Later, it was amended in 1916 to put in place provisions regarding renunciation of nationality, probably arising from the need to address the status of Japanese emigrants to jus soli countries such as the US.

2.4 Enlargement of Japan's Territory

We must remember that, as pre-World War II Japan expanded its territory, the Japanese state faced the challenge of how to organize its relations with the local population as well as with Japanese people who had moved to new territories. Japan had not established its control over Hokkaido and Okinawa as its territory in the early modern period. In the case of Okinawa, Japan established territorial control through the Ryūkyū Disposition (1872), which meant annexing the Ryūkyū Kingdom, as well as excluding Qing Dynasty China, which had opposed this move by asserting its own traditional suzerainty, through victory in the (First) Sino-Japanese War (1894–95). In the case of Hokkaido, Japan undertook negotiations with Russia to delineate their national borders as it strengthened its territorial control through immigration

from the mainland. These Japanese immigrants established new control while they marginalized the indigenous Ainu people, so from that point it is similar in character to European immigration to the Americas.

In addition, the pre-WWII Japanese state had the challenge of incorporating the local populations in places such as Korea and Taiwan as the Japanese empire expanded. Residents of areas that became new Japanese territory were accorded Japanese nationality automatically. Korea and Taiwan, however, were regarded as dependencies, considered to be regions with different laws (ihō kuiki) that were outside the scope for applying the Constitution; they were treated as spaces for governance of a different nature, in which the relationship of rights and duties between residents and the state differed from that of the mainland.¹⁷ As a result, local residents could not enjoy constitutional rights, including the right to vote; at the same time, the military conscription system only applied to immigrants from Japan. Yet as mainland immigration to these areas increased, immigrants from Japan sought political rights under Taishō democracy after World War I. There was a sense of needing to respond to the rise in local nationalism as well. The Japanese government thus made some efforts to incorporate local residents. For instance, local elections were held in Korea, and Koreans, who formed an overwhelming majority there, also held a majority in local assemblies. Although elections were not held in Taiwan, a government-elected advisory body was established opening the way for local Taiwanese residents to participate in politics, albeit to a limited extent.¹⁸ Inasmuch as Japanese mainland immigrants were an extreme minority in Korea and Taiwan, there was a natural sense that rather than unilaterally oppressing and exploiting the local populace, gaining their support was necessary to mobilize them and to have stable governance. Japan stepped up its assimilation policies, such as enhancing the education to make good imperial subjects (kōminka kyōiku) and compelling the adoption of Japanese names (sōshi kaimei). In the final years of World War II, the Japanese government began conscription in Korea and Taiwan, while also granting franchise at the national level that provided them with voting rights for the House of Representatives.¹⁹

To be sure, the assimilation of Korean and Taiwanese residents as Japanese subjects through such policies cannot in any way be deemed a success. Actually, Koreans and Taiwanese, as long as they lived in Japan proper, were able to enjoy the right to vote, so a Korean Diet member did exist. Korean-born Park Choon-geum ran for office in Tokyo's Fourth Ward in 1932 and was elected, becoming the only Korean member of the Diet. Park said, "We have been imperial subjects since the day Korea was annexed, and being His Majesty's subjects, it is natural that we should demand our rights as nationals." He argued, "Since we are the same Japanese nationals, it is only natural that we should hold the duty to serve in the military and be granted the right to vote." He consistently maintained that all Japanese subjects should be given equal and rightful status as subjects.²⁰ The government, however, refused to accede to Park's requests, saying it was premature, citing the need for careful consideration, and making other excuses. In the face of unchanging discriminatory measures, Park made the following remarks in the Diet:

"Please put yourselves in our shoes and consider it from our perspective. You say 'Isn't it normal to be dissatisfied?' that 'There is no overt discrimination' and 'We regard all men as equals.' And yet, in reality, discrimination is everywhere." "I do not say such things for the sake of Korea. I am demanding equality from the viewpoint of the Empire of Japan."²¹

From Park's indignation emerges an image of Imperial Japan's having betrayed its loyal subjects.

2.5 Dissolution of the Empire of Japan

With Japan's defeat in World War II in 1945, the country's territory was rapidly reduced, and Japanese membership status was also reorganized. First of all, the victors' basic policy regarding Japanese people who had emigrated to areas that fell outside of Japan's postwar borders was to repatriate them rather than incorporate them as members of the local successor state. As a result, approximately 3 million returnees were repatriated to Japan proper after the defeat. The majority of returnees originated from territories that had been controlled by the former Japanese Empire, such as Manchuria, Korea, and Taiwan. It is also known that there were a significant number of residents of Japanese descent who were repatriated from Australia, the US, and Canada.²²

Meanwhile, the nationality of Japanese subjects who had been born in Korea and Taiwan was transferred to the successor state. The nationality of the people residing in areas that were no longer under Japanese sovereignty as a result of Japan's accepting the Potsdam Declaration and concluding the San Francisco Peace Treaty, naturally belonged to the state that controlled the area. It is also customary that a state created from the dissolution of an empire is usually founded on ethnic nationalism, which holds that one ethnic group should form one state. For this reason, the governments in mainland China and on the Korean Peninsula did not try to incorporate as new members the Japanese immigrants living there after Japan's defeat in the war. In contrast, those countries actively went about incorporating their nationals living in Japan. Moreover, civil wars in mainland China and the Korean Peninsula were fought over who would occupy the position of the legitimate government after the dissolution of the Japanese Empire, with the parties concerned vying against each other to gain the support of their own people.

Taiwanese and Korean residents in Japan would have had little incentive to maintain their Japanese nationality in order to live in Japan, a country in turmoil and devastated after its defeat. Given the civil war chaos in their homeland, it would not be surprising for there to have been an avid demand to live in Japan. Although the actual situation is unclear, a significant number of irregular migrants are estimated to have streamed into Japan right after the war's end and during the Korean War (1950–53), partly due to the marked decrease in Japan's border control capabilities.

In any case, the dominant perception after World War II held that the dissolution of the Japanese Empire reorganized Japan into a realm made up of a homogeneous people and having uniform institutions. The country's image became Japan, the peaceful state, that should protect the borders of "Japan's inherent territory" where only "Japanese people" reside. The idea of territorial expansion was out of the question, and issues of coexisting with, incorporating, and excluding others within Japanese territory were forgotten. Consequently, even though problems related to *Zainichi* Koreans, Ainu, and "others" living in Japan became material for critical discourse as a human rights issue, the matter of who was a member of Japan was never felt to be a fundamental political issue.

2.6 Postwar Overseas Emigration

Japan's population was widely understood as being still too large after World War II, and so even after avenues of territorial expansion had been closed, there was continuing interest in sending migrants abroad and the country adopted policies to support overseas emigration. Postwar overseas emigration is said to have begun in 1952, when jute cultivators moved to the Amazon River basin in Brazil. Racist immigration policies in North America and Australia meant their doors were closed to Japanese immigrants; consequently, the many Japanese people who crossed the ocean in search of a new life went mainly to South America (Table 1). The government became involved in supporting the sending of migrants, establishing the Federation of Japan Overseas Associations in 1954 and the Japan Emigration Promotion Co., Ltd. the following year, which developed programs to provide loans to emigrants from Japan. As a rationalization measure, those two organizations were dissolved and their overseas operations were taken over by the Japan Emigration Service (JEMIS), established in 1963 as a public corporation under the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

After peaking in the late 1950s, however, the number of Japanese emigrants rapidly declined such that the wave had subsided for the most part by the mid-1960s. (Fig. 2). The reason for the drop, as was the case in late nineteenth century Germany, was that rapid domestic economic growth and expanded range of economic opportunities led to decreased pressure for population outflows. In 1974, JEMIS, the organization that had been supporting Japanese emigration, was reorganized into the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), which is responsible for Japan's foreign assistance. This development symbolized that the Japanese economy had graduated from the stage of exporting labor overseas, and the country had shifted the focus of its foreign economic policy, moving to a stage where the fruits of its economic growth could be allocated to foreign aid.

2.7 Debate Over Accepting Immigrants

Not until the late 1980s/early 1990s, during what later became known as the asset price bubble era, did Japan become aware of the influx of people into the country. As the external value of the yen soared and howls about the domestic labor shortage

Country	Number of people	
Brazil	1,900,000	
US (mainland)	1,484,186	
Hawai'i	172,049	
Canada	121,485	
Peru	100,000	
Australia	36,000	
Philippines	33,000	
Argentina	65,000	
Mexico	20,000	
Bolivia	11,350	
Paraguay	10,000	
Indonesia	4,500	
Chile	3,000	
Colombia	1,800	
Cuba	1,100	
Dominican Republic	800	
Venezuela	800	
Uruguay	350	
Ecuador	300	
Total estimate	Approximately 4,000,000	

Note Overseas *Nikkei* here refers to permanent residents and their descendants (second, third, fourth generation, etc.), regardless of nationality or degree of Japanese ethnicity. The above table does not include *Nikkei* residing in Japan.

Source Association of Nikkei and Japanese Abroad website: https://jadesas.or.jp/en/aboutnikkei/ (accessed March 27, 2024).

grew, demand for labor from overseas suddenly increased. However, interest in this immigrant labor force disappeared at once with the sudden onset of stagnation in Japan's economy.

In addition, while the Japanese economy remained sluggish, Japan's neighbors, starting with China, experienced remarkable economic growth, which may have helped moderate the pressure of population migration towards Japan.

By the start of the twenty-first century, however, growing concerns about Japan's declining population coupled with economic recovery led some within Japan's business and political circles to offer a series of proposals regarding the full-scale acceptance of immigrants (Table 2).

In the interim, Japan followed a policy of accepting highly skilled human resources, foreign professionals with special skills, and not masses of unskilled labor. For example, the *Japan Revitalization Strategy (2014 revision)*, approved by the Abe Shinzō Cabinet in June 2014, aimed at "developing a Japanese society where

Table 1Distribution ofoverseas Nikkei (as of 2022)

2 Japan and Population Inflows and Outflows



Fig. 2 Overseas emigration trends after World War II. *Source* Based on Japan International Cooperation Agency (ed). 1994. "Kaigai ijū tōkei (Overseas Migration Statistics, FY1952-1993)." Gyōmu shiryō, No. 891, 11–12. https://www.jica.go.jp/Resource/jomm/outline/library/ku57pq00000lx70u-att/statistics.pdf (accessed March 23, 2024)

foreigners can perform well" with specific mention of their acceptance in the fields of construction, housekeeping support, and nursing care.²³ At a Diet session in October later that year, however, to Representative Hiranuma Takeo's comment that "[our party's next generation] should be cautious about accepting large numbers of immigrants without considering the cultural and social ramifications," Prime Minister Abe responded, "Utilizing foreign human resources, as contained in the *Japan Revitalization Strategy*, is not immigration policy. It is having people from overseas with

Date announced	Group/Title	Contents
March 2007	Keidanren (Japan Business Federation): "Second set of recommendations on accepting non-Japanese workers"	Consider securing human resources from overseas for those skilled workers expected to be in short supply in the future, while regulating the number of skilled non-Japanese workers by introducing a labor market test
June 2008	Liberal Democratic Party (LDP) National Vision Project Headquarters, Path to a Japanese-style immigration nation Project Team (PT): "Opening Japan to human resources from abroad! The path to a Japanese-style immigration policy"	To cope with the declining population, it is necessary to accept 10 million immigrants (approximately 10% of the population); doing so calls for significant legal system improvements and organizational reforms
July 2008	LDP National Vision Project Headquarters, Foreign workers issues PT: "Proposal to form a 'Temporary work system for foreign workers'"	Accept foreign workers through a "temporary work system" without restrictions on industries or occupations. At that time, an annual acceptance limit will be set with a term of three years
July 2008	Tokyo Chamber of Commerce and Industry: "Proposals on accepting foreign workers and opinion on revising the foreign trainee/technical intern program"	Broaden their acceptance as a response to the decline in the labor force population. It would be desirable to grant permanent residency to foreign workers who meet certain requirements
September 2008	Japan Economic Research Institute: "Recommendations on the acceptance of foreign workers—a proposal for a new acceptance system"	Need to make the scope of work more flexible and developing the skills of foreign workers. Need to review the existing qualifications, introduce "specified skilled worker" classification
October 2008	Keidanren: "An economy and society that responds to the challenges of a declining population"	Japan should more widely accept workers with certain qualifications or skills who are needed in industrial sectors with labor shortages and to maintain a vigorous economy and society
June/September 2009	Japan Immigration Policy Institute: "Towards a Japanese-style immigrant nation"	Japan should aim to transform into an immigrant nation in response to population decline. In order to reduce conflicts with the host society, implement a "nurturing type" of acceptance

 Table 2
 Policy proposal examples

(continued)

Date announced	Group/Title	Contents
May 2010	Council on Population Education/ Akashi Research Group, "Considering the future of Japan": "Seven proposals for Japan to reestablish its place As a Respected Member of the International Community: Taking a Global Perspective on Japan's Future" (Proposal 3: Japan should develop a model immigration policy with the slogan of "Opening Japan to Human Resources")	Japan needs an active approach to immigration policy. Japan should offer thorough Japanese language education and vocational training, accepting people on the assumption that they will stay permanently
November 2010	The Japan Forum on International Relations "Prospects and challenges for the acceptance of foreign migrants to Japan"	Caution is warranted in importing labor in unskilled fields. Limit the types of occupations that are necessary and accept applicants ready to assist with their human resource development and acquiring vocational qualifications
March 2011	Sasakawa Peace Foundation, "Global Demographic Change and Labor Migration in Asia" Project: "Japan's shrinking society and its options—recommendations regarding foreign workers"	Implement an employment permit system and labor market tests. Promote domestic labor market improvements while accepting people in the fields of nursing, nursing care, and housework in preparation for a super-aging society

Table 2 (continued)

Source Table created based on Akashi, Jun'ichi. 2013. "Gendai Nihon ni okeru nyūkoku kanri seisaku no kadai to tenbō (Contemporary Japan's immigration control policy: topics and prospects)," in Yoshihara, Kazuo, ed. *Gendai ni okeru hito no kokusai idō: Ajia no naka no Nihon (Modern International Movement of People: Japan in Asia).* Tokyo: Keio University Press, 70.

diverse sets of experiences and skills demonstrate their abilities in Japan. The Abe administration is not thinking of adopting a so-called immigration policy."²⁴ Thus, he made clear that the Japanese government's position is not to have any immigration policy.

Who is an "immigrant" is, of course, a matter of definition. For example, the United Nations Statistics Division generally defines international migrants as persons living in a country other than their country of birth; UN estimates therefore use data on place of birth, or when that is unavailable, substitutes data on foreign citizens to identify immigrants (see the introduction). And "residence" refers to "long-term migrants" as "persons who move to a country other than that of their usual residence for a period of at least one year." By these definitions, it would mean that there are already more than 2 million immigrants living in Japan. The Ministry of Justice also estimates that the number of foreign nationals residing in Japan (i.e., the number of medium- to long-term residents plus special permanent residents, excluding tourists) was approximately 3.22 million as of the end of June 2023. This figure is about 2.5%

of Japan's population, meaning that 1 in 40 people living in Japan is an "immigrant" who are not supposed to be accepted as a matter of policy.²⁵

2.8 The Existence of a "Side Door"

So why are there "immigrants" in Japan when there are not supposed to be any? The reason is that Japan initially did not have an official entrance to accept foreigners wishing to migrate to the country for the purpose of permanent residence, but people from other countries began to enter and reside in Japan through various side doors. The Immigration Control and Refugee Recognition Act, as revised in June 2023, provides 29 types of residence status that allow people to stay in Japan for a specific period of time.²⁶ Special permanent residents, made up of *Zainichi* Koreans, were once the largest group among minorities residing in Japan, but now the biggest group of resident foreigners are permanent residents, who have an indefinite residence status and, in principle, have unlimited access to the labor market (Figs. 3 and 4).

To become a permanent resident, a person must have already resided in Japan for a certain period of time. For example, it is possible that a person who enters Japan as a resident, and is allowed to stay in Japan for a specified period of time, may eventually secure a path to permanent residency after having lived and worked in Japan for a certain period.²⁷

Additionally, the numbers of international students and technical intern trainees have been on the rise in recent years. Amid declining birthrates and aging populations,



Fig. 3 Changes in the number of foreign residents (by status of residence, end-June 2023) (people, 1000s). *Source* Japan Immigration Services Agency. 2023. "Regarding the number of foreign residents as of the end of June 2023." October 13, 2023. https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/press/13_00036.html (accessed March 27, 2024)



Fig. 4 Composition ratio of foreign residents (by status of residence, end-June 2023). *Source* Japan Immigration Services Agency. 2023. "Regarding the number of foreign residents as of the end of June 2023." October 13, 2023. https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/press/13_00036.html (accessed March 27, 2024)

universities in majority English-speaking countries, which dominate the market for global higher education, have grown ever dependent on the tuition fees paid by the dramatic rise in the number of international students from China. Japanese universities, too, are becoming more dependent on foreign students as its own population of 18-year-olds shrinks. These international students are allowed to work part-time to a certain extent. Many industries in Japan depend on their labor, a fact anyone can understand without referring to statistics by shopping at a convenience store in an urban area. If they work in Japan for a certain period of time after graduation, they should also be able to obtain permanent residency.

The Technical Intern Training Program is officially regarded as an arrangement for development cooperation, where trainees are said to master practical skills in Japanese workplaces over a three-year period. The actual situation, however, is the acquisition of a cheap marginal labor force, no different from a system for accepting guest workers. Technical intern trainees' rights protections have long been pointed out as being extremely inadequate. Also, under the program, trainees are supposed to return to their home countries once their training period ends. Yet a certain number of them stay on in Japan even after the completion of their training period, which should be considered inevitable, judging from the experience of guest worker programs in other countries. It is also a possibility that some of them will go missing, becoming irregular immigrants, which inevitably will spawn legal and illegal businesses to mediate this process.²⁸ Furthermore, the outcome of increasing numbers of foreigners visiting Japan for a certain period of time (whether as students, technical interns, or tourists) and of Japanese people going abroad would be an increase in the number of international marriages between Japanese and non-Japanese. In that case, the rise in the number of people residing in Japan as spouses of Japanese nationals is a natural trend, one hard to imagine reversing.

Looking at these resident foreigners by country of origin, around one-third of the total are Chinese, followed by Koreans. It is hardly surprising that about half of the foreigners living in Japan are nationals of Japan's neighbors, China and South Korea. Yet there are some non-negligible facts: China is both an important economic partner and the most serious security threat for Japan; with South Korea, the historical, territorial, and other diplomatic issues are endless.

3 The International Politics of Population Flows and Japan

Chapters 1 and 2 of this book discussed the conditions under which international population movements develop into political issues between states. In Japan's case, the problems did not concern accepting immigrants into the country—for Japan had consistently been an emigrant-sending state until the 1960s—but rather relations with countries that restricted immigrants from Japan. In this regard, the archetypical case is the serious diplomatic row between Japan, which wished to send its migrants, and the US, which sought to restrict or prevent them from arriving.²⁹

3.1 Japan-US Friction Over Japanese Immigrants

The rising backlash among white workers against the surge of low-wage Japanese immigrant labor in early twentieth century San Francisco moved the city authorities to act in 1905, adopting a measure to segregate Japanese schoolchildren. Notwithstanding the subtle changes in Japan-US diplomatic relations after the Russo-Japanese War (1904–05), ties between the two governments were generally good. The federal government in Washington, DC, regarded this as a local problem happening in one part of the state of California and had no intention to let bilateral relations deteriorate. Japan and the US made attempts to resolve the situation diplomatically, concluding a gentlemen's agreement in 1908, under which Japan agreed not to issue passports except for the purpose of family reunions, effectively prohibiting Japanese immigration to America.

However, the anti-Japanese movement on America's West Coast grew even more strident, and the US Congress took up immigration legislation in 1924. Although the bill passed easily in the House of Representatives, the consensus view was that it would find adoption by the Senate more difficult. The atmosphere completely changed when Henry Cabot Lodge, the chairman of the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, took issue with a letter that Ambassador Hanihara Masanao had sent to Secretary of State Charles E. Hughes. All of a sudden, Lodge began to denounce a passage toward the end of the letter where Hanihara had written about "the grave consequences which the enactment of the measure … would bring" as "a veiled threat" against the US.³⁰ The letter, sent only after the Japanese side had discussed its text with the US State Department, was carefully and thoughtfully written on the whole. Lodge's remarks were mere pretense to gain leverage in US domestic politics, allegedly to win him the support of lawmakers in Western states ahead of the presidential election that year.

This was understood in Japan as a great humiliation and fermented strongly anti-US public opinion. Despite being called the "Anti-Japanese Immigration Act" in Japan, the Immigration Act of 1924 set immigration quotas for each country on the basis of the existing population structure. And Japan was not the only target: it focused on restricting immigration from southern and eastern Europe, and it by and large prohibited all Asian and Arab immigrants based on racial grounds that were tolerated openly in the world at the time. Moreover, the practical impact of the new law would have been negligible for Japan, which had essentially prohibited emigration to the US already under the gentleman's agreement still in force. The reason why Japanese public opinion was so incensed by this was out of a sense of humiliation that the world still openly looked down upon it, despite its self-image as a first-class power that had become a civilized nation.

It would be incorrect to say that this incident immediately set Japan-US relations on a path toward war. But it is a fact that it caused a significant change in how the Japanese people thought about the US, a country they had felt an affinity for, unlike Europe, since the Meiji Restoration. In short, it left many Japanese with the impression that international society's liberal democratic ideals, symbolized by Wilsonism, advocated so loudly by the US, were white hypocrisy. Against this backdrop of public opinion, Japanese leaders undoubtedly found it more difficult to manage relations with the US as before.

3.2 Japan as a Migrant-Receiving Country

Since Japan's history of facing inward pressure to accept immigrants is shorter than that of the US, a traditional immigration state, or of European countries, it has not experienced many similar diplomatic issues as a migrant-receiving country.
Generally speaking, host countries enjoy a greater degree of discretion than migrantsending countries regarding regular immigration in interstate relations, and thus their bargaining power in international negotiations is stronger. In addition, given that the official policy of the Japanese government is that it does not adopt immigration policies, so far there has been only a limited development of international political issues related to immigration.

In the course of Japan's negotiating Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs) with Indonesia, the Philippines, and Vietnam, these countries in fact requested that Japan accept their nationals as workers in the fields of nursing and long-term elderly care. Japan agreed to this request in the EPAs reached with these three countries and began accepting certified care workers, albeit on a limited basis. Appraised by some as offering a potential solution in the area of human resources for labor-strapped Japan, this system requires applicants to undergo Japanese language training before coming to Japan to ensure a certain level of language ability. Then they come to Japan as care worker candidates where, after three years of practical experience at a facility that accepts them, they take a national exam, the same as Japanese candidates. The general idea is that candidates who pass the exam and obtain the qualification will be granted a status to reside in Japan (Fig. 5).

More than 2000 care worker candidates came to Japan from 2008 to 2015, but only about half of them obtained the qualification. Whether this outcome is considered as a step towards changing the system or a continuation of a closed-door policy, the really interesting fact is that a considerable number of these foreign workers return home even after having obtained residency status, such that only about two-fifths of all candidates who get certified go on to work in Japan.³¹

There are various reasons why the percentage of people who settle in Japan is lower than expected. For example, people who come to Japan may not intend to settle in Japan in the first place. Some have noted that foreign candidates who gain experience and qualifications in Japan can earn a satisfactory income in their home countries.³² Put another way, it is conceivable that the Japanese job market is not attractive enough to make it worth the demands of acquiring Japanese (a language only spoken by Japanese people) and to pass the qualification exams. It is true that the Japanese economy has been sluggish for a long time, whereas other Asian economies have been growing rapidly, leading to a relative decline in the Japanese economy's position in East Asia. We should remember, too, that Asian countries in general are experiencing rapidly declining birth rates, and that Taiwan and South Korea, in particular, which have lower birth rates than Japan, are accepting immigrants and are well placed to compete for human resources.

This statement is all the more apt when it comes to accepting highly skilled human resources. Although the Japanese government has repeatedly stated that it will not accept unskilled labor, it has made moves to actively accept foreign professionals with skills that are useful to Japan. The Japanese government introduced a point system in 2012 to certify highly skilled professionals, adopting promotional policies such as granting foreigners who get certified preferential treatment in terms of immigration control.³³ The government further decided in 2016 to loosen the requirements to apply

~ Accepting Indonesian nurse/care worker candidates ~

Regarding the acceptance of Indonesian nurse/care worker candidates in FY2024, nurse/care worker candidates who have been matched with care service providers will take Japanese language training (*1) six months before coming to Japan, after which only those with Japanese Language Proficiency Test (JLPT) level N4 or higher will be allowed to enter Japan. After entry, candidates take an additional six months of Japanese language training and nursing/long-term care introductory training. Then they will work and train at the accepting facility specified in their employment contracts in order to obtain national qualifications as a nurse or certified care worker. Those who obtain the national qualification will be allowed to continue working as EPA nurses and EPA care workers in Japan.





Notes:

- *1 Candidates who have passed the JLPT level N4 or N3 before the start of the pre-arrival Japanese language training will be exempted from that training.
- *2 Candidates who have passed JLPT level N2 or above or have received Japanese language education for 12 months or more at a Japanese language educational institution announced by the minister of Justice will also be exempted from post-arrival Japanese language training.
- *3 Those who fail the last national exam during their stay who are recognized as special candidates will have one more chance to take the exam.
- *4 Candidates may re-enter the country on a short-term stay or similar visa to retake the exam.

Fig. 5 Pamphlet on acceptance of foreign nurse and certified care worker candidates under EPA. *Source* Japan International Corporation of Welfare Services (JICWELS), "Pamphlet on Acceptance of Foreign Nurse and Certified Care Workers Candidates under EPA, FY2024 edition", 4. https://jicwels.or.jp/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/2024年度版-EPAに基づく外国人 看護師・介護福祉士候補者受入れパンフレット-Rev.pdf [For English information (based on earlier requirements), see pages 6–7.] (accessed March 28, 2024)

for a permanent residence permit and to create a "Japanese Green Card for Highly-Skilled Foreign Professionals."³⁴ These moves arguably created a human resources pathway for foreigners (mainly international students from Asia) to permanently reside in Japan.

However, the more internationally competitive a worker's skills are, the more likely he or she will not find employment in Japan attractive enough to justify the effort to adapt to the "Galapagos-like" environment of Japan's language and society. In other words, Japan is at a decisive structural disadvantage in the competition for highly skilled human resources, so it will be unable to secure a large amount of prime talent merely by relaxing the system. At the same time, highly skilled Japanese professionals already adapted to the Japanese environment have had little incentive to move abroad, at least until now, given the relative risks and benefits of staying in Japan versus entering the international job market. This means that if Japan becomes the host country for a large-scale brain drain from developing countries, there is a low likelihood that it will cause political problems with the sending countries, for better or for worse (Fig. 6).

3.3 Population Flow Involving Japan—Strategic Use of Population Movement, Limits of National Border Control Capabilities

What is the possibility that Japan will be the target of a policy of population dumping that uses coerced population migration as a strategic tool? Neighboring China, one of the world's most populous countries, has no shortage of resources for this strategy. Although it has sent democracy activists, ethnic minority leaders, and other Chinese dissidents into de facto exile, as far as I can ascertain, there are no examples of China's deploying a policy of manufacturing a mass migration with strategic objectives similar to Cuba or other countries. These sorts of policies, intentionally carried out to rid a state of its own people, are drastic remedies that may shake the legitimacy of a domestic regime based on nationalism, even in states with non-democratic political systems, and destabilize the systems of both the targeted country as well as the sending country. Even North Korea, with the most repressive regime in the world, strictly restricts its own people from leaving the country. There are cases regarding North Korea's treatment of its defectors, but to the best of my knowledge, there are no examples where North Korea deliberately sent out large numbers of defectors for political purposes. North Korea arguably is aware of the political benefits of accepting asylum seekers as part of its legitimacy contest with South Korea. Strategic engineered migration policies are measures of last resort. It is unknown whether Japan will be the primary target, but the country should prepare itself against the future possibility of a North Korean strategy to intentionally send out its defectors.

The treatment of refugees and political asylum seekers has become politicized on occasion. One example that comes to mind is the 1973 abduction by the South Korean



Fig. 6 Percentage of people who have completed higher education in OECD countries leaving/ entering the country (2001). *Source* Naikakufu (Cabinet Office, Government of Japan). 2008. "Kōdo jinzai no ukeire no genjō to kadai (Current status and challenges of accepting highly skilled human resources)," December 2, 2008, 5. https://warp.ndl.go.jp/info:ndljp/pid/12251721/www.kantei.go. jp/jp/singi/jinzai/dai1/siryou2.pdf. [Source information is based on OECD. 2005. *OECD Science, Technology and Industry Scoreboard 2005*. OECD Publishing, Paris, 57. https://doi.org/.] (accessed March 28, 2024)

intelligence agency of Kim Dae-jung, a South Korean dissident politician who was active in Tokyo and later became president. We can also consider the following:

Although there are striking human rights violations in China, this huge empire could only be ruled by the non-liberal single-party system. So, let us hypothetically assume that the Japanese government actively confirms the status of Chinese refugees. It would set a precedent and, coupled with geographical proximity, might lead to Chinese dissidents coming en masse to apply for asylum in Japan. It is probable that along with Han Chinese democracy activists and members of the Falun Gong religious group, there will be ethnic activists seeking independence for Tibet and Uyghur Autonomous Region of Xinjiang (East Turkestan). Should this trend take root, Japan would become a major base for the Chinese anti-government movement.

A country open to refugees might well become a country that allows the overthrow of foreign governments. This is insightful, if we aim to democratize China. This has been proven in the past. The Tongmenghui, which brought about the Xinhai Revolution and overthrew the Qing Dynasty, was formed in Akasaka, Tokyo.³⁵

Publicly declaring another country's dissidents to be refugees to harbor them is a highly political undertaking that, were it to happen, quite conceivably would spark diplomatic friction between Japan and China.

Rather than due to a clash of national wills, population flows around Japan are most likely to turn political when the limits of the state's ability to control its borders become apparent. We could cite the past example of Indochinese refugees. More than 1 million refugees, mainly ethnic Chinese, streamed out of Indochina in the late 1970s as the Vietnam War concluded, Vietnam and other Indochinese countries became socialist, and the Sino-Vietnamese War broke out. As some of these refugees had escaped by boat, they are often called boat people. Some sought refuge in Japan, either by being rescued at sea by Japanese vessels or by directly coming ashore in Japan. Their number grew rapidly starting around 1977, and during four years from 1979 to 1982, over 1000 people reached Japan's shores each year.³⁶ The influx of refugees subsided after that but picked up again at the end of the 1980s; only about 200 boat people drifted ashore in Japan in 1988, but the number hit 2804 the following year. However, an investigation later revealed that almost all of them were Chinese, irregular migrants disguised as refugees seeking employment.³⁷

The Japanese government's initial response was to disallow the settlement of the boat people it provided refuge. However, it decided in April 1978 to adopt a policy allowing some Vietnamese refugees to settle in Japan, in part owing to growing domestic opinion to accept their settlement. The decision also came in response to criticism from, and out of diplomatic consideration for, the Southeast Asian countries surrounding Vietnam, which had no choice but to offer protection to masses of refugees. Japan also decided to gradually loosen the conditions for resettlement permits so that refugees in Asian refugee camps could reunite with their families and resettle in Japan. It thereby ended up accepting more than 11,000 people. To support their resettlement, the Refugee Assistance Headquarters was established, which implemented programs such as Japanese language education, employment referral services, and vocational training at facilities it set up for this purpose in Himeji city, Hyogo Prefecture; Yamato city, Kanagawa Prefecture; and Shinagawa Ward, Tokyo.

The fact that the number of refugees accepted by Japan was lower than that of developed European countries such as Germany and the UK, not to mention the US, Australia, and Canada, is indicative of Japan's negative attitude toward accepting refugees. Furthermore, the small scale of resettled immigrant communities in Japan means that they are unlikely at this point in history to serve as a political mechanism for generating pressure to accept more refugees. The reality is that, aside from

some human rights activists, the Japanese public were perplexed by this unexpected situation, and so there was no groundswell of humanitarian public opinion. This point has been used as an indication of Japan's insularity and low consciousness toward human rights. It is true that Japan's response to build its refugee system while gradually expanding the framework for accepting them was in reaction to external pressure.

However, the fact remains that Japan's attitude toward accepting refugees is passive at the government level, and even more negative at the level of public opinion. This has made Japan an easy target for criticism by liberal commentators and human rights activists in the West, where the issue has become a major political problem.³⁸ The Japanese negative/passive response was repeated during Europe's refugee crisis that escalated in 2015 with people coming from Syria primarily. Strong public opposition to accepting large numbers of refugees in the West, especially in Europe, precipitated a rise of anti-immigrant forces in various countries. As accepting refugees in the West intensified, Japan responded by launching a program to accept 100 international students in the fall of 2016.³⁹ Then again, the West can hardly be called proactive in accepting refugees, the majority of whom are housed in refugee camps around conflict areas around the world, unless they directly surge at their own national borders.

3.4 How to Deal with Large-Scale Refugee Flows

There is a strong possibility that Japan, irrespective of its attitude, will be forced to respond to refugee flows on an order of magnitude greater than ever before in the event of instability in the areas surrounding Japan, such as a conflict on the Korean Peninsula, political turmoil in China, or the collapse of the North Korean regime. A large-scale refugee event is likely to become a diplomatic issue with the countries involved over sharing the responsibility for protecting them. Moreover, the experiences of other countries have shown that dealing with large numbers of people who at first blush might be refugees or deserters may well go beyond a humanitarian issue to take on political implications, too.

Dealing with a large-scale refugee problem is a major ordeal for any country, a fact easily understood by the 2015 refugee crisis and its aftermath experienced by EU countries, which considered themselves the world leaders in humanitarian norms. Still, there is no reason to arbitrarily conclude that Japan alone is doomed to fail in addressing this problem. As for the Indochinese refugees mentioned earlier, despite its slow initial response, Japan's settlement support for the 11,000 or so people the country accepted might not be called a success story to be proud of, but it cannot be rated a major failure judged by international standards.⁴⁰

Japan's attitude toward refugees and immigrants is commonly explained by reducing it to Japan's backward, insular, and exclusionary nature. Explanations that rely solely on the unchanging uniqueness of the Japanese people are not convincing, for we have already seen in this book that the exclusion of immigrants and refugees itself is a phenomenon widely evident in Western countries. Japanese feelings about refugees and immigrants have been shaped by conditions such as its shallow tradition as an immigrant receiving country and the fact that immigrant groups remain politically weak in Japan. The international environment is yet another important condition: the East Asian states surrounding Japan are, at present, irrespective of regime, modern (or in the process of modernizing) "crustacean type" of nations with generally firm borders. Moreover, it is easy to develop an excessive sense of trust in the physical control of borders in Japan, a state with no land borders.

To be sure, there are no failed states around Japan, and it has yet to encounter a nearby country that has used a policy of strategic engineered migration. The maritime areas surrounding Japan have never been consistently controlled by a hostile state, at least not since the war, and the early postwar period aside, border control has been relatively easy. In the future, however, Japan and its US ally may lose command of the sea in the waters surrounding Japan. Even if that is not the case, there are limits to any border control ability, as already noted in Chap. 2. There is also a strong possibility that complex problems will increase along with active people-to-people exchanges with China, Japan's huge authoritarian neighbor. Furthermore, Japan should be prepared for a considerable number of refugees to head for the country in the event of an emergency on the Korean Peninsula or the Taiwan Strait. Lastly, the possibility of a repressive state that is cornered to employ a policy of strategic engineered migration cannot be ruled out.

4 The Diaspora and Japan—From *Nihon* to *Japan*

I have contended thus far that Japan has been a migrant sending country until relatively recently; it has not actively accepted immigrants into Japan, and even when it has to a limited degree, it has merely accepted them passively and sluggishly. Furthermore, the Empire of Japan may have faced the problem of integrating and incorporating new members as it expanded, yet as the empire was both small from a global perspective and completely dismantled after a few decades at most, the result was for Japan's domestic population structure to become peremptorily homogenized. Thus, there is a certain reality attached to the widely held perception that Japan became a place where a highly homogeneous population lives in relative equality. Yet in reality, Japan's immigrant community has been expanding since the 1990s, reaching a level where it can no longer be treated as an outlier. Moreover, it is difficult to imagine this proportion will shrink in the future. There is a growing need to consider how the country is administered, including its foreign policy, premised on the fact that a significant number of people other than "Japanese" will be living in Japan.

4.1 Conditions for Being a "Nihonjin"

First of all, who are the *Nihonjin*, the official members of Japan? As I mentioned above, Japan first officially determined the scope of its membership with the Nationality Law it enacted in 1899. Thereby, Japanese nationality was by the principle of patrilineal descent, a principle carried over in the Nationality Act of 1950, which was enacted under the new constitution. The Nationality Act amended in 1984 maintained the *jus sanguinis* principle but allowed children to also inherit their mother's nationality. I have also argued the weak grounds for regarding *jus sanguinis* as more backwards than jus soli, the principle of birthplace (see Chap. 3). Considering the experiences of continental European countries that have traditionally followed jus soli, the increase in Japan's communities of immigrant residents will inevitably be accompanied by a growing dynamic in which the state tries to incorporate immigrants in the second generation onward born in Japan by strengthening jus soli elements.

People from abroad are already moving to Japan through various side doors. A fair proportion of these people have already become denizens as foreign permanent residents; the conditions for doing so have gradually been eased and, at least in terms of the formal system, are less restrictive than is generally believed.

First, the Ministry of Justice's 2017 "Guidelines for Permission for Permanent Residence" lists the following conditions for permanent residency: in principle, the person has stayed in Japan for more than 10 years consecutively, is of "good conduct," and "has sufficient assets or ability to make an independent living." It then relaxes some conditions for refugees, highly skilled professionals based on a points system, and long-term residents (*teijūsha*: some persons with Japanese ancestry, Indochinese refugee settlers, the spouse or children of Japanese nationals left behind in China, etc.). As far as we can see, the conditions for permanent residency in Japan do not appear significantly different from those in the Western countries discussed in Chap. 4.⁴¹

Regarding naturalization, Article 5 of the Nationality Law stipulates that:

The Minister of Justice shall not permit the naturalization of an alien unless he or she fulfills all of the following conditions:

1) that he or she has domiciled in Japan for five years or more consecutively;

2) that he or she is twenty years of age or more and of full capacity to act according to the law of his or her home country;

3) that he or she is of upright conduct;

4) that he or she is able to secure a livelihood by one's own property or ability, or those of one's spouse or other relatives with whom one lives on common living expenses;

5) that he or she has no nationality, or the acquisition of Japanese nationality will result in the loss of foreign nationality;

6) that he or she has never plotted or advocated, or formed or belonged to a political party or other organization which has plotted or advocated the overthrow of the Constitution of Japan or the Government existing thereunder, since the enforcement of the Constitution of Japan.⁴²

In other words, Japan's conditions for naturalization include residence, legal capacity, good behavior, livelihood, preventing dual nationality, and obeying the Constitution. Judging from these conditions and the fact that Japan's conditions for naturalization do not impose any citizenship test, it is hard to conclude that Japan is peculiarly more closed than Western countries.

To be sure, many critics highlight that, in reality, the process is costly, requires submitting many documents, is full of complicated procedures, tests rudimentary Japanese language proficiency, and leaves the Ministry of Justice with considerable room for discretion. But similar things are often said about other countries, so even here it is unclear whether Japan operates a particularly strict system.

In the case of Japan, foreigners are not allowed the right to vote in local elections. And dual nationality, though often tacitly accepted in reality, is not formally recognized. Whether by expanding the rights of denizens or by promoting naturalization, the integration of foreign residents will remain a growing challenge going forward. These points have already been raised from the perspective of protecting the rights of foreign residents.

4.2 How to Promote Societal Integration

Still, we should be aware that alienating people who contribute to Japan in various ways is a huge loss from the perspective of the Japanese national interest. The benefits that immigration brings to host countries extend beyond simply bringing in labor and specialized skills from the outside. These benefits include the dynamism that can be gained by bringing in different types of human resources, which serves to stimulate innovation and prevent social sclerosis. As the number of foreigners residing in Japan increases from now on, a condition that cannot be ignored—not only from the perspective of protecting minorities, but also for the future of Japan's national power—will likely concern how to incorporate these people into Japanese society as competitive assets.

Systems allowing foreigners the local franchise and dual nationality were institutionalized by Western countries in the context of their responses to the policy needs that arose from their respective historical conditions, so whether they are universally "advanced" is debatable. Having membership in multiple states means overlapping personal jurisdictions of these states, which has actually caused international problems in the West as well (see Chap. 3). A succession of mainly European countries has recognized dual nationality and limited suffrage for foreigners, conditioned on the strengthening of supranational frameworks such as the EU as well as on stable political relations between the countries involved to be sure that issues of overlapping personal jurisdiction could be resolved peacefully. The problem in Japan's case is that the major immigrant communities in Japan are either people originally from China, a country that poses the greatest security threat to Japan, or people originally from North and South Korea, states still situated at the frontline of geopolitical tensions whose relations with Japan are unstable, both in diplomatic and national sentiment terms. It would probably be a mistake to categorically deem as xenophobic any concerns about the possibility of introducing a new cause of conflict into Japan's international relations in the event of overlapping personal jurisdiction with these countries, with whom mutual territorial jurisdiction has not even been established. Looking at this issue from a different angle, it also means that there is room for various institutional innovations with people from countries where there is no likely problem with overlapping memberships.

The societal integration of immigrants is a greater challenge than the official system represented by nationality, suggests the experience of the West, which has struggled with societally integrating its Muslim populations. Regardless of official rights and duties at the national level, informal customs for coexistence may evolve over time among people living together in the same area if certain conditions are met. The front lines of Japan's immigration response may be the local governments and local communities where large concentrations of foreigners live. They must smoothly provide education, medical care, garbage collection, and other day-to-day administrative services, as well as obtain the necessary cooperation to do so from their residents, regardless of nationality or ethnic origin; it is a daily imperative that cannot be shirked, not a matter of multicultural ideals. In addition, once the immigrant community grows to a certain size, they will likely become organized, becoming a force that cannot be ignored politically or administratively, and grassroots-level movements to support them can be expected to grow stronger. Indeed, there is the example of Ōta city in Gunma Prefecture, where Brazilian residents of Japanese descent, through trial and error, were vested with more authority, as well as the examples of Kanagawa Prefecture's Icho Danchi and the Icho Elementary School (the school district for the apartment complex) that have successfully formed communities with foreign residents at the grassroots level.⁴³ The Chinatowns in Yokohama and Kobe, now such an integral part of the local community, may lack a strong sense of even being "immigrant communities."

Yet the fact is that without national systems and policy support, an excessive burden would fall on local governments and the private sector.⁴⁴ In this sense, it calls for a unified immigration policy. At the time of writing (July 2018), however, Japanese public opinion did not seem sufficiently aware that immigration is already a real issue for the country. There is no comprehensive immigration policy because, for the government of Japan, immigrants do not exist in Japan. Thus, no one has proposed a comprehensive vision for how Japan should tackle this issue. The government's approach is one characterized by incrementalism, cautiously opening the side doors a little at a time, gradually expanding the conditions and periods for entry and stay by keeping within the framework of the existing system.

Certainly, the content of the *Japan Revitalization Strategy 2016* that advocates the "utilization of foreign human resources" is more fully developed than in previous versions, introducing a point system and a Japanese Green Card for highly skilled foreign professionals as well as references to improving the living environment for foreigners, in terms of education and medical care.⁴⁵ Calls for a systematic immigration policy remain generally limited to human rights activists, multiculturalism advocates, and those businesses wishing to import labor. The effort lacks the power to

mobilize national politics because existing immigrant communities have not grown sufficiently large and the local governments on the front lines of dealing with immigrants remain concentrated in a few regions. From the perspective of promoting societal integration, it is desirable for the government to have the policy foresight to implement consistent measures over the long term. Just how difficult it is to address a minority group once it forms with structural discrimination in society can be grasped without drawing from the examples of Muslims and black people in Western society: Japan need only recall its own issues with persons from discriminated areas and the societal integration of *Zainichi* Koreans.

4.3 International Political Implications

Given this book's focus on the international politics of population movements, I must also inquire into the international political significance of the immigrant communities and foreigners in Japan. To start, I would like to confirm the obvious: an immigrant community is not the surrogate of its home country government, it is a group composed of real people of flesh and blood, each with their own lives, interests, and ideals. Even if the country-of-origin government tries to influence and engage the immigrant community, there are limits on its ability to do so, clearly evident from the fact that Japanese descendants living overseas do not always take Japan's side. Furthermore, for oppressive regimes with no freedoms, often the communities of their overseas nationals in liberal countries are dissident groups. Rather, it is the exception when one of these communities is organized as a monolithic group. Between the ethnic Taiwanese and mainland Chinese living in Japan, or between Zainichi Koreans with North Korean nationality and those with South Korean nationality, their sense of political allegiance will vary, and is not fixed by origin alone. Instead, the identity of these diaspora groups is often a dependent variable, influenced by their political and social environment.

It is natural, however, for an immigrant community, as a vulnerable minority in the country of residence, to actively seek and welcome protection from the government of its country of origin. The coincidence of the immigrant community's interests with its home country government's strategic interests provides the perfect rationale for political intervention. The possibility of a state to intervene militarily to protect its own people, although an extreme situation, cannot be dismissed as a relic of the past—indeed, Russian intervention caused the Crimean Peninsula to effectively secede and become independent from Ukraine in 2015. Even when the governments of the countries concerned have no intent to make trouble, any blatant persecution of immigrant communities in Japan quite possibly could rile public opinion in their countries of origin via transnational migration channels. The treatment of *Zainichi* Korean residents in Japan has indeed become a diplomatic issue between Japan and South Korea on several occasions. When that happens, the situation itself is an independent variable that does harm to international relations, with the possibility that diplomatic relations will deteriorate beyond the intentions of the countries involved.

Notes

Let us consider some hypothetical cases that comport with the reality in Japan. For instance, the treatment of technical intern trainees has been noted for being problematic; should the problem get worse, it may harm ties with the governments of the sending countries. Or again, China, a huge immigrant-sending country that has steadily built up its strategic superiority in East Asia, has both the motivation and the opportunity to strategically utilize the overseas Chinese diaspora. Conversely, it might try to control the activities of Chinese dissidents outside its territory. When it is perceived that Chinese residents in Japan have been treated unfairly, the Chinese government, reliant on Chinese nationalism for the legitimacy of its regime, may find it difficult to control anti-foreign hardline sentiment—perhaps even more challenging than for the Japanese government when the US "anti-Japanese" immigration law aroused Japanese public opinion during the period of Taishō democracy (1920s).

What I would like to emphasize here is that a person's identity, while shaped by ethnic origin, is not immutably fixed; it is something that is constantly reproduced under various conditions. This of course applies to immigrants as well. The conditions that influence their perception of self also include the extent of involvement they have with their country of origin and country of residence. Whether an immigrant community becomes a supporter of a hostile country of origin or has a sense of belonging to its current country of residence also depends on the country of residence's ability to integrate the community politically and societally. The question that will test the capacity of the entire country of Japan is this: will the Japanese state and society integrate these immigrants, making them an asset for the country, or in the worst-case scenario, will it drive them to side with hostile external forces? In other words, whether new Japanese residents can be become members of Japan who share the benefits, hardships, and future with the indigenous Japanese people goes beyond an idealistic matter of protecting the human rights of the weak; it is an issue that will determine the trajectory of Japanese national power.

To return to the fundamentals once more, the essence of politics lies in how to bring diverse peoples together to form an effective collective will. Until now, humankind has structured political communities based on various common elements such as clan, religion, and ethnicity. While it achieved rapid modernization by creating the narrative of a Japan that transcended its social status and place of origin, modern Japan experienced a pathological overdevelopment. The tale of the homeland will be sought hereafter for as long as the human community remains the ideal. Native Japanese people and those newly immigrated to Japan alike will need to show their creativity in sharing a new narrative of Japan, one in which they all are the protagonists.

Notes

 Tanaka, Takeo. 2012. Wakō: umi no rekishi (Wakō ["Japanese" pirates]: a maritime history) Tokyo: Kōdansha Gakujitsu Bunko; Murai, Shōsuke. 1993. Chūsei Wajin den (Wajin ["Japanese"] in the medieval period). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten [English readers can sample some of the themes in Murai's book in his essay https://www.nippon.com/en/features/c00101/ extranational-pirate-traders-of-east-asia.html (accessed March 12, 2024).].

- Fróis, Luís. Matsuda, Kiichi and Kawasaki, Momota (trans). 2000. Kan'yaku Furoisu Nihon shi 1-kan (Complete translation of Fróis' Historia de Iapam [History of Japan], Vol. 1). Tokyo: Chūō Kōron Shinsha, 69.
- 3. Mozai, Torao. 1967. Kōkaijutsu: umi ni idomu ningen no rekishi (The art of navigation: a history of humans venturing on the seas). Tokyo: Chūō Koronsha.
- Yamazaki, Masakazu. 1981. Umi no momoyamaki (Yamazaki Masakazu chosakushū dai 5kan) [Momoyama chronicle of the sea (the collected works of Yamazaki Masakazu, Vol. 5)]. Tokyo: Chūō Kōronsha.
- 5. Watsuji Tetsurō. 1982. *Sakoku: Nihon no higeki (Sakoku: Japan's Tragedy*, Vol. 2). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten, 292.
- 6. Ibid, 304–305.
- 7. One example is Arano, Yasunori (ed). 2017. *Kinsei Nihon no kokusai kankei to gensetsu* (International relations and discourse in early modern Japan). Hiroshima: Keisuisha.
- 8. Shiode, Hiroyuki. 2015. Ekkyösha no seijishi: Ajia Taiheiyö ni okeru Nihonjin no imin to shokumin (The political history of border crossers: Japanese emigration and colonization in the Asia-Pacific). Nagoya: Nagoya University Press, 115.
- Azuma, Eiichirō. "Nihonjin no kaigai ijū ryakushi, 1868nen–1998nen (Brief Historical Overview of Japanese Emigration, 1868–1998)." International Nikkei Research Project website https://web.archive.org/web/20201031141652/http://www.janm.org/projects/ inrp/japanese/overview_ja.htm [English version: https://web.archive.org/web/200406030 05820/http://www.janm.org:80/inrp/english/overview.htm] (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Conroy, Hilary. 1953. *The Japanese Frontier in Hawaii, 1868–1898.* Berkeley: University of California Press, 54–64.
- 11. Yūki, Tomohachi. Ishikawa, Tomonori (ed). 1999. Nanbei to imin [fukkoku-ban] (Nikkei imin shiryōshū dai 2-ki Nanbei-hen 2: Shōwa senzen-ki-hen dai 11-kan) [Emigration to South America {reprint} (Nikkei emigration materials collection, second phase, South America second edition: Prewar Showa series Vol. 11)]. Tokyo: Nihon Tosho Center, 61–62; Citation from Fukui, Chizuru. 2003. "Nanbei imin to nikkei shakai: nikkeijin no aidentiti- o chūshin ni (South American Immigration and the Japanese Society: Focus on the Identity of Japanese Descendants)." Studies of Regional Policy (Takasaki City University of Economics), Vol. 5, No. 3, 36. http://www1.tcue.ac.jp/home1/c-gakkai/img_kiyou/ronbun/ronbun5-3/fukui.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- Ueno, Hisashi. 1994. Mekishiko Enomoto shokumin: Enomoto Takeaki no risō to genjitsu (Mexico Enomoto colonists: Enomoto Takeaki's ideals and reality). Tokyo: Chūkō Shinsho, 23; Nan'yō Dantai Rengōkai (ed). 2000. Dainan'yō nenkan: Shōwa 17nenban Jō (Greater South Seas Almanac [Shōwa 17 (1945) edition], Vol. 1). Tokyo: Ryūkei Shosha, 323–324.
- 13. Regarding the debate over the issue of mixed residence in the interior, see Shiode, op. cit., Chap. 2.
- 14. Fukuzawa, Yukichi. 2003. "Hinaichi zakkyo-ron ni tsuite (On the argument against mixed residence in the interior)" in Iwatani, Jūrō and Nishikawa, Shunsaku (eds). *Jiji shōgen; Tsūzoku gaikōron* (Fukuzawa Yukichi chosaku-shū dai 8-kan) [*Commentary on the current problems; Popular discourse on foreign diplomacy* (Yukichi Fukuzawa collection, Vol. 8)]. Tokyo: Keio University Press, 374.
- 15. Ibid., 376.
- Egawa, Hidebumi, Yamada, Ryōichi, and Hayata, Yoshirō. 1989. Kokusekihō [Shinpan] (Hōritsugaku zenshū, 59-II) [Nationality Law [New Edition] (Legal Studies Complete Works 59-II)]. Tokyo: Yūhikaku, 34 [English readers might refer to Kondo, Atsushi. 2016. Report on Citizenship Law: Japan. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, Country Reports, 2016/11. https:// hdl.handle.net/1814/43625 (accessed March 12, 2024).].
- 17. Mitani, Taichirō. 2017. Nihon no kindai to wa nani de atta ka: mondai shiteki kōsatsu (What was the modern period of Japan? A historical study of the issues). Tokyo: Iwanami Shinsho, 164.

- 18. Shiode, op. cit., 216–221.
- Endō Masataka. 2010. Kindai Nihon no shokuminchi tōchi ni okeru kokuseki to koseki: Manshū, Chōsen, Taiwan (Nationality and family register [koseki] in the colonial rule of modern Japan: Manchuria, Korea, and Taiwan). Tokyo: Akashi Shoten, 191.
- Oguma, Eiji. 1998. "Nihonjin" no kyōkai: Okinawa, Ainu, Taiwan, Chōsen, shokuminchi shihai kara fukki undō made (The boundaries of the Japanese: Okinawa, Ainu, Taiwan, and Korea, from colonial rule to the return movement). Tokyo: Shin'yōsha, 380 [Translated into English in two volumes: Oguma, Eiji. Stickland, Leonie R. (trans). 2014. Vol. 1: Okinawa 1818–1972, Inclusion and Exclusion; and 2017. Vol. 2: Korea, Taiwan, and the Ainu 1868– 1945. Melbourne: Trans Pacific Press.].
- 21. Ibid., 385.
- 22. Shiode, op. cit., 356-357.
- 23. Japan Economic Revitalization Headquarters. 2014. "'Nihon saikō senryaku' kaitei 2014: mirai e no chosen (*Japan Revitalization Strategy* Revised in 2014: Japan's challenge for the future)" June 24, 2014, 22–23. (https://www.kantei.go.jp/jp/singi/keizaisaisei/pdf/honbun 2JP.pdf) [English provisional translation, 25–26: https://www.kantei.go.jp/jp/singi/keizaisai sei/pdf/honbunEN.pdf.] (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 24. Dai 187-kai Shūgiin kokkai honkaigi, 2014-nen 10-gatsu 1-nichi. (187th Plenary Session of the House of Representatives, October 1, 2014) Kokkai kaigi-roku kensaku shisutemu (Diet Minutes Search System).

https://kokkai.ndl.go.jp/#/detail?minId=118705254X00320141001¤t=14 (accessed March 12, 2024).

- 25. Japan Immigration Services Agency website: "Zairyū gaikokujin tōkei (kyū tōroku gaikoku hito tōkei) tōkei-hyō [Statistical table of Foreign Nationals Residing in Japan ({formerly} Statistics on Foreigners Registered in Japan)]." End of June 2023. https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/ policies/statistics/toukei_ichiran_touroku.html (accessed March 28, 2024).
- Japan Immigration Services Agency website: "Status of Residence List" https://www.moj.go. jp/isa/applications/guide/qaq5.html [For machine-translated English: https://www.moj.go.jp/ isa/applications/guide/qaq5.html?hl=en] (accessed March 28, 2024).
- 27. For conditions for obtaining permission for permanent residence, refer to the Japan Immigration Services Agency's "Guidelines for Permanent Residence Permit (revised December 1, 2023)" https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/materials/nyukan_nyukan50. html [For machine-translated English: https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/materials/nyukan_nyukan50.html?hl=en] (accessed March 28, 2024).
- Idei, Yasuhiro. 2017. "NHK ga 'waikyoku hodo' suru 'gaikoku hito jisshū-sei shisso' no jittai (NHK's 'distorted report' on the reality of the 'disappearance of foreign trainees')" *Foresight* (web version) January 27, 2017. https://www.fsight.jp/articles/-/41948 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 29. The treatment of the Japan-US immigration issue here follows Minohara, Toshihiro. 2006. Kariforuniashū no hainichi undō to nichibei kankei: imin mondai o meguru nichibei masatsu 1906-1921-nen (California's anti-Japanese movement and Japan-US Relations: Japan-US frictions over immigration, 1906-1921). Tokyo: Yūhikaku.
- 30. Ibid., 161-162.
- Kamibayashi, Chieko. 2015. "Kaigo jinzai no fusoku to gaikokujin rödösha ukeire: EPA ni yoru kaigo-shi köho-sha ukeire no jirei kara (A Trial Acceptance of Foreign Care-Workers in Japan: A Case of EPA Program)." *The Japanese Journal of Labour Studies*, No. 662, 92–93. https://www.jil.go.jp/institute/zassi/backnumber/2015/09/pdf/088-097.pdf (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 32. Idei, Yasuhiro. 2014. "'Hitodebusoku' to gaikokujin (1):'kaigoshi/kankoshi ukeire' wa naze shippai shita no ka ('Labor Shortage' and Foreigners (1): Why did the 'acceptance of care-givers and nurses' fail?)." *Foresight* (web version), September 9, 2014 https://www.fsight.jp/articles/-/29132 (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 33. Japan Immigration Services Agency. "Kodo jinzai pointo-sei ni yoru shutsunyūkoku zairyū kanri-jo no yūgū seido (Preferential treatment system for immigration and residence management based on point system for highly skilled professionals)." https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/pub

lications/materials/newimmiact_3_index.html [For machine-translated English: https://www. moj.go.jp/isa/publications/materials/newimmiact_3_index.html?hl=en] (accessed March 12, 2024).

- 34. Japan Economic Revitalization Headquarters. 2016. "Nihon saikō senryaku 2016-nen—dai 4 jisangyō kakumei ni mukete (*Japan Revitalization Strategy 2016*—Towards the Fourth Industrial Revolution)," June 2, 2016, 206–207 https://www.kantei.go.jp/jp/singi/keizaisaisei/ pdf/2016_zentaihombun.pdf [Provisional English translation, 159–160. https://www.kantei. go.jp/jp/singi/keizaisaisei/pdf/2016_zentaihombun_en.pdf] (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 35. Hakata, Kei. 2016. Nanmin mondai: isuramuken no döyö iyü no kunö nihon no kadai (Refugee Crisis: Disturbances in the Islamic world, Distress of the EU, and a Challenge for Japan). Tokyo: Chūkō Shinsho, 176.
- 36. According to the Japan Ministry of Foreign Affairs website: https://www.mofa.go.jp/mofaj/ gaiko/nanmin/main3.html [For a less detailed English version: https://www.mofa.go.jp/pol icy/refugee/japan.html] (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 37. Japan National Police Agency. 1990. "Heisei ninen-ban keisatsu hakusho: gaikokujinrödösha no kyūzö to keisatsu no taiö" dai-1-shö (1990 edition Police White Paper: Rapid increase in foreign workers and police response)," Chapter 1. https://www.npa.go.jp/hakusyo/h02/h02 index.html (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 38. On this point, Hakata Kei, who was actually involved in the refugee screening process, says that the reality of rejected refugee applications is that the majority of applicants either have low refugee status or are pretending to be refugees. "While Japan's refugee administration gives off an image of a 'country that is cold towards refugees,' it deals with refugees humanely to an appropriate extent," he says, though he doubts whether the system as it stands will be able to continue to deal with refugee issues. (Hakata, op. cit., 179).
- 39. Japan International Cooperation Agency. 2016. "Shiria nanmin ryūgakusei ukeire no boshū kaishi: Shiria nanmin ni kyōiku kikai no teikyō e (Starting recruitment for Syrian refugee students: Providing educational opportunities for Syrian refugees)." https://web.archive.org/web/20190510022103/https://www.jica.go.jp/press/2016/ 20161205_01.html (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 40. The following work is a fact-finding survey and critical examination from a humanitarian assistance perspective of Japan's accepting Indochinese refugees. Yamada, Hiroshi et al. 2007. Nihon no nanmin ukeire: kako genzai mirai (Refugee acceptance in Japan: past, present, future). Tokyo: Tokyo Foundation (Chūō Kōron Jigyō Shuppan) 2007. Additionally, the following work is excellent for understanding the lives of Vietnamese refugees who have settled in Japan. Yasuda, Minetoshi. 2015. Mājinaru man: nanmin, imin, teikōsha. Kuni to kuni no kyōkaisen ni tatsu hitobito (Marginal Man: Refugees, survivors, resisters. People who stand on the border between countries). Tokyo: Kadokawa Shoten (especially Chapter 1 "My Classmates are Refugees—Vietnam in Japan").
- 41. Japan Immigration Services Agency website: "Status of Residence List" op. cit. [footnote 27].
- Japan Ministry of Justice website. "The Nationality Law." https://www.moj.go.jp/ENGLISH/ information/tnl-01.html (accessed March 28, 2024).
- 43. Regarding Ōta City, see Mizuno, Tatsuya. 2016. Imin no uta: Ōizumi Burajiru taun monogatari (Immigrant poetry: the story of Oizumi Brazil town). Tokyo: CCC Media House. For more information about Ichō apartment complex (danchi) and Ichō Elementary School, see the website of the Yokohama City Iida Kitaichō Elementary School (http://www.edu.city.yok ohama.jp/sch/es/iidakitaicho/information.html) and Nakano, Wataru. 2015. "Kurasu no hansū ijō ga 'gaikoku ni tsunagaru' jidō: kyōsei susumu Yokohama ichō danchi' (Over half the class are children with 'ties to foreign countries': advancing symbiosis at Yokohama Ichō Housing Complex)." HUFFPOST November 13, 2015. https://www.huffingtonpost.jp/2015/ 10/28/symbiosis-in-yokohama_n_8406106.html (accessed March 12, 2024).
- 44. Formed in 2001, the Gaikokujin Shūjū Toshi Kaigi (Conference of Multicultural Cities) serves as an information-sharing venue for local governments with high concentrations foreign residents. The conference is an outstanding display of the predicament of local governments that must respond day and night within an institutional framework that does not assume the

presence of foreign residents, utilizing their own limited resources to provide services, such as school enrollment for foreign children, applying the social security system to foreigners, Japanese language communication assistance, and foreign language support at public office service counters. http://www.shujutoshi.jp/gaiyou/index.htm (accessed March 12, 2024).

45. Japan Economic Revitalization Headquarters 2016, op. cit., 206–209 [English edition, 159– 162.].

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/), which permits any noncommercial use, sharing, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if you modified the licensed material. You do not have permission under this license to share adapted material derived from this chapter or parts of it.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Addendum for the English Language Edition

The immigration control system in Japan has undergone several changes since 2017, about the time I finished writing this book. Some research of note on recent immigration trends in Japan has been published, as well. Allow me, then, to add some supplementary information about these developments for the publication of the English language edition of my book.

The amendment to the Immigration Control Act that passed in 2018 added a new status of residence to the already fairly complex list of categories: Specified Skilled Worker (SSW). There are two types, SSW (i) and SSW (ii). The first type allows foreign nationals who work in jobs that require considerable knowledge of or experience in specified industry fields to stay in Japan for up to five years, provided they pass the requisite skills examination and the Japanese Language Proficiency Test. (Foreign nationals who successfully completed the Technical Intern Training Program (TITP) are exempt from these tests.) The second type allows foreign nationals in jobs that require proficient skills in specified industry fields with increasingly acute labor shortages, such as food service, construction, and agriculture, to stay in Japan indefinitely and to bring their family members with them. Since the period of stay is unlimited, SSW (ii) workers should be able to obtain permanent residence (in principle, in 10 years, but in reality probably earlier), and should face no obstacles to acquiring Japanese nationality. In short, guest workers known as technical interns should also be able to obtain Japanese nationality through this system. If that is the case, it might seem that Japan has decided to finally start accepting immigrants.

At this stage, however, it is uncertain just how large an effect this immigration system reform will have. The system has not been in place for long, and the coron-avirus pandemic had severely restricted the international movement of people beginning in 2020. Also, applicants wishing to obtain this status of residence must clear hurdles, such as a skills test and a Japanese language test, but it remains unclear how high the hurdles will be. Be that as it may, the number of foreign residents in Japan under the status of SSW (i), which is effectively an extension of the TITP, topped 170,000 as of June 2023, a mere four years since the system was launched in April 2019. The number of residents with SSW (ii) status, however, was just 12.¹



Fig. A.1 Foreign residents with specified skills by nationality. *Note* Preliminary figures. Specified Skilled Workers (i) only. *Source* Immigration Services Agency "Tokutei ginō zairyū gaikokujin-sū [gaiyō-ban] (Number of foreign residents with specified skills [summary]" June 2023. https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/policies/ssw/nyuukokukanri07_00215.html (https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/policies/ssw/ nyuukokukanri07_00215.html?hl=en)

The majority of residents with SSW (i) status come from Vietnam and Indonesia whereas those from Korea and China, which used to constitute the greater part of the foreign community in Japan, are among the minority. Accounting for this are the facts that there is little economic incentive for South Koreans to move to Japan seeing as their country has attained the same level of economic development as Japan, whereas in the case of China, its population is beginning to decline as its economy continues its remarkable growth. Southeast Asian countries have shown steady growth on the whole in contrast to the stagnation of the Japanese economy over the past 30 years; Japan can no longer be called an outstandingly attractive country in terms of wages. If wages were the only incentive, foreign workers would not prefer Japan over other, more attractive places to work in the world, such as in the Gulf countries (Fig. A.1).

A not widely known fact is that unskilled workers are not the only ones who wish to immigrate to Japan. The popularly accepted assessment is that Japan is an extremely unpopular country as a workplace for highly skilled foreign professionals. Yet the actual number of highly skilled professionals who have been accepted in Japan has been steadily on the rise since 2012, when the points system was introduced. One inference that can be drawn from this is that because the resources available for studying and emigrating abroad also rise as incomes rise, the number of highly educated people with a desire to emigrate also increases. The preference among Asian, especially Southeast Asian, countries for Japan as a migration destination is increasing rather than decreasing, a trend that is stronger among highly educated people, according to a study based on an opinion survey conducted by Gallup. While we do not know what future trends may be, the reality is that immigrants coming to Japan for the purpose of work are diverse and cannot be judged just by the image of menial labor imported from nearby countries. Future changes will not by determined solely by Japan's systems and policies. They are, we must remember, the result of various conditions governing the global labor market (of which Japan is a part) (Fig. A.2a, b).

The Immigration Control Act was amended once more in 2023. The focus of the amendment concerned the treatment of refugees. The main change in the amendment allows authorities to deport persons applying for refugee status for the third time or more unless they have submitted "materials with reasonable grounds" on which they should be recognized as refugees. The amendment arises from previous examples of people avoiding deportation by repeatedly applying for refugee status, taking advantage of the provision that existed suspending deportation while there was a pending application for refugee recognition. Indeed, a similar amendment bill was submitted to the Diet in 2021. At that time, the death of a Sri Lankan national detained at an immigration facility caused a scandal, subjecting the Immigration Bureau to harsh criticism, and scrapping the bill. However, the government revised the bill, softening the content somewhat, and resubmitted it to the Diet two years later. Despite opposition from refugee protection organizations and human rights groups, who argued that the protection of human rights for refugees was inadequate, and over the objections from some opposition parties, the bill was passed by the Diet in 2023.

This 2023 amendment has arguably made the repatriation procedures more stringent, yet it has broadened some aspects of the scope of refugee protection by establishing a system of complementary protection to protect foreign nationals who are not refugees under the Refugee Convention but are quasi-refugees. Since the system has yet to start (as of this writing), how it will actually operate is still unclear. To date, the Japanese government has tended to prefer flexible means for protecting refugees, allowing residence as a humanitarian measure over formally recognizing refugee status. In 2022, refugee status determination procedures resulted in 202 people being recognized as refugees, whereas a far greater number of 1760 people, although not recognized as refugees, were allowed to stay on humanitarian grounds.² In addition, Japan accepted and provided financial assistance to more than 2000 Ukrainians following Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2020 and granted an extension of stay to nearly 5000 Myanmar nationals after the coup in Myanmar in 2021. Furthermore, with the establishment of the Taliban government in Afghanistan in 2020, Japan



University graduate or	High school, junior	Middle school and below
above	college graduate	
US (20.6%)	US (23.7%)	US (21.7%)
Australia (12.5%)	Australia (7.3%)	Saudi Arabia (10.4%)
Canada (10.3%)	Canada (7.1%)	United Arab Emirates (5.0%)
UK (5.6%)	UK (5.6%)	Canada (3.5%)
Japan (4.4%)	Saudi Arabia (4.6%)	Australia (3.3%)
Germany (3.9%)	Singapore (4.4%)	UK (3.2%)
Singapore (3.5%)	Japan (4.3%)	Singapore (2.5%)
France (3.0%)	France (2.8%)	South Korea (2.4%)
Switzerland (2.7%)	Germany (2.4%)	Japan (2.4%)
New Zealand (2.6%)	Italy (1.8%)	India (1.8%)
	above US (20.6%) Australia (12.5%) Canada (10.3%) UK (5.6%) Japan (4.4%) Germany (3.9%) Singapore (3.5%) France (3.0%) Switzerland (2.7%)	above college graduate US (20.6%) US (23.7%) Australia (12.5%) Australia (7.3%) Canada (10.3%) Canada (7.1%) UK (5.6%) UK (5.6%) Japan (4.4%) Saudi Arabia (4.6%) Germany (3.9%) Singapore (4.4%) Singapore (3.5%) Japan (4.3%) France (3.0%) France (2.8%) Switzerland (2.7%) Germany (2.4%)

(b)

Fig. A.2 a Trends in desired destinations for international migrants from Asian countries (Top 10 countries). **b** Top desired destinations of international migrants from Asian countries (by level of education). *Note* 2015–2018. Source of the preceding two figures: Korekawa, Yū. 2022. "Gurōbaru ni mita kokusai idō ikō no bunseki (Analysis of International Migration Intentions from a Global Perspective)" in Kokuritsu shakai hoshō jinkō mondai kenkyūjo (National Institute of Population and Social Security Research), et al., ed. Kokusai rōdō idō nettowāku no naka no Nihon: dare ga Nihon o mezasu noka (Japan in the International Migrant Labor Network: Who is Aiming for Japan?). Tokyo: Nihon Hyōronsha, 34–35. The author's underlying data comes from Gallup, 2021. Gallup World Poll 2021

accepted groups of Afghan evacuees, and in this case, it ultimately recognized them as refugees.

Japan is often criticized for its low refugee recognition numbers, yet its level of refugee acceptance is governed largely by factors owing less to Japan's system or its exclusionism, and deriving simply from a lack of geopolitical turbulence or of failed states around Japan at the moment. Indeed, Turkey and Pakistan are the world's largest refugee-accepting countries, yet Western commentators would hardly judge their systems to be tolerant or culturally open to refugees. Japan's low rate of refugee recognition, while indicative that its recognition standards are strict, might result from the attributes of the applicants, because the refugee recognition system itself works and it is possible to appeal to the courts. To begin with, there are considerable doubts with respect to how objective and globally uniform the standards for refugee recognition are.

In summary, as outlined above, there have been no revolutionary changes in Japanese immigration control policy since I finished the manuscript for the original Japanese version of this book. But in addition to those accepted under de facto guest worker programs, there has been a steady increase in highly educated immigrants coming to Japan as incomes in Asian countries have risen. Therefore, if we were to say that Japan has a policy of rejecting immigrants, we must conclude that it is a complete failure, for better or worse. There are scant grounds to think that Japan's immigration control system is exceptionally closed from a global perspective. As for settling in Japan, the 10-year (in principle) residency requirement to obtain permanent residence status is viewed as an extremely long period. Yet the period will be shortened if the applicant is in a marital relationship with a Japanese national or is a highly skilled professional with more than a certain number of points, so in reality it can be assumed that in many cases permanent residence is obtained within a fairly short period of time. The residency requirement for acquiring nationality, moreover, is rather short at five years, a period which can be reduced under various conditions.³ Although individual cases can be cited to argue that Japan's ethno-nationalism is exceptionally strong, there is a paucity of credible, internationally comparable evidence-rather similar to the revisionist views of Japan, which were popular in the West in the late 1980s, that attributed Japan's trade surplus to the closed nature of its market and the uniquely exclusionary nature of Japanese culture. The stock of immigrants in Japan has already reached several percent of the population and the scale of the flow of immigrants, just looking at immigrants for labor purposes and excluding family reunions, refugees, and such, already surpasses that of Germany or the United Kingdom. These facts, more than anything else, cast doubt on the view that Japan is a unique exception.⁴

If Japan's current policy has anything distinctive, it would probably be that it avoids using the term "immigrants" and that it continues taking an incremental approach of patching the system together. Consequently, Japan seemingly has no comprehensive policy, one that not only protects the rights of immigrants, which is often an issue, but also addresses head-on the challenges brought about by international population movements: societal and political integration as well as security challenges.

There are signs that Japan's attitude is changing. For instance, the Immigration Bureau itself organized an advisory panel of experts and commenced a review of the TITP, which has been heavily criticized for some time. In its interim report issued in May 2023, the panel recommends that authorities consider abolishing the current TITP that aims to make international contributions through human resource development, recasting it as a system to secure and develop a labor force, and that it be linked to the SSW system, but that some kind of brokerage function between the migrant-sending countries and the employers in Japan be maintained because of the significant information asymmetry between job recruiters and job seekers in the international labor market.⁵ This suggests that policymakers have begun to move in the direction of bringing unrealistic systems into line with reality.

Japan's demographic trends are behind this move. The rapidly declining birthrate is being strongly felt, which has heightened expectations for immigrant labor among some industries. It is unrealistic, however, to think about using immigrant labor to fill the gap, given the enormity of Japan's population shrinkage. Japan would need to accept hundreds of thousands of immigrants each year up until 2050 to maintain its population, according to a United Nations estimate: 381,000 on average per year to maintain its total population (as of 2005) and 609,000 annually to maintain its working age population (at the 1995 level). Moreover, to maintain the ratio of the working-age population (aged 15-64) to the retired-age population (aged 65 and over) at the 1995 level (a potential support ratio of 4.8), Japan would need to accept more than 10 million immigrants each year, which means that by 2050, 87% of Japan's total population would be people who immigrated to Japan after 1995 or their descendants! Clearly, this an unrealistic scale for any country.⁶ Moreover, even supposing Japan wanted to bring in such large numbers of immigrants, it is doubtful whether it could attract them, given global demographic trends and the Japanese economy's relative decline. In Japanese society today, there is widespread agreement that the declining birthrate and aging population are serious problems that demand action. Thus, even if this agreement does not lead to solving the problem, it may have the effect of persuading ordinary Japanese people of the need for immigration in the declining birthrate/aging population narrative.

Perhaps even more importantly, Japanese society has become accustomed to interacting with people of foreign origin. Once unseen, they have clearly become a natural part of daily life in Japan's urban areas with the rise in immigrant labor over the past 30-plus years. It takes more than official systems and high-minded ideals for people with different customs and worldviews to coexist; mutual learning put into practice over a long period of time is essential. We can expect that through their interaction with immigrants in everyday settings such as restaurants and convenience stores, Japanese will experience friction and problems but also benefit from the learning effect.

Should a dramatic geopolitical event occur somewhere near Japan, the country would inevitably see a sudden surge of refugees, regardless of these recent domestic developments. Of course, there is no guarantee that geopolitical upheaval comparable to the Arab Spring or the Syrian conflict will not occur around Japan. If anything, since it neighbors China, North Korea, and Russia, Japan is now situated at the forefront of intensifying global geopolitical conflicts. If conflict were to break out on the Korean Peninsula or if China were to invade Taiwan, there is a very real possibility that a substantial number of evacuees would attempt to seek shelter in Japan.

Koreans and Chinese, the main diaspora groups in Japan, have already formed large communities. Should conflict break out on the Korean Peninsula, tensions would flare between the North and South Korean diaspora communities within Japan, each with bonds to their respective regimes on the peninsula. Or again, were China to invade Taiwan, Japan would have to be prepared for a serious confrontation between the mainland Chinese and Taiwanese diasporas in Japan.

Furthermore, as China and North Korea pose a security threat to Japan itself, it is not immediately determinable whether their diasporas in Japan (which have transnational ties to these states) and those who will come to Japan as refugees seeking protection (who shall also rely on these diaspora communities) are persons whom Japan should protect or should be wary of as a security risk, or even should be welcomed as new members of Japan. Whatever the case may be, it is not enough to respond to these people merely from a perspective of human rights protection; it calls for diverse and complex considerations.

On the topic of transnational immigrants living in Japanese society, no one in the Japanese government has objected so far to the idea of "multicultural coexistence" (*tabunka kyōsei*), but they only talk about ill-defined goals; they have avoided asking the people directly what kind of stance the authorities should take toward those who shall become new members of the Japanese state, and by the same token, Japanese society. It is just not possible that Japan is the sole exception in the world, and so it must confront many of the same issues faced by European countries, which are in some way the precedents for accepting immigrants. And when it does, the Japanese will have to ask themselves what they will offer the new members of Japan and what they will ask of them in return. Ultimately, it comes down to the Japanese people reaffirming for themselves what it means to belong to the state.

For a variety of reasons, it was rare for Japanese after the war to be conscious of their belonging to the state. While relations with the Korean diaspora, a vestige of Japanese imperialism, have always been difficult, for Japan, traditionally an immigrant-sending country, to feel the pressure of an influx of immigrants is just a phenomenon of the past 30 years or so. Moreover, partly due to Japan's having become heavily reliant on the United States for security after World War II and having no conscription system, the majority of Japanese never even imagined, much less experienced, this ultimate test of belonging to the state. Probably the only time they are conscious of their nationality is presenting their passport at immigration inspection when traveling abroad. Yet, for better or worse, Japan cannot be free from the conditions that govern the world. The choice available to Japan is not whether or not to accept people seeking to migrate across borders to Japan; the only issue is how to institutionalize the process and overcome the inevitable challenges and dilemmas. This is a momentous challenge for any country. Western countries, grappling with growing social division and the rise of politically influential anti-immigration parties, do not offer an attractive model for Japan to emulate. Japan has no choice but to meet this challenge in its own way.

Notes

 Shutsunyūkoku Zairyū Kanrichō (Immigration Services Agency). 2023. "Tokutei ginō zairyū gaikokujin-sū (Reiwa 5-nen 6-gatsu genzai) [Announcement of the number of foreign residents with specified skills (as of June 2023)]." https://www. moj.go.jp/isa/policies/ssw/nyuukokukanri07_00215.html (https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/policies/ssw/nyuukokukanri07_00215.html?hl=en).

 Shutsunyūkoku Zairyū Kanrichō (Immigration Services Agency). 2023. "Rei wa 4-nen ni okeru nanmin ninteishasū-tō ni tsuite (Regarding the number of recognized refugees in 2022)" March 24, 2023.

https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/press/07_00035.html (https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/press/07_00035.html?hl=en).

- 3. Regarding the conditions for acquiring permanent residence and nationality, see Kondō, Atsushi and Chen, Tianshi. 2018. "Eijū-ken to kokuseki shutoku (Permanent residency and nationality acquisition)" in *Imin seisaku no furontia: Nihon no ayumi to kadai o toinaosu (Frontiers of immigration policy: Reexamining Japan's Progress and Challenges).* Tokyo: Akashi Shoten, 112–115.
- 4. Korekawa, Yū. 2022. "Gurōbaru ni mita kokusai idō ikō no bunseki (Analysis of International Migration Intentions from a Global Perspective)" in Kokuritsu shakai hoshō jinkō mondai kenkyūjo (National Institute of Population and Social Security Research), et al., ed. Kokusai rōdō idō nettowāku no naka no Nihon: dare ga Nihon o mezasu noka (Japan in the International Migrant Labor Network: Who is Aiming for Japan?). Tokyo: Nihon Hyōronsha, 25–26.
- 5. The final report was issued November 30, 2023. https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/pol icies/policies/03_00033.html

Interim Report (Summary) (Advisory Panel of Experts on Ideal Form of Technical Intern Training Program and Specified Skilled Worker System), May 11, 2023 https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/content/001399727.pdf and Advisory Panel of Experts on Ideal Form of Technical Intern Training Program and Specified Skilled Worker System Interim Report (May 11, 2023) (Excerpt) https://www.moj.go.jp/ isa/content/001402537.pdf.

6. Population Division, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, United Nations Secretariat, *Replacement Migration*, ESA/P/WP.160, March 21, 2000, 49–50. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/412547.

Bibliography

English Works (Alphabetical Order)

- Agunias, Dovelyn Rannveig (ed). 2009. Closing the Distance: How Governments Strengthen Ties with Their Diasporas. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute.
- Anderson, Stuart. 2014. *The Increasing Importance of Immigrants to Science and Engineering in America*. NFAP Policy Brief. Arlington: National Foundation for American Policy.
- Andreas, Peter. 2012. Border Games: Policing the U.S.-Mexico Divide, 2nd ed. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Arrighi, Jean-Thomas and Rainer Bauböck. 2017. "A Multilevel Puzzle: Migrants' Voting Rights in National and Local Elections." *European Journal of Political Research*, Vol. 56, Issue 3, 619–639.
- Aylsworth, Leon E. 1931. "The Passing of Alien Suffrage." American Political Science Review, Vol. 25, No. 1, 114–116.
- Bade, Klaus J. 1995. "Germany: Migrations in Europe up to the End of the Weimar Republic," in Cohen, Robin (ed) *The Cambridge Survey of World Migration*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 131–135.
- Baldacchino, Godfrey. 2010. Island Enclaves: Offshoring Strategies, Creative Governance, and Subnational Island Jurisdictions. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Banting, Keith G. and Kymlicka, Will (eds). 2006. *Multiculturalism and the Welfare State: Recognition and Redistribution in Contemporary Democracies.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Barrington, Lowell W. 2000. "Understanding Citizenship Policy in the Baltic States," in Aleinikoff, T. Alexander and Klusmeyer, Douglas (eds). From Migrants to Citizens: Membership in a Changing World. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Bauböck, Rainer. 2005. "Expansive Citizenship: Voting beyond Territory and Membership." *Political Science and Politics*, Vol. 38, No. 4, 683–687.
- Becker, Gary S. and Lazear, Edward P. 2013. "A Market Solution to Immigration Reform: The U.S. needs more people with skills and vision. To get them, it should sell the right to become a citizen," Wall Street Journal, March 1, 2013.
- Betts, Alexander. 2010. "Global Migration Governance: the Emergence of a New Debate." *Global Economic Governance Programme Briefing Paper*.

Bevan, Vaughan. 1986. *The Development of British Immigration Law*. Beckenham: Croom Helm. Bhagwati, Jagdish N. 1976. "Taxing the Brain Drain." *Challenge*, Vol. 19, No. 3, 34–38.

Bhagwati, Jagdish N. and Partington, Martin (eds). 1976. *Taxing the Brain Drain, Vol. 1: A Proposal*. Amsterdam: North-Holland.

M. Tadokoro, *The International Politics of Migration*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-96-0422-7

- Bickerton, Maria Elena. 2001. "Prospects for a Bilateral Immigration Agreement with Mexico: Lessons from the Bracero Program." *Texas Law Review*, Vol. 79, No. 4, 895–919.
- Brock, Gillian, and Blake, Michael. 2015. *Debating Brain Drain: May Governments Restrict Emgration?* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Brzezinski, Zbigniew. 1983. Power and Principle: Memoirs of the National Security Adviser, 1977– 1981. New York: Farrar Straus & Giroux.
- Carrol, Francis M. 2002. Money for Ireland: Finance, Diplomacy, Politics, and the First Dáil Éireann Loans, 1919–1936. Westport: Praeger.
- Castles, Stephen. 2004. "Why Migration Policies Fail." *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 27, No. 2, 205–227.
- Chishti, Muzaffar and Kamasaki, Charles. 2014. "IRCA in Retrospect: Guideposts for Immigration Reform." Migration Policy Institute Issue Brief, No. 9.
- Chiswick, Barry R. 1988. "Illegal Immigration and Immigration Control." *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 2, No. 3, 101–115.
- Cohen, Andrew. 2007. The Unfinished Canadian: The People We Are. Toronto: McClelland & Stewart.
- Cohen, Deborah. 2011. Braceros: Migrant Citizens and Transnational Subjects in the Postwar United States and Mexico. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Cohen, Robin. 1994. Frontiers of Identity: The British and the Others. London: Longman.
- Cole, Joshua. 2000. The Power of Large Numbers: Population, Politics, and Gender in Nineteenth Century France. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Coleman, David. 1995. "Immigration Policy in Great Britain," in Heckmann, Friedrich and Bosswick, Wolfgang (eds). *Migration Policies: a Comparative Perspective*. Stuttgart: Enke Verlag.
- Collyer, Michael (ed). 2013. *Emigration Nations: Policies and Ideologies of Emigrant Engagement*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Conroy, Hilary. 1953. *The Japanese Frontier in Hawaii, 1868–1898.* Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Craig, Richard B. 1971. *The Bracero Program: Interest Groups and Foreign Policy*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Cyrus, Nobert and Kovacheva, Vesela. 2016. "Undocumented Migration in Germany: Many Figures, Little Comprehension," in Triandafyllidou, Anna (ed). *Irregular Migration in Europe: Myths and Realities*. London: Routledge.
- Daniels, Roger. 1995. "The Growth of Restrictive Immigration Policies in the Colonies and Settlement," in Cohen, Robin (ed). *The Cambridge Survey of World Migration*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Davis, Ted and Hart, David M. 2010. "International Cooperation to Manage High-Skill Migration: The Case of India-US Relations." *Review of Policy Research*, Vol. 27, No. 4.
- de Chickera, Amal and Whiteman, Joanna. 2014. "Discrimination and the Human Security of Stateless People." *Forced Migration Review*, Vol. 46, 56–58.
- de Haas, Hein and Vezzoli, Simona. 2011. "Leaving Matters: The Nature. Evolution and Effects of Emigration Policies." *International Migration Institute*, Oxford University. Working Papers, Vol. 34.
- de la Garza, Rodolfo O. 1998. "Interests Not Passions: Mexican-American Attitudes toward Mexico, Immigration from Mexico, and Other Issues Shaping US-Mexico Relations." *International Migration Review*, 401–422.
- Délano, Alexandra. 2009. "From Limited to Active Engagement: Mexico's Emigration Policies from a Foreign Policy Perspective (2000-2006)." *International Migration Review*, Vol. 43, Issue 4, 764–814.
- Délano, Alexandra. 2011. Mexico and its Diaspora in the United States, Policies of Immigration since 1848. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Délano, Alexandra. 2014. "The Diffusion of Diaspora Engagement Policies: A Latin American Agenda." *Political Geography*, Vol. 41, 90–100.

- Delfs, Robert. 1990. "Long-Arm Tactics," Far Eastern Economic Review July 5, 1990, 10-11.
- DellaPergola, Sergio. 2016. "World Jewish Population, 2016," in Dashefsky, Arnold and Sheskin, Ira M. (eds). *The American Jewish Year Book, 2016*, Vol. 116. Dordrecht: Springer, 253–332. As found at the Berman Jewish DataBank: https://www.jewishdatabank.org.
- Department of Labor and Employment, Republic of the Philippines. 2014. *Philippine Overseas* Employment Administration Annual Report 2014.
- Docquier, Frédéric. 2006. "Brain Drain and Inequality Across Nations." *IZA Discussion Paper*, No. 2440.
- Durand, Jorge. 2004. "From Traitors to Heroes: 100 Years of Mexican Migration Policies." Migration Policy Institute, 2004.
- Düvell, Franck. 2006. "Undocumented Migration in Europe: a Comparative Perspective." in Düvell, Frank (ed). *Illegal Immigration in Europe: Beyond Control?* London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Düvell, Franck. 2011. "Irregular Migration," in Betts, Alexander (ed). *Global Migration Governance*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Earnest, David C. 2008. Old Nations, New Voters: Nationalism, Transnationalism, and Democracy in the Era of Global Migration. Albany: SUNY Press.
- Echeverría, Gabriel. 2015. *Report on Access to Electoral Rights: Ecuador*. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, 2015/12, Electoral Rights Reports.
- European Commission. 2009. Clandestino Project. Final Report. 23 November 2009.
- European Parliament. 2015. Irregular Immigration in the EU: Facts and Figures. Briefing, April 2015.
- Fahrmeir, Andreas. 2000. Citizens and Aliens: Foreigners and the Law in Britain and the German States, 1789–1870. New York: Berghahn Books.
- Fahrmeir, Andreas. 2007. *Citizenship: The Rise and Fall of a Modern Concept*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Faist, Thomas; Gerdes, Jürgen; and Rieple, Beate. 2004. "Dual Citizenship as a Path-Dependent Process." *International Migration Review*, Vol. 38, No. 3, 913–944.
- Federation for American Immigration Reform. 2005. "Mexico's Defense of Illegal Immigrants." (https://www.fairus.org/issue/illegal-immigration/mexicos-defense-illegal-immigrants)
- Feldman, David and Baldwin, M. Page. 2007. "Emigration and the British State, ca 1815–1925," in Green, Nancy L. and Weil, François (eds). *Citizenship and Those Who Leave: The Politics of Emigration and Expatriation*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.
- Freitag, Sabine (ed). 2003. *Exiles from European Revolutions: Refugees in Mid-Victorian England*. New York: Berghahn Books.
- Garcelon, Marc. 2001. "Colonizing the Subject: The Genealogy and Legacy of the Soviet Internal Passport," in Caplan, Jane and Torpey, John (eds). *Documenting Individual Identity: The Development of State Practices in the Modern World*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Gill, Alan. 1998. Orphans of the Empire: The Shocking Story of Child Migration to Australia. Milsons Point: Random House Australia.
- Gittleson, Kim. 2014. "Where is the Cheapest Place to Buy Citizenship?" June 4 2014, (http://www. bbc.com/news/business-27674135)
- González Gutiérrez, Carlos. 1999. "Fostering Identities: Mexico's Relations with its Diaspora," Journal of American History, Vol. 86, No. 2, 545–567.
- Government of the Commonwealth of Dominica, Ministry of Trade, Employment, Industry and Diaspora Affairs. 2010. *Diaspora Policy*. https://web.archive.org/web/20200825030139/http://www.dominica.gov.dm/images/documents/diaspora_policy_2010.pdf
- Granatstein, J. L. 2008. "Multiculturalism and Canadian Foreign Policy," in Carment, David and Bercuson, David (eds). *The World in Canada: Diaspora, Demography, and Domestic Politics*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Greenhill, Kelly M. 2010. Weapons of Mass Migration: Forced Displacement, Coercion, and Foreign Policy. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

- Hägel, Peter and Peretz, Pauline. 2005. "States and Transnational Actors: Who's Influencing Whom? A Case Study in Jewish Diaspora Politics during the Cold War." *European Journal* of International Relations, Vol. 11, No. 4, 467–493.
- Hamm, Patricia H. 1996. *Mexican-American Interests in US-Mexico Relations: The Case of NAFTA*. UC Irvine: Center for Research on Latinos in a Global Society.
- Hammar, Tomas. 1990. Democracy and the Nation State: Aliens, Denizens, and Citizens in a World of International Migration. Aldershot: Avebury.
- Hanafi, Leila and Hites, Danielle. 2017. "Morocco and Diaspora Engagement: A Contemporary Portrait," in Mangala, Jack (ed). Africa and Its Global Diaspora: The Policy and Politics of Emigration. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Herzog, Ben. 2017. Revoking Citizenship: Expatriation in America from the Colonial Era to the War on Terror. New York: New York University Press.
- Higgins, Trumbull. 1987. *The Perfect Failure: Kennedy, Eisenhower, and the CIA at the Bay of Pigs.* New York: W. W. Norton.
- Hirschman, Albert O. 1993. "Exit, Voice, and the Fate of German Democratic Republic: An Essay in Conceptual History." World Politics, Vol. 45 No. 2, 173–202.
- Honma, Hiroshi. 1974. Seiji bōmei no hōri (Legal principles of political asylum). Tokyo: Waseda University Press.
- Hyndman, Jennifer. 2013. "A Refugee Camp Conundrum: Geopolitics, Liberal Democracy, and Protracted Refugee Situations." *Refuge: Canada's Journal on Refugees*, Vol. 28, No. 2, 7–15.
- International Labour Organization. 1949. C097 Migration for Employment Convention (Revised), 1949 (No. 97).
- Irons, Peter H. 1973. "The Test Is Poland: Polish Americans and the Origins of the Cold War." Polish American Studies, Vol. 30, No. 2, 5–63.
- Japan Ministry of Justice. *Interim Report (Summary)* (Advisory Panel of Experts on Ideal Form of Technical Intern Training Program and Specified Skilled Worker System), May 11, 2023.
- Japan Ministry of Justice. Advisory Panel of Experts on Ideal Form of Technical Intern Training Program and Specified Skilled Worker System Interim Report (May 11, 2023) (Excerpt).
- Jonas, Manfred. 1984. *The United States and Germany: A Diplomatic History*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Karatani, Rieko. 2003. Defining British Citizenship: Empire, Commonwealth and Modern Britain. London: Frank Cass.
- Kettner, James H. 1978. The Development of American Citizenship, 1608–1870. Published for the Institute of Early American History and Culture, Williamsburg, VA by Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Kimball, Ann. 2007. The Transit State: A Comparative Analysis of Mexican and Moroccan Immigration Policies. Center for Comparative Immigration Studies, University of California, San Diego.
- Kirch, Aksel; Kirch, Marika; and Tuisk, Tarmo. 1993. "Russians in the Baltic States: To be or not to be?" *Journal of Baltic Studies*, Vol. 24, No. 2, 173–188.
- Kuptsch, Christiane and Martin, Philip. 2011. "Low-Skilled Labour Migration," in Betts, Alexander (ed). *Global Migration Governance*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kuschminder, Katie and Siegel, Melissa. 2013. "Disaspora Engagement in India: From Non-Required Indians to Angels of Development," in Collyer, Michael (ed). *Emigration Nations: Policies and Ideologies of Emigrant Engagement*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lall, M.C. 2001. India's Missed Opportunity: India's relationship with the Non Resident Indians. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Lazin, Fred A. 2005. *The Struggle for Soviet Jewry in American Politics: Israel versus the American Jewish Establishment*. Lanham: Lexington Books.
- Legomsky. Stephen H. 2006. "The USA and the Caribbean Interdiction Program." International Journal of Refugee Law, Vol. 18, No. 3–4, 677–695.
- LeoGrande, William M. 1998. "From Havana to Miami: U.S. Cuba Policy as a Two-Level Game." Journal of Interamerican Studies and World Affairs, Vol. 40, No. 1, 67–86.

- Levin, Geoffrey P. 2015. "Before Soviet Jewry's Happy Ending: The Cold War and America's Long Debate over Jackson-Vanik, 1976–1989." *Shofar: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Jewish Studies*, Vol. 33, No. 3, 63–85.
- Lowell, B. Lindsay. 2007. "Trend in International Migration Flows and Stocks, 1975–2005." OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers, No. 58. Paris: OECD Publishing.

Mearsheimer, John J. and Walt, Stephen. 2006. "The Israel Lobby and U.S. Foreign Policy." Working Paper Series, Harvard University, John F. Kennedy School of Government.

- Médecins Sans Frontières. 2016. Dadaab to Somalia: Pushed Back Into Peril.
- Miller, Mark J. 1999. "The Prevention of Unauthorized Migration," in Bernstein, Ann and Weiner, Myron (eds). *Migration and Refugee Policies: An Overview*. London: Pinter.
- Morrow, Rising Lake. 1934. "The Negotiation of the Anglo-American Treaty of 1870." *The American Historical Review*, Vol. 39, No. 4, 663–681.
- Neidbardt, W.S. 1975. *Fenianism in North America*. University Park: The Pennsylvania State University Press.
- Noll, Gregor. 1999. "Rejected Asylum Seekers: The Problem of Return." *International Migration*, Vol. 37, No. 1, 267–288.
- OECD. 2007. International Migration Outlook 2007. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- OECD-UNDESA. 2013. "World Migration in Figures: A Joint Contribution by UN-DESA and OECD to the United Nations High Level Dialogue on Migration and Development. 3–4 October 2013".
- Off, Carol. 2004. *The Ghosts of Medak Pocket: The Story of Canada's Secret War*. Toronto: Random House of Canada.
- Offen, Karen. 1984. "Depopulation, Nationalism, and Feminism in Fin-de-Siècle France." *The American Historical Review*, Vol. 89, No. 3., 648–676.
- Paoletti, Emanuela. 2010. The Migration of Power and North-South Inequalities: The Case of Italy and Libya. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Paral, Rob, and Johnson, Benjamin. 2004. "Maintaining a Competitive Edge: The Role of the Foreign-Born and U.S. Immigration Policies in Science and Engineering." *Immigration Policy in Focus*, Vol. 3, No. 3.
- Park, Kyung-Ae. 2010. "People's Exit, Regime Stability, and North Korean Diplomacy," in Park, Kyung-Ae (ed). New Challenges of North Korean Foreign Policy. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Parnini, Syeda Naushin. 2013. "The Crisis of the Rohingya as a Muslim Minority in Myanmar and Bilateral Relations with Bangladesh." *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, Vol. 33, No. 2, 281–297.
- Ragazzi, Francesco. 2014. "A Comparative Analysis of Diaspora Policies." *Political Geography*, Vol. 41, 74–89.
- Rawlence, Ben. 2016. City of Thorns: Nine Lives in the World's Largest Refugee Camp. Toronto: Random House.
- Reeves, Christian. 2016. "10 Best Second Passports and Citizenship by Investment Programs For 2016," Premier Offshore Company Services March 15. 2016 (https://premieroffshore.com/10-best-second-passports-and-citizenship-by-investment-programs/)
- Roche, T. W. E. 1969. *The Key in the Lock: a History of Immigration Control in England from 1066* to the Present Day. London: J. Murray.
- Rodriguez, Robyn Magalit. 2010. *Migrants for Export: How the Philippine State Brokers Labor to the World*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Ruggie, John Gerard. 1997. "The Past as Prologue? Interests, Identity and American Foreign Policy." International Security, Vol. 21, No. 4, 89–125.
- Salehyan, Idean. 2008. "The Externalities of Civil Strife: Refugees as a Source of International Conflict." American Journal of Political Science, Vol. 52, No. 4, 787–801.

Sand, Shlomo. Lotan, Yael, tr. 2009. The Invention of the Jewish People. London: Verso.

Sassen, Saskia. 1999. Guests and Aliens. New York: New Press.

- Saxenian, AnnaLee. 2005. "From Brain Drain to Brain Circulation: Transnational Communities and Regional Upgrading in India and China." *Studies in Comparative International Development*, Vol. 40, No. 2, 35–61.
- Schuster, Liza. 2011. "Turning Refugees into 'Illegal Migrants': Afghan Asylum Seekers in Europe." *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 34, No. 8, 1392–1407.
- Senior, Hereward. 1991. *The Last Invasion of Canada: The Fenian Raids, 1866–1870.* Oxford: Dundurn Press.
- Shachar, Ayelet. 2006. "The Race for Talent: Highly Skilled Migrants and Competitive Immigration Regimes." *New York University Law Review*, Vol. 81, No. 1, 148–206.
- Shachar, Ayelet and Bauböck, Rainer (eds). 2014. *Should Citizenship be for Sale*? Florence: European University Institution, EUI RSCAS, 2014/01 EUDO Citizenship Observatory.
- Shain, Yossi. 1999. Marketing the American Creed Abroad: Diasporas in the U.S. and their Homelands. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Shenon, Philip. 1995. "For Filipinos, A Symbol Dies In Singapore," *The New York Times*, March 18. (https://www.nytimes.com/1995/03/18/world/for-filipinos-a-symbol-dies-in-singapore.html)
- Sisson, Richard and Rose, Leo E. 1990. War and Secession: Pakistan, India, and the Creation of Bangladesh. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Smith, Tony. 2005. Foreign Attachments: The Power of Ethnic Groups in the Making of American Foreign Policy. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Soysal, Yasemin Nuhoğlu. 1994. Limits for Citizenship: Migrants and Postnational Membership in Europe. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Spring, Joel H. 2009. Globalization of Education: an Introduction. New York: Routledge.
- Suhrke, Astri, and Zolberg, Ariside R. 1999. "Issues in Contemporary Refugee Policies," in Bernstein, Ann and Weiner, Myron (eds). *Migration and Refugee Policies: An Overview*. London: Pinter.
- Teitelbaum, Michael S. 1984. "Immigration, Refugees and Foreign Policy." International Organization, Vol. 38, No. 3, 429–450.
- Tombs, Robert and Tombs, Isabelle. 2006. *That Sweet Enemy: The French and The British from the Sun King to the Present*. London: William Heinemann.
- Torpey, John. 2007. "Leaving: A Comparative View," in Green, Nancy L. and Weil, François (eds). *Citizenship and Those Who Leave: The Politics of Emigration and Expartipation*. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.
- Triandafyllidou, Anna (ed). 2016. Irregular migration in Europe: Myths and Realities. London: Routledge.
- Triandafyllidou, Anna and Illies, Maria. 2016. "EU Irregular Migration Policy," in Triandafyllidou, Anna (ed). *Irregular migration in Europe: Myths and Realities*. London: Routledge.
- Tsiang, I-Mien. 1942. *The Question of Expatriation in America Prior to 1907*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins Press.
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2000. *Replace*ment Migration: is it a solution to declining and ageing populations? (ESA/P/WP.160).
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2013. International Migration Policies: Government Views and Priorities (ST/ESA/SER.A/342).
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2017. International Migration Report 2017: Highlights (ST/ESA/SER.A/404).
- UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2016. Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2015.
- UN High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). 2017. Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2016.
- Vetik, Raivo. 2011. "Citizenship, statelessness and belonging in Estonia," Paper presented at ECPR General Conference, Reykjavik.
- Wallace Goodman, Sara. 2010. Naturalisation Policies in Europe: Exploring Patterns of Inclusion and Exclusion. EUDO Citizenship Observatory, 2010/07, Comparative Reports.

- Weil, Patrick. 2001. "Access to Citizenship: A Comparison of Twenty-Five Nationality Laws," in Aleinikoff, T. Alexander and Klusmeyer, Douglas B. (eds). *Citizenship Today: Global Perspectives and Practices*. Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.
- Weil, Patrick. Porter, Catherine (trans). 2008. *How to be French: Nationality in the Making since* 1789. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Weiner, Jerome B. 1979. "The Green March in Historical Perspective." *Middle East Journal*, Vol. 33, No. 1, 20–33.
- World Bank. 2016. Migration and Remittances Factbook 2016, 3rd ed. Washington, DC: World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0319-2
- Zevelev, Igor. 1996. "Russia and the Russian Diasporas." *Post-Soviet Affairs*, Vol. 12, No. 3, 265–284. https://doi.org/10.1080/1060586X.1996.10641425
- Zolberg, Aristide R. 2007. "The Exit Revolution," in Green, Nancy L. and Weil, François (eds). *Citi*zenship and Those Who Leave: The Politics of Emigration and Expatriation. Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Japanese Works (Alphabetical Order)

- Abe, Kohki. 2010. "Mukokuseki no jōkei: kokusaihō no shiza, Nihon no kadai (Overview of Statelessness: International and Japanese Context)," UNHCR Representation in Japan.
- Agawa, Naoyuki. 2013. Kenpō de yomu Amerika shi (zen) (Looking for America through its Constitution (complete)). Tokyo: Chikuma Gakugei Bunko.
- Anderson, Benedict. Sekine, Masami (trans). 1993. "Enkakuchi nashonarizumu' no shutsugen (The emergence of 'long-distance nationalism')," Sekai, No. 586, 179–190.
- Anderson, Benedict. Shiraishi, Takashi and Shiraishi, Saya (trans). 2007. Teihon Sōzō no kyōdōtai: nashonarizumu no kigen to ryūkō. Tokyo: Shoseki Kōbō Hayama. [Translation of Anderson, Benedict R.O'G. 1991. Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origins and Spread of Nationalism (revised and expanded edition). New York: Verso.]
- Arano, Yasunori (ed). 2017. Kinsei Nihon no kokusai kankei to gensetsu (International relations and discourse in early modern Japan). Hiroshima: Keisuisha.
- Asakawa, Akihiro. 2003. "Ōsutoraria no imin seisaku to fuhō nyūkokusha mondai: 'pashifikku soryūshon' o chūshin ni (Australian Immigration Policy and Illegal Entrants: 'Pacific Solution' and its Implications)," *Gaimushō chōsa geppō (Ministry of Foreign Affairs Monthly Review)*, No. 1.
- Azuma, Eiichirō. "Nihonjin no kaigai ijū ryakushi, 1868nen-1998nen (Brief Historical Overview of Japanese Emigration, 1868–1998)" International Nikkei Research Project website (http://www.janm.org/projects/inrp/japanese/overview_ja.htm) (accessed April 19, 2016).
- Brubaker, Rogers. Satō, Shigeki and Sasaki, Teru (trans). 2005. Furansu to tsu no kokuseki to nēshon: kokuseki keisei no hikaku rekishi shakaigaku (Nationality and nation in France and Germany: a comparative historical sociology of the formation of nationality). Tokyo: Akashi Shoten. [Translation of Brubaker, Rogers. 2002. Citizenship and Nationhood in France and Germany. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.]
- Castles, S. and Miller, M.J. Sekine, Masami and Sekine, Kaoru (trans). 2011. Kokusai imin no jidai. Nagoya: Nagoya University Press. [Translation of Castles, Stephen and Miller, Mark J. 2009 The Age of Migration: International Population Movements in the Modern World, 4th ed. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.]
- Chanda, Nayan. Tomoda, Seki and Takigami, Hiromi (trans). 2009. Guro-barize-shon: Jinrui 5mannen no dorama (Globalization: 50,000 years of human drama). Tokyo: NTT Shuppan. [Translation of Chanda, Nayan. 2007. Bound Together: How Traders, Preachers, Adventurers, and Warriors shaped Globalization. New Haven: Yale University Press.]

- Chino, Keiko. 2013. Indoneshia 9.30 ku-deta- no nazo o toku: Sukaruno, Suharuto, CIA, Mö Takutö no kage (Unraveling the mystery of Indonesia's September 30 coup: the shadows of Sukarno, Suharto, the CIA, and Mao Zedong). Tokyo: Söshisha.
- Cohen, Robin. Komai, Hiroshi (trans). 2012. Shinpan gurōbaru diasupora. Tokyo: Akashi Shoten. [Translation of Cohen, Robin. 2008. Global Diasporas: An Introduction (second ed.). Oxon: Routledge.]
- Egawa, Hidebumi; Yamada, Ryōichi; Hayata, Yoshirō. 1989. Kokusekihō [Shinpan] (Hōritsugaku zenshū, 59-II) [Nationality Law [New Edition] (Legal Studies Complete Works 59-II)]. Tokyo: Yūhikaku.
- Endō Masataka. 2010. Kindai Nihon no shokuminchi tōchi ni okeru kokuseki to koseki: Manshū, Chōsen, Taiwan (Nationality and family register [koseki] in the colonial rule of modern Japan: Manchuria, Korea, and Taiwan). Tokyo: Akashi Shoten, 191.
- Fróis, Luís. Matsuda, Kiichi and Kawasaki, Momota, tr. 2000. Kan'yaku Furoisu Nihon shi 1-kan (Complete translation of Fróis' Historia de Iapam [History of Japan], Vol. 1). Tokyo: Chūō Kōron Shinsha.
- Fukui, Chizu. 2003. "Nanbei imin to Nikkei shakai: Nikkeijin no aidentiti- o chūshin ni (South American Immigration and the Japanese Society: Focus on the Identity of Japanese Descendants)," *Studies of Regional Policy* (Takasaki City University of Economics), Vol. 5, No. 3, 35–52.
- Fukuzawa, Yukichi. Sakamoto, Takao (ed). 2002. "Yasegaman no setsu (The spirit of manly defiance)" from "Teichö köron (An essay on 1877)" in *Fukuzawa yukichi chosakushū. 009* (Collected Writing of Fukuzawa Yukichi, Vol. 9). Tokyo: Keiö University Press. [English translation from Fukuzawa, Yukichi. Steele, M. William (trans). "Yasegaman no setsu: On Fighting to the Bitter End." Asian Cultural Studies Special Issue (International Christian University), No. 11, 139–152. https://doi.org/10.34577/00000217.]
- Fukuzawa, Yukichi. 2003. "Hinaichi zakkyo-ron ni tsuite (On the argument against mixed residence in the interior)" in Iwatani, Jūrō and Nishikawa, Shunsaku (eds). *Jiji shōgen; Tsūzoku gaikōron* (Fukuzawa Yukichi chosaku-shū dai 8-kan) [Commentary on the current problems; Popular discourse on foreign diplomacy (Yukichi Fukuzawa collection, Vol. 8)]. Tokyo: Keiō University Press.
- Gellner, Ernest. Katō, Setsu, et al. (trans). 2000. *Minzoku to nashonarizumu*. Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten. [Translation of Gellner, Ernest. 1983. *Nations and Nationalism*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.]
- Hakata, Kei. 2003. "Kokunai hinanmin (IDP) to kokuren: kokusaitekina kanshin no takamari no naka de (Internally displaced persons (IDPs) and the United Nations: amid increasing international concern)," *Gaimushō chōsa geppō* (Ministry of Foreign Affairs quarterly), No. 1, 33–55.
- Hakata, Kei. 2016. Nanmin mondai: isuramuken no dōyō, īyū no kunō, nihon no kadai (Refugee Crisis: Disturbances in the Islamic world, Distress of the EU, and a Challenge for Japan). Tokyo: Chūkō Shinsho.
- Hashimoto, Shin'ya. 2016. Kioku no seiji: Yōroppa no rekishi ninshiki funsō (Politics of memory: Conflicts over European historical perceptions). Iwanami Shoten.
- Hayashi, Seiichi. 2018. "Zainichi Kankokujin ni naru (Becoming a Zainichi-Korean)," Asteion, Vol. 89.
- Hobsbawm, E. and Ranger, T. (eds). Maegawa, Keiji and Kajiwara, Kageaki, et al. (trans). 1992. *Tsukurareta dentō (Created tradition)*. Tokyo: Kinokuniya Shoten. [Translation of Hobsbawm, Eric J. and Ranger, Terence O. (eds). 1983. *The Invention of Tradition*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.]
- Horwitz, Tony. Yamamoto, Mitsunobu (trans). 2003. Aoi chizu: kyaputen Kukku o oikakete (The blue map: chasing Captain Cook), Vol. 1 and Vol 2. Tokyo: Basilico. [Translation of Horwitz, Tony. 2002. Blue Latitudes: Boldly Going Where Captain Cook has Gone Before. New York: Picador.]

- Huntington, Samuel P. Suzuki, Chikara (trans). 2017. Bundansareru amerika (America divided). Tokyo: Shūeisha, 301. [Translation of Huntington, Samuel P. 2004. Who are we? The challenges to America's national identity. New York: Simon & Schuster, 186.]
- Idei, Yasuhiro. 2014. "'Hitodebusoku' to gaikokujin (1): 'kaigoshi/kankoshi ukeire' wa naze shippai shita no ka ('Labor Shortage' and Foreigners (1): Why did the 'acceptance of caregivers and nurses' fail?)", *Foresight* (web version), September 9, 2014 (https://www.fsight.jp/articles/-/ 29132)
- Idei, Yasuhiro. 2017. "NHK ga 'waikyoku hōdō' suru 'gaikoku hito jisshū-sei shissō' no jittai (NHK's 'distorted report' on the reality of the 'disappearance of foreign trainees')" *Foresight* (web version) January, 27, 2017. (https://www.fsight.jp/articles/-/41948)
- Ikeuchi, Satoshi. 2016. Saikusu=Piko kyōtei hyaku-nen no jubaku: Chūtō daikonmei o toku (The 100 year curse of the Sykes-Picot agreement – Understanding the utter chaos in the Middle East). Tokyo: Shinchō Sensho.
- Japan Economic Revitalization Headquarters. 2014. "'Nihon saikō senryaku' kaitei 2014: mirai e no chosen (*Japan Revitalization Strategy* Revised in 2014: Japan's challenge for the future)" June 24, 2014.
- Japan Economic Revitalization Headquarters. 2016. "Nihon saikō senryaku 2016-nen dai 4 jisangyō kakumei ni mukete (*Japan Revitalization Strategy 2016* Towards the Fourth Industrial Revolution)."
- Japan Immigration Services Agency. 2023. "Rei wa 4-nen ni okeru nanmin ninteishasū-tō ni tsuite (Regarding the number of recognized refugees in 2022)" March, 24, 2023. https://www.moj.go. jp/isa/publications/press/07_00035.html
- Japan Immigration Services Agency. 2023. "Preferential treatment system for immigration and residence management based on point system for highly skilled professionals."
- Japan Immigration Services Agency. 2023. "Tokutei ginō zairyū gaikokujin-sū (Reiwa 5-nen 6gatsu genzai) [Announcement of the number of foreign residents with specified skills (as of June 2023)]." https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/policies/ssw/nyuukokukanri07_00215.html
- Japan Immigration Services Agency. 2023. "Guidelines for Permanent Residence Permit (revised December 1, 2023)" (https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/materials/nyukan_nyu kan50.html)
- Japan International Cooperation Agency (ed). 1994. "Kaigai ijū tōkei (Overseas Migration Statistics, FY1952-1993)." Gyōmu shiryō, No. 891.
- Japan International Cooperation Agency. 2016. "Shiria nanmin ryūgakusei ukeire no boshū kaishi : Shiria nanmin ni kyōiku kikai no teikyō e (Starting recruitment for Syrian refugee students: Providing educational opportunities for Syrian refugees)" December 5, 2016 Press Release.
- Japan National Police Agency. 1990. "Heiseininen-ban keisatsu hakusho: gaikokujinrōdōsha no kyūzō to keisatsu no taiō, dai-1-shō (Police White Paper, 1990 edition: Rapid increase in foreign workers and police response)," Chapter 1.
- Joppke, Christian. Endö, Ken, et al. (trans). 2013. Karui shitizunshippu: shimin, gaikokujin, riberarizumu no yukue (Citizenship light: citizens, foreigners, and the future of liberalism). Iwanami Shoten, 60–64. [Translation of Joppke, Christian. 2010. Citizenship and Immigration. Cambridge: Polity.]
- Kamibayashi, Chieko. 2015. "Kaigo jinzai no fusoku to gaikokujin rödösha ukeire: EPA ni yoru kaigo-shi köho-sha ukeire no jirei kara (A Trial Acceptance of Foreign Care-Workers in Japan: A Case of EPA Program)" in *The Japanese Journal of Labour Studies*, No. 662, 88–97.
- Kawahara, Yūma. 2004. "Ratovia kyōwakoku no shimin-ken seisaku to 'hi shimin' no kika purosesu (The Citizenship Policy and the Naturalization Process of 'Non-Citizens' in the Republic of Latvia)," *Okayama Law Journal*, Vol. 53, No. 3/4), 63–89.
- Kimu, Chanjon (Kim Chan-jeong). 2007. Zainichi giyühei kikan sezu: Chōsen Sensō hishi (Zainichi Korean Volunteer soldiers did not return: a secret history of the Korean War). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Kimura, Hidesuke. 2004. "Okizari ni sareta' diasupora/roshiajin ("Russian 'Stranded' Diaspora)," Journal of International Politics and Economics (Nishogakusha University), No. 10, 85–98.

- Kondö, Atsushi and Chen, Tianshi. 2018. "Eijū-ken to kokuseki shutoku (Permanent residency and nationality acquisition)" in Japan Association for Migration Policy Studies, et al. (eds). *Imin seisaku no furontia: Nihon no ayumi to kadai o toinaosu (Frontiers of migration policy: reexamining progress and challenges in Japan)*. Tokyo: Akashi Shoten.
- Korekawa, Yū. 2022. "Guröbaru ni mita kokusai idö ikö no bunseki (Analysis of International Migration Intentions from a Global Perspective)" in National Institute of Population and Social Security Research, et al. (eds). Kokusai rödö idö nettowāku no naka no Nihon: dare ga Nihon o mezasu noka (Japan in the International Migrant Labor Network: Who is Aiming for Japan?). Tokyo: Nippon Hyöronsha.
- Kurasawa, Aiko. 2014. 9 30 sekai o shinkan saseta hi: Indoneshia seihen no shinsō to hamon (9/ 30, the day that shook the world: the facts and repercussions of the Indonesian coup). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Matsui, Shigenori. 2012. Amerika kenpō nyūmon, dai 7-han (American Constitutional Law, 7th ed.). Tokyo: Yūhikaku.
- Minohara, Toshihiro. 2006. Kariforuniashū no hainichi undo to nichibei kankei: imin mondai o meguru nichibei masatsu 1906–1921-nen (California's anti-Japanese movement and Japan-US relations: Japan-US frictions over immigration, 1906–1921). Tokyo: Yūhikaku.
- Mitani, Taichirō. 2017. Nihon no kindai to wa nani de atta ka: mondai shiteki kōsatsu (What was the modern period of Japan? A historical study of the issues). Tokyo: Iwanami Shinsho.
- Miyazaki, Ichisada (ed). 2000. Shin teikoku no han'ei (Chūgoku bunmei no rekishi 9) [Prosperity of the Qing empire (history of Chinese civilization 9)]. Tokyo: Chūkō Bunko, 64.
- Mizuno, Tatsuya. 2016. Imin no uta: Ōizumi burajiru taun monogatari (Immigrant poetry: the story of Oizumi Brazil town). Tokyo: CCC Media House.
- Moriya, Haruyoshi. 2007. "tsu teikoku kensetsuki no kokusekihö (Nationality law during the construction of the German empire)," *The Chūō Law Review*, Vol. 113, No. 11/12, 675–698.
- Moriya, Haruyoshi. 2009. "Teiseiki tsu ni okeru kokusekihō no kaisei (Reform of the nationality law in imperial Germany)," *The Review of Economics and Political Science*, Vol. 77, No. 3/4, 297–320.
- Mozai, Torao. 1967. Kōkaijutsu: umi ni idomu ningen no rekishi (The art of navigation: a history of humans venturing on the seas). Tokyo: Chūō Koronsha.
- Munton, Don and Welch, David A. Tadokoro, Masayuki and Hayashi, Seiichi (trans). 2015. Cuban Crisis: Mirror Imaging Trap. Tokyo: Chūō Kōron Shinsha. [Translation of Munton, Don and Welch, David A. 2011. The Cuban Missile Crisis: A Concise History, 2nd Edition. New York: Oxford University Press.]
- Murai, Shōsuke. 1993. *Chūsei Wajin den* (Wajin ["Japanese"] in the medieval period). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Murai, Tadamasa. 2002. "Kanada imin seisaku no rekishi: seisaku kettei no purosesu to mekanizumu, ka (History of Canadian Immigration Policy (Part II))," *Journal of Humanities* and Social Sciences (Nagoya City University), Vol. 12, 193–211.
- Mutsushika, Shigeo. 1998. "NATO/EU kakudai koka to sono genkai ("The Effects and Limits of the NATO/EU Enlargement on the Stability of Eastern Europe)," Annals of the Japanese Association for Russian and Eastern European Studies, No. 27, 11–21.
- Myrdal, Gunnar. Kitagawa, Kazuo (trans). 1963. Fukushi kokka o koete: fukushi kokka deno keizai keikaku to sono kokusaiteki imi kanren. Tokyo: Daimond. [Translation of Myrdal, Gunnar. 1960. Beyond the Welfare State: Economic Planning and its International Implications. New Haven: Yale University.]
- Naitō, Masanori. 1991. "Tōzaitsu saitōitsu no hazama de: Nishitsu no Torukojin imin-tachi wa ima (Between East and West German reunification: Turkish immigrants in West Germany now)" in Naitō, Masanori and Hitotsubashi Daigaku Shakai Chirigaku Zemināru hen (eds). *tsu saitōitsu to Torukojin imin rōdōsha (German Reunification and Turkish Immigrant Workers)*. Tokyo: Akashi Shoten.
- Nan'yō Dantai Rengōkai (ed). 2000. Dainan'yō nenkan: Shōwa 17nenban Jō (Greater South Seas Almanac [Shōwa 17 (1945) edition], Vol. 1). Tokyo: Ryūkei Shosha.

- Nitta, Hiroshi. 2014. "Amerika gasshūkoku imin-hö no saikin no dökö ni kansuru kenkyū (Research on the latest trend of an American immigration law)," *Studies of Regional Policy* (Takasaki City University of Economics), Vol. 16, No. 3, 15–29.
- Ogawa, Hiroyuki. 2012. Eirenpō: Ōkan e no chūsei to jiyū na rengō (British Commonwealth: Allegiance to the crown and free association). Tokyo: Chūkō Sōsho.
- Oguma, Eiji. 1998. "Nihonjin" no kyōkai : Okinawa, Ainu, Taiwan, Chōsen, shokuminchi shihai kara fukki undō made (The boundaries of "the Japanese": Okinawa, Ainu, Taiwan, and Korea, from colonial rule to the return movement). Tokyo: Shin'yōsha. [Translated into English in two volumes: Oguma, Eiji. Stickland, Leonie R. (trans). 2014. Vol 1: Okinawa 1818–1972, Inclusion and Exclusion. and 2017. Vol 2: Korea, Taiwan, and the Ainu 1868–1945. Melbourne: Trans Pacific Press.]
- Okamura, Mihoko. 2003. "Jūkokuseki: wagakuni no hōsei to kakkoku no dōkō (Dual nationality: Japan's legislation and the trends in other countries)" in *Reference*, No. 634, 56–63.
- Polman, Linda. Ohira, Tsuyoshi (trans). 2012. Kuraishisu kyaraban : Funsöchi ni okeru jindö enjo no shinjitsu (Crisis caravan: the truth about humanitarian aid in conflict areas). Tokyo: Töyö Keizai Shinpösha. [Translation of Polman, Linda. 2011. The Crisis Caravan: What's Wrong with Humanitarian Aid? New York: Picador.]
- Ryō, Sekiyō (Liao, Chi-yang). 2011. "Kakyō kajin no rekishi-teki tenkai: 1950-nendai made no harukanaru tabi (The historical development of overseas Chinese: a distant journey to the 1950s)" in Komai, Hiroshi, Chin Tenji, and Kobayashi, Tomoko (eds). *Higashiajia no diasupora (Sosho gurōbaru diasupora 1) [East Asian diaspora (global diaspora series No. 1)]*. Tokyo: Akashi Shoten.
- Saitō, Shigeo. 2016. "Kodai Toruko-kei yūbokumin no kōiki chitsujo (The Far-Flung Political Order of Turkic Nomads from the Mongolian Steppe)," *Asteion*, Vol. 84.
- Saruya, Kaname. 2003. *Hawai ōchō saigo no joō (The last queen of the Hawai'ian kingdom)*. Tokyo: Bunshun Shinsho.
- Satō, Shigeki. 2009. "'Kettō kyōdōtai' kara no ketsubetsu: tsu no kokuseki-hō kaisei to seijiteki kōkyō-en (Farewell to the 'Community of Descent': The Reform of Citizenship Law and the Political Public Sphere in Germany)," *Hosei Journal of Sociology and Social Sciences*, Vol. 55, No. 4), 73–111.
- Shiode, Hiroyuki. 2015. Ekkyösha no seijishi: Ajia Taiheiyö ni okeru Nihonjin no imin to shokumin (The political history of border crossers: Japanese emigration and colonization in the Asia-Pacific). Nagoya: Nagoya University Press.
- Sunaga, Emiko. 2014. Gendai pakisutan no keisei to hen'yō: isurāmu fukkō to urudūgo bunka (The Formation and Transfiguration of Contemporary Pakistan: Islamic Revival and Urdu Culture). Kyoto: Nakanishiya Shuppan.
- Sunaga, Takashi. 2010. Purotesutanto bomei nanmin no keizaishi: Kinsei Ingurando to gaikokujin imin (An economic history of Protestant refugees: early modern England and foreign emigration). Kyoto: Showado.
- Suzuki, Tadashi. 2007. Nashonarizumu to Isuramuteki kyōzon (Nationalism and Islamic coexistence). Tokyo: Chikura Shobō.
- Takagami, Shinichi. 2004. "Airurandokei Amerikajin to Airurando dokuritsu sensō: Airurando kyūsai Amerika iinkai to Airurando shirojūji (1) (The Irish-Americans and the Irish War of Independence (1) : the American Committee for Relief in Ireland and the Irish White Cross)," Osaka Sangyo University Journal of Economics, Vol. 6, No. 1, 1–25.
- Tanaka, Kyöko. 2001. "Chūgoku no taigai kankei to kakyö/kajin (China's foreign relations and overseas Chinese)" in Okabe, Tatsumi (ed). Chūgoku o meguru kokusai kankyö (International environment surrounding China). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten, 282.
- Tanaka, Kyöko. 2002. Kokka to imin: Tönan Ajia Kajin sekai no hen'yö (The state and immigration: transformation of the overseas Chinese world in Southeast Asia). Nagoya: The Nagoya University Press, 39–44.
- Tanaka, Takeo. 2012. *Wakō: umi no rekishi (Wakō ["Japanese" pirates]: a maritime history)* Tokyo: Kōdansha Gakujitsu Bunko.

- Taniguchi, Kōichi. 2015. "Kōgai no tabunkashugi: 'dōhō' to wa dare ka? (Regional Multiculturalism in Japan: Who Are One's Compatriots?)," *Asteion*, Vol. 83.
- Tateda, Akiko. 2006. "Furansu ni okeru kokuseki seido to kokumin gainen (2): sono rekishiteki kosatsu (System of nationality and the concept of nation in France (2): Historical considerations)," *The Hokkaido Law Review*, Vol. 56, No. 5.
- The Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training (ed). 2013. "Sho gaikoku ni okeru kōdo jinzai o chūshin to shita gaikokujin rōdōsha ukeire seisaku: Denma-ku, Furansu, tsu, Igirisu, EU, Amerika, Kankoku, Shingapo-ru hikaku chōsa, Heisei 25-nen 3-tsuki 28-nichi (Foreign worker acceptance policies centered on highly skilled human resources in various countries: Comparative survey of Denmark, France, Germany, UK, EU, US, South Korea, and Singapore, March 28, 2013)," *JILPT Research Materials Series*, No. 114. https://www.jil.go.jp/institute/siryo/2013/ 114.html
- The Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training (ed). 2014. "Ōshū shokoku ni okeru kaigo bun'ya ni jūji suru gaikokujin rōdōsha: tsu, Itaria, Sue-den, Igirisu, Furansu 5-kakoku chōsa, Heisei 26-nen 6 tsuki 30-nichi (Foreign workers engaged in the nursing care field in European countries, a five-country survey: Germany, Italy, Sweden, UK, and France, June 30, 2014)," *JILPT Research Materials Series*, No. 139. https://www.jil.go.jp/institute/siryo/2014/139.html
- The Japan Institute for Labour Policy and Training (ed). 2015. "Sho gaikoku ni okeru gaikokujin ukeire seido no gaiyō to eikyō o meguru kakushu giron ni kansuru chōsa, Heisei 27-nen 5 tsuki 29-nichi (Survey on various discussions surrounding the outline and impact of foreign acceptance systems in foreign countries, May 29, 2015)," *JILPT Research Materials Series*, No. 153. https://www.jil.go.jp/institute/siryo/2015/153.html
- Thränhardt, Dietrich (ed). Miyajima, Takashi et al. (trans). 1994. Atarashii imin tairiku yöroppa: hikaku no naka no Seiö shokoku, gaikokujin rödösha to imin seisaku (Europe, a new immigration continent: Western European countries, foreign workers, and immigration policy in comparison). Akashi Shoten, 240 [Translation of Thränhardt, Dietrich (ed). 1992. Europe, a new immigration continent: policies and politics in comparative perspective. Münster: Lit Verlag.]
- Todd, Emmanuel. Ishizaki, Haruki and Tōmatsu, Hideo (trans). 1999. Imin no unmei: Dōka ka kakuri ka (The fate of immigrants: assimilation or segregation?). Tokyo: Fujiwara Shoten. [Translation of Todd, Emmanuel. 1994. Le Destin des immigrés: assimilation et ségrégation dans les démocraties occidentales (The fate of immigrants: assimilation and segregation in western democracies). Paris: Éditions du Seuil.]
- Torpey, John. Fujikawa Takao (trans). 2008. Pasupo-to no hatsumei: kanshi, shitizunshippu, kokka. Tokyo: Hösei University Press. [Translation of Torpey, John C. 2000. The Invention of the Passport: Surveillance, Citizenship, and the State. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.]
- Ueno, Hisashi. 1994. Mekishiko Enomoto shokumin: Enomoto Takeaki no risō to genjitsu (Mexico Enomoto colonists: Enomoto Takeaki's ideals and reality). Tokyo: Chūkō Shinsho.
- Wade, Nicholas. Yasuda, Yoshinori and Numajiri, Yukiko (trans). 2007. Gomannenmae: kono toki jinrui no sodaina tabi ga hajimatta. Tokyo: East Press. [Translation of Wade, Nicholas. 2006. Before the Dawn: Recovering the Lost History of our Ancestors. New York: Penguin Books.]
- Watanabe, Fukuko. 2014. "Rippō jōhō: tsu kokuseki-hō no kaisei (Legislative information: Amendment of Germany's nationality act)." *Foreign Legislation* (Monthly), No. 261–2. Tokyo: Research and Legislative Reference Bureau, National Diet Library.
- Watsuji Tetsurō. 1982. Sakoku: Nihon no higeki, ka (Sakoku: Japan's Tragedy, Vol. 2). Tokyo: Iwanami Shoten.
- Weiner, Myron. Naitō, Yoshiaki (trans). 1999. Imin to nanmin no kokusai seijigaku. Tokyo: Akashi Shoten. [Translation of Weiner, Myron. 1995. The Global Migration Crisis: Challenge to States and to Human Rights. New York: Harper Collins.]
- Welch, David. A. 2018. "Amerikanjin o yameta watashi: jūkokuseki no gyakusetsu (The Paradox of Dual Citizenship)," *Asteion*, Vol. 89.
- Yakushiji, Taizō. 1989. Tekunohegemoni-: ikkoku wa gijutsu de okori, horobiru (Techno-hegemony: A country rises and falls on technology). Tokyo: Chūkō Shinsho, 66.

- Yaguchi, Yūjin. 2002. Hawai no rekishi to bunka: higeki to hokori no mozaiku no naka de (The history and culture of Hawai'i: a mosaic of tragedy and pride). Tokyo: Chūkō Shinsho.
- Yamada, Hiroshi, et al. 2007. Nihon no nanmin ukeire: kako genzai mirai (Refugee acceptance in Japan: past, present, future). Tokyo: Tokyo Foundation (Chūō Kōron Jigyō Shuppan) 2007.
- Yamazaki, Masakazu. 1981. Umi no momoyamaki (Yamazaki Masakazu chosakushū dai 5-kan) [Momoyama chronicle of the sea (the collected works of Yamazaki Masakazu, Vol. 5)]. Tokyo: Chūō Kōronsha.
- Yanai, Ken'ichi. 2004. Igirisu kindai kokusekihōshi kenkyū: kenpōgaku, kokumin kokka, teikoku (The Origins of the Modern British Nationality Law: Constitution, Nation-State and Empire). Tokyo: Nippon Hyōronsha.
- Yasuda, Minetoshi. 2015. Ma-jinaru man: nanmin, imin, teikōsha. Kuni to kuni no kyōkaisen ni tatsu hitobito (Marginal Man: Refugees, survivors, resisters. People who stand on the border between countries). Tokyo: Kadokawa Shoten.
- Yuki, Keiji. 2009. "Erīto kyōiku no tsuyomi to kunō (Strengths and struggles of elite education)," *Foresight*, April issue.
- Yukiyama, Shin'ichi. 1993. Doitsu tõitsu (German unification). Asahi Shimbunsha.
- Yūki, Tomohachi. Ishikawa, Tomonori (ed). 1999. Nanbei to imin [fukkoku-ban] (Nikkei imin shiryōshū dai 2-ki Nanbei-hen 2: Shōwa senzen-ki-hen dai 11-kan) [Emigration to South America {reprint} (Nikkei emigration materials collection, second phase, South America second edition: Prewar Showa series Vol. 11)]. Tokyo: Nihon Tosho Center.